UNDERSTANDING THE ROLE OF CANCER STEMNESS IN BREAST

TUMORIGENESIS

By

NAING LIN SHAN

A dissertation submitted to the

School of Graduate Studies

Rutgers, The State University of New Jersey

In partial fulfillment of the requirements

For the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Graduate Program in Microbiology and Molecular Genetics

Written under the direction of

Professor Nanjoo Suh

And approved by

New Brunswick, New Jersey

OCTOBER 2020

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

UNDERSTANDING THE ROLE OF CANCER STEMNESS IN BREAST TUMORIGENESIS

by NAING LIN SHAN

Dissertation Director:

Dr. Nanjoo Suh

Breast cancer is a heterogeneous disease; its high degrees of intra- and inter-tumoral diversity are attributable to the presence of a subset of tumor-initiating cells called breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs). BCSCs are endowed with self-renewal and differentiation potential, ultimately culminating in a hierarchically organized tumor with distinct degrees of differentiation and functions. Accumulating evidence suggests BCSCs play roles in tumor initiation, progression, metastasis, chemoresistance, and relapse. Thus, targeting BCSCs can be a promising therapeutic strategy for eradicating breast cancer.

The goal of this study is to examine the significance of cancer stem cells in breast tumorigenesis and understand the mechanism of vitamin D compounds targeting cancer stem cell signaling pathways. Specifically, we seek to investigate (1) the effects of vitamin D-mediated inhibition of BCSCs in triple negative breast cancer (TNBC), (2) transcription factor-mediated regulation of breast cancer stemness, and (3) the transcriptomic signature regulated by vitamin D compounds in early breast cancer. In the pursuit of these goals, we utilize BCSC-enriching mammosphere culture, genetic modulation, and next-generation sequencing technologies in two experimental models of breast cancer: TNBC cells (SUM159), which are reported to harbor enriched cancer stem cell populations, and preinvasive ductal carcinoma in situ cells (MCF10DCIS). In SUM159 cells, we observed vitamin D compounds (1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D₃ and the Gemini vitamin D analog BXL0124) to inhibit mammosphere forming efficiency and self-renewal by downregulating markers of pluripotency and cancer stemness pathways. To understand the mechanism by which transcription factors control cancer stemness, we further studied octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (Oct4) as a potential factor in reprogramming BCSCs. We observed Oct4 overexpression to upregulate the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSC subpopulation, increasing expression of CD44 and the activated form of NF κ B, but with no significant changes in epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers and tumor formation *in vivo*.

To understand whether breast cancer stem cells promote the progression of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) to invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC), along with vitamin D-mediated inhibition of this transition, we used RNA and DNA sequencing technologies to identify transcriptomic signatures in MCF10DCIS mammospheres. Our study revealed a global view of genes differentially regulated by vitamin D compounds, along with genes potentially involved in breast cancer stemness and progression. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis identified the TP63-VDR axis as a plausible target that can be explored for inhibition of DCIS transition to IDC. Collectively, these findings suggest a role for vitamin D as a potential preventive agent in targeting cancer stemness and breast cancer progression.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Nanjoo Suh for her guidance and relentless support throughout the years. This work cannot be done without her supervision and mentorship. I was fortunate to be part of the Suh's laboratory as a graduate student.

I am extremely grateful to Dr. Philip Furmanski for his time dedicated at our weekly meetings and invaluable suggestions for the experimental designs and publications. He is someone that I admire and look up to.

I would like to thank Drs. Suzie Chen, Li Cai and Wendie Cohick for serving on my thesis committee and their helpful guidance throughout the journey of my dissertation. I would also like to thank my graduate program director Dr. Andrew Vershon for his support and guidance.

I want to thank all of the past and present members of Dr. Nanjoo Suh's laboratory – Joseph Wahler, Min ji Bak, Hong Jin Lee, Cheng Bao, Soumyasri Das Gupta, Jeffrey Yang, Yoosub Shin and Ge Yang for their support and help. I also want to thank the students from School of Pharmacy who had rotated in the laboratory – Rachel Winner, Samantha Stewart, Hannah Lin and Tingying Xie. It was enjoyable to work with them indeed.

I would like to thank the faculty members of the Susan Lehman Cullman Laboratory of Cancer Research for their advice and guidance – Dr. Renping Zhou, Dr. Audrey Minden, Dr. Luca Cartegni, Dr. Chung S. Yang, Dr. Fang Liu, Dr. Wei-Xing Zong, and Dr. Xi Zheng. I would also like to thank the members of the Laboratory of Cancer Research for their friendly support – Trushar Rathod, Raj Shah, Kevinn Eddy, Christina Marinaro, Yicong Le, Julia Shen and Anna Liu. I want to thank all the administrative staff at Rutgers University- Deborah Stalling, Amy Loughman, Vi Dan and Erica DiPaola, for their help without hesitation at any time I needed them.

Last but not the least, I am extremely grateful to my parents: U Aung Shan and Daw Ni Ni Win, who have raised me up to be who I am today. Words cannot express enough for their unconditional love and support. I would also like to thank my lovely sister, Hninn Wint Shan, for being very supportive and understanding to me; she is the greatest gift to me from my parents. My medical degree, PhD and Master of Clinical and Translational Science are dedicated to my family members.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	iv
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	xi
LIST OF FIGURES	xiv
Chapter 1 Introduction – Breast cancer stem cells, transcription factors,	regulatory
signaling, stem cell niche and vitamin D	
1.1 Breast cancer	1
1.2 Molecular heterogeneity of breast cancer	1
1.3 Cancer stem cells	4
1.4 Major self-renewal pathways in BCSCs	
1.4.1 Notch signaling pathway	11
1.4.2 Wnt signaling in BCSCs	14
1.4.3 Hedgehog signaling	16
1.4.4 TGF-β signaling	19
1.4.5 STAT3 signaling	21
1.4.6 Other signaling in the regulation of BCSCs	24
1.5 Signature of cancer stem cell transcription factors in breast cancer	
1.5.1 OCT4	25
1.5.2 SOX2	27
1.5.3 NANOG	28
1.5.4 KLF4	29
1.5.5 MYC	30

1.6 Role of tumor microenvironment in BCSCs
1.7 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and BCSCs
1.8 Epigenetic regulation of BCSCs 41
1.9 BCSCs and drug resistance45
1.10 Differentiation Therapy and BCSCs47
1.11 Vitamin D and breast cancer50
1.12 Summary
Chapter 2: Investigating the effects of vitamin D compounds in targeting breast
cancer stem cells in triple negative breast cancer71
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Materials and Methods74
2.2.1 Cell culture and reagents75
2.2.2 Mammosphere forming assay75
2.2.3 Western blot analysis
2.2.4 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis76
2.2.5 Statistical analysis77
2.3 Results
2.3.1 Inhibition of mammosphere forming efficiency by 1α ,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159
breast cancer cells
2.3.2 Inhibition of mammosphere self-renewal by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124 in SUM15977
2.3.3 Repression of pluripotency markers and cancer stem cell genes by 1a,25(OH) ₂ D ₃ and BXL0124
in SUM15978
2.3.4 Repression of Notch signaling molecules responsible for stem cell maintenance by 1α , 25(OH) ₂ D ₃
and BXL0124 in SUM15979

2.4 Discussion	
2.5 Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Elucidating the mechanism of transcription factor-mediated bi	·east
ancer stemness and reprogramming	9
3.1. Introduction	9
3.2 Materials and Methods	
3.2.1 Cell culture and reagents	9
3.2.2 Mammosphere formation assay	9
3.2.3 Western blot analysis	9
3.2.4 Transient transfection	9
3.2.5 Immunofluorescence analysis	9
3.2.6 Generation of stable cell lines	9
3.2.7 Flow cytometry	9
3.2.8 Aldefluor assay	9
3.2.9 Xenograft study	9
3.2.10 Immunohistochemical (IHC) Analysis	9
3.2.11 Statistical analysis	9
3.3 Results	9
3.3.1 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells	9
3.3.2 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells up-regulates protein levels of	CD44 and p
NF-κB p65 (Ser536)	9
3.3.3 Enhanced OCT4 expression in SUM159 cells upregulates the protein level of CD44	19
3.3.4 Establishing stable OCT4-overexpressing SUM159 cell line	9
3.3.5 Assessment of putative breast cancer stem cell markers in SUM159 cells	9

3.3.6 Characterization of stable OCT4-overexpressing SUM159 cells	100
3.3.7 Stable OCT4 overexpression did not regulate EMT markers in SUM159 cel	ls101
3.3.8 Stable OCT4 overexpression in SUM159 cells did not increase tumorigenic	city in vivo101
3.4 Discussion	
3.5 Conclusions	
Chapter 4: Analysis of the transcriptome: Regulation of Cancer Sten	nness in Breast
Ductal Carcinoma In Situ by Vitamin D Compounds	118
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Materials and methods	
4.2.1 Reagents and cell culture	120
4.2.2 Mammosphere formation assay	121
4.2.3 Nucleic acid isolation and next-generation sequencing	121
4.2.4 Sequencing data analysis	122
4.2.5 Ingenuity pathway analysis	123
4.2.6 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Analysis	
4.2.7 Bisulfite pyrosequencing	124
4.2.8 Western blot analysis	124
4.2.9 Flow cytometry	125
4.2.10 Statistical analysis	125
4.3 Results	
4.3.1 Vitamin D compounds inhibit MCF10DCIS mammosphere forming efficier	ncy125
4.3.2 Global gene expression profiling in cells treated with vitamin D compounds	3126
4.3.3 Correlation and validation between DNA methylation and RNA expression of	changes in vitamin D
treated mammospheres	
4.3.4 Analysis of upstream regulators of genes differentially regulated by vitami	in D compounds and
downstream targets of the vitamin D receptor	

4.3.5 Identification of TP63 as key pathway targeted by vitamin D compounds
4.4 Discussion
4.5 Conclusions
Conclusions
Future directions
Appendix 1: Epigenetic signature targeted by vitamin D in MCF10DCIS
A.1.1 Introduction
A.1.2 Materials and Methods170
A.1.2.1 Cell culture and reagents
A.1.2.2 miRNA assays and quantitation by quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis17
A.1.2.3 Statistical analysis
A.1.3 Results
A.1.3.1 Selected miRNAs were not regulated by vitamin D compounds in MCF10DCIS cells172
A.1.4 Discussion172
References

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Diagram of self-renewal pathways and associated transcription factors
regulating breast cancer stem cells
Figure 1.2 The structures of 1α,25(OH)2D3 and BXL012453
Figure 2.1 Inhibition of mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and
BXL0124 in SUM159 breast cancer cells
Figure 2.2 Inhibition of mammosphere self-renewal by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124 in
SUM159 mammospheres
Figure 2.3 Repression of pluripotency and stem cell markers by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and
BXL0124 in SUM159 mammospheres83
Figure 2.4 Repression of Notch signaling molecules by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124 in
SUM159 mammospheres
Figure 2.5 Induction of myoepithelial differentiation by vitamin D compounds85
Figure 2.6 A proposed scheme of action of vitamin D compounds in cancer stem cells and
differentiation pathway
Figure 3.1 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells101
Figure 3.2 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells upregulates CD44 and p-
NF-κB and p65 (Ser536)102
Figure 3.3 OCT4 increases the protein level of CD44 in SUM159 cells103
Figure 3.4 Stable overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159104
Figure 3.5 Persistent overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells105
Figure 3.6 Levels of putative breast cancer stem cell markers in SUM159 cells106

Figure 3.7 Stable overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells increases the breast cancer
stem cell subpopulations and mimics CD44+/CD24-/low profile of
mammospheres107
Figure 3.8 Stable OCT4-overexpression does not change EMT markers in SUM159
cells109
Figure 3.9 SUM159 xenograft tumorigenicity assay in nu/nu mice110
Figure 3.10 Pathological analyses of xenograft tumors111
Figure 3.11 Tumors from stable OCT4-overexpressing cells express scant positive staining
of Oct4113
Figure 4.1 Inhibition of MCF10DCIS mammosphere forming efficiency by vitamin D
compounds134
Figure 4.2 Differential expression analyses of transcripts in MCF10DCIS mammospheres
treated with 1a,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124135
Figure 4.3 Circular heatmap representation of differentiation gene expression in
MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with 1a,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124136
Figure 4.4 qPCR validation of selected genes differentially regulated in RNA sequencing
data137
Figure 4.5 Correlation of gene expression and DNA methylation regulated by vitamin D
compounds138
Figure 4.6 Differential DNA methylation regulated by vitamin D compounds139
Figure 4.7 Correlation of methylation differences for all genes against each other for
1α,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124 treatments in MCF10DCIS mammospheres140

Figure 4.8 Starburst plot for the comparison of gene expression and DNA methylation
regulated by 1α,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124141
Figure 4.9 Validation of CYP24A1 gene CpG methylation regulated by vitamin D
compounds142
Figure 4.10 Analysis of upstream transcriptional regulators of differentially regulated
genes by IPA143
Figure 4.11 Identification of direct upstream or downstream regulators of the vitamin D
receptor by IPA144
Figure 4.12 Assessment of myoepithelial differentiation markers regulated by vitamin D
compounds145
Figure 4.13 Identification of mesenchymal cell population distinguished by the expression
of CD44 and CD10146
Figure 4.14 Schematic diagram of vitamin D compounds regulating the TP63 pathway in
myoepithelial differentiation of DCIS147
Figure 4.15 Bioinformatic analyses of RNA-Seq data of MCF10DCIS mammospheres in
relation to external databases (MCF10DCIS cells)148
Figure A.1. MicroRNA signature in breast cancer progression169
Figure A.2. Effects of vitamin D compounds on microRNAs in MCF10DCIS cells170

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Breast cancer stem cell markers, their functions, target genes and
tumorigenesis
Table 1.2 Potential compounds regulating cancer stem cell markers, differentiation and
EMT in breast cancer
Table 4.1 Top 25 most up-regulated and down-regulated genes in comparison of
$1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ vs control and BXL0124 vs control
Table 4.2 Selected DMRs with inverse DNA methylation change and RNA expression
change153
Table 4.3 Top regulated pathways with $p < 0.01$ and absolute value z score >2 in
comparison of 1α , $25(OH)_2D_3$ vs Control
Table 4.4 Top regulated pathways with $p < 0.01$ and absolute value z score >2 in
comparison of BXL0124 vs Control159

Chapter 1 Introduction – Breast cancer stem cells, transcription factors, regulatory signaling, stem cell niche and vitamin D^{1,2,3}

1.1 Breast cancer

After lung cancer, breast cancer is the leading cause of cancer and the second most common cause of cancer-related deaths in females. According to the American Cancer Society's *Cancer Statistics 2020*, an estimated 276,480 new cases of invasive breast cancer and 48,530 cases of ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) will be diagnosed in US women in 2020; an estimated 42,170 women will die from breast cancer in the same year. For the last decade, the incidence of invasive breast cancer in females has increased by 0.3% every year [1]. Risk factors for breast cancer include older age, female gender, family history of breast or ovarian cancer, history of atypical hyperplasia, DCIS or lobular carcinoma in situ, obesity, hormone replacement therapy, alcohol consumption, smoking, physical inactivity, and reproductive factors such as oral contraceptive use, early menarche, and late menopause [2]. Depending on the clinico-pathological staging at the time of diagnosis, breast cancer is treated by multiple modalities—surgery, chemotherapy, radiation, hormonal therapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy [3].

1.2 Molecular heterogeneity of breast cancer

Breast cancer is a phenotypically diverse cancer with a large degree of inter- and

¹Part of this chapter is under preparation for publication.

²**Keywords**: breast cancer stem cells; self-renewal; OCT4; tumor microenvironment; epithelialmesenchymal transition; differentiation, vitamin D

³Abbreviations: CSCs, cancer stem cells; BCSCs, breast cancer stem cells; TNBC, triple negative breast cancer; EMT, epithelial mesenchymal transition; TME, tumor microenvironment

intra-tumoral genetic and epigenetic heterogeneity. Intertumoral heterogeneity exists between tumors of the same origin among different patients, whereas intra-tumoral heterogeneity occurs within a given tumor. Intertumoral heterogeneity is best distinguished by clinical staging and histopathologic classification. Heterogeneous tumors feature different hormonal receptor expression profiles, biomarkers, genetic profiles, and clinical outcomes [4]. Breast tumors are divided into subtypes based on hormonal receptor status specifically concerning the estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2). ER and PR are expressed either alone (ER+/PR- or ER-/PR+) or together (ER+/PR+) in a majority of breast carcinomas, and as biomarkers, are used as prognostic factors as well as in guidance for clinical management [5]. ER+ breast cancers are well differentiated and less aggressive relative to PR⁺ breast cancers. Co-expression of both ER and PR receptors carries better prognosis when compared to ER+/PR- or ER-/PR+ cases [6]. Meanwhile, HER2+ carcinomas feature the most aggressive phenotype among invasive breast cancers comprising about 25% of all breast cancer cases [7]. However, a pathological complete response can be achieved from HER2-targeted therapy along with conventional chemotherapy [8]. Breast carcinomas that do not express ER, PR, or HER2 are referred to as triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) and constitute about 15-20% of breast cancer cases. These are a group of genetically and phenotypically heterogenous tumors having poor prognosis and variable responsiveness to treatment [9]. Additional functional biomarkers have been investigated for potential implications in diagnosis, treatment, and predictions of drug resistance and prognosis; these include antigen Ki-67 (KI-67; cell proliferation), programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1;

immune response), HER2 Δ 16 (drug resistance), and matrix metallopeptidase 9 (MMP-9; invasion and metastasis) [10].

Using gene expression patterns, breast cancer can be divided into four main molecular intrinsic subtypes (luminal A, luminal B, HER2-enriched, and basal like) and a Normal Breast-like group [11]. Each subtype has distinct molecular and pathological characteristics that govern incidence, survival, and therapeutic response [12]. Luminal A and luminal B subtypes respectively account for 30-40% and 20-30% of invasive breast cancers and are characterized by specific genetic profiles that illustrate tumor heterogeneity. Specifically, luminal A tumors are enriched for stem-like signature and immune check-point genes [13], while luminal B tumors are less well differentiated and carry worse prognosis, manifested by an increased level of genetic mutations implicated in tumor suppression and cell proliferation [14]. The HER2-enriched subtype has high expression of erb-b2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (ERBB2) and low to intermediate expression of the luminal genes [15]. Finally, the basal-like subtype, which accounts for 60-90% of TNBC cases, is enriched with basal markers (keratins 5, 6, 14, and 17) and genes relating to cell proliferation [16, 17]. In terms of subtype-based prognostic significance, the basal-like subtype carries the worst prognosis [18].

Breast cancers with intra-tumoral heterogeneity are characterized by diversity in morphology, biomarkers, circulating tumor cells, and genetic and epigenetic modifications. Moreover, tumor-specific cellular plasticity, genetic evolution, and microenvironment impart intra-tumoral diversity [19]. Morphologic heterogeneity can be observed tissue histopathology based on the expression of clinical biomarkers, hormone receptor staining, and different morphological structures [4]. Breast cancer also displays extensive intra-

tumoral heterogeneity in terms of genetic and chromosomal variation. Comparative genomic hybridization and genomic fingerprinting can be utilized to investigate heterogeneity at the genomic level, namely chromosomal aberrations and copy number variations [20]. Bulk sequencing and single-cell sequencing are also exploited to illustrate intra-tumoral heterogeneity for distinct clonality of gene expression, driver mutations, functional heterogeneity, and gene expression profiles of treatment resistance and metastasis [21]. In breast cancer progression, intra-tumoral heterogeneity is reflected in epigenetic features such as histone modifications, miRNA networks, and DNA methylation. For example, there is significant variation in tumor-related gene methylation patterns pertinent to the ER and HER2 status of breast tumors [22]. Several studies, including The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) Network, have used integrative multi-omic analyses on data from primary breast cancer patients to identify genomic heterogeneity, including subtype-specific mutations, through integrating platforms including DNA methylation, genomic DNA copy number arrays, exome sequencing, and mRNA and microRNA arrays [23].

1.3 Cancer stem cells

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are proposed to play roles in tumor initiation, maintenance of heterogeneity, tumor growth, recurrence, therapeutic resistance, and evasion of immunological surveillance [24]. Two models have been proposed to explain the evolution of CSCs [25]. According to the clonal evolution model, genetic mechanisms are the culprits underlying clonal expansions, with the stepwise acquisition of mutations in single clones culminating in tumor progression. This is followed by selection of more aggressive dominant subclones having survival advantage and tumorigenic potential [26]. Meanwhile, the CSC model hypothesized a role for nongenetic mechanisms as the source of intra-tumoral heterogeneity. In this model, cancers originate from a small subpopulation of tumor cells that can initiate tumorigenesis. CSCs were first identified in acute myeloid leukemia, when a CD34⁺/CD38⁻ subpopulation of human leukemia cells transplanted into immunocompromised (NOD/SCID) mice underwent leukemic transformation and differentiation *in vivo* [27]. Subsequently, CSCs have been identified in a variety of cancer types, including breast cancer, colon cancer, melanoma, prostate cancer, lung cancer, and glioblastoma [28]. Since "cancer stem cell" do not always originate from normal stem cells but rather from mature tissue cells, the term tumor-initiating cells (TICs) is interchangeably used [29].

CSCs are similar to normal stem or progenitor cells in their ability to self-renew and recapitulate heterogeneity [26]. Self-renewal is a hallmark of stem cells, in which a stem cell produces two daughter cells with stem cell properties (symmetric division) or one daughter cell with stem cell properties and a second that undergoes differentiation (asymmetric division) [30]. CSCs express transcription factors (OCT4, NANOG homeobox [NANOG], and SRY-box transcription factor 2 [SOX2]) that are found in early embryonic stem cells. The core stem cell factors regulate pluripotency and self-renewal, and their overexpression is associated with signaling pathways related to malignant transformation, tumorigenicity, tumor progression, relapse, and inhibition of apoptosis [31]. OCT4, NANOG and SOX2 markers are induced in many cancer types, including breast, prostate, lung, colorectal, and gastrointestinal cancers [32]. Likewise, normal stem cells and CSCs share common self-renewal signaling pathways including the Notch, Hedgehog, STAT3, and Wnt/beta-catenin pathways; all of these are documented as being important signaling cascades in embryonic development and have been shown to contribute to tumorigenesis in multiple types of tumors [33]. The plausibility of the CSC theory in breast cancer, which hypothesizes BCSCs to derive from normal progenitor/stem cells, is supported by phenotypic features similar to their lineage-specific normal stem cell counterparts [34].

CSCs arise from deregulation of the self-renewal program in stem cells, giving rise to their malignant transformation, or from the dedifferentiation of committed mature cells to acquire CSC-like properties [35]. In addition to self-renewal, CSCs also display quiescence in response to environmental cues. Thus, while anti-mitotic chemotherapeutic agents have been developed to target proliferating CSCs, the resident quiescent CSCs remain resistant to chemo- and radio-therapies even at high doses and so are the major cause of relapse—the living evidence of CSC plasticity and the supreme challenge faced by current therapies [36].

Ultimately, numerous intrinsic and extrinsic factors regulate CSC traits, including developmental pathways, epigenetics, stem cell transcription factors, epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) factors, cell cycle regulation mechanisms, apoptosis pathways, and the tumor microenvironment. All of these factors interact constantly and dynamically regulate CSC survival, proliferation, and metastasis [37]. As a consequence, CSCs exhibit a spectrum of functional and phenotypic heterogeneity, confirmed by *in vitro* clonogenic and anchorage-independent growth assays (tumor sphere assays) as well as *in vivo* limiting dilution xenotransplantation assays [38]. CSCs constitute only a small proportion (0.01-2%) of the tumor cells in a tumor mass, and isolating and identifying a

pure CSC population remains challenging [39]. The identification of stem cell surface markers that can be used to isolate BCSCs will provide key insights into BCSC biology along with opportunities to develop therapeutic targets. To date, CSCs have been identified by using one or multiple cell surface markers in fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS); measuring functional markers such as aldehyde dehydrogenase 1 (ALDH1) enzyme activity and ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter expression; single-cell DNA detection; and screening side population (SP) cells with the Hoechst-33342 dye exclusion technique [28]. Identifying, isolating, and characterizing the BCSC populations has so far primarily utilized cell surface markers. In particular, the CD44, CD24, and ALDH1(+) markers have become increasingly used to isolate BCSCs and as prognosis markers for patients [40]. **Table 1.1** summarizes the BCSC markers, their functions, target genes and tumorigenesis.

CD44, a non-kinase single-span transmembrane glycoprotein that binds hyaluronan, is involved in cell proliferation, survival, and differentiation; it likewise regulates CSC properties including self-renewal, tumor initiation, metastasis, and radio- and chemoresistance. Alternatively-spliced variants of CD44 play roles in tumor development and progression. CD44 expression is high in BCSCs; its downregulation induces differentiation and sensitizes the cells to chemotherapy [41, 42].

CD24 is a glycosylphosphatidylinositol-linked cell surface glycoprotein that has been implicated in immunological functions, tumorigenesis, chemoresistance, and metastasis. CD24 expression is low or absent in BCSCs, and its upregulation is associated with poor prognosis in the luminal A and TNBC subtypes [43]. ALDH1 is a member of the aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) family, a group of enzymes that oxidize intracellular aldehydes to carboxylic acids. Its activity is measured by the ALDEFLUOR assay, which assesses nine active isoforms of ALDH; in breast cancer, high ALDH1 activity is associated with stem-like features and chemoresistance. ALDH1⁺ breast cancers are also characterized by being ER-, EGFRII⁺ and Ki-67^{hi} [44]. Suppression of ALDH1 decreases tumorigenicity and cell migration [45].

BCSCs were first isolated from immunocompromised xenografts using a combination of cell surface markers: CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} Lin⁻. The cells with this phenotype are tumorigenic at a number as low as 100 cells; in contrast, those with different phenotypes failed to form tumors even at tens of thousands of cells [46]. A high CD44/CD24 ratio is directly correlated to cell proliferation and tumorigenesis, as indicated by increased formation of mammospheres in vitro and xenograft tumors [45]. In addition, CD44⁺/CD24⁻ breast cancer cells are enriched for EMT-associated traits, including expression of matrix metalloproteinase 1 (MMP-1), vimentin, and zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1 (ZEB1); this is suggestive of interplay between EMT and CSC status [47]. These cells also demonstrate increased expression of the molecular chaperones glucose-regulated protein 78 (GRP78) and 94 (GRP94), which regulate endoplasmic reticulum homeostasis in stem cell development and in invasion of cancer [48]. Furthermore, the cells exhibit dysregulation of major signaling pathways otherwise involved in the regulation of normal mammary stem cells, such as the Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt/beta-catenin pathways; blockage of these pathways by chemotherapeutic agents inhibits the CSC-like phenotype and tumorigenesis [49]. In mice, breast cancer cells derived from BRCA1-deficient mammary tumors show increased numbers of CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and CD133⁺ cells and

increased expression of stem cell-associated genes including *Oct4*, *Notch1*, *Aldh1*, *Fgfr1*, and *Sox1* [50]. In the clinical context, the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ phenotype is associated with resistance to cytostatic agents, degree of malignancy, and patient survival [51]. Furthermore, CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSCs are resistant to radiation treatment and demonstrate increased expression of Jagged-1, Notch-1, and p-S6K1 (a major downstream regulator of the mTOR pathway) [52]. The phenotypic radioresistance in these cells is mediated through upregulation of the checkpoint kinase pathway (CHK), with application of the CHK inhibitor debromohymenialdisine effectively overcoming the resistance [53].

Regarding ALDH as a population marker, Ginestier et al. found that ALDH1 enzymatic activity is high in a subpopulation of breast carcinomas having tumorigenic and self-renewal abilities both *in vivo* and *in vitro* [54]. ALDH^{hi}CD44⁺ subpopulations of BCSCs are resistant to chemotherapy and radiotherapy and feature increased expression of glutathione-S-transferase pi, p-glycoprotein, and checkpoint kinase 1 (CHK1). Pretreatment of these cell populations with all-trans retinoic acid or the ALDH inhibitor diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB) significantly sensitizes the stem-like breast cancer cells and reduces resistance [55]. In MCF-7 xenograft tumors, ALDH1A1 (an isoform of ALDH1) promotes tumor angiogenesis by upregulating the retinoic acid/HIF-1 α /VEGF signaling pathway, thereby affecting breast cancer progression [56]. In ALDH1⁺ BCSCs, the Wnt/ β -catenin signaling pathway, known to regulate stem cell niche during development, is dysregulated; downregulation of Wnt expression inhibits the CSC phenotype and suppresses breast cancer metastasis [57]. In ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS), expression of ALDH1 along with enhancer of zeste 2 polycomb repressive

10

complex 2 subunit (EZH2), a marker implicated in stem cell maintenance and renewal, is associated with tumor recurrence and progression to invasive breast cancer [58].

Studies of invasive breast carcinomas and breast cancer cell lines have shown basallike (TNBC) tumors to be enriched with CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and ALDH1⁺ phenotypes [59]. Quiescent mesenchymal-like BCSCs are CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and localize to the tumor front, whereas proliferative epithelial-like BCSCs are ALDH1(+) and localize in the center [60].

In addition to cell surface markers, various functional assays are employed in the study of BCSCs; these include the mammosphere forming assay in serum free medium, which enriches for BCSCs, and the *in vivo* injection of FACS-sorted cells by limiting dilutions into immunocompromised mice, with consequent initiation of tumor growth [61]. Despite the multiplicity of BCSC markers and assays available, universal putative markers have yet to be resolved that can identify specific subpopulations having the most tumorigenic potential in each breast cancer case. Identification of those subpopulations is essential for the development of CSC-targeted therapy and overcoming resistance to chemo-radio treatments.

1.4 Major self-renewal pathways in BCSCs

CSC populations are maintained by their self-renewal capacity. The current notion of CSCs states that the self-renewal signaling and transcription factors which regulate growth and maintenance in normal stem cells are dysregulated in BCSCs (Figure 1.1) [62]. The following section will discuss the major self-renewal pathways in BCSCs.

1.4.1 Notch signaling pathway

Notch is a family of four transmembrane receptors (NOTCH 1-4) that interacts with five ligands: the jagged proteins (JAG1 and JAG2) and the delta-like ligands (DLL1, DLL3, and DLL4) [63]. Two forms of Notch signaling are known, canonical and noncanonical. While canonical Notch signaling is involved in multiple cellular processes, including embryonic development, stem cell fate determination, apoptosis, cell cycle progression, self-renewal and lineage specific differentiation, non-canonical Notch signaling is associated with immune activation and breast tumorigenesis [64]. The canonical Notch signaling pathway is triggered by the interaction between a transmembrane ligand and a receptor in adjacent cells, resulting in successive proteolytic cleavage by ADAM metallopeptidase 10 (ADAM10) or ADAM17/TACE and γ-secretase to release the Notch intracellular domain (NICD). The NICD in turn translocates to the nucleus, binds to the CSL/RBPJ transcription complex, and activates Notch target genes, including the HES and HEY families of transcription factors and other genes associated with tumorigenesis [65]. In contrast, the activation of non-canonical Notch signaling is independent of RBPJk and CSL signaling. Upon binding of the ligand to the receptor, NICD is released and enters the nucleus directly [64]. The pleiotropic nature of Notch signaling is attributed to the presence of structurally diverse non-canonical ligands including integral membrane-tethered, GPI-linked and secreted proteins [66]. Noncanonical Notch4 signaling is implicated in mammary gland tumorigenesis in $RBPJ\kappa$ conditional knockout mice [67]. In breast tumor cells, non-canonical Notch signaling activates IL-6/JAK/STAT signaling which further escalates the oncogenic potential of tumor cells. The upregulation of IL-6 was regulated by IKK α and IKK β proteins of NF- κ B signaling pathway [68].

Notch signaling is documented to regulate mammary gland development via NOTCH4, in conjunction with WNT family member 1 (WNT-1) [69]. In MMTV/Notch1(intra) and MMTV/Notch3(intra) transgenic mice, increased expression of NOTCH1 and NOTCH3 impairs ductal and lobulo-alveolar mammary gland development and induces mammary gland tumors [70]. Oncogenic RAS activates NOTCH1 and upregulates the Notch ligand DLL1 along with presentiin-1 through a p38-mediated pathway. There is a correlation between Ras overexpression and upregulation of NOTCH1 in breast carcinomas [71]. Relatedly, aberrant activation of Notch signaling has been reported in invasive breast cancer and is associated with poor survival in patients [72]. In clinical breast cancer samples, Notch signaling is found to promote BCSCs by inducing expression of sirtuin 2 (SIRT2), leading to deacetylation and activation of ALDH1A1 [73]. Notch1 and Notch4 signaling are higher in ESA⁺/CD44⁺/CD24^{low} enriched BCSCs. NOTCH1 overexpression in MCF7 and MCF10A breast cancer cells increased the abundance of the BCSC CD44⁺/CD24^{low} subpopulation, along with increasing tumor cell invasion and migration. Increased NOTCH1 expression also promotes the EMT phenotype and tumor growth *in vivo* through crosstalk with STAT3 signaling [74].

Notch signaling and expressions of its target genes are also elevated in mammosphere-derived stem-like cells. Inhibition of Notch signaling by a γ -secretase inhibitor significantly reduces sphere formation, proliferation and colony formation, and also induces apoptosis [75]. Likewise, pharmacologic and genetic inhibitions reduce stem cell activity in *in vitro* and tumor formation *in vivo* [76]. In CD44⁺/CD24⁻ TNBC

mammospheres, the breast tumor suppressor signal peptide, CUB domain and EGF like domain containing 2 (SCUBE2) is overexpressed, with concomitant overexpression of SOX2, OCT4, and NANOG. Ectopic expression of SCUBE2 in adherent cells promotes EMT and metastasis by activating Notch signaling and its components [77].

In addition to the EMT process, another contributor to the generation of CSCs is the tumor microenvironment. In the hypoxic microenvironment of breast cancer tumors, Notch signaling is hyperactivated, and this aberrant activation of JAG2 and Notch signaling upregulates EMT, cell survival, and the metastasis and growth of cancer stem-like cells [78]. In TNBC, cellular communication network factor 6 (CCN6), a secreted matrixassociated family and negative regulator of breast cancer progression, regulates Slug and Notch1 signaling by inducing mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) and reducing TICs. In human invasive breast carcinomas, CCN6 expression is inversely correlated with NICD1 expression [79]. Finally, in a xenograft model using 231-BR brain metastatic breast cancer cells, inhibition of Notch1 by a γ -secretase inhibitor (DAPT) reduced the CD44⁺/CD24^{low} subpopulation, tumor invasion, and brain metastasis, indicating a role of Notch signaling in distant metastasis [80].

Notch4 expression is high in TNBC patients and has a significant negative correlation with overall survival in breast cancer patients [81]. Notch4⁺ BCSCs are characterized by increased expression of stemness factors (OCT4, SOX2, NANOG), mammosphere formation *in vitro*, and tumorigenicity in a serial dilution tumor transplantation xenograft model [82]. In addition, Notch signaling mediates drug resistance in breast cancer. PI3K/mTOR signaling is dysregulated in 30% of TNBC cases [83]. Treating TNBC cells with mTOR inhibitors leads to increased stemness features and

greater *in vivo* tumor initiating capacity. The intrinsic resistance of these cells from TORC1/2 inhibition is driven by their activated Notch1 and FGF1 pathways in association with increased mitochondrial metabolism and FGFR1 signaling. Notably, abrogation of the FGFR-mitochondrial metabolism-Notch1 axis overcomes resistance to TORC1/2 inhibitors by eliminating drug-resistant CSCs [84]. Meanwhile, JAG1-NOTCH4 receptor activation increases BCSC activity and induces tamoxifen resistance in both patient-derived tumors and xenograft models. Targeting Notch4 reverses the increase in Notch, reducing BCSC activity and improving the tamoxifen resistance [85]. Thus, in combination with other modalities, targeting the Notch pathway could be a promising strategy for enhancing the effectiveness and sensitivity of breast cancer treatment while essentially eradicating BCSCs.

1.4.2 Wnt signaling in BCSCs

The Wnt/Frizzled/ β -catenin pathway is an evolutionarily conserved signaling pathway that plays significant roles in embryonic development and tissue homeostasis [86]. There are 19 Wnt glycoproteins that serve as ligands for the receptors Frizzled (FZD) and LDL receptor related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) [87]. Binding of Wnt ligands to the receptors can trigger either canonical or non-canonical signaling. Canonical signaling activated by Wnt binding to FZD or LRP5/6 receptors regulates the stability of β -catenin and controls its expression. In the absence of Wnt ligands, β -catenin undergoes phosphorylation and proteasomal degradation via the destruction complex; but when Wnt is present and binds to its cognate receptor, the destruction complex is degraded, thus releasing β -catenin to translocate into the nucleus and form a complex with TCF/LEF family of proteins to regulate downstream Wnt target genes [88]. Meanwhile, the non-canonical Wnt pathway is independent of β -catenin, instead being mediated through the FZD receptor (along with other co-receptors such as receptor like tyrosine kinase [RYK]) to transduce the signal to Dishevelled family proteins, leading to their activation [89].

In normal breast tissues, Wnt signaling is critical for mammary stem homeostasis due to maintaining the undifferentiated state of stem cells; it is therefore vital for breast development and tissue remodeling during pregnancy and lactation. Aberrant Wnt signaling is implicated in breast cancers [90]. For one, Wnt signaling is constitutively activated in basal breast cancer cells, affecting their self-renewal and differentiation [91]. Canonical Wnt signal transduction is frequently activated in TNBC, and intracellular accumulation of β -catenin is associated with poor survival in breast cancer patients [92]. Regulators of the Wnt signaling pathway, such as lymphoid enhancer-binding factor 1 (LEF1), cyclin D1, β -catenin, and TCF-4 are upregulated in ALDH⁺ BCSCs. Treating 4T1 BCSCs with Wnt3a ligand induced Wnt/β-catenin signaling and transcriptional activity, while Wnt1 silencing decreased tumor sphere formation and the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ population in vitro, along with decreasing tumorigenesis and metastasis in xenografts [57]. Thyroid hormone receptor interactor 6 (TRIP6), an adapter protein involved in regulating the functions of CSCs, enhances stemness in breast cancer cells through activation of the Wnt/ β -catenin pathway [93]. On the converse side, β -catenin silencing has been shown to reduce tumorigenesis in vivo and to suppress cancer stemness in vitro by decreasing the abundance of ALDH⁺ breast cancer cells and the expression of stemness-related genes, including B lymphoma Mo-MLV insertion region 1 homolog (BMI-1) and MYC protooncogene, bHLH transcription factor (*c-Myc*). In TNBC cells, such silencing also impaired formation of anchorage-independent colonies in soft agar assay and improved chemoresistance [94]. Finally, treatment of TNBC cells with WNT-targeting pharmacological agents modulates the expression of PD-L1, a ligand for the inhibitory immune checkpoint receptor PD-1, which is highly expressed in the stem cell compartment (ALDH⁺ or CD44v6-positive) alongside WNT signaling-related genes. This indicates a role of Wnt signaling in TNBC-related immune escape [95].

There is increasing evidence showing that long non-coding RNAs (lncRNAs), a diverse class of transcribed RNA molecules that regulate gene expression at the post-transcriptional level, modulate CSCs and promote tumor progression. For example, the expression of *LncCCAT1* is highly upregulated in BCSCs and associated with poor patient outcomes. In MCF-7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, this lncRNA enhances breast cancer cell proliferation, stemness, migration, and invasion by upregulating TCF4 through mechanisms associated with miR-204/211, miR-148/152, and Annexin A2, leading to activation of Wnt signaling; this finding suggests a complex crosstalk of Wnt signaling with microRNAs and long non-coding RNAs involved in regulating BCSCs [96]. The pleiotropic effects of Wnt signaling and its components in breast cancer initiation, progression, and the maintenance of different cancer subtypes remain to be elucidated, and deeper understanding of them is essential for developing BCSC-targeted therapies.

1.4.3 Hedgehog signaling

The Hedgehog (Hh) signaling pathway is involved in animal development and tissue homeostasis, and is associated with many solid tumors including pancreatic cancer, lung cancer, breast cancer, basal cell carcinoma, and hematological malignancies. Hh family members include Sonic hedgehog (SHH), Indian hedgehog (IHH), and Desert hedgehog (DHH). Hh binds to the receptor Patched (PTCH1), a transmembrane protein that constitutively represses Hh signaling, to release its repression on the G protein-coupled receptor Smoothened (SMO). This derepression further activates transcriptional mediators of Hh responses, the GLI family proteins (GLI1/2/3). Regulation of the processing of these factors and their nuclear translocation plays a key role in activating Hh target genes such as cyclin D and E [97].

In cancer, this pathway plays roles in malignant transformation, proliferation, drug resistance, metastasis, and the expansion of cancer stem cells [98]. Hh signaling is known to drive oncogenesis, specifically resulting from mutations in components of Hh pathway, over-expression of ligands of the Hh pathway, and maintenance of CSC phenotype through regulation of stemness-related genes [99]. The pathway is significantly upregulated in luminal B and TNBC breast cancer subtypes [100]. An earlier study in mice showed that overexpression of *Gli1* under the MMTV promoter is sufficient to promote development of breast tumors expressing progenitor cell markers [101]. In addition, there is emerging evidence demonstrating the significance of Hh signaling in TNBC. In TNBC cells, overexpression of Gli1 enhances tumor migration, invasion, vascularization, and metastasis by upregulating MMP-11 and cysteine-rich angiogenic inducer 61 (CYR61) [102]. In mammospheres, PTCH, SMO, GLI1 and GLI2 are highly expressed, becoming downregulated upon differentiation. Activation of Hh signaling increases mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) and size, effects mediated by the polycomb gene BMI-1. Hh signaling is also hyperactivated in the CD44⁺/CD24⁻/Lin⁻ BCSC population [103]. In mammospheres of estrogen receptor-positive MCF7 breast cancer cells, components of the

Hh pathway (PTCH, SMO, GLI1 and GLI2) are highly expressed relative to monolayer cells; treatment with salinomycin, which targets CSCs, induced apoptosis and downregulated target genes of the Hh pathway (c-Myc, Bcl-2, and Snail) in vitro and reduced the tumor growth and expression of PTCH, SMO, GLI1 and GLI2 in xenograft tumors [104]. In basal-like breast cancer, increased expression of forkhead box C1 (FOXC1), an EMT-associated transcription factor, acts via activation of SMO-independent Hh signaling mediated by GLI2 to enrich CSC properties of the cancer, including ALDH⁺ cell populations and mammosphere growth. Furthermore, expression of FOXC1 in TNBC cells confers resistance to anti-Hh drugs [105]. LncRNAs were demonstrated to regulate EMT-associated BCSC stemness through the growth arrest specific 1 (GAS1)-activated IncRNA-Hh pathway. The upregulated Hh signaling increased GLI1, SOX2, and OCT4 expression and MFE in vitro and tumorigenicity in vivo. Silencing lncRNA-Hh reversed these findings [106]. Hh signaling is also associated with chemoresistance in TNBC. Chemotherapy-induced drug resistance is mediated by GLI1 via upregulation of multidrug resistance protein 1 (MDR1) and breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP) [107]. Ultimately, activation of the Hh signaling pathway is well-documented as a poor prognostic indicator in both hormone receptor (+) breast cancer and TNBC. However, there are limited Hh-targeted therapies available. Selective inhibition of GLI and other targets might represent an effective strategy for impeding breast cancer development and the activity of cancer stem cells.

1.4.4 TGF-β signaling

Members of the transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) superfamily are implicated in regulating cellular behaviors encompassing cellular growth, maturation, hormonal and immune responses, differentiation, migration, cell death and fate determination [108]. This superfamily consists of 42 ligands including TGF- β , activins, Nodal, inhibins, bone morphogenic proteins (BMPs), and growth differentiation factors (GDFs) [108]. TGF- β itself has three mammalian isoforms, TGF- β 1-3. TGF- β signaling exhibits tissue specificity and distinctive affinities for TGF- β receptors (T β R1, T β R2, and T β R3). It is transduced through (1) the canonical SMAD pathway, which activates SMAD2 and SMAD3 to regulate TGF- β 1-dependent genes, and (2) the non-canonical pathway, inducing ERK1/2 and PI3K/Akt signaling [109].

In cancer, TGF- β displays context-dependent dichotomous behaviors, being a tumor suppressor that inhibits cell cycle progression and promotes apoptosis or a tumor promoter that induces EMT and invasion [108]. Differential expression of TGF- β isoforms in breast cancer dictates molecular subtypes, progression, and patient outcome. Levels of the *TGF-\beta1* and *TGF-\beta3* isoforms are increased in breast cancer tissues and metastatic lymph nodes, with particular predisposition in ER+ and PR+ tumors, whereas the *TGF-\beta1* and *TGF-\beta2* isoforms are highly expressed in TNBC. Expression of TGF- β isoforms correlates with expression of TGF- β receptors [110]. Consistent with its tumor suppressor role, constitutive expression of *TGF-\beta1* in mammary epithelial cells of xenografts increased latency of tumor growth and decreased mammary cancer risk [111]. Similarly, TGF- β reduces the BCSC population and induces luminal differentiation [112]. Loss of

TGF- β -mediated tumor suppression in breast cancer is associated with downregulation of luminal markers and upregulation of basal markers [112]. In another example, transgenic expression of MMV-driven dominant-negative T β R2 (*DNIIR*) in female mice decreased tumor latency and induced spontaneous tumor formation and invasion [113]. In contrast, mammary epithelial cell-specific expression of TGF- β ligands or T β Rs in xenograft tumors promotes lung metastasis, while attenuation of TGF- β signaling decreases metastasis [114]. These findings suggest a paradoxical role of TGF- β signaling in inhibiting tumor initiation while promoting metastasis.

During breast cancer development, activation of HER2/EGFR is reported to induce phosphorylation of SMAD3 through AKT, with its subsequent nuclear localization and the activation of genes implicated in EMT and cell migration. Inhibiting HER2/EGFR activity or SMAD3 disrupts TGF- β signaling-mediated EMT and migration but augments antiproliferative activity [115]. Notably, TGF- β signaling is involved in the crosstalk between tumor cells and lymphatic endothelial cells during the process of dissemination in the lymphatic system. Expression of C-C motif chemokine receptor 7 (CCR7), which promotes lymph node metastasis, is increased via p38 MAPK signaling in transformed mammary tumor cells that have undergone TGF-\beta1-induced EMT. Simultaneously, TGF- β upregulated the production of C-C motif chemokine ligand 21 (CCL21) by lymphatic endothelial cells to promote the chemotactic migration of EMT cells expressing CCR7 in a paracrine manner. Pharmacological inhibition of CCR7 or p38 MAP kinases may be a plausible target for inhibiting TGF-\beta1-induced EMT and lymphatic spread [116]. In immortalized human mammary epithelial cells, TGF-\beta1-induced EMT generates stem celllike cells that express EMT markers and have increased ability to form mammospheres,

colonies in soft agar, and xenograft tumors [117]. Meanwhile, CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSCs generated by TGF-β1-induced EMT are more resistant to radiation compared to their parental cells, mediated by upregulating antioxidant-related genes and reducing activation of death receptor pathways [118].

Accumulating evidence has implicated the epigenetic regulation of TGF- β signaling in breast cancer progression [119]. In TNBC, TGF- β 1 inhibits miR-196a-3p and activates its downstream target gene neuropilin-2 to promote metastasis [120]. Meanwhile, miR-133b and miR-190 have been shown to inhibit TGF- β -induced EMT and metastasis by targeting *SMAD2*, indicating their roles as tumor suppressors and potential diagnostic biomarkers of breast cancer [121]. In mouse epithelial NMuMG cells, lncRNA-HIT mediates TGF- β -induced EMT and invasion by targeting E-cadherin; this long noncoding RNA is conserved in humans and elevated in invasive breast cancer. Attenuation of lncRNA-HIT resulted in decreased invasion, migration, and tumor growth [122]. Overall, due to the complexity of functional switches in TGF- β signaling, specific drugs targeting downstream signaling would be preferable as therapeutics, as they can be utilized without compromising other physiological functions of TGF- β .

1.4.5 STAT3 signaling

The transcription factor signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) is known to contribute to tumor cell proliferation, progression, metastasis, immune suppression, and stem cell self-renewal and maintenance [123]. The STAT family consists of seven highly conserved members, STAT1, STAT2, STAT3, STAT4, STAT5a, STAT5b and STAT6; all share structural and functional similarities. Each STAT-family protein

contains the following functional domains: an N-terminal domain (NH₂), a coiled-coil domain for binding with interactive co-regulators and transcription factors, a DNA binding domain specific for the interferon-gamma activated sequence in the promoter regions of specific genes, a linker domain, a Src homology-2 domain for dimerization and phosphorylation, and the C-terminal transcription activation domain that confers structural diversity among STAT family members. [124]. STAT3 is activated through binding of cytokines (IL-6 and IL-10) and growth factors (IGF, EGF, and FGF) to their corresponding receptors. Once the receptors are bound by the ligands, they undergo dimerization and activate Janus kinases (JAKs), which in turn phosphorylate tyrosine residues on the cytoplasmic tail of the cognate receptor; those residues interact with the SH2 domain of STAT3, resulting in STAT3 phosphorylation. Phosphorylated STAT3 translocates to the nucleus and regulates target gene transcription with the help of coactivators [125]. STAT3 overexpression is found in more than 40% of breast cancers, mainly in the TNBC subtype. Aberrant activation of STAT3 promotes breast cancer development by deregulating genes implicated in proliferation, angiogenesis, and EMT [126]. In TNBC, hypoxia induces an increase in the CD44^{high}/CD24^{low} BCSC population and in chemoresistance by activating STAT3 signaling. Genetic knockdown of STAT3 reverses the acquisition of stem-like features, which suggests a significant role of STAT3 in promoting the induction of cancer stemness by hypoxia [127].

Cytokines are known risk factors that induce inflammation and promote breast cancer progression. Oncostatin M (OSM), a member of the gp130 family of cytokines, has been implicated in inflammatory functions driving tumor aggressiveness and in increased STAT3 phosphorylation and STAT3-dependent IL-6 production, which promote breast
cancer progression. High expression of OSM correlates with poor breast cancer patient survival [128]. High levels of another cytokine, IL-35, are associated with poor prognosis in patients. Breast cancer cell-derived IL-35 inhibits conventional T (Tconv) cell proliferation and induces the cells to transform into IL-35-producing induced regulatory T (iTr35) cells by activating STAT1/STAT3, thereby promoting breast cancer progression [129].

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) also play crucial roles in every stage of breast tumorigenesis and metastasis by inducing inflammation and repressing the antitumor immune response [130]. Histone deacetylase 6 (HDAC6), a member of the histone deacetylase family whose expression is elevated in CAFs of breast tumors, promotes an immunosuppressive microenvironment by upregulating *STAT3* and targeting prostaglandin E2/cyclooxygenase-2. Inhibition of HDAC6 in CAFs slows tumor growth and facilitates antitumor immunity [131].

MiR-124, a tumor suppressor that modulates breast cancer cell proliferation and invasion, is downregulated in breast cancer cells. Overexpression of miR-124 in TNBC decreased STAT3 and suppressed cell proliferation and invasion. Restoration of STAT3 expression reversed miR-124-mediated tumor cell invasion [132]. Similarly, miR-7 was demonstrated to act as a tumor suppressor by inhibiting breast cancer cell invasion and metastasis, decreasing BCSC populations, and reversing EMT in MCF-7 and MDA-MB231 cell lines. These miR-7-mediated effects occurred through targeting the oncogene *SETDB1*, which led to suppression of the downstream target *STAT3* as SETDB1 binds to its promoter and regulates its expression [133]. All told, STAT3 signaling is not simply

limited to a role in tumorigenesis but is also important in invoking the immune cell response. STAT3 will be a promising target for breast cancer prevention and therapy.

1.4.6 Other signaling in the regulation of BCSCs

Breast tumorigenesis is driven by aberrant regulation of cell signal transduction pathways owing to the accumulation of genetic and epigenetic changes over time. Apart from the aforementioned pathways, other significant signaling involved in BCSC enrichment and maintenance includes the Hippo, PI3K/Akt/mTOR and BMI-1 pathways [40]. Dysregulation of any of these individual pathways or of the interplay between them poses a risk of developing breast cancer. In addition, the receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) class of specialized cell surface receptors respond to environmental cues by relaying appropriate signals in the tumor cell; these include epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), platelet derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), and AXL receptor tyrosine kinase (AXL). RTKs play a multifaceted role in breast cancer development, sharing common downstream pathways such as MAPK, NFkB, PI3K/Akt, and JAK/STAT signaling; these crosstalk with other key signaling pathways relevant to the regulation of angiogenesis, metastasis, and maintenance of BCSCs. Mutation in or overexpression of RTKs has been observed in different stages of breast cancer to lead to constitutive activation of various signal transductions that promote BCSCs and chemoresistance [134].

1.5 Signature of cancer stem cell transcription factors in breast cancer

Pluripotency in embryonic stem cells (ESCs) is regulated by a well-characterized core transcriptional network. The circuitry of this network constitutes major transcription

factors of pluripotency, signal transduction machinery, and epigenetic regulators. In human embryonic stem cells, OCT4, NANOG, and SOX2 function as master regulators of pluripotency and self-renewal properties while inhibiting differentiation to control cell fate [135]. Pluripotency can be induced in adult somatic cells, as evidenced by reprogramming of adult fibroblast cells into pluripotent stem cells with characteristic features of ESCs using the OSKM transcription factors (OCT3/4, SOX2, c-Myc, and Kruppel-like factor 4 [KLF4]) [136]. Astrocytes transduced with the H-ras oncogene or with OSKM factors undergo reprogramming into progenitor cells, resulting in tumorsphere formation. When these tumorspheres are transplanted as xenografts, they form heterogeneous tumors, suggesting an interplay between tumorigenicity and pluripotency [35]. It can be assumed that CSCs share characteristics with ESCs. The pluripotency transcription factors *OCT4*, *NANOG*, and SOX2 are upregulated in human cancers, including breast cancer, glioma, melanoma, and prostate cancer, and their overexpression in tumors is associated with poor differentiation, stem-like phenotype, and inhibition of apoptosis [31].

1.5.1 OCT4

OCT4, a homeodomain transcription factor of the Pit-Oct-Unc family, is one of the most important transcription factors governing pluripotency [137]. The human *OCT4* gene has three transcript variants (*OCT4A*, *OCT4B*, and *OCT4B1*) and four protein isoforms (OCT4, OCT4B-190, OCT4B-265, and OCT4B-164). Each alternative transcript variant and isoform demonstrates diverse expression patterns and functions. Among them, OCT4A is responsible for maintenance of stemness in pluripotent embryonic stem cells [138]. The OCT4 protein consists of three domains: the central POU domain for DNA binding, the N-

terminal transactivation domain, and a cell type-specific transactivation C-terminal domain. OCT4 controls the expression of target genes by recognizing and binding to DNA regulatory regions through an octamer motif (AGTCAAAT) or by recruiting other transcription factors to regulate a specific set of genes [139]. Analysis of 319 cases of invasive breast cancer revealed that OCT4 expression is directly correlated with ALDH1 expression, but not with EMT markers. In hormone receptor-positive breast cancer, OCT4 can be used a prognosis indicator for poor clinical outcome and tamoxifen resistance [140].

PD-L1, a T-cell inhibitory molecule with immunomodulatory function, regulates breast cancer stemness via modulating OCT4 and NANOG. In breast cancer, its expression is associated with EMT, chemoresistance, and maintenance of stemness. *PD-L1* knockdown inhibits AKT phosphorylation and mTOR activity, with downstream reduction of OCT4 phosphorylation at T235 and therefore of OCT4 activity [141]. Another regulator of OCT4 is the E3 ubiquitin ligase carboxy terminus of HSP70-interacting protein (CHIP), which was demonstrated to mediate its proteasomal ubiquitination at lysine 284 through microarray analysis of mammospheres derived from MDA-MB231 and MCF7 cells. *CHIP* overexpression decreased OCT4 stability and BCSC populations, while *CHIP* depletion promoted breast tumor and lung metastasis in xenografts. This finding suggests that CHIPinduced post-translational modification of OCT4 is important in maintenance of BCSCs [142].

Although OCT4 is well studied in the context of stemness maintenance, its role in metastasis still remains controversial. Overexpression of *OCT4* in MDA-MB231 and 4T1 breast cancer cell lines induced E-cadherin while suppressed cell migration and invasion *in vitro* and lung metastasis *in vivo* [143]. The inhibitory effect of OCT4 on metastasis is

mediated through downregulation of Rho family GTPase 1 (*RND1*) by binding to its promoter region [143]. In contrast, a previous study from the same group showed downregulation of *OCT4* in MCF-7 cells to promote cell migration and invasion by inducing EMT (decreased E-cadherin expression and increased alpha-smooth muscle actin expression) [144].

1.5.2 SOX2

SOX2 is a member of the Sox (SRY-related HMG box) family member of transcription factors with a single high-mobility group DNA-binding domain. It is recognized as a key player in the regulation of early embryonic development, maintenance of undifferentiated ESCs, and cell fate determination, and its expression is dysregulated in several cancer types, including breast, prostate, brain, and lung cancers. SOX2 is additionally involved in tumorigenesis, drug resistance, poor prognosis, and metastasis, indicating a major role in cancer and positioning it as an attractive therapeutic target [145]. Overexpression of SOX2 in breast cancer cells increased mammosphere formation, while its knockdown suppressed mammosphere formation and also delayed tumor formation in xenograft tumor initiation models. Mechanistically, SOX2 overexpression was induced through the activation of a distal enhancer of SOX2 promoter, the same element that natively regulates SOX2 transcription in pluripotent stem cells [146]. In ER-positive breast cancer patients, SOX2 expression is associated with poor prognosis and endocrine treatment failure, and SOX2 promotes tamoxifen resistance via activation of Wnt signaling [147]. It also targets SOX9 to regulate luminal progenitor cells and Wnt signaling activity [148]. In TNBC cases, SOX2 is implicated in BCSC chemoresistance through modulation

of *TWIST1*. Silencing *SOX2* increased paclitaxel sensitivity and diminished stemness and *TWIST1* expression. This illustrates the significance of SOX2 as a connector between pluripotency, chemoresistance, and the EMT axis [149]. Likewise, *SOX2* knockdown in MCF-7 cells decreased mammosphere formation, CD44⁺/CD24⁻ subpopulation, ALDH+ population, viability *in vitro*, and tumorigenicity *in vivo* [147].

1.5.3 NANOG

NANOG is a homeodomain protein found in undifferentiated mammalian ESCs and pluripotent cells. Endogenous Nanog drives ESC self-renewal by maintaining the level of OCT4, which is integral to ESC function. Although Nanog is absent in differentiated cells, its abnormal expression is reported in human cancers including prostate cancer, hepatocellular carcinoma, glioblastoma, colon cancer, and breast cancer. Expression of Nanog is associated with stemness, self-renewal, and tumorigenesis [150]. When coexpressed with Wnt-1 in the mouse mammary gland, Nanog promotes mammary tumorigenesis and metastasis. Ectopic expression of Nanog in MCF7 cells enhances colony formation, migration, and invasion in vitro and tumor growth in vivo [151]. Meanwhile, silencing Nanog reduces colony formation, cell proliferation, and invasion; it furthermore downregulates the cell cycle regulators cyclin D1 and c-Myc, leading to cell cycle arrest at G0/G1 [152]. In BCSCs, Nanog and OCT4 modulate TGF-β-mediated EMT; their induction promoted invasion while knockdown of both inhibited CSC migration in vitro [153]. In addition, Nanog confers drug resistance in MCF-7 breast cancer cells through STAT3-mediated activation of MDR1 [154], and in breast ductal carcinoma, its expression has statistically significant relationship with tumor grade, lymph node metastasis, and

disease staging [155]. Tissue microarray analysis revealed that breast cancer patients with strong Nanog expression have significantly lower disease-free survival and overall survival rates than those with weak expression [156].

1.5.4 KLF4

KLF4 is a member of the highly conserved Kruppel-like zinc finger transcription factor family, and is one of the four major transcription factors of pluripotency. It plays diverse roles in physiology and disease, with functions in cell cycle regulation, proliferation, apoptosis, differentiation, somatic cell reprogramming, and pluripotency [157]. KLF4 is differentially expressed in human cancers, and furthermore is bifunctional; it can act as either tumor suppressor or oncogene depending on the tissue, tumor type, and staging [157]. In breast cancer tissues, its protein expression is correlated with pathological type, histological grade, and lymph node involvement; low-level expression is found in normal breast epithelium, while increased expression is detected in neoplastic cells and prior to invasion [158]. In estrogen-dependent breast cancer, KLF4 acts as a tumor suppressor by regulating the transcriptional activity of ER α , specifically binding to its DNA-binding region and preventing it from binding to estrogen response elements in promoter regions [159]. It is also self-regulating, in that the isoform KLF4 α antagonizes the function of KLF4 and stimulates breast cancer cell proliferation by binding and retaining KLF4 in the cytoplasm, opposing its regulatory activities in the nucleus [160]. KLF4 is highly expressed in BCSCs from primary mammary tumor and breast cancer cell lines. In the MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 cell lines, KLF4 knockdown decreased the population of ALDH1⁺ progenitor cells; it furthermore suppressed cell migration, invasion,

and mammosphere formation *in vitro* and tumorigenesis *in vivo* [161]. In BCSCs, KLF4 and the androgen receptor have been demonstrated to mediate stem cell phenotype; this effect is negatively regulated by dual specificity tyrosine phosphorylation regulated kinase 2 (DYRK2), a protein kinase that controls EMT via Snail degradation. Downregulation of *DYRK2* promotes KLF4 expression and cancer stem-like properties [162].

1.5.5 MYC

MYC is a dimeric transcription factor of the basic helix-loop-helix (bHLH) DNAbinding protein superfamily that regulates a broad range of biological processes such as cell proliferation, differentiation, growth, and apoptosis; it is also implicated in embryonic stem cell self-renewal and pluripotency [163]. The MYC promoter is a downstream effector target of self-renewal pathways such as the Notch, Wnt, NF-κB and TGF-β signaling pathways [164]. Of the three MYC family members 1-MYC, c-MYC, and n-MYC, the latter two play crucial roles in the maintenance of pluripotency. Co-deletion of both transcription factors in ESCs and in induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) led to destabilization of pluripotency and spontaneous differentiation into primitive endoderm [165].

As an important transcription regulator in ESCs, MYC also displays similar regulatory role in CSCs [166]. In fact, MYC was first recognized as one of the most potent oncogenes, inducing neoplastic transformation of target cells and a wide variety of tumors [167]. Transient overexpression of *MYC* in Rat1A cells evoked genomic instability and increased tumorigenicity [168]. In breast cancer, MYC amplification is associated with disease progression; additionally, its expression is higher in TNBC than in other subtypes.

MYC overexpression in the BRCA1-deficient TNBC subtype is associated with poor prognosis [169]. Meanwhile, targeting MYC in TNBC with triptolide (C1572), a smallmolecule natural product, depletes cancer-stem like cells via a proteasome-dependent mechanism [170]. In combination with MCL1 apoptosis regulator, BCL2 family member (MCL1), MYC promotes chemoresistance of CSCs in TNBC by increasing mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and the generation of reactive oxygen species [171]. Additionally, *c-MYC* is the effector target of the tumor suppressor gene p53 in mammary stem cells; loss of p53 function is implicated in the development of cancers. In breast tumors, p53 mutation activates *c-MYC*, leading to maintenance of cancer stemness features and expression of a mitotic gene signature, which correlates with breast cancer aggressiveness and poor prognosis [172]. Transducing MYC in human mammary epithelial cells induces luminal epithelial morphology changes, spheroid formation, and dedifferentiation into progenitor-like states. MYC-driven epigenetic changes are mediated through suppression of lineage-specific transcription factors and activation of *de novo* enhancers, determined by hyperactivation of the Wnt pathway, which further drives transcriptional activation of oncogenic pathways [173].

1.6 Role of tumor microenvironment in BCSCs

The mammary gland is a network of interconnected ductal and alveolar structures composed of mature luminal and myoepithelial cells. The regenerative bi-potential property of the mammary gland is a function of mammary stem cells (MaSCs), which are characterized by the self-renewal and differentiation capacity necessary to maintain the structural integrity of the breast [174]. In the normal mammary epithelial differentiation hierarchy, MaSCs are located at the apex, responsible for maintaining long-term expansion of stem cell pool; accordingly, they are susceptible to neoplastic transformation as a consequence of the accumulation of genetic and epigenetic alterations over time [175]. Similar to stem cells in other tissues, MaSCs reside in a microenvironmental stroma comprised of cellular components such as fibroblasts, immune cells, adipocytes, epithelial and endothelial cells, and non-cellular components including extracellular matrix, soluble growth factors, and cytokines. MaSC function is regulated by the epithelial-stromal interactions initiated by growth factors and cytokines through autocrine and paracrine signaling [176].

Studies have suggested that breast cancer is comprised not only of neoplastic cells but also of the surrounding tumor microenvironment (TME). The TME plays a significant role in driving malignant phenotype and is implicated in promoting breast cancer stemness and tumor progression [177]. Within the TME, breast cancer cells are influenced by an array of cytokines (such as IL-6, IL-8, tumor necrosis factor α [TNF- α], and oncostatin-M), cell types (mesenchymal stem cells, cancer-associated fibroblasts, tumor-associated leukocytes, tumor-associated macrophages, and adipocytes), subcellular elements (exosomes and microvesicles), and chemical and physical factors (such as hypoxia, pH, and nutrient availability) [178]. MaSCs and BCSCs share common molecular traits in terms of cellular plasticity and self-renewal. Both populations share common markers and marker combinations such as CD44, ALDH, leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein coupled receptor 5 (LGR5), protein C receptor (PROCR), Lin⁻CD24⁺CD29^h, Lin⁻CD24⁺CD49f^h, EpCAM^{-/low}/CD49f^h, CD24^h/CD49f^h/DNER^h/DLL1^h; these have been identified as promoting tissue homeostasis, BCSC maintenance, and breast cancer progression and serve as predictors of poor clinical outcome in breast cancer patients [179]. Both MaSCs and BCSCs rely upon conserved signaling pathways such as Notch and Wnt for mammary development, homeostasis, and maintenance of stem cell phenotype [180]. In addition, transcription factors and pluripotency factors known to regulate MaSCs are implicated in the regulation of BCSC activities [179]. These findings suggest that BCSCs may have transformed from MaSCs; however, direct experimental evidence for this relationship remains to be elucidated.

Within the TME, inflammatory cytokines secreted by various cell types can create an inflammatory niche that favors the self-renewal and survival of BCSCs, thereby mediating chemotherapeutic resistance [181]. IL-6, a multifunctional cytokine, is linked to signaling pathways implicated in BCSC survival and proliferation [182]. In breast cancer cells, IL-6 secreted from adjocytes activates IL-6/STAT3 signaling to induce EMT. Inhibiting IL-6 signaling blocks proliferation, migration, and invasion, and furthermore changes the expression of EMT-regulating genes [183]. In an experimental model using MDA-MB-231 and MDA-MB-453 breast cancer cells and control cells, IL-6 secreted from non-stem cells converted non-CSCs to CSCs by activating the JAK1/STAT3/OCT4 signal transduction pathway and consequently produced mammospheres and xenograft tumors [184]. Moreover, IL-6 and hypoxia in the mammary TME induce CCAAT enhancer binding protein delta (C/EBP\delta), a pro-tumorigenic and pro-metastatic transcription factor, which in turn activates HIF-1 α and IL-6 signaling in a positive feedback loop. C/EBPS engagement with both hypoxia and IL-6 synergizes TME factors promoting CSCassociated phenotypes in breast cancer The IL-8 receptor C-X-C motif chemokine receptor 1 (CXCR1 or IL8RA) is consistently expressed in ALDH⁺ BCSCs, and treatment with recombinant IL-8 increased cancer stem cell self-renewal, mammosphere formation, CSC invasion, and metastasis [185]. In TNBC, IL-8 enhances mesenchymal features, cancer stemness, chemoresistance, and recruitment of immune-suppressive myeloid-derived suppressor cells, while its neutralization reverts these features and helps with immune-mediated tumor eradication [186]. Similarly, other cytokines—TGF- β and TNF- α —regulate BCSC activity in the TME by upregulating various transcriptional factors and BCSC markers [187].

The TME also constitutes several tumor-associated immune cell populations, such as tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), T and B lymphocytes, neutrophils, and dendritic cells. These immune cells communicate with nearby cells through secreted cytokines and growth factors that permeate the CSC niche to promote self-renewal of stem cells and development of cancer [188]. Cytokines and chemokines secreted from tumor cells and immune cells recruit monocytes from the mononuclear phagocytic immune system in the blood. Notably, macrophages show remarkable plasticity and assume multiple phenotypes in response to environmental cues-mainly the classically-activated macrophage M1 (pro-neoplastic) and alternatively-activated M2 (anti-neoplastic/immunesuppressing) types [189]. When recruited to a TME and exposed to conditions such as inflammation, local anoxia, and increased lactic acid, monocytes undergo differentiation to become TAMs. TAMs have been demonstrated to comprise a majority of the cell population in the TME and to play significant functional roles in cancer progression, regulation of angiogenesis, and immune evasion [188]. In breast cancer, incubating MCF-7 cells with supernatant from M1 macrophages induced in a paracrine manner EMT and CSC phenotypes such as increased expansion of CD44⁺/CD24⁻ or ALDH1⁺

subpopulations, chemoresistance, mammosphere formation, and tumor growth. This process is triggered by cytokine signaling in the TME and mediated through STAT3/NF-kB pathways or the LIN-28B-LET-7-HMGA2 axis. These findings underscore the significance of TAM mediation of the EMT-induced CSC state [190]. Similarly, inflammatory breast cancer releases monocyte recruitment and macrophage polarizing factors that convert monocytes to M2 macrophages. These M2 macrophages in turn secrete IL-8 and GRO chemokines to activate STAT3 signaling, promoting EMT and CSC-like states in this highly aggressive breast cancer type [191].

Another study demonstrated that the interactions between CSCs and EMT induced membrane proteins of surrounding cells—in particular the Thy-1 cell surface antigen (CD90 or THY1) and EPH receptor A4 (EPHA4), which serve as anchors and mediate the interactions of TAMs and CSCs through their corresponding counter-receptors in breast cancer cells. This juxtacrine signaling facilitates tumor outgrowth and activates EPHA4 receptors on the tumor cells, which further stimulates SRC and NF-kB pathways, resulting in cytokine production that maintains stem-cell state, ultimately suggesting a complex interaction between CSCs and the TME to sustain tumor survival [192].

Hypoxia is a hallmark of the TME niche. Recent evidence has shown that a hypoxic microenvironment maintains the stem cell phenotype of normal stem cells as well as of CSCs. Impaired oxygen in the TME additionally enhances malignant progression and is associated with poor patient survival [193, 194]. Hypoxic tumor cells harvested from xenografts are enriched with a CD44⁺CD24⁻ CSC subpopulation associated with self-renewal and tumorigenic potential, and hypoxia-induced phosphorylation in the PI3K-AKT pathway maintains CSC phenotype [193]. Mechanistically, the cellular

transcriptional response to hypoxia is mediated by hypoxia-inducible factors (HIFs). In basal-like breast cancers, hypoxia induces HIF-1-dependent expression of the adenosine A2B receptor (A2BR). A2BR expression is likewise increased in mammospheres and ALDH⁺ breast cancer cells. The A2BR protein mediates BCSC enrichment through the A2BR-PKCô-STAT3 signaling pathway, which leads to transcriptional activation of *IL-6* and Nanog [195]. Similarly, chronic hypoxia in breast cancer cells increased *HIF-* 2α expression, rendering the cells resistant to Paclitaxel. *HIF-* 2α overexpression likewise promoted stem-cell associated phenotype, increased expression of cancer stem cell markers, and activation of the Notch and Wnt pathways [196]. Given that BCSCs are maintained and enriched in a hypoxic TME, it is plausible to develop therapeutics that inhibit breast cancer progression through targeting HIFs and reversing hypoxia.

1.7 Epithelial-mesenchymal transition and BCSCs

In normal embryonic development, conversion from epithelial to mesenchymal phenotype is driven by the developmental differentiation program called the epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT). In addition to a role in embryological processes, mounting evidence suggests that EMT transdifferentiation processes are hijacked in pathological conditions such as cancer and metastasis [197]. EMT is a dynamic process initiated by several intracellular signaling pathways, including TGF- β , Notch, Wnt, and Hedgehog; these are activated upon the binding of ligands and mitogenic growth factors (EGF, FGF, HGF, and PDGF) secreted from the tumor microenvironment to their cognate receptors, resulting in activation of receptor tyrosine kinases [198]. These signaling events further activate EMT-inducing embryonic transcription factors (EMT-TFs) to initiate EMT. Notable EMT-TFs include the Snail, Slug, Zeb, Twist, Gata3, Foxc2, GSC, and Prrx families [199]. Hallmarks of EMT are loss of epithelial polarity; loss of expression of epithelial markers such as E-cadherin; gain of expression of mesenchymal markers such as vimentin, fibronectin, and α -smooth muscle actin; and increased activity of matrix metalloproteinases [200].

During developmental EMT, epithelial cells lose their polarity and undergo cytoskeletal rearrangement to convert to mesenchymal phenotype. Molecular and biochemical changes that underlie this phenotypic conversion enable the polarized cells to migrate away from their epithelial layer of origin to distant organs [201]. In the context of cancer, cells with mesenchymal traits can permeate the endothelial barrier to enter the bloodstream and lymphatic system, either collectively or as individual cells. Once they reach remote organs, those cells undergo mesenchymal-epithelial transition (MET) to invert to epithelial phenotype and establish a metastasis. It is worth noting that cancer cells displaying heterogeneous phenotypes and malignant potential lose most of their epithelial traits during progression [202]. In an animal model of breast cancer metastasis, EMT lineage tracing revealed that pre-EMT cancer cells expressed EMT-related phenotypes and played a predominant role in the establishment of lung metastases, while post-EMT cells were capable of MET inversion and supporting invasion and angiogenesis [203]. Recent studies have demonstrated that cells in a hybrid epithelial/mesenchymal state are more tumorigenic and apoptosis-resistant compared to those of either distinct epithelial or mesenchymal phenotype [199].

EMT-TFs are mediators of cellular plasticity in development and cancer. The EMT-TF ZEB1 and miR-200 family members participate in a reciprocal feedback loop to

regulate cellular plasticity in cancer progression by inducing stem-cell properties [204]. EMT-TFs such as SNAIL and SLUG bind to the E-box sequences located in the promoter region of E-cadherin, thereby regulating its transcription. Loss of E-cadherin in tumors induces multiple EMT-TFs, including TWIST and ZEB1, to promote invasion and metastasis [205]. Notably, activation or suppression of a single EMT-TF in cancer cells is sufficient to induce partial EMT, metastasis, and chemoresistance [206]. Additionally, EMT-TFs modulate the cytokinome and inflammasome of cancer cells undergoing EMT to trigger the recruitment of tumor-associated immune cells and thereby remodel the tumor microenvironment [207, 208].

In hormone-dependent breast cancer, the estrogen receptor plays a crucial role in mediating EMT. Silencing ER- α induces EMT and promotes cancer cell migration and invasion, and loss of ER- α abolishes the gene and protein expression of EGFR and HER2 receptor tyrosine kinases and matrix macromolecules [209]. Twist 1 expression in breast cancer has been demonstrated to induce other EMT-TFs and partial EMT, and is required for basal-like tumor progression and metastasis [210]. Notably, basal-like breast cancer is the most aggressive and poorly differentiated of breast cancer subtypes, and has high metastatic ability. Immunohistochemistry studies revealed that basal-like breast cancer epithelial cells attain mesenchymal characteristics in the process of de-differentiation and express mesenchymal markers, indicating a role of EMT in breast cancer progression [211]. In clinical metaplastic breast cancer and ductal carcinoma of the breast, transcriptional profiling showed that in the metaplastic subtype, which lacks ER- α and HER-2/neu expression, genes functionally related to EMT and the extracellular matrix

were upregulated and those encoding proteins associated with maintaining epithelial phenotype were downregulated [212].

Induction of EMT in cancer cells by EMT-TFs promotes cancer stemness, chemoresistance and immune evasion [213]. Ectopic expression of either EMT-inducing transcription factor (TF) Twist or Snail in immortalized human mammary epithelial cells conferred mesenchymal traits and stem-like features, including mammosphere formation [117]. Similarly, co-expression of Slug and *SOX9* in nonmetastatic MCF7ras breast cancer cells induced partial EMT and promoted tumorigenesis and metastasis *in vivo* [214]. ShRNA-mediated inhibition of E-cadherin in transformed HMLER breast cancer cells activates EMT and prompts an increase in the CD44^{high}/CD24^{low} cell population [215]. As previously mentioned, CD44⁺/CD24⁻ identifies mesenchymal-like BCSCs, and ALDH⁺ identifies epithelial-like BCSC populations. The CD44⁺/CD24⁻ subpopulation is enriched with EMT-related genes—vimentin, *ZEB1*, *ZEB2*, β -catenin, and *MMP9*. In contrast, the ALDH⁺ subpopulation is enriched with cadherin, occludin, claudins, and desmoplakin. However, cellular plasticity exists between the EMT- and MET-like CSC states in breast cancer cell lines, producing heterogeneous populations in culture [60].

It is reported that the CD44⁺/CD24⁻BCSC population in TNBC is comprised of two distinct epithelial and mesenchymal subpopulations distinguished by differential expression of two α 6-integrin isoforms: α 6A and α 6B. The α 6B β 1 splice form is regulated by epithelial splicing regulatory protein 1 (ESRP1), an RNA-splicing factor that also controls the splicing of CD44 isoforms, promotes BCSC function, promotes mammosphere, formation and initiates tumor formation in non-obese diabetic mice [216]. A number of other regulators have been studied in the context of TNBC. Expression of the EMT activator ZEB1 is high in mesenchymal TNBC cells. ZEB1 represses stemnessinhibiting microRNAs (miR200 family members), resulting in activation of stem cell factors and promoting migration of cancer stem cells [217]. It also suppresses the expression of $TAp63\alpha$, an epithelial transcription factor, which suppression promotes expression of integrin- β 4 (*ITGB4*). ITG β 4 is associated with poor relapse-free survival in TNBC patients who received chemotherapy [218]. In basal-like breast cancer, Twist 2 upregulates the expression of aldo-keto reductase family 1 member B (AKR1B1), an arachidonic acid-related enzyme, to activate NF-kB. This in turn upregulates Twist 2 in a positive feedback loop to induce EMT and stem cell-like properties; thus, AKR1B1 expression promotes breast tumor progression and metastasis [219]. FOXC2, a mesenchymal transcription factor, is highly expressed in basal-like breast cancer, and is known to participate in tumor progression by directly inducing EMT and through crosstalk with other EMT pathways. Overexpression of FOXC2 in transformed human mammary epithelial cells induces CSC properties and promotes EMT and metastasis [220]. FOXC2 is in turn transcriptionally regulated by FOXF2, both of which serve as prognosis predictors in TNBC [221].

The interplay between pluripotency transcription factors and EMT/MET in breast cancer has become increasingly recognized over the years. Simultaneous overexpression of *OCT4* and Nanog in CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSCs increased expression of vimentin, Slug, Snail, and N-cadherin and reduced expression of E-cadherin and CK-18. Perturbation of *OCT4* and Nanog expression modulates TGF- β induced EMT gene expression and inhibits the invasiveness of CSC *in vitro* [153]. Aurora B, a serine/threonine kinase highly expressed in basal-like breast cancer, induces EMT to promote breast cancer metastasis by phosphorylating OCT4, which subsequently mediates Oct4/AKT/GSK3 β /Snail1 signaling. Knockdown of Aurora B suppresses this signaling pathway and reverses EMT and metastasis [222]. In MCF-7 cells, SOX2 suppresses invasiveness by binding to the promoter region of Twist 1. However, this mechanism depends on the transcriptional status of *SOX2* [223]. Similarly, KLF4 maintains epithelial phenotype in mammary epithelial cells, and its silencing induces EMT, resulting in loss of E-cadherin mRNA and protein. Overexpression of *KLF4* in MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells restored E-cadherin expression and inhibited migration and invasion [224]. Mechanistically, KLF4 binds to the promoter region of E-cadherin to regulate its expression, and does so in direct competition with ZEB2 [225]. Ultimately, the multitude of EMT functions linked to cancer stemness, metastasis, and chemoresistance underscores the importance of developing EMT-targeted therapies to enhance the efficacy of other therapeutic modalities.

1.8 Epigenetic regulation of BCSCs

Cellular plasticity is a signature of stem cells on account of their sustained selfrenewal and differentiation. In the case of EMT, the exhibited plasticity is maintained by reversible epigenetic mechanisms including DNA methylation, histone modifications, and microRNAs; these factors are critical for transcriptional regulation during progenitor differentiation. Dysregulation of epigenetic modifications induced by the tumor microenvironment can influence gene transcription and support oncogenic reprogramming in cancer cells [226].

In DNA methylation, addition of a methyl group at position C-5 of a cytosine regulates gene expression by engaging with protein complexes that repress gene expression

or hinder the binding of transcription factors to DNA [227]. Human mammary epithelium exhibits unique gene profiles in terms of both histone modifications and DNA methylation, demonstrating the epigenetic function of DNA methylation in lineage commitment [228]. Furthermore, promoter methylation that acts to suppress genes implicated in pluripotency and self-renewal is indispensable for mammary epithelial differentiation. For example, genes related to stemness are hypermethylated in differentiated luminal CD24⁺ human mammary epithelial cells, but hypomethylated in progenitor CD44⁺ cells, which express transcription factors implicated in stem cell function [229]. In tumorigenesis, aberrant de novo DNA methylation of CpG island promoters catalyzed by DNA methyltransferases (DNMT3A and DNMT3B) is associated with repression of tumor suppressor genes. In a meta-analysis of breast cancer patients, promoter methylation of BRCA1, a tumor suppressor gene that accounts for 30-40% of hereditary breast cancer, was associated with breast cancer lymph node metastasis and triple negative phenotype [230]. Similarly, bisulfite sequencing analysis of sporadic breast cancer cells and peripheral blood lymphocytes demonstrated aberrant cytosine methylation of the BRCA1 promoter CpG island when compared to normal breast cells [230]. Overall, dysregulation of DNA methylation patterns can help predict responsiveness to endocrine therapy in breast cancer patients [231]. Methylation patterns can also distinguish stem cells, as differentially methylated regions (DMRs) in BCSCs are more hypomethylated than in non-BCSCs. This hypomethylated DMR signature is enriched in genes related to TGF- β signaling and confers worse prognosis than in cases featuring a non-BCSC signature [232]. BCSCs are also characterized by downregulation of homeobox C8 (HOXC8), a regulator of cell fate during development; this altered expression is associated with DNA methylation of the

gene's promoter. Upregulation of *HOXC8* prompts a reduction in the CD44⁺/CD24⁺ population and in chemoresistance along with an increase in CD24⁺ differentiated cells, suggesting *HOXC8* as a possible suppressor of stemness and a regulator of phenotype transformation [233]. DNA methylation is additionally implicated in aspects of the antigen processing machinery. The immune evasion of Aldefluor+ BCSCs is epigenetically regulated through DNA methylation in the promoter of transporter associated with antigen processing (*TAP*). *TAP* is downregulated in BCSCs, and treatment with the DNA demethylation agent decitabine reverses this altered expression [234]. Finally, in addition to local promoter methylation, global hypomethylation in the early stage of tumorigenesis contributes to genomic instability and malignant transformation. In breast cancer, this hypomethylation is associated with gene repression and repressive chromatin formation [235].

Histones are core components of nucleosomal subunits, around which is wrapped a 147-base-pair segment of genomic DNA. Histones are rich in arginine and lysine and are subject to post-translational modifications such as acetylation, methylation, and phosphorylation. These modifiers induce chromatin remodeling that regulates gene transcription programs implicated in normal development and tumor differentiation. In most species, methylation and acetylation of lysine and arginine residues in the tails of histones H3 and H4 are well-characterized and have been linked to gene activation, gene repression, and DNA damage response. These modifications are respectively regulated by methyltransferase "writers"/demethylase "erasers" and histone acetyltransferases (HATs)/histone deacetylases (HDACs) [236]. In BCSCs, overexpression of epigenetic modifiers is involved in promoting the expression of genes facilitating plasticity. In particular, HDAC1 and HDAC7 are overexpressed in BCSCs and necessary to maintain CSC phenotype. HDAC7 targets histone 3 lysine 27 (H3K27ac) at transcription start sites and super-enhancers (SEs) and represses the transcriptional activity of SE-associated oncogenes including c-MYC, CD44, Slug, cyclin dependent kinase inhibitor 1B (CDKN1B), vitamin D receptor (VDR), SMAD3, and X-box binding protein 1 (XBP1) [237]. Members of the histone lysine demethylase KDM4 subfamily (A, B, C and D) are deregulated in cancer and play roles in controlling chromatin structure, cellular transformation, and gene expression. KDM4-A and -D are overexpressed in basal-like breast cancer, while *KDM4B* is amplified in ER⁺ luminal B breast cancer. In basal breast cancer, targeting KDM4 demethylases with the small-molecule inhibitor NCDM-32B affected cell growth pathways, evidenced by inhibiting cell viability and anchorageindependent growth in soft agar [238]. Similarly, KDM7A is essential in BCSC maintenance due to upregulating the stemness-associated factors KLF4 and c-MYC. Silencing KDM7A reduced the BCSC population in vivo and in vitro and promoted apoptosis in breast cancer cells [239]. Also relevant to stemness maintenance is protein arginine methyltransferase 5 (*PRMT5*), which catalyzes demethylation of arginine residues and upregulates NANOG and OCT4 expression in embryonic stem cells. In breast cancer, increased *PRMT5* expression is associated with poor clinical outcome. Depletion of *PRMT5* reduced BCSC populations and xenograft tumor growth, suggesting a role of PRMT5 in epigenetic control of BCSC maintenance [240].

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) are small non-coding RNA molecules of less than 25 nucleotides in length that regulate post-translational gene expression via mRNA degradation or translational repression [241]. They regulate differentiation and can act as

oncogenes or tumor suppressors depending on their targets. Dysregulation of miRNAs is observed in human cancers, with effects on cell growth, proliferation, apoptosis resistance, and metastasis. [242].

1.9 BCSCs and drug resistance

Tumor relapse in breast cancer has been attributed to drug-resistant CSCs, and the persistence of CSCs after chemotherapy pinpoints this population as an 'ultimate target' that must be eliminated to eradicate cancer. Deciphering the mechanisms by which these cells resist conventional chemotherapies, interact with the TME, escape immune response, and undergo metabolic adaptation is of paramount importance for developing BCSC-targeted therapies. BCSCs share many features of normal stem cells and modulate a multitude of drug resistance mechanisms, including overexpression of drug efflux pumps (e.g. ATP-binding cassette family members ABCG2, P-gp, ABCC1, ABCB5, etc.), enhanced DNA repair activity, increased scavenging of reactive oxygen species, activation of anti-apoptotic proteins, and induction of dormancy [243]. Notably, ABCG2 is a potential marker for tumor-initiating cells as well as a marker of chemoresistance in cancer stem cells [244].

ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters are widely studied for their diverse roles in cancers, including their contributions to multidrug resistance. ABC transporters are membrane-associated ATPases that utilize the energy of ATP binding and hydrolysis to translocate substrates across biological membranes, and their expression is known to be regulated by oncogenic transcription factors or signaling pathways implicated in the regulation of CSCs, such as PI3/AKT and MAPK/ERK. Targeted agents that inhibit these pathways can downregulate ABC transporters and sensitize the cancer cells to chemotherapeutic agents [245]. Likewise, EMT transcription factors mediate chemoresistance in BCSCs by regulating ABC transporters, and a relationship between pluripotency and chemoresistance was demonstrated through silencing of *SOX2* in mammospheres, which led to downregulation of *OCT4*, *NANOG*, *ALDH1A1*, *ABCG2*, and *TWIST*. This downregulation reduced the stemness and chemoresistance of BCSCs and improved sensitivity to paclitaxel treatment. This work elucidated the pluripotency-chemoresistance-EMT axis and paved a comprehensive strategy for future BCSC-based therapy [149].

Other main treatment modalities are chemotherapeutic agents and radiation, which induce DNA damage. BCSCs exhibit DNA damage repair mechanisms that render them chemo- and radiation-resistant, thus targeting DNA repair pathways is another plausible approach for BCSC-directed therapy [246]. In radiation treatment of mammospheres, a lower level of ROS increase was obtained relative to treated monolayer cultures, and it was followed by an increase in expression of Jagged-1 and Notch1 [247]. Broadly, BCSCs trigger increased expression of free radical scavenging systems at lower ROS levels than do other cells, protecting them from anti-cancer agents. Doxorubicin-dependent CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSCs in MCF-7 cells demonstrate upregulated levels of nuclear factor, erythroid 2 like 2 (*NRF2*), a key transcription factor that regulates cellular responses to oxidative damage. Specifically, CD44 regulates NRF2 level through p62 expression, and NRF2 activation endows the BCSCs with aggressive phenotype and chemoresistance [248].

Drug-resistant CSCs also activate anti-apoptotic proteins that can withstand cytotoxic agents. Inhibiting these anti-apoptotic proteins (such as Bcl-2) can be a potential therapeutic avenue against chemo-resistant BCSCs [249]. Recently, evidence has accumulated for a role of the pro-survival autophagic pathway in BCSC survival and maintenance. Autophagy flux is high in the ALDH⁺ BCSC population and is essential for tumorigenicity [250]. Autophagic BCSCs show chemoresistance that is enhanced by hypoxia, but the inhibition of autophagic CSCs in TNBC can overcome chemoresistance [251].

Last but not least, tumor dormancy is implicated in chemotherapy resistance and metastasis. Dormant cancer cells can survive an unfavorable microenvironment and undergo reversible growth arrest; furthermore, while in a dormant state, committed tumor cells de-differentiate to become stem-like cells [252]. Tumor dormancy is characterized by upregulation of autophagic signaling (which maintains the metabolic homeostasis of dormant cancer cells). epigenetic features, stress-lenient signaling, and microenvironmental cues [253]. In BCSCs, autophagy maintains low-level expression of the glycolysis mediator 6-phosphofructo-2-kinase/fructose-2,6-biphosphatase 3 (PFKFB3) to maintain cellular dormancy. Inactivation of autophagy signaling components reestablishes normal-level PFKFB3 expression, culminating in the reactivation of BCSC self-renewal, tumor aggressiveness, and metastatic outgrowth [254].

1.10 Differentiation Therapy and BCSCs

Loss of differentiation coupled with uncontrolled proliferation is a hallmark of malignant neoplasms. Differentiation therapy is a therapeutic strategy that re-instates endogenous differentiation programs to induce maturation in tumor cells. Upon differentiation, tumor cells revert back to a non-malignant phenotype, culminating in reduction of proliferation and metastatic potentials and upregulation of differentiating markers [255]. An early success story of differentiation therapy was the use of all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) in acute promyelocytic leukemia (APML); treating APML patients with ATRA in combination with chemotherapy can induce complete remission. ATRA targets an APML fusion protein (PML-RAR α), which ultimately leads to degradation of the PML-RAR α /HDAC complex, permitting epigenetic modifications and further differentiation of leukemic cells. Although the remission in AML patients treated with ATRA is quite sustainable, emergence of secondary resistance later challenges ATRA treatment alone, thus it is combined with chemotherapy for a more complete cure [256].

Since chemotherapies target only rapidly-proliferating tumor cells and spare the slowly-dividing population of CSCs, relapse is common. The presence of dedifferentiated CSCs in solid tumors gives rise to their heterogeneous nature with regard to proliferation, metastasis, and relapse after radio- or chemotherapy. A prospective alternative CSC-targeted therapy is to use differentiation-inducing agents to target CSCs and self-renewal signaling, influence the functional hierarchy between tumor cells, and thereby reduce their chemo- and radioresistance [257]. In fact, ATRA-induced differentiation in glioma stem-like cells reduced CSC motility, sensitized tumor cells to chemotherapy, and inhibited tumorigenicity [258]. In a similar fashion, ATRA treatment induced differentiation of CSC-enriched radioresistant MCF-7 breast tumor cells, reducing tumor invasiveness and migration and increasing sensitivity to chemotherapy [259]. In a TNBC xenograft model, combined treatment of ATRA with the epigenetic and chemotherapeutic agents entinostat

and doxorubicin targets CSCs and induces differentiation by activating ETS transcription factor 1 [260].

Genistein, a phytoestrogen, was shown to induce differentiation in BCSCs by a paracrine mechanism, affecting differentiation- and stem cell-associated genes and inhibiting mammosphere formation [261]. Acetaminophen, an anti-inflammatory drug, was evaluated for its effect on differentiation and tumorigenicity in breast cancer. Treatment of MDA-MB-231 cells with acetaminophen induced morphological changes, decreased CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and ALDH⁺ subpopulations, altered markers for differentiation and stemness, and inhibited tumorigenicity. It also increased susceptibility to anti-tumor drugs through suppressing the expression of multidrug efflux pumps. The differentiationinducing effect of acetaminophen is mediated through the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway [262]. Another study showed that knockdown of CD44, a BCSC marker involved in the differentiation, adhesion, and metastasis of cancer cells, sensitized breast cancer cells to doxorubicin or radiation. Its depletion BCSCs to differentiate into non-stem-like cells, targeting drug resistance, metastasis, and stem cell-related genes [263]. These findings indicate that targeting BCSC markers can modulate differentiation and inhibit breast tumorigenicity at the same time. **Table 1.2** summarizes differentiation-promoting natural products and synthetic chemicals that have been indicated to target breast cancer stemness signaling.

When it comes to development and stem cell differentiation, it is well-established that epigenetic regulation plays a significant role. Aberrant epigenetic modifications (including microRNAs and histone modifications) have been implicated in differentiation programs in cancer [264]; of these, microRNAs provide an appealing target for differentiation therapy. Petrelli *et al.* showed that miR-100 promotes differentiation in basal-like BCSCs, transforming the basal-like phenotype to luminal type. In basal-like breast cancer, miR-100 inhibits maintenance of BCSCs by targeting the Wnt signaling pathway and polo like kinase 1 (*PLK1*); conversely, its inhibition induces a stem-like phenotype [265]. Also of interest in breast cancer is the potential role of histone deacetylase inhibitors (HDACi) as avenues for differentiation therapy [266]. A low dose of the HDACi abexinostat induces BCSC differentiation in sensitive breast cancer cells, with treated cells exhibiting high expression of luminal and epithelial markers and low expression of mesenchymal markers. Furthermore, abexinostat reduces the BCSC population in patientderived xenografts expressing low levels of the lncRNA *Xist* [267].

Collectively, the above studies illustrate the promise of differentiation therapy either as a stand-alone therapy or as part of a combinatorial regimen targeting BCSCs.

1.11 Vitamin D and breast cancer

Vitamin D belongs to a group of fat-soluble secosteroids produced as a result of skin exposure to UV light or obtained from dietary sources such as plants and fish [268]. It is hydroxylated in the liver by the 25-hyroxylase enzyme encoded by cytochrome P450 family 2 subfamily R member 1 (*CYP2R1*), producing 25D3 (25-hydroxyvitamin D). It is then further metabolized in the kidneys to its final active form, 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25-hydroxyvitamin D, **Figure 1.2**) mediated by 1α -hydroxylase enzyme encoded by *CYP27B1*. Both 25D3 and 1,25D3 are catabolized by *CYP24A1* [269]. The function of the active form of vitamin D (1,25D3) is mediated through the vitamin D receptor (*VDR*), which is a nuclear receptor protein that binds to vitamin D response elements and

modulates transcription of target genes. *VDR* is expressed in tissues involved in calcium and phosphate homeostasis, such as bone and kidney, as well as in other non-calcium regulating tissues [270]. Human *VDR* gene is located on the long arm of chromosome 12 (12q13.11) constituting three regions: one coding region and non-coding regions. It spans 75 kb long and encompasses 11 exons [271]. Exons 1A, 1B and 1C comprises the 5'noncoding sequence and exons 2-9 encode the coding region of the *VDR* gene. The promoter region of *VDR* gene serves as the putative binding site for multiple transcription factors that mediate extracellular signal transduction. The structural portion of the VDR gene contains translation start codons and ligand binding site [271]. In the mammary gland, it is involved in development and homeostasis during pregnancy, lactation, and involution, and furthermore regulates calcium transport during lactation. *Vdr* null mice showed accelerated lobuloalveolar development during pregnancy and delayed post-lactational involution [272].

Notably, there is mounting evidence documenting an inverse relationship between vitamin D level and breast cancer. Serum 25D3 deficiency is highly prevalent in breast cancer patients; conversely, increased serum vitamin D level is associated with reduced risk of breast cancer [273, 274]. A recent meta-analysis of sixty-eight studies published between 1998 and 2018 showed a protective relationship between 25D3 and breast cancer in premenopausal women [275]. In addition to serum vitamin D level, VDR expression may be a prognostic factor. High VDR expression in invasive breast cancer is associated with favorable tumor characteristics such as lower grade, estrogen receptor and progesterone receptor positivity, and lower breast cancer mortality [276]. However, there is some evidence indicating *VDR* gene polymorphisms to be associated with breast cancer,

including Bsm1, Poly(A), Fok1, Cdx2 and Taq1 [277]. Bsm1 gene polymorphism is located in the 3' end of the VDR gene. Individuals with bb genotype has higher incidence of developing breast cancer compared to BB or Bb genotypes [278]. Similarly, Poly(A), a biallelic polymorphism, is in linkage disequilibrium with Bsm1 polymorphism in 3' UTR region, with characteristic variable number of tandem repeats. Individuals with long poly(A) stretches variant (LL) is associated with breast cancer risk in contrast to the ones with short poly(A) stretches (SS) that carry less risk of breast cancer. The 5' Fokl gene polymorphism augmented the breast cancer risk associated with bb/LL genotype [278]. Furthermore, *Fok1* gene polymorphism has a significant interaction with the ER status in breast cancer [279]. The Cdx2 polymorphism is a guanine (G) to adenine (A) sequence alteration, located in the promoter region of VDR gene. A meta-analysis of case control studies showed Cdx2 polymorphism is significantly associated with breast cancer susceptibility in Africans but not Caucasians [280]. *Taq1* polymorphism increases the risk of breast cancer development in Caucasians although no association was found among Asians [281]. It is associated with a significant risk of ER+ tumors for t allele carriers compared to non-carriers (T allele: absence of Taq restriction site; t allele: presence of Taq1 restriction site) [282].

Binding of active metabolites of vitamin D to VDR regulates the transcription of genes implicated in pro-apoptotic, pro-differentiating, anti-proliferative, and antimetastatic effects on cancer cells [283]. Prior studies have demonstrated that vitamin D and its analogs inhibit breast tumorigenesis *in vivo* and trigger apoptotic and autophagic cell death *in vitro* [284-286]. Compared to 1,25D3, Gemini vitamin D analogs exert more potent anti-proliferative and tumor-inhibiting effects in xenografts without causing hypercalcemic toxicity, which was detected in 20-30% of patients treated with 1,25D3 [287-289]. In addition to its effect on primary breast tumors, vitamin D has demonstrated inhibitory effects on metastasis, achieved through inhibiting EMT [290]. In breast tumor cells, vitamin D and its analogs induced epithelial markers such as E-cadherin, but repressed the expression of mesenchymal markers such as N-cadherin and α -SMA, culminating in epithelial differentiation and reduction in tumor progression [291, 292]. Solid tumor progression can also be effectively prevented through targeting angiogenesis in the tumor microenvironment. 1,25D3 inhibits VEGF-driven endothelial cell sprouting and elongation in three-dimensional gels *in vitro*, the effects mediated through apoptosis. Likewise, treatment of VEGF-overexpressed xenografts with vitamin D has also been shown in xenograft tumors, promoting CD8⁺ T cell tumor infiltration and reducing tumor weight [294].

The mechanism by which vitamin D exerts its tumor-inhibiting effect has been examined in MMTV-Wnt1 mammary tumors. Dietary vitamin D and injection calcitriol delayed *in vivo* tumor growth in limiting dilution analyses and inhibited self-renewal in spheroid culture, mediated through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway [295]. In MCF10DCIS.com xenograft tumors, the Gemini vitamin D analog BXL0124 has been shown to inhibit ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) progression to invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) by maintaining the myoepithelial cell layer and basement membrane [296]. BXL0124 inhibited the expression of CD44 protein and suppressed the mammary tumor growth in MCF10DCIS xenografts. It repressed the expression of CSC marker CD44 at both mRNA and protein levels in MCF10DCIS.com cells via *VDR*-dependent mechanism [297]. Knockdown of

CD44 in MCF10DCIS.com cells decreased STAT3 signaling and inhibited invasion and proliferation by downregulating the expression levels of invasion markers – matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) [298]. Administration of BXL0124, the synthetic triterpenoid CDDO-Im and the combination delayed the development of MMTV-ErbB2/neu mammary tumors by downregulating ErbB2 signaling pathway including activated-Erk1/2, activated-Akt, c-Myc, CycD1 and Bcl2 [299]. In MCF10DCIS.com cells, vitamin D and BXL0124 inhibit BCSCs by reducing both CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} subpopulations and mammosphere forming efficiency. Treatment of mammospheres with vitamin D compounds targets stem cell phenotype markers (including CD44, CD49f, pNFkB, and c-Notch1) and pluripotency markers (such as OCT4 and KLF4) [300]. However, the effect of vitamin D on BCSCs is dependent on VDR expression; the receptor is significantly downregulated in mammospheres and ALDH⁺ breast cancer cells. Overexpression of VDR in mammospheres led to upregulated E-cadherin expression and downregulated Snail expression, resulting in impaired mammosphere formation [301]. Therefore, in at least some contexts, vitamin D compounds can be used as an effective differentiation-promoting therapy, targeting BCSCs and EMT to prevent breast cancer progression and metastasis.

1.12 Summary

Breast cancer is one of the most commonly diagnosed cancers in US women. It is a heterogeneous disease with a high degree of intra- and inter-tumoral diversity predisposed by multiple genetic and non-genetic risk factors. Accumulating evidence has indicated cancer stem cells as responsible for the origin of breast cancer, along with tumor maintenance, progression, and relapse. BCSCs are TICs mainly characterized by selfrenewal, high proliferative capacity, the ability to generate daughter cells with differentiation potential, and chemo- and radio-resistance. BCSC populations can be identified by select cellular markers, including CD44⁺/CD24⁻ and ALDH enzymatic assay. The self-renewal and proliferative potentials of BCSCs are studied using mammosphere formation assays and limiting dilution xenograft studies. A hallmark of BCSC is the deregulation of signal transduction pathways involved in the regulation of normal mammary stem cells, endowing them with the characteristic features of cancer stemness. Transcription factors typical of embryonic stem cells are expressed in breast cancer cells; their expression is associated with stem-like phenotypes, EMT, and tumor aggressiveness, suggesting a significant role of transcription factor-mediated stemness and tumorigenesis in breast cancer. In addition, the tumor microenvironment and epigenetic regulation have been revealed as critical aspects of BCSC biology in which further study is needed to advance our understanding of BCSCs and their contributions to cancer progression, relapse, and resistance.

With poor differentiation being a hallmark of malignant cells, differentiation therapy has recently emerged as an alternative strategy for inducing differentiation in cancer cells and thereby reducing malignancy. The application of all-*trans* retinoic acid as differentiation therapy in acute myeloid leukemia has proved to be safe and effective in targeting leukemic stem cells. Vitamin D and its analogs have been studied as potential chemopreventive agents to induce differentiation in several malignancies, including myeloid leukemia, breast, colon, and breast cancers. These compounds have been demonstrated to target breast cancer stem cells and progression in both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies. Building upon this literature, we will in the following chapter identify the effects of vitamin D compounds in targeting BCSCs in TNBC. We will also investigate the role of transcription factors(s) modulating BCSCs in breast tumorigenesis.



Figure 1.1 Diagram of self-renewal pathways and associated transcription factors

regulating breast cancer stem cells



Figure 1.2 The structures of 1*α*,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124
Cancer cell surface marker(s) /Transcription factor	Function in stem cell	Experimental system	Target gene/marker studied	TS/ CFA ⁴	In vivo	Ref.
ABCG2 ⁺ (CD338)	Tumor initiation	HCC1937	CD326/EpCAM, CD49f/α6- integrin, CD24, CD10, CD133	+	Injection of unsorted cells (4x10 ⁵ and 2x10 ⁶ cells)	[302]
ALDH ^{+/hi} CD44 ⁺	Chemo-radio resistance	MDA-MB231 and MDA-MB-468	GSTP1, P-gp, CHK1, CK8/18/19	+	NA	[303]
ALDH1 ⁺	Self-renewal; tumor initiation	Human breast cancer cells	NA	+	Injection of sorted cells (500 ~ 50,000 cells)	[54]
C/EBΡδ	Tumor initiation; EMT; metastasis	 SUM159 MDA-MB-231, MDA-MB-468 MCF-7 T47D 	 IL-6, HIF-1α, CD44, N-cadherin, Vimentin, Twist and STAT3 CD44, Myc, Nanog, and KLF4 CD44, Vimentin, OCT4, SOX2, Nanog, KLF4, CDH1, FBXW7, HIF-1α, E-cadherin, IL6, NOTCH and NICD Vimentin, E-cadherin 	+	Injection of unsorted cells (3x10 ⁶ or 0.3x10 ⁶ cells)	[304]
CCR5	Self-renewal; DNA repair	SUM159, SUM149 and FC-IBC-02	DNA damage repair genes: FANCB, LIG3, POLE, CRY1; PI3/Akt signaling; cell survival signaling	+	Injection of sorted cells (4000 cells)	[305]

Table 1.1 Breast cancer stem cell markers, their functions, target genes and tumorigenesis

⁴TS/CFA: Tumor Spheroid or Colony formation assay NA: Not Available

CD122+	TT : :/: /:					[[[0]]
CD133 ⁺	I umor initiation;	Cell lines developed	Expression of stem cell associated	+	Injection of sorted	[50]
	self-renewal	from $Brca1\Delta^{exon11}/p53^{+/-}$	genes: OCT4, NOTCH1, ALDH1,		cells $(50 \sim 5000)$	
		mouse mammary tumors	FGFR1 and SOX1		cells)	
CD24 ⁺ CD29 ⁺ /CD49f ⁺	Metastasis; EMT	BRCA-1 mutant mouse	E-cadherin	+	Injection of sorted	[306]
		derived CSCs			cells ($2x10^5$ cells)	
CD24 ⁺ Thy1 ⁺	Tumor initiation	MMTV-Wnt-1 mouse	CK5, CK14, CK17, NOTCH4,	+	Injection of sorted	[307]
			BCL6B		cells (50 ~ 2,000	
					cells)	
CD29 ^{lo} CD24 ⁺ CD61 ⁺	Tumor initiation	MMTV-Wnt-1, MMTV-	CK14, CK8	+	NA	[308]
		neu and p53 mutant mice				
CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁻	Tumor initiation	Human breast tumor-	NA	-	Injection of sorted	[46]
^{/low} Lineage ⁻		derived tumor cells			cells; Limiting	
					dilution (100 ~	
					5×10^5 cells)	
CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁻	Tumor initiation;	Human mammary	NA	+	Injection of sorted	[309]
/low/EpCAM ⁺	self-renewal	epithelial cells, MDA-			cells; Limiting	
•		MB-231, MCF7,			dilution (100 ~	
		MCF10A, SUM149,			1×10^6 cells)	
		SUM159, SUM1315 and			,	
		SUM225				
CD44 ⁺ /CD49f ^{hi} /CD13	Tumor initiation,	Human breast cancer	Sox2, Bmi-1, Nanog	+	Injection of sorted	[310]
3/2 ^{hi}	self-renewal	tissues			cells: Limiting	
-					dilution $(50 \sim 2500)$	
					cells)	
CD44 ⁺ CD24 ^{+/lo} SSEA-	Tumor initiation	MCF-7 and MDA-MB-	SSEA-3, Caspase-3, capase-8.	+	Injection of sorted	[311]
3 ⁺ or		231	caspase-9, caspase-12 SSEA-4.		cells $(10 \sim 2500)$	L- J
ESA ^{hi} PROCR ^{hi} SSEA-			globo-H. ß3GalT5		cells)	
3 ⁺			0, p0 0m 10)	
CD49F ⁺ /DLL1 ^{hi} /DNF	Tumor initiation.	Human normal	SERPINB5 TOP2A CK5 TP63	+	Injection of sorted	[312]
R ^{hi}	self-renewal	mammary stem cells and	SOX4 CD24 ADRM1 DNFR		cells $(500 \sim 1000)$	[312]
	Self Telle wal	breast tumors	DLL1 and IAG1		cells)	
	1			1		1

CD49f ⁺ CD61 ⁺	Tumor initiation;	MMTV-Her2/neu-	CSC markers: Abcg2, Aldh1,	+	Injection of sorted	[313]
	self-renewal	induced primary	CD133, Gli1 and Tp63;		cells (5000 cells)	
		mammary gland tumor	differentiation marker genes: CK5,			
			CK6, CK14, CK18;			
			TGFβ signaling: Pai, Il6, Igfbp3,			
			Foxc2; EMT genes: CDH2, SMA,			
			SNAIL, TWIST1 and ZEB1			
CD61(Integrin αvβ3)	Tumor initiation;	BT-20, MDA-MB-	Slug	+	Injection of	[314]
	self-renewal	231and MDA-MB-468			unsorted cells;	
					Limiting dilution	
					$(100 \sim 1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells})$	
$CD70^+$	Self-renewal;	MCF-7, MDA-MB-231	E-cadherin and Vimentin	+	Injection of sorted	[315]
	EMT; lung-	and CN34			cells; limiting	
	specific				dilution	
	metastasis;					
	differentiation					
Cx26	Self-renewal;	Triple negative breast	NANOG, FAK, OCT4, SOX2	+	Serial dilution	[316]
	tumor initiation	cancer samples; MDA-			injections (8,000 ~	
		MB-231 and HCC70			800,000 cells)	
CXCR2	Chemo-radio	Human breast cancer	ALDH, ABCG2, NOTCH1, SOX2,	+	Injection of sorted	[317]
	resistance; tumor	tissues; 4T1	and NANOG		cells (200 ~ 20,000	
	initiation				cells)	
$GD2^+$	Self-renewal;	HMLER and MDA-MB-	GD3S; MMPs: MMP2, MMP7 and	+	Injection of sorted	[318]
	tumor initiation;	231	MMP19; EMT markers: N-		cells (1 ~ 10,000	
	EMT		cadherin, Vimentin, E-cadherin;		cells)	
			stemness markers: CD44, CD24			
Glyoxalase 1 (GLO1)	Self-renewal	MDA-MB-157 and -468	ALDH1	+	NA	[319]
HIF-2α	Self-renewal;	MCF-7 and MDA-MB-	Stem cell markers: C-MYC, OCT4,	+	Injection of	[196]
	chemoresistance	231	NANOG; Notch pathway related		unsorted cells	
			proteins: NOTCH ^{NICD} and HEY2;		$(3 \times 10^{6} \text{ or } 1 \times 10^{6})$	
			Wnt-pathway related proteins: β-		cells)	
			catenin, Axin2 and Survivin			

Lgr5 ^{hi}	Self-renewal; tumor initiation; EMT	MCF-7, MDA-MB-231	EMT markers: E-cadherin, β- catenin, Vimentin, Fibronectin, Snail, slug; Cyclin D1, C-myc, CK14, and CK18, CD44, CD24	+	Injection of sorted cells (200 ~ 20,000 cells)	[320]
miR-1	Negative regulator of breast cancer stem cells and EMT	Human breast cancer tissues; MDA-MB-231	EVI-1; EMT markers: E-cadherin, N-cadherin	-	Injection of sorted cells (5x10 ⁶ cells)	[321]
miR-221	Self-renewal	Human breast cancer tissues; T47D and MCF- 7	Stemness genes: NANOG, OCT3/4; β-Catenin, DNMT3b, CD44, CD24, Numb, p53	+	NA	[322]
MUC1 ⁺	Tumor initiation; self-renewal	MCF-7	ABCG2, CK18, CK19, EpCAM, CD49f	+	NA	[323]
Nectin-4 ⁺	EMT; metastasis; self- renewal	MDA-MB-231	CD44, CD133, PI3K, Akt, β- catenin, E-cadherin, Vimentin	+	Injection of unsorted cells (1x10 ⁷ cells)	[324]
PROCR ⁺ /ESA ⁺	Self-renewal; tumor initiation; EMT	MDA-MB 231	EMT markers: VIM, E-cadherin, SLUG, FOXC2; stem cell markers: ALDH, CD44, CD24, ESA, CD133, CXCR4, ABCG2	+	Injection of sorted cells; Limiting dilution (100 ~ 2500 cells)	[325]
RUNX1	Negative regulator of self- renewal and CSC	MCF10AT1, MCF10A, MCF10CA1 and MCF7	E-cadherin, Vimentin, FN1, VEGF, MMP13, MMP9, CXCR4, CLCX12, CSC markers: Zeb1, Twist1, CD44, CD24	+	Injection of unsorted cells (1x10 ⁶ cells)	[326]
Sca1 ⁺	Self-renewal; tumor initiation; chemoresistance	BALB-neuT mouse	Stem cell markers: Oct-4, CD44, CD29, CD24; differentiation markers: CK14, CK18, CK19, α–SMA	+	Injection of unsorted cells (100 ~ 10,000: cells)	[327]

Syndecan-1	Self-renewal	SUM149 and SKBR3	CSC markers: CD44, CD24,	+	NA	[328]
			ALDH; Notch signaling: NOTCH-			
			1, -3, -4, HEY-1; Gli-1, IL-6, IL-8,			
			gp130, STAT3, NFκB, CCL20,			
			EGFR			
tDR-000620	Predictor of	Human patients- derived	SOX2, OCT4, ALDH1, CD44,	+	NA	[329]
	TNBC	TNBC samples; MCF-7	CD24			
	recurrence	and MDA-MB-231,				

Agent	Classification	Experimental Model	Significance	Ref
Acetaminophen	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	mRNA level: ↑: KRT19, AKT2, CD24, and TIMP1 ↓: MMP2, ALDH1, MMP9, TWIST, NOTCH1, and AKT1 Protein level: Vimentin↓/E-cadherin↑, Twist↓ Cell surface marker: CD44hi/CD24low↓, CD44+/CD24+↑ Differentiation induction of CSC: Twist↓, Vimentin↓/E-cadherin↑	[330]
AF38469	Synthetic chemical	In vivo, MDA- MB-231 Xenograft mouse	Sortilin inhibition Decreased mammosphere formation Reduced EMT	[331]
AHCC (Active Hexose Correlated Compound)	Natural product	In vitro, MCF-7	Decreased mammosphere formation (AHCC alone and in combination with Wasabi) Observation of monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation	[332]
All trans Retinoic Acid	Natural product	In vitro, MDA- MB-231, T47D, ZR75-1, BT549 and MCF7	RAR β -TET2 complex recruitment, leading to activation of miR-200c Inhibition of RAR β -TET2-miR-200c-PKC $\zeta\downarrow$ CHIP-seq with RAR β -TET2: co-occupancy with <i>RUNX1</i> , <i>BMP6</i> , <i>IKZF1</i> , <i>CAV1</i> decreased T47D CSC in 3D gel. Polarized expression of α 6-integrin and E- cadherin differentiation (Increase symmetric commitment and repress asymmetric division in CSC) \uparrow tamoxifen sensitization	[333]
All trans Retinoic Acid	Natural product	In vitro, MCF7	Cell marker: CD44+/CD24- cell↓, NANOG↓, Oct3/4↓ Differentiation induction of CSC: marker involucrin↑, syndecan↑ Reduced invasiveness, migration Epirubicin sensitization	[259]
Arsenite	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	Cell surface marker: ICAM-1 expression induction (in combination with Tetrandine)	[334]
Atorvastatin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-468, MDA- B-231	Gene expression: Hippo, Notch, Wnt↓ Protein level: Yap/Taz protein↓, vimentin↓/E-cadherin↑ Differentiation induction of CSC: CD24+↑ Reduced EMT	[335]
β-lapachone	Natural product	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	NQO1 induction Gene expression: CD44, ALDH1A1, DLGAP5↓ Decreased mammosphere formation	[336]

Table 1.2 Potential compounds regulating cancer stem cell markers, differentiation and EMT in breast cancer

Benzo(a)pyrene	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MCF10A	TDLU assay: Organized ducts and lobules in BMP2 presence cells with BaP treatment	[337]
			BMP mediated progenitor response shown: Myoepithelial dif. (SMA, KR114) and luminol dif. (KPT18, EnCAM) with BMP4 treatment	
DE7225	Synthetic chemical	In vitro	DI2V/mTOD inhibition	[229]
DEZ255	Synthetic chemical	HCC11/3	K_{10} K_{14} VIM expression in HCC1143 and SUM140 cell line	[336]
		SUM140	$K19$, $K14$, $V1W1$ expression in FICCT145 and SOW145 cent inter \rightarrow K10hi/K14hi/VIM1e Drug Telerent Progenitor (DTP) cells enrichment	
		5011149	RNA sea: cytokeratin unregulation	
		In vitro	Induction of K 10bi/VIMlow/K 1/low enrichment in HCC11/2 cell line	[228]
		HCC11/3	De-enrichment of VIMbi/K1/low population	[556]
Risphanol A	Synthetic chemical	In vitro MCE10A	TDI II assay: Organized ducts and lobulas in BMD2 presence cells with BaD	[227]
Displicitor A	Synthetic chemical	III VILLO, INCL'IOA	treatment	[337]
			BMP mediated progenitor response shown: Myoenithelial dif (SMA KRT14)	
			and luminal dif (KRT18 EnCAM) with BMP4 treatment	
BXI 0124	Synthetic chemical	In vitro SUM159	mRNA level: OCTA CD44 I AMA5 NOTCH	[339]
DAL0124	Synthetic enermean		Differentiation marker: cytokeratin14 SMA [↑] cytokeratin18 cytokeratin5	[337]
			Decreased mammosphere formation	
			Differentiation induction of CSC	
CHM-09	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA-	EGFR Tyrosine kinase inhibitors	[340]
	- ,	MB-231	Differentiation marker: N-cadherin . E-cadherin î	[]
			Induction of CSC apoptosis and cell cycle arrest	
			Increased MET	
Cholera toxin	Natural product	In vitro, HMLE,	cAMP/PKA activation	[341]
	1	NAMEC8,	CD44 ^{Hi} /CD24 ^{Lo} population↓	
		MCF10A	Increased MET	
		Xenograft		
		NOD/SCID		
		mouse		
Citral	Natural product	In vivo, 4T1	Aldefluore assay showing decrease in ALDH-positive cell population in	[342]
		xenograft mouse	primary breast cancer xenograft	
		model		
Curcumin	Natural product	In vitro, MCF-7,	Gene expression: OCT4↓ NANOG↓ SOX2↓	[343]
		MDA-MD-231	Decreased mammosphere formation	
			Differentiation induction of CSC: CD44 ⁺ /CD24 ⁻ ↓	
		In vitro, SUM149,	Gene expression: ALDH1A3↓ PROM1↓TP63↓ITGA6↓	[344]
		MCF10A, MCF-7	Decreased mammosphere formation	

CWP/ICG001	Small molecule	In vitro, MCF-7, MDA-MB-231	Induction of Sam68-CBP complex, leading to disruption of CBP/β-catenin Differentiation induction of CSC Increased CSC apoptosis	[345]
Dasatinib	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, paclitaxel-res SUM159	 mRNA level: N-cadherin (CDH2), Fibronectin (FN1), Snail (SNAI1), ZEB1, TP63, SMA (ACTA2) ↓ /E-cadherin expression↑ protein level: p-Src↓ 3D culture of SUM159. Dasatinib treated group showed formation of round, acinar-like structure Decreased mammosphere formation Differentiation induction of CSC Increased MET 	[346]
Diallyl Trisulfide	Natural product	In vitro, MCF-7, SUM159	Gene expression level: CD44, ALDH1A1, NANOG, OCT4↓, Wnt/β-catenin signal↓ Reduced CSC viability	[347]
Digitoxin	Natural product	Patient sample, patient derived xenograft model	Increased Intracellular Ca dissociates cell tight junction, leading to altered DNA methylation profile of gene expression shown below: Gene expression level: OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, SIN3A↓	[348]
Disulfiram	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	Protein level: STAT3, cyclinD, Survivin, ALDHA1↓, Caspase-3↑ Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD24-↓ Increased CSC apoptosis Decreased mammosphere formation	[349]
Doxorubicin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, Hs578T	Decreased proliferation, aggregation and mammosphere formation of stem-like cells Affects the balance between self-renewal and differentiation	[350]
EC-70124	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, HS578T, BT549, MDA- MB-231 and HCC3153	Gene expression: PI3K/mTOR, JAK/STAT↓ Cell marker: CD44, ALDH1, CD49f, CD133↓ Differentiation induction of CSC Decreased EMT	[351]
Efatutazone	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MCF10A, MCFDCIS In vivo, MCFDCIS subQ injection	PPARγ agonist mRNA level: hFABP4↑, CK8↑, CK6a, CK6b, CK17↓ <i>in vivo</i> : increased lipid droplets, reduced CD44, p63 staining, increased CK8 staining. FABP4, PLIN2 mRNA↑ Differentiation induction of CSC: upregulation of PPARγ responsive genes in epithelial and stromal components	[352]
Entinostat	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231,	HDAC inhibition	[353]

		In vivo, MDA- MB-231 Xenograft	Transcriptomic array in MDA-MB-231 cell treated with entinostat: RARB, ELF3, DHRS3	
Flubendazole	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231, BT-549, MCF-7 and SK- BR-3 MDA-MB-231 Xenograft nude mice	Gene expression: MYC, OCT4, SOX2, NANOG cyclinD1↓ Oil red O staining enriched MDA-MB-231 cells. Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD24-↓ Decreased mammosphere formation Differentiation induction of CSC: β -catenin, N-cadherin, vimentin↓, keratin 18↑ Reduced CSC self-renewal	[354]
Forskolin	Natural product	In vitro, HMLE, NAMEC8, MCF10A Xenograft NOD/SCID mouse	cAMP/PKA activation Differentiation induction of CSC: vimentin, CD44+/CD24-, Snail, Twist1 and Zeb1↓; CDH1, E-cadherin ↑	[341]
Graphene Oxide	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MCF7	CSC signaling pathway: Wnt, NOTCH, STAT1/3, Nrf2 signal ↓ Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD22-↓, due to increase in CD22+ population Differentiation induction of CSC Decreased mammosphere formation	[355]
Helichrysetin	Natural product	in vitro, MCF10A, DCIS.com, MCF10CA	Differentiation induction of CSC: ID2 inhibition ID2 inhibition Decreased mammosphere formation Decreased CSC self-renewal	[356]
IM-412	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-453, MDA- MB-231	FGFR1/3 inhibition Protein level: Smad2/3, p38/MAPK, Akt, JNK↓ Reduced EMT Differentiation induction of CSC: Inhibition of TGF- β pathway	[357]
Ivermectin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	Gene expression: SOX2, NANOG, OCT4 ↓ Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD22-↓ Decreased CSC viability Decreased CSC self-renewal	[358]
K252	Small molecule	In vitro, MDA- MB-468	Differentiation induction: ERN1 inhibition Confocal microscopy of K5 and K8 expression showing ERN1 and ALPK1 Knockdown induces luminal differentiation (K5-/K8+) in MDA-MB-468 Reduction of colony forming unit of anchorage independent growth of TNBC cell lines	[359]

-			Protein level: β-casein↑	
Laminin	Endogenous	In vitro, LM05-E	Gene expression: SOX2, NANOG, OCT4 ↓ Protein level: p-ERK↑ Reduced CSC viability	[360]
			Differentiation induction of CSC Decreased mammosphere formation	
Lovastatin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-468, MDA- B-231	Gene expression: Hippo, Notch, Wnt↓ Protein level: Yap/Taz protein↓, vimentin↓/E-cadherin↑ Differentiation induction of CSC Reduced EMT	[335]
Metformin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MD-231, MCF-7	RNA expression/ Differentiation induction: miRNA-708 ↑, CD47↓ Protein level: CD47↓	[361]
Nobiletin	Natural product	In vitro, MCF7A	CD36 inhibition Gene expression: SOX2, OCT4, NANOG↓ Decreased mammosphere formation	[362]
Ouabain	Natural product	Patient sample, patient derived xenograft model	Increased Intracellular Ca dissociates cell tight junction, leading to alter DNA methylation profile of gene expression shown below: Gene expression level: OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, SIN3A↓	[348]
Osteoprotegerin (OPG)	Endogenous	In vivo, MMTV- PyMT	RANKL decoy receptor Depletion of Sca1-/lo CSC Induce tumor cell differentiation and reduce recurrence and metastasis	[363]
Palbociclib	Small molecule	In vitro, MCF7, MCFDCIS	CDK4/6 inhibition Long term suppression of P63 Immunohistochemistry in DCIS Mammosphere formation↓ Differentiation induction of CSC: NELL2↑	[364]
PD98059	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	MAPK inhibition Differentiation marker: N-cadherin↓, E-cadherin↑ Induction of CSC apoptosis and cell cycle arrest Increased MET	[340]
Prolactin	Endogenous	In vivo, Human BC cells HER2+, Luminal B Xenograft HER2 mouse model (NOD/SCID)	mRNA level: ALDHA1, ALDHA3, CD44↓ Cell surface marker: ALDH↓ Decreased mammosphere formation	[365]
P123	Peptide (1.9kDa)	In vitro, CSC cells	BMP signal agonist Cell surface marker: CD44+ population↓, E-cadherin+ population↑in BCSC	[366]

Quercetin	Natural product	In vitro, MCF7A	PI3K/Akt/mTOR signal inhibition Decreased mammosphere formation Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD24-↓	[367]
Quisinostat	Synthetic chemical	<i>In vitro</i> , MDA- MB-231, MDA- MD-468, HCC38, MCF-7	HDAC Class I and II inhibition Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD24-↓ Decreased CSC viability (in combination with doxorubicin)	[368]
Resveratrol	Natural product	In vitro, MDA- MB-231	SIRT1 induction Cell surface marker: CD44+/CD22-↓ Differentiation induction	[369]
Rosiglitazone	Synthetic chemical	In vivo, MMTV- PyMT transgenic mouse	Increase in FABP4, adiponectin expression (Co treatment with PD98059) Development of unilocular lipid droplets in tumor cells after treatment (Co treatment with PD98059) Differentiation induction of CSC: E-cadherin↑	[370]
Salinomycin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MCF7	Decreased mammosphere formation	[371]
SCH772984	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MCF- 10A, MDA-MB- 231, MDA-MB- 436	ERK inhibition Cell surface marker: ALDH↓ Protein level: p21↑	[372]
Seocalcitol	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, SUM- 1315, BT-549, BT-20, SUM- 159PT, MDA- MB-468, MFM- 223, CAL-148	Vitamin D receptor signal activation Cell surface marker: ALDH↓ Decreased mammosphere formation Differentiation induction of CSC	[373]
Silibinin	Natural product	In vitro, MDA- MB-468	Gene expression: CD133, ALDH, C-MYC, NANOG, KLF4 SOX2↓, GATA3, BRCA1↑ Cell surface marker: ALDH+/CD133, ALDH+/CD44, CD133/CD44↓ phenotype of MDA-MB-468 in 2D and 3D culture: increase in size and spindle shape in treatment group. BRCA1 upregulation in 3D culture group with treatment Differentiation induction of CSC Decreased mammosphere forming size	[374]
Simvastatin	Synthetic chemical	In vitro, MDA- MB-468, MDA- B-231	Gene expression: Hippo, Notch, Wnt↓ Protein level: Yap/Taz protein↓, vimentin↓/E-cadherin↑ Differentiation induction of CSC Reduced EMT	[335]

Trametinib	Small molecule	In vitro, SUM159, HCC1143	MEK inhibition K19, K14, VIM expression in HCC1143 and SUM149 cell line → K19hi/K14hi/VIMlo Drug Tolerant Progenitor (DTP) cells enrichment RNA seq: cytokeratin upregulation	[338]
T315	Small molecule	In vitro, MDA- MB-231, SUM- 159 Xenograft NOD/SCID mouse	ILK inhibition Decreased NOTCH1 signaling Decreased mammosphere formation <i>In vivo:</i> decreased ALDH+ population, decreased mammosphere formation and decreased tumor initiating ability	[375]
Vitamin D	Natural product	In vitro, SUM159	mRNA level: OCT4, CD44, LAMA5, NOTCH↓ Differentiation marker: cytokeratin14, SMA↑, cytokeratin18, cytokeratin5↓ Decreased mammosphere formation Differentiation induction of CSC	[339]
4a1		In vitro, MDA- MB-231	HEXIM induction Protein level: HEXIM1, p27↑, NANOG↓ Nile red staining increased in 4a1 treatment	[376]
5-aza-2'- deoxycytidine	Synthetic Chemical	CD44 ^{hi} /CD24 ^{low} expressing CSC isolation from primary malignant breast tumor (patient)	mRNA level: p15, p16, BRCA1, BRCA2, p53↑ cell surface marker: CD44+/CD24-↓ protein: ABCG2↓	[377]

Chapter 2: Investigating the effects of vitamin D compounds in targeting breast cancer stem cells in triple negative breast cancer^{5,6,7}

2.1 Introduction

Triple negative breast cancer (TNBC) accounts for 15-20% of all breast cancer cases [378]. It is characterized by a lack of expression of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR), and erb-b2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (HER2, ERBB2) [379]. It is more common in non-Hispanic black women and Hispanic women under 40 years of age [380]. Relative to non-TNBC cases, patients with TNBC present at younger age with higher tumor grade, distant recurrence, and greater risk of metastasis and death [381, 382]. Specifically, the chance of distant recurrence and death is high within five years of diagnosis [383]; the overall five-year survival rate for patients with TNBC is 62%, in contrast with 75% for non-TNBC patients [384].

Within the category of TBNC, all intrinsic breast cancer subtypes can be identified, among which basal-like is the phenotype most commonly observed (at 50-70%) [385]. TNBC and basal-like breast cancer show significant overlap in tumors having mutation in the gene BRCA1 DNA repair associated (*BRCA1*) [386]. In TNBC studies, the most frequent histologic subtypes are high nuclear grade (poorly differentiated) and invasive ductal carcinoma [382]. Immunohistochemically, in addition to the lack of hormonal receptors, TNBC is characterized by increased expression of cytokeratins 5/6, cytokeratin

⁵Part of this chapter has been published in J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017 Oct; 173: 122–129. ⁶Keywords: cancer stem cells; mammosphere; pluripotency; differentiation; OCT4; BXL0124; Notch signaling;

⁷Abbreviations: TNBC, triple negative breast cancer; CSCs, cancer stem cells; BCSCs, breast cancer stem cells

14, vimentin, nestin, p16, p63, phosphohistone H3 (PPH3), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), P-cadherin, moesin, IMP U3 small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein 3 (IMP3), and CD146 [387-389].

Molecular heterogeneity is the hallmark of TNBC, and remains a major impediment for targeted therapy [390]. Gene expression studies have classified TNBC into six clusters: basal-like 1 (BL1), basal-like 2 (BL2), immunomodulatory (IM), mesenchymal (MES), mesenchymal-stem-like (MSL), and luminal androgen receptor (LAR). Except for MSL and LAR, these subtypes correlate strongly with the basal-like intrinsic subtype [391]. However, individual subtypes also have unique gene signatures that highlight "predictive driver signaling pathways" which can be selected for targeted therapies, and display distinct therapeutic responses and pathological complete response after neoadjuvant chemotherapy [392, 393]. The BL1 and BL2 subtypes are enriched in cell cycle and DNA damage response gene expression, and are responsive to antimitotic agents such as taxanes and DNA-damaging agents [394]. The IM subtype is enriched in genes involved in immune transduction and cytokine signaling pathways [395]. Both the MES and MSL subtypes are enhanced in genes related to epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), cellular differentiation, and growth pathways; MSL specifically expresses proliferation genes at low levels, accompanied by enriched expression of genes associated with stem cells [392]. The LAR subtype is enriched in hormone-regulated pathways [392]. In addition to these six clusters, a new intrinsic subgroup, the claudin-low subtype, has also been identified as TNBC; it comprises 70% of all TNBC tumors. The claudin-low subtype has a high frequency of metaplastic and medullary differentiation, along with characteristic stem cell and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) features similar to the aforementioned MSL subtype [392, 396].

The mutational profiles developed from previous studies provide insights and potential targets in the form of genomic abnormalities that drive the clinical plasticity and intra-tumor heterogeneity of TNBC [390]. Basal-like tumors feature high-frequency loss of function mutations in tumor protein p53 (*TP53*), RB transcriptional corepressor 1 (*RB1*) and *BRCA1* [397-399]. Simultaneous inactivation of these three tumor suppressor pathways in mammary epithelium increases tumor latency and potentiates metastasis [400]. In addition, phosphatidylinositol-4,5-bisphosphate 3-kinase catalytic subunit alpha (*PIK3CA*) is found to be commonly mutated in basal-like tumors, which is in line with the PI3K/AKT pathway being frequently activated in TNBC. Dysregulation of the PI3K/AKT pathway may also be attributable to loss of phosphatase and tensin homolog (*PTEN*) or inositol polyphosphate-4-phosphatase type II B (*INPP4B*). [401]. Basal-like tumors also show characteristic expression of cytokeratins 5, 6, and 17 and increased expression of MYC proto-oncogene, bHLH transcription factor (*MYC*), forkhead box M1 (*FOXM1*), and genes associated with proliferation [402, 403].

The heterogeneity observed in the mutational profile of TNBCs is also paralleled by a wide spectrum of genomic evolution. When using targeted deep sequencing to evaluate allelic abundance and clonal frequency, TNBCs showed higher clonal frequencies in *TP53*, *PIK3CA*, and *PTEN*, indicating those mutations to have been acquired early in tumorigenesis; in contrast, mutations in cytoskeletal and motility genes had lower clonal frequencies and so occurred later in tumorigenesis [404]. This indicates that TNBCs are composed of mosaics of multiple clones that can give rise to an array of genotypic and phenotypic features. Notably, TNBC also demonstrated widespread genomic instability characterized by subtype-specific distinct copy number alterations (CNAs); the BL1 subtype showed the highest number of CNAs, with amplification of genes including *MYC*, *PIK3CA*, cyclin dependent kinase 6 (*CDK6*), AKT serine/threonine kinase 2 (*AKT2*), KRAS proto-oncogene, GTPase (*KRAS*), fibroblast growth factor receptor 1 (*FGFR1*), insulin like growth factor 1 receptor (*IGF1R*), cyclin E1 (*CCNE1*), and cyclin dependent kinase inhibitors (*CDKN2A/B*), and hemi-/homozygous deletions of genes involved in DNA repair such as *BRCA2*, *PTEN*, MDM2 proto-oncogene (*MDM2*), RB transcriptional corepressor 1 (*RB1*), and *TP53* [390]. Understanding the biology of TNBC along with the specifics of its heterogeneity will pave the way to further develop targeted therapy and better predict responses to chemotherapeutic agents.

Compelling evidence indicates that within a cancer, there is a subpopulation of cells known as tumor-initiating cells or cancer stem-like cells (CSCs) that are responsible for the development, progression and metastasis of the tumor [46, 405]. CSCs can self-renew through division or give rise to the bulk of tumor cells in the mass through differentiation [406, 407]. Previous studies have shown putative breast CSCs are resistant to chemotherapy and are more aggressive [408]. TNBC cells have consistency demonstrated CSC-signatures and the functional role of CSCs in breast tumorigenesis and tumor biology, targeting CSCs may be a useful therapeutic approach to prevent breast cancer cell proliferation and relapse in this aggressive breast cancer subtype [409]. The goal of this chapter is to examine the effects of vitamin D compounds in targeting BCSCs in TNBC. We assessed the mammosphere forming ability of SUM159 cells, a TNBC cell line, and

investigated the changes in the markers of pluripotency, stem cell maintenance, and lineage-specific differentiation in the mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Cell culture and reagents

 $1\alpha,25(OH)_2D_3$ and a Gemini vitamin D analog (BXL0124; $1\alpha25$ -dihydroxy-20R-21(3-hydroxy-3-deuteromethyl-4,4,4-trideuterobutyl)-23-yne-26,27-hexafluorocholecalciferol, >95% purity) were provided by BioXell, Inc. (Nutley, NJ) [410]. SUM159 breast cancer cells (RRID: CVCL_5423) were obtained from Asterand (Detroit, MI). SUM159 cells were grown in Ham's F-12 culture medium supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1 µg/ml hydrocortisone and 5 µg/ml insulin at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

2.2.2 Mammosphere forming assay

SUM159 cells were grown to 50-60% confluence and cells were detached with StemPro Accutase (Life Technologies, CA). Cells were then plated at 2,000 cells/mL in 6well ultra-low attachment plates and maintained in Mammocult serum-free medium supplemented with hydrocortisone and heparin (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Cells were treated with 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ or BXL0124 for five days for each passage. For secondary and tertiary mammosphere culture, primary mammospheres were collected and enzymatically dissociated using StemPro Accutase (Life Technologies, CA). Then, cells were re-plated at a density of 2,000 cells/mL for subsequent passages. Images of mammospheres were taken, and the number of mammospheres was counted to determine the mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE). The MFE was calculated by dividing the number of mammospheres ($\geq 100 \ \mu m$) formed by the number of single cells seeded. Experiments were repeated three times.

2.2.3 Western blot analysis

Whole cell lysates (15 μ g/lane) were resolved in 4% to 20% SDS-PAGE from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA). Blots were then probed with the indicated antibodies. Primary antibodies against c-NOTCH1 (1:1000, Cat# 4147, RRID: AB_2153348), Cytokeratin 18 (1:1000, Cat# 4548, RRID: AB_2296725) and OCT4 (1:1000, Cat# 2750, RRID: AB_823583) were from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA); β -actin (1:2000, Cat# A1978, RRID: AB_476692) was from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Secondary antibodies were from Cell Signaling Technology. Western blot images are quantified by using GeneGnome XRQ chemiluminescence imaging system and analyzed by GeneTools analysis software from Syngene (MD, USA).

2.2.4 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis

The Taqman® probe- based gene expression system from Applied Biosystems (Foster City, CA) was used to detect the genes of interest. The procedures were followed as described previously [411]. Primers used for analysis are GAPDH (Hs02758991), CD44 (Hs01075861), LAMA5 (Hs00966585), CD24 (Hs00175569), NOTCH1 (Hs01062014), JAG1 (Hs00164982), JAG2 (Hs00171432), NFKB1 (Hs00765730), OCT4 (POU5F1) (Hs00999632), NOTCH2 (Hs01050702), NOTCH3 (Hs01128537), HES1 (Hs00172878), KRTN14 (Hs00265033), KRTN18 (Hs02827483), ACTA2 (Hs00426835) and KRTN5

(Hs00361185). Experiments were repeated three times in duplicates.

2.2.5 Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was evaluated using the Student's t-test.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Inhibition of mammosphere forming efficiency by 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159 breast cancer cells.

Varying doses of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 were tested for their effectives on mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) in SUM159 cells. MFE was significantly reduced with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ at 10 nM (44.7% inhibition, *p*<0.05) and 100 nM (46.3% inhibition, *p*<0.05). BXL0124 reduced the MFE at 1 nM (50.4% inhibition, *p*< 0.05), 10 nM (52.8% inhibition, *p*<0.05) and 100 nM (76.4% inhibition, *p*<0.05) (Figure 2.1). BXL0124 was more potent than 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ at the concentrations tested.

2.3.2 Inhibition of mammosphere self-renewal by 1α ,25(OH)2D3 and BXL0124 in SUM159

To assess the mammosphere self-renewal capacity as an indicator of stemness, SUM159 spheres were grown in mammosphere cell culture media for three successive passages. MFE was increased from primary to secondary mammospheres (1.03% to 1.45%) and from secondary to tertiary mammospheres (1.45% to 3.11%) in SUM159 cells (Figure 2.2). Treatment with vitamin D compounds significantly decreased the number of mammospheres in each passage of mammosphere culture. The MFE of primary mammospheres was reduced upon treatment with 100 nM 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (60.6% inhibition, p<0.01) or 10 nM BXL0124 (64.7% inhibition, p<0.01). Similarly, the MFE in secondary and tertiary mammospheres was decreased with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (60.7% inhibition, p<0.01 and 69.7% inhibition, p<0.01) and BXL0124 (62.4% inhibition, p<0.01 and 71.6% inhibition, p<0.01) (Figure 2.2A). Mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds exhibited more round and smooth edges compared to those of control group (Figure 2.2B).

2.3.3 Repression of pluripotency markers and cancer stem cell genes by 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159

To further investigate the effect of vitamin D compounds on cancer stem-like cells in TNBC, we analyzed SUM159 mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds for expression of pluripotency and stem cell genes which have been shown to be important in breast cancer progression [412]. The pluripotency marker, OCT4, was greatly reduced by treatment with 100 nM 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (29%, *p*<0.01) and 10 nM BXL0124 (39%, *p*<0.05) (Figure 2.3A). Levels of CD44 and LAMA5, markers associated with stem cell maintenance, were decreased with vitamin D compounds. Levels of CD44 mRNA were decreased by 35% with 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (*p*<0.001) and 48% with BXL0124 (*p*<0.01). LAMA5 level was decreased by 43% with 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (*p*<0.01) and 59% with BXL0124 (*p*<0.05). NF κ B1, a key molecule involved in stem cell signaling, was significantly reduced by both compounds: 39% by 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (*p*<0.05) and 52% by BXL0124 (*p*<0.01). Western blot analysis showed that OCT4 was increased from primary to secondary mammospheres in the control group, whereas treatment with vitamin D compounds reduced the protein levels in both primary and secondary mammospheres **(Figure 2.3B)**. The decrease in protein levels of OCT4 mirrored the inhibition of mRNA expression by vitamin D compounds.

2.3.4 Repression of Notch signaling molecules responsible for stem cell maintenance by 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159

Notch signaling has been shown to play a fundamental role in embryonic development, cell differentiation, tissue homeostasis, and stem cell maintenance [413]. In normal breast stem cells, activation of Notch signaling promotes stem cell self-renewal and differentiation of progenitor cells [414]. Clarke et al., showed that Musashi1 and Notch1 signaling regulated human breast cancer cells [415]. High Notch activity in breast cancer cells increased mammosphere formation and expression of breast cancer stem cell markers [416]. In this study, therefore, we investigated whether vitamin D compounds regulate the expression of key molecules in this family involved in stem cell maintenance. The NOTCH1 mRNA level was decreased by 6% and 48% with 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 (p < 0.01), respectively (Figure 2.4A). NOTCH2 mRNA level was decreased by 16% and 43% with 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ (p<0.01) and BXL0124 (p<0.05). NOTCH3 mRNA level was decreased by 52% with 11α , 25(OH)₂D₃ (p<0.01) and 62% with BXL0124 (p<0.05). Ligand JAG1 expression was decreased by 48% and 66% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p<0.01) and BXL0124 (p < 0.001), respectively. Ligand JAG2 expression was also decreased by 30% and 50% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p<0.05) and BXL0124 (p<0.05), respectively. HES1 expression was reduced by 19% and 40% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 (p<0.05). The levels of the activated form of NOTCH1 (cleaved-NOTCH1, c-NOTCH1) were increased from primary to secondary mammospheres in the control group, whereas the vitamin D compounds decreased c-NOTCH1 protein levels in both primary and secondary mammospheres (Figure 2.4B).

2.3.5 Modulation of mammary epithelial lineage-specific differentiation markers by vitamin D compounds

Mammospheres in culture generally fail to express markers associated with breast lineage commitment and differentiation but can be induced to do so with differentiating stimuli, showing the plasticity and stem-like nature of the mammospheres [417]. In this study, therefore, we assessed expression of markers associated with myoepithelial/basal phenotype [cytokeratin 14 (CK14) and smooth muscle actin (SMA)] of vitamin D treatment. CK14 (KRTN14) mRNA level was increased by 70-fold with 1a,25(OH)₂D₃ (p < 0.01) and 82-fold with BXL0124 (p < 0.05) (Figure 2.5A). Levels of SMA (ACTA2) mRNA were increased by 1.3-fold with 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ and 1.1-fold with BXL0124, but these increases were not statistically significant. CK18 (KRTN18), a marker associated with luminal/ductal cells, was down-regulated by 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ (24% inhibition, p < 0.05) and BXL0124 (56% inhibition, p<0.01). Cytokeratin 5 (CK5, KRTN5), a biomarker for basal-like breast cancers and epithelial-mesenchymal transition, was significantly decreased upon treatment with vitamin D compounds. The mRNA levels of KRTN5 were decreased with 100 nM 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (92% inhibition, p<0.001) and 10 nM BXL0124 (97% inhibition, p < 0.001). Western blot analysis of primary and secondary mammospheres demonstrated that CK18 levels were similarly decreased by the treatment with

2.4 Discussion

The nutritional importance of vitamin D compounds has long been known but it has also been appreciated for some time that vitamin D and its analogs have antiproliferative and chemopreventive effects in solid tumors [418]. In our previous studies, we have reported that Gemini vitamin D analog BXL0124 mammary tumor growth and invasion [297, 419]. BXL0124 targets BCSC subpopulation and putative stem cell markers in MCF10DCIS cells [300]. It inhibits the transition of DCIS to IDC by maintaining myoepithelial cell layer and membrane while decreasing cell proliferation and tumor volume [296]. Furthermore, oral administration of BXL0124, and a synthetic triterpenoid, CDDO-IM has shown to delay MMTV-ErbB2/neu-induced mammary tumor formation by decreasing activation of ErbB2, which is overexpressed in 20% of human breast cancer, and downstream targets including activated-Erk1/2, activated-Akt, Bcl2, CycD1, c-Myc, p21, and PCNA [299].

Preclinical studies showing the potentiating effect of vitamin D compounds in tumor inhibition have led to combination studies in clinical trials [420]. Given the potent efficacy of BXL0124 in both *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies with several models of breast cancer, BXL0124 could be a potentially promising agent to be tested in clinical trials as a single preventive agent or in combination with others. The tumor inhibitory effects of vitamin D compounds, including 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and a Gemini vitamin D analog BXL0124, are mediated through signaling pathways involved in cancer stem cell signaling, cell cycle suppression and differentiation pathways [421]. TNBC cell lines, such as SUM159, exhibit predominantly patterns of basal cell surface markers with some minor subpopulations of stem-like luminal [422]. The sorted stem-like type subpopulation, or CD44^{hi}CD24^{neg}EpCAM^{lo}, of SUM159 cells can readily form tumors when injected into NOD/SCID mice with as few as 100 cells, and this subpopulation of cells expressed high colony forming unit capacity, and elevated spheroid formation, resistance to chemotherapy and ability to reconstitute the parental cell line, which are features of self-renewal characteristics of cancer stem cells and tumorigenicity [309]. In this study, we found that vitamin D compounds decreased SUM159 mammosphere formation in association with down-regulation of expression of key markers of cancer stem cell phenotype and maintenance. These findings point to possible mechanistic links between cancer stem cell signaling and VDR pathways regulating the tumor growth, suggesting that vitamin D compounds may be used as chemopreventive agents targeting the cancer stem cell population to prevent tumor development in triple negative breast cancer. More potent dose dependent decrease in MFE in mammospheres treated with BXL0124 compared to $1\alpha_2 25(OH)_2 D_3$, suggesting that BXL0124 is more effective agent to selectively target cancer stem cells in triple negative breast cancer.

OCT4 is a critical transcription factor in adult stem cell reprogramming to give rise to induced pluripotent stem cells [136]. Interestingly, somatic cell reprogramming and tumorigenesis share common mechanisms [423]. Aberrant expression of *Oct4* and other key pluripotency markers are associated with abnormal cell growth and tumor formation [424, 425]. Kumar *et al.* demonstrated that over-expression of *OCT4* gene contributed to de-differentiation of melanoma cells to CSC-like cells, while RNAi knockdown of *OCT4* in de-differentiated melanoma cells led to diminished CSC phenotypes [426]. In our study, we found that both mRNA and protein levels of OCT4 decreased with vitamin D compound treatment in mammospheres. This indicates an important role for vitamin D compounds in regulating a key transcription factor of cancer stem cells.

Myoepithelial cells are localized between luminal cells and stroma, maintaining tissue integrity and polarity in normal breast tissue [427]. Once breast cells are transformed into tumor cells, normal tissue architecture and polarity are lost. This is followed by a decrease in differentiated myoepithelial cells surrounding the tumor [428, 429]. Thus, myoepithelial cells appear to play a natural suppressive role limiting tumor growth and invasion [430]. Upregulation of myoepithelial markers in SUM159 mammospheres by vitamin D compounds suggest that the tumor inhibitory effects of these compounds are mediated by inducing the cancer stem cells into more mature differentiated cell types (Figure 2.6).

CD44 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is involved in malignant progression and metastasis of breast cancer [431]. Knockdown of CD44 induces differentiation and drives the breast cancer stem cell-like population toward a non-stem cell-like phenotype [41]. We show here that vitamin D compounds reduced the CD44 mRNA transcript levels in mammospheres, suggesting that vitamin D compounds may induce differentiation of breast cancer cells. In addition, LAMA5 is a signature extracellular matrix component in human pluripotent stem cells [432]. shRNA knockdown of LAMA5 reduced self-renewal capacity of human pluripotent stem cells [432]. Vitamin D compounds decreased LAMA5 levels in mammospheres, indicating that vitamin D compounds may regulate self-renewal of breast cancer stem cells.

2.5 Conclusions

Triple-negative breast cancer has a higher rate of relapse and poorer prognosis than other major breast cancer types [433]. The basal-like subtype of TNBC is found to exhibit constitutively high level of NF- κ B signaling that, in turn, up-regulates JAG1 expression and activates NOTCH signaling, leading to expansion of cancer stem cells [434]. Notch signaling is important for normal mammary stem cell maintenance during development. It is required for self-renewal of mammary stem cells and activation of the pathway increased secondary mammosphere formation by 10-fold [435]. Interestingly, vitamin D compounds repressed the components of Notch-signaling axis including NF- κ B, NOTCH1, NOTCH2, NOTCH3, JAG1, JAG2 and HES1. These findings highlight the therapeutic potential of vitamin D compounds that target Notch signaling in cancer stem cells. Overall, therefore, our study suggests that vitamin D compounds may be useful agents to prevent or impede progression in triple negative breast cancer by targeting cancer stem cell populations.



Figure 2.1 Inhibition of mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) by 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159 breast cancer cells

SUM159 cells were plated at a density of 2,000 cells/ml in ultra-low attachment 6-well plates and grown for 5 days in the presence of 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3, 10 nM and 100 nM) and BXL0124 (1 nM, 10 nM and 100 nM). Mammosphere forming efficiency is calculated by dividing the number of mammospheres (\geq 100 µm) formed by the number of cells seeded, presenting this as a percentage. Three independent experiments were performed. The data are presented as the mean \pm S.E.M. * *p*<0.05.



Figure 2.2 Inhibition of mammosphere self-renewal by 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159 mammospheres

(A) MFE of primary, secondary and tertiary passages of SUM159 mammospheres are shown. Mammospheres were treated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3, 100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. Three independent experiments were performed. The data are presented as the mean \pm S.E.M. **p*<0.05. (B) Representative images of SUM159 mammospheres from primary, secondary and tertiary passages are shown for morphological comparison (scale bar 200 µm)



Figure 2.3 Repression of pluripotency and stem cell markers by 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159 mammospheres

Mammospheres were treated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3, 100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. (A) qPCR analysis was performed on primary mammospheres harvested after five days of growth to assess the gene expression of OCT4, CD44, LAMA5 and NF- κ B. Average Ct values are shown in parenthesis for OCT4 (22), CD44 (19), LAMA5 (22), and NF- κ B (23). The experiments were repeated three times. *p<0.05, **p< 0.01, ***p<0.001. (B) Western blot analysis of primary and secondary mammospheres treated with 100 nM 1,25D3 and 10 nM BXL0124 detected by anti-OCT4 antibody is shown. β -actin was used as a loading control. Protein levels are quantified by GeneTools analysis software.



Figure 2.4 Repression of Notch signaling molecules by 1α,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 in SUM159 mammospheres

Mammospheres were treated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3, 100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. (A) qPCR analysis was performed on primary mammospheres harvested after 5 days of growth to assess the gene expression of markers associated with the Notch signaling pathway – NOTCH1, NOTCH2, NOTCH3, JAG1, JAG2 and HES1. Average Ct values are shown in parenthesis for NOTCH1 (25), NOTCH2 (23), NOTCH3 (23), JAG1 (24), JAG2 (25) and HES1 (23). The data are presented as the mean \pm S.E.M. *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. (B) Western blot analysis of primary and secondary mammospheres treated with 100 nM 1,25D3 and 10 nM BXL0124 detected by c-NOTCH1 antibody. β -actin was used as a loading control. Protein levels are quantified by GeneTools analysis software.



Figure 2.5 Induction of myoepithelial differentiation by vitamin D compounds

Mammospheres were treated with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (1,25D3, 100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. (**A**) qPCR analysis of markers associated with myoepithelial cells (CK14, CK5, and ACTA2) and luminal/ductal cells (CK18) in SUM159 primary mammospheres harvested after 5 days of growth. Average Ct values for CK14 (control #35, 1,25D3 #29, BXL0124 #28); ACTA2 (control #25, 1,25D3 #25, BXL0124 #25); CK18 (control #19, 1,25D3 #20, BXL0124 #20) and CK5 (control #25, 1,25D3 #29, BXL0124 #30). Three independent experiments were performed. The data are presented as the mean \pm S.E.M. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.0001 (**B**) Western blot analysis of primary and secondary mammospheres treated with 100 nM 1,25D3 and 10 nM BXL0124 detected by CK18 antibody. β -actin was used as a loading control. Protein levels are quantified by GeneTools analysis software.



Figure 2.6 A proposed scheme of action of vitamin D compounds in cancer stem cells and differentiation pathway

The lineage diagram of cancer stem cells is modified from a previous publication [436] and the possible action sites of vitamin D compounds are shown.

Chapter 3: Elucidating the mechanism of transcription factor-mediated breast cancer stemness and reprogramming ^{8,9}

3.1. Introduction

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) are a small subpopulation of cells within tumors that drive uncontrolled tumor growth. They are capable of self-renewal, differentiating into multiple malignant cell types, and forming tumors when transplanted into a xenograft host. The CSC phenotype is defined by three core pluripotency transcription factors: octamer-binding transcription factor 4 (OCT4), SRY-box transcription factor 2 (SOX2), and homeobox protein Nanog (NANOG). These factors are expressed in both embryonic stem cells and CSCs, and play critical roles in maintaining an undifferentiated state [32].

Of these three basic transcription factors, OCT4 is the principal factor in the machinery governing pluripotency. It is a key regulator responsible for self-renewal and pluripotency in embryonic stem cells [437], and its expression is repressed during development and tissue differentiation. However, mounting evidence shows a reactivation of *OCT4* during physiological states such as wound healing and tumorigenesis [438]. Recent studies in clinical cases of invasive breast cancer demonstrated *OCT4* expression to be associated with aggressive tumor features, ALDH1 expression, tamoxifen resistance, and poor clinical outcome in hormone receptor-positive breast cancer [140].

OCT4 transcript variants have detectable expression in human cancer cell lines, and their translation into proteins contributes to cell migration, invasion, and transformation

⁸Keywords: OCT4, transcription factor, breast cancer stem cells, reprogramming, stable overexpression

⁹Abbreviations: TNBC, triple negative breast cancer; CSCs, cancer stem cells; BCSCs, breast cancer stem cells

activities, providing evidence of the role of OCT4 in tumorigenicity and cancer stem cell phenotype [439]. Distinctive expression patterns of OCT4 variants have been identified in different types of breast cancer: OCT4A and OCT4B are highly expressed in low-grade ductal tumors, whereas OCT4B is overexpressed in lobular type breast cancer. Expression of OCT4 variants is also associated with the expression of estrogen receptor (*ER*), progesterone receptor (*PR*), erb-b2 receptor tyrosine kinase 2 (*HER2, ERBB2*), and tumor protein p53 (*TP53*) [440].

Phenotypically, resistance to chemo- or radiotherapy is among the hallmarks of CSCs. The function of OCT4 in the stemness-mediated resistance of BCSCs to chemotherapy and irradiation is of particular interest in breast cancer. Doxorubicin resistant-TNBCs showed increased CSC phenotype along with high expression of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), OCT4, and c-Myc. Treatment with the STAT3 inhibitor WP1066 decreased phosphorylation of STAT3 and the expression of OCT4 and c-MYC, leading to a reduction in CD44⁺ BCSC population and restoration of doxorubicin sensitivity [441]. OCT4 also confers resistance to irradiation by increasing clonogenic survival following irradiation and upregulating interleukin 24 (IL-24) production through STAT3 and nuclear factor kappa B (NF- κ B) signaling [442].

Ultimately, a deeper understanding of the role of OCT4 in mediating stemness and resistance, and its interaction and interconnection with other markers and effectors of CSC function, is essential. Ectopic expression of *Oct4* in 4T1 mouse breast cancer cells increased tumorsphere formation and expression of stem cell markers such as CD133, CD34, Sca-1, and ALDH1 *in vitro* and tumorigenic potential *in vivo* [443]. Meanwhile, knockdown of *OCT4* in MCF-7 cells, which have a high basal level of OCT4, induces EMT

by upregulating α -smooth muscle actin and suppressing E-cadherin [144]. The goal of this chapter is to examine the significance of CSCs in breast tumorigenesis by elucidating the mechanism of OCT4 transcription factor-mediated breast cancer stemness and reprogramming. We utilized genetic manipulation of *OCT4* to assess its influence on putative markers of stemness *in vitro* and tumorigenicity *in vivo*.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Cell culture and reagents

SUM159 breast cancer cells (RRID: CVCL_5423) were obtained from Asterand (Detroit, MI). SUM159 cells were grown in Ham's F-12 culture medium supplemented with 5% fetal bovine serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, 1 μ g/ml hydrocortisone and 5 μ g/ml insulin at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

3.2.2 Mammosphere formation assay

SUM159 cells were grown to 50-60% confluence and cells were detached with StemPro Accutase (Life Technologies, CA). Cells were then plated at 2,000 cells/mL in 6well ultra-low attachment plates and maintained in Mammocult serum-free medium supplemented with hydrocortisone and heparin (Stem Cell Technologies, Vancouver, Canada).

3.2.3 Western blot analysis

Whole cell lysates (15 µg/lane) were resolved in 4% to 20% SDS-PAGE from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA). Blots were then probed with the indicated antibodies. Primary antibodies against OCT4 (1:2000) was from Abcam (Cat# ab181557, RRID: AB_2687916); CD44 (1:500) was from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Cat# sc-7297, RRID: AB_627065); p-NF- κ B p65 (Ser536) (1:1000, Cat# 3033), NF- κ B p65 (D14E12) (1:1000, Cat# 8242), and SOX2 (D6D9) (1:1000, Cat# 3579, RUID: AB_2195767) were from Cell Signaling Technology (Beverly, MA); and β -actin (1:2000) was from Sigma-Aldrich (Cat# A1978, RRID:AB_476692). Secondary antibodies were from Cell Signaling Technology. Western blot images are quantified by using GeneGnome XRQ chemiluminescence imaging system and analyzed by GeneTools analysis software from Syngene (MD, USA).

3.2.4 Transient transfection

SUM159 cells were transfected with pLKO.1 (Cat# 8453, RRID: Addgene_8543) and pSin-EF2-Oct4-Pur (Cat# 16579, RRID: Addgene_16579) plasmids from Addgene (Watertown, MA) for 48 hours using FuGENE HD transfection reagent (Catalog number: E2311) from Promega (Madison, WI) following the manufacturer's instructions.

3.2.5 Immunofluorescence analysis

SUM159 cells grown in 35 mm confocal dishes were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and blocked in 10% goat serum. The slides were then incubated overnight at 4°C with the combination of primary antibodies to OCT4 (1:200) from Cell Signaling Technology (Cat# 2750, RRID: AB_823583), CD44 (1:200) from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Cat# sc-7297, RRID: AB_627065) and TO-PRO-3 iodide nuclear antibody (Invitrogen, 1µM). The slides were incubated with fluorophore-conjugated secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor 488 or 546, 1:100, Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) at room temperature for 30 minutes. Images were taken using confocal microscopy at laser excitation
wavelengths 488 nm, 546 nm and 633 nm (TO-PRO-3). Immunofluorescence was analyzed using Nikon Eclipse C1 plus confocal microscope system.

3.2.6 Generation of stable cell lines

SUM159 cells were transfected with pLenti-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro-Blank Vector (Cat# LV590) and pLenti-GIII-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro POU5F1 Vector (Cat# LV268791) from Applied Biological Materials Inc. (British Columbia, Canada). Puromycin (0.6 μ g/ml) was used as the selection antibiotic. Individual clones were isolated using cloning cylinders.

3.2.7 Flow cytometry

For monolayer culture, SUM159 cells were grown for 48 hours in 100 mm tissue culture dishes. For mammosphere cultures, cells were plated at a density of 4000 cells/well and grown for 5 days. Cells were detached with StemPro Accutase (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) and prepared following the procedure previously described [297]. Cells were stained with antibodies against CD44-APC (Cat. 559942), CD49f-FITC (Cat. 561893) and ESA-APC (Cat. 347200) from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA) and CD24-PE (Cat. 12024742) from Life Technologies (Carlsbad, CA) for 45 minutes. The stained cells were analyzed with FC500 Analyzer (Beckman Coulter) to determine the percentage of different CD44/CD24, CD49f/CD24 and ESA/CD24 subpopulations. The acquisition of ≥10,000 cells per sample was analyzed.

3.2.8 Aldefluor assay

The ALDEFLUOR Kit (Cat. 01700) from StemCell Technologies (Cambridge, MA) was used to measure ALDH activity. Cells were harvested and stained according to the manufacturer's protocol. Cells ($2x10^5$ cells) were incubated in ALDEFLUOR Assay buffer containing ALDH substrate (300μ M) for 45 minutes. For each experiment, additional sample of cells were stained under identical conditions with 1.5 mM of DEAB (diethylaminobenzaldehyde) reagent, a specific ALDH inhibitor, as a negative control. The samples were then analyzed by flow cytometry by measuring ALDEFLUOR fluorescence vs. side scatter (SSC) histogram.

3.2.9 Xenograft study

All xenograft animal studies were performed with the approval of the Institutional Review Board for the Animal Care and Facilities Committee of Rutgers University. Female NU/NU nude mice (5-6 weeks old) were purchased from Charles River Laboratories (Wilmington, MA) and allowed to acclimate for the first two weeks before the injection with cells (7-8 weeks). Human SUM159 and MCF10DCIS cells were injected into the mammary fat pad on both sides or subcutaneously on both dorsal flanks at 10⁶ cells per site. Animals were checked twice each week for body weight and tumor formation. Upon detection, tumor sizes were measured using a Vernier caliper and tumor volume (V: cubed centimeters) was calculated using the equation $V= D*d^2/2$ where D (centimeters) is the largest perpendicular diameter and d (centimeters) is the smallest perpendicular diameter. The experiment was terminated at the end of 4 weeks. Tumors from sacrificed animals were excised, weighed and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for future analysis. A section of

tumor was also fixed in formalin for 24 hours and then embedded in paraffin for pathological analysis.

3.2.10 Immunohistochemical (IHC) Analysis

Paraffin embedded tumor tissues were sent to Research Pathology Services at Rutgers Translational Science for IHC analysis. Sections were stained with antibody against OCT4 (ab181557, 1:2000) from Abcam (Cambridge, MA). The sections were counterstained with Harris hematoxylin and eosin (H&E).

3.2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was evaluated using the Student's t-test.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells

To assess the consequences due to transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells, cells seeded in monolayer culture are transfected with empty vector (pLKO.1-puro) or OCT4 (pSin-EF2-Oct4-Pur) plasmids for 48 hours. SUM159 parental cells were included as a control. The protein level of OCT4 was assessed by western blot. It confirms that OCT4 was significantly increased in cells transfected with OCT4-vector compared to non-transfected and empty vector transfected cells (Figure 3.1).

3.3.2 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells up-regulates protein levels of CD44 and p-NF-κB p65 (Ser536)

To characterize the regulatory role of OCT4 in modulating stemness related signaling, several markers pertinent to cancer stem cell identification (CD44), maintenance of pluripotency and differentiation (NF- κ B, p-NF- κ B p65 Ser536) and cancer stemness (Sox2) were analyzed in SUM159 cells with transiently introduced exogenous OCT4 [42, 444, 445]. Since OCT4 and SOX2 are known to regulate reciprocally in embryonic cells, we seek to determine SOX2 levels in these OCT4 overexpressed cells [446]. SOX2 level was not detected in OCT4-overexpressed SUM159 cells. In contrast, CD44 expression was increased upon OCT4 overexpression. Similarly, phospho-NF- κ B p65 (Ser536) level was also increased when OCT4 was overexpressed while total NF- κ B level remained unchanged. These findings suggest that OCT4 modulates markers related to stemness and pluripotency (Figure 3.2).

3.3.3 Enhanced OCT4 expression in SUM159 cells upregulates the protein level of CD44

In order to determine if CD44 marker expression is regulated in SUM159 cells by elevated OCT4, we assessed the immunofluorescence staining of CD44 in OCT4 overexpressing cells. OCT4 staining was found to be significantly higher in both the cytosol and nuclei of OCT4 overexpressing cells in contrast to control cells and localized to the cell membrane. These observations substantiated our previous finding that OCT4 regulates the protein level of CD44 in SUM159 cells (Figure 3.3).

3.3.4 Establishing stable OCT4-overexpressing SUM159 cell line

To study the role of OCT4 in regulating cancer stemness and tumorigenesis *in vitro* and *in vivo*, OCT4-stable SUM159 cell line was established. Puromycin (0.6 µg/ml) was used as a selection antibiotic. SUM159 cells were transfected with pLenti-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro-Blank empty vector or POU5F1 pLenti-GIII-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro OCT4 vector. Stable colonies were selected and expanded. Individual clones were harvested to assess mRNA expression (**Figure 3.4A**) and protein level (**Figure 3.4B**) of OCT4. In addition, these stable clones were propagated to verify the persistent expression of OCT4 at multiple time points with or without puromycin (**Figure 3.5**). The experiment generated eight OCT4-overexpressed clones (C7, C9, C5, C3, C14, C11, C13 and C12) and three control vector clones (EV1, EV1-2 and EV4). Since C7 and C12 clones exhibited persistent overexpression of OCT4, we selected these two clones for further experiments.

3.3.5 Assessment of putative breast cancer stem cell markers in SUM159 cells

To assess the basal levels of putative breast cancer stem cell markers in SUM159 cells, cells were grown in monolayer culture and analyzed for ALDH, CD24, CD49f and ESA levels [309]. SUM159 cells stained with ALDEFLUOR[™] assay measuring ALDH enzymatic activity showed very low basal ALDH activity with or without DEAB, an ALDH enzyme inhibitor, compared to SK-BR-3 breast cancer cells (Figure 3.6A). Since ALDH activity is observed very minimal in SUM159 cells, we proceeded to investigate additional stem cell markers. SUM159, EV1 and C7 cells were also stained for antibodies against CD24 and CD49f (Figure 3.6B) and CD24 and ESA (Figure 3.6C). As shown in Figure 3.6B, CD24/CD49f staining was higher and more distributed in SUM159 cells

compared to EV1 and C7. CD24⁺/CD49f⁺ subpopulation was found to be absent in C7 clone compared to SUM159 and EV1 cells. Additionally, we observed changes in the level of CD24 but not ESA in C7 compared to SUM159 and EV1 cells. This indicates that OCT4-overexpression decreases CD24 expression in SUM159 cells.

3.3.6 Characterization of stable OCT4-overexpressing SUM159 cells

The most common approach to identify CSCs in tumors is through examining the expression of characteristic cell surface markers. The CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} subpopulation is identified as tumorigenic BCSCs isolated from clinical patients [46]. The progenitor cells of this phenotype are more abundant in triple negative breast cancer and are associated with poor prognosis [447, 448]. To investigate the effect of OCT4 on the expression of BCSC surface markers, we performed flow cytometry analysis of C7 clone for putative BCSC marker CD44/CD24 staining. Control vector transfected (EV1) clone and SUM159 parental cells were included as controls. The CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} subpopulation was decreased in C7 clone (12%) compared to EV1 (44%) and SUM159 parental cells (61%). Concomitantly, the CD44⁺/CD24^{high} subpopulation was increased in C7 (88%) compared to EV1 clone (56%) and SUM159 parental cells (39%) (Figure 3.7A). These data indicate overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells significantly changes into more stem-like, characteristic BCSC phenotype. In addition, the profile of CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} in OCT4overexpressed C12 clone was compared with those of SUM159 monolayer cells and mammospheres (Figure 3.7B). The profiling of C12 clone showed similarity to that of mammosphere. These findings suggest the pluripotency transcription factor OCT4 mediated changes in BCSC surface markers in SUM159 cells.

3.3.7 Stable OCT4 overexpression did not change EMT markers in SUM159 cells

EMT is implicated in tumor metastasis and EMT-derived tumor cells are enriched with stemness characteristics including therapeutic resistance [449]. Increasing evidence has demonstrated that cancer stem cells play a significant role in tumor recurrence and metastasis. *OCT4*, a master gene for pluripotency, is known to regulate EMT, invasion and metastasis in cancers including colorectal cancer and breast cancer [450]. OCT4 and NANOG together have been shown to promote EMT in breast cancer [153]. To assess the effect of OCT4 on EMT markers in SUM159 cells, we investigated the levels of epithelial marker (E-cadherin) and mesenchymal markers (Vimentin and Snail) in stable OCT4-overexpressing cells by western blot. We found that stable overexpression of OCT4 did not change the levels of EMT markers in SUM159 cells (Figure 3.8).

3.3.8 Stable OCT4-overexpression in SUM159 cells did not increase tumorigenicity *in vivo*

Since OCT4 overexpression changes the profile of SUM159 breast cancer cells into more stem-like profile, we further investigated the role of OCT4 in tumor formation *in vivo*. To assess the tumorigenicity of OCT4-overexpressed cells, we injected 1x10⁶ cells of C12 clone into nu/nu mice either subcutaneously into flanks or mammary fat pads on both right and left sides. SUM159 and MCF10DCIS cells were included as control groups. No significant difference in the number and size of the tumors was observed between SUM159 parental cells and C12 clone at 4 weeks after cell injection (**Figure 3.9A**). In subcutaneous injection groups, both SUM159 and C12 cells formed tumors from three out of four injection sites. Tumors were formed in two out of four injection sites when cells were injected into the mammary fat pad in both groups.

To investigate the histopathological features in xenograft tumors, excised tumor tissue samples were sent to Research Pathology Services at Rutgers Translational Science for pathology evaluation. Hematoxylin and cosin (H&E) staining showed excised tumor specimens from SUM159 parental cells and C12 clone histologically resembling mesenchymal tumors whereas MCF10DCIS cells produced epithelial tumors (**Figure 3.9B**). SUM159 and C12 tumors contain whorls of neoplastic cells in fibrous stroma. In contrast, MCF10DCIS tumors encompass centers of distended ducts surrounded by neoplastic epithelial cells (**Figure 3.10**). These findings are in accord with the previous studies showing that SUM159 cells form mesenchymal tumors and MCF10DCIS cells form epithelial tumors [296, 451]. In addition, immunohistochemical analysis of tumors showed some positive but scant staining of OCT4 in C12 tumors compared to absence of OCT4 staining in SUM159 parental cells (**Figure 3.11**).

3.4 Discussion

Induced pluripotency and oncogenic transformation share common mechanisms [452]. The expression of master regulators of pluripotency such as OCT4 and SOX2 in different cancers is known to drive aggressive phenotypes and correlates with poor survival and therapeutic resistance [32, 146, 151]. Studies have shown that there is an increased expression of OCT4 in CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSCs and mammospheres [417, 453]. Previously, we observed OCT4 and other CSC markers were downregulated by vitamin D compounds in SUM159 cells. This observation led us to further investigate the OCT4-driven

pluripotency reprogramming and breast tumorigenesis by manipulating OCT4 in SUM159 cells. Since the basal level of OCT4 was undetectable these cells, we investigated the role of OCT4 in stemness and oncological characteristics by overexpressing OCT4. Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells increased the level of CD44, a key BCSC marker. However, CD44 has a dichotomous role in breast cancer progression and metastasis inhibition, suggestive of its complex nature in breast tumorigenesis. Therefore, OCT4-driven modulation of CD44 in breast cancer remains to be elucidated [454].

NF-κB signaling plays a role in maintaining undifferentiated state of human induced pluripotent stem (iPS) cells. Upon differentiation, NF-κB activity is reduced along with OCT4 and NANOG expression. Knock-down of NF-κB abolished the expression of OCT4 and NANOG without affecting colony growth and shape of human iPS cells [455]. Inhibiting NF-κB represses CD44 and decreased proliferation and invasiveness of TNBC cells [456]. We observed up-regulation of phospho-NF-κB p65, the activated form of NFκB upon OCT4 overexpression. This finding suggests the possible existence of feedback regulation between NF-κB and OCT4 which subsequently activates CD44 expression.

High CD44⁺/CD24⁻ ratio is correlated with increased cell proliferation, mammosphere formation and tumorigenesis. It is conserved throughout metastasis in breast cancer [45]. In our study, stable clones of overexpression of OCT4 significantly increased CD44⁺/CD24⁻ ratio in SUM159 cells. Interestingly, it did not further increase EMT markers. We assessed the tumorigenicity of stable OCT4-overexpressed cells *in vivo*. OCT4-overexpressed cells did not change tumor formation frequency or tumor type compared to parental cells. Histological analysis showed that they are stromal tumors/fibroma. Immunohistochemical analysis demonstrated scantly OCT4-positive cells in C12 clone-derived tumors compared to negative OCT4 staining in parental SUM159 tumors. More number of animals will be needed to confirm this finding.

3.5 Conclusions

A significant body of evidence indicates a key role of pluripotency-related transcription factors in breast tumorigenesis. A greater understanding of how OCT4 drives breast cancer stemness and progression will be beneficial for the development of BCSCtargeted therapies. We assessed the role of OCT4 in TNBC by first inducing its transient overexpression in SUM159 cells, after which we observed upregulation of CD44 (a BCSC marker) and p-NF-kB (NF-kB signaling). We further established stable OCT4overexpressing cell line to assess its role in promoting tumorigenesis in vivo. The stable overexpression of OCT4 significantly increased the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ BCSC subpopulation relative to control cells; however, epithelial and mesenchymal markers were not affected. In a xenograft assay, mice injected with the cells stably overexpressing OCT4 did not demonstrate any increase in tumorigenicity when compared to the control group. This may be possibly due to the loss of OCT4 overexpressing cells in tumors. Notably, our preliminary study has only limited sample size. Further studies incorporating a larger number of xenografts are warranted to draw conclusions regarding OCT4-driven tumorigenesis.



Figure 3.1 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells

SUM159 cells were seeded in monolayer culture. Cells were transfected with empty vector (pLKO.1-puro) and OCT4 (pSin-EF2-Oct4-Pur) plasmids for 48 hours using FuGENE HD transfection reagent. Western blot detected by anti-OCT4 antibody is shown. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 3.2 Transient overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells up-regulates protein levels CD44 and p-NF-κB p65 (Ser536)

SUM159 cells were seeded in monolayer culture. Cells were transfected with empty vector (pLKO.1-puro) and OCT4 (pSin-EF2-Oct4-Pur) plasmids for 48 hours using Fusion HD transfection reagent. Cells were harvested for western blot analysis. Membranes were probed with antibodies against OCT4, CD44, p-NF- κ B p65 (Ser536) and NF- κ B. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 3.3 OCT4 increases the protein level of CD44 in SUM159 cells

SUM159 cells were transiently transfected with empty vector (pLKO.1-puro) and OCT4 (pSin-EF2-Oct4-Pur) plasmids for 48 hours in confocal dishes. Confocal immunofluorescent analysis was performed using OCT4 Rabbit mAb (Red) and CD44 mouse mAb (Green) antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with blue-fluorescent TO-PRO-3 dye. Merger panels combine all three images. Confocal microscopy images were taken at 20X magnification.



Figure 3.4 Stable overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159

SUM159 were transfected with lentiviral-based plasmids, pLenti-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro-Blank empty vector and POU5F1 pLenti-GIII-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro OCT4 vector. Puromycin (0.6 μ g/ml) was used as the selection antibiotic. Individual clones were isolated using cloning cylinders. (A) qPCR analysis of the OCT4-overexpressing stable clones including empty vector clone 1 (EV1). (B) Western blot analyses of the OCT4overexpressing stable clones including empty vector clone (Empty Vec 1) and SUM159 parental cell for comparison using anti-OCT4 antibody. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 3.5 Persistent overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells

SUM159 transfected with lentiviral-based plasmids, pLenti-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro-Blank empty vector and POU5F1 pLenti-GIII-CMV-GFP-2A-Puro OCT4 vector, were passed several passages with or without puromycin (0.6 μ g/ml). Western blot analyses was performed to identify persistent OCT4-overexpressed clones (C) and empty vector clones (EV) upon successive passages (P) with or without (+/-) puromycin using anti-OCT4 antibody. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 3.6 Levels of putative breast cancer stem cell markers in SUM159 cells

(A) Low activity of ALDH is detected in SUM159 cells. Representative ALDEFLUOR[™] assay with FACS analysis to measure ALDH activity of SUM159 and SKBR3 human breast cancer cells. 300,000 cells were seeded in monolayer cell culture for 48 hr. Cells incubated with ALDEFLUOR[™] reagent in the presence of DEAB, the inhibitor of ALDH activity, for 30 minutes were used to establish a baseline fluorescence. The ALDH-positive population was identified as the cells showing a right-shift in fluorescence upon incubation with ALDEFLUOR[™] reagent in the absence of the DEAB. SKBR3 cells were stained as a positive control. Representative scatter plots from independent flow cytometry analyses are shown for SUM159, EV1 and C7 cells stained with combinations of antibodies against (**B**) CD24 and CD49f and (**C**) CD24 and ESA for 45 minutes.



Figure 3.7 Stable overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells increases the breast cancer stem cell subpopulations and mimics CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} profile of mammospheres

(A) SUM159 parental cells, empty vector clone (EV1) and OCT4 overexpressed clone (C7) were stained with CD44 and CD24 antibodies for 45 minutes and flow cytometry was performed. Representative scatter plots from the flow cytometry are shown. Different subpopulations of cells based on varying levels of CD24 are highlighted with colored rectangles. The average percentage of CD44⁺/CD24^{high} and CD44⁺/CD24^{-/low} subpopulations from three independent experiments are represented as a bar graph to show the difference between SUM159, EV1 and C7 groups. The data are presented as the mean \pm S.D., *** p<0.001. (B) SUM159 monolayer, mammospheres and OCT4-overexpressed clone (C12) were analyzed for levels of putative breast cancer stem cell markers – CD44 and CD24. Cells were stained with combination of antibodies against CD44 and CD24 for 45 minutes and flow cytometry analysis was performed. Representative flow cytometry

scatter plots of cells harvested from SUM159 monolayer, mammosphere and C12 are shown for profile comparison.



Figure 3.8 Stable OCT4-overexpression does not change EMT markers in SUM159 cells

SUM159 parental cells, empty vector clone (EV1), OCT4-overexpressed clone (C12) and MCF10DCIS cells grown in monolayer culture were harvested for western blot analysis of E-cadherin, vimentin and Snail. Anti-OCT4 antibody was used to assess OCT4 level in all cell lines tested. β-actin was used as a loading control.





Figure 3.9 SUM159 xenograft tumorigenicity assay in nu/nu mice

Α

В

(A) SUM159, C12, and MCF10DCIS cells were injected subcutaneously (SC) (10⁶ cells) into both flanks or into mammary fat pad (MFD) (10⁶ cells) of both left and right sides in nu/nu mice. Tumors were harvested at the end of 4 weeks. (B) Representative hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining showing the histology of xenograft tumors injected with SUM159, C12 and MCF10DCIS cells at 1X and 20X magnifications. Images were taken with ScanScope XT.



Figure 3.10 Pathological analyses of xenograft tumors

Representative hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining showing tumor tissues from SUM159 (A) and MCF10DCIS (B) xenograft tumors. The pathologist's report was provided by Michael Goedken from Research Pathology Services at Rutgers Translational Science. (A) SUM159 tumor: Samples contained variably sized, ovoid, densely cellular, expansile masses single cell type with a thin fibrous capsule when present (some tumors had little to no adjacent host tissue). Tumor patterns included whorls and streams of neoplastic cells in fibrous stroma. Polymorphic, variably sized cells with indistinct cell margins and eosinophilic fibrillar cytoplasm and variably sized, bland, ovoid to angular nuclei with basophilic chromatin and nucleoli. Less differentiate regions had anisokaryosis while more differentiated regions were interrupted by clearings. There were 1 to 3 mitotic figures per HPF. Some sample had necrotic foci and small areas of hemorrhage and/or inflammatory infiltration by neutrophils and fewer mononuclear cells. Morphologic diagnosis: stromal tumor, fibroma. (B) MCF10DCIS tumor: Limited to variable sized distended ducts (fibrous capsules) were neoplastic cells of a single cell population.

Epithelial cells formed variably cribriform structures in fine fibrovascular stroma. Ovoid cells with prominent margins contained abundant amphophilic granular cytoplasm. Nuclei were of uniform size and have a regular chromatin pattern with inconspicuous nucleoli, and rare mitotic figures. Centers of distended ducts contained variable amounts of necrotic cell debris rimmed by degenerate and apoptotic neoplastic epithelial cells. There were few mitotic figures. Extracellular matrix between ducts contained increased inflammatory cells. Morphologic diagnosis: Mammary gland ductal carcinoma in situ. Discussion: SUM159 cells produced mesenchymal tumors while MCF10DCIS cells resulted in epithelial tumors.



Figure 3.11 Tumors from stable OCT4-overexpressing cells express scant positive staining of OCT4

A representative immunohistochemical analysis detecting OCT4 in xenograft tumors injected with SUM159, C12 and MCF10DCIS cells at 1X and 20X magnifications. Images were taken with ScanScope XT. Immunohistochemical staining was performed at Research Pathology Services at Rutgers Translational Science.

Chapter 4: Analysis of the transcriptome: Regulation of Cancer Stemness in Breast Ductal Carcinoma In Situ by Vitamin D Compounds^{10,11,12}

4.1 Introduction

Breast cancer is the most common cancer and the second leading cause of cancer related deaths in women worldwide [457]. Based on the presence or absence of estrogen receptor (ER), progesterone receptor (PR) and human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER2), breast cancers are divided into subtypes: luminal A (ER+ and/or PR+; HER2–), luminal B (ER+ and/or PR+; HER2+), basal-like (ER–, PR–, and HER2–), and HER2- enriched (ER–, PR–, and HER2+) [458]. Breast cancer development is a multi-step process that involves epigenetic and genetic changes contributing to aberrant cell growth [459]. Histologically, breast cancer can be staged into invasive ductal carcinoma, ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) and invasive lobular carcinoma. About 20% of breast cancers newly diagnosed in 2019 among US women will be classified as DCIS, amounting to over 48,000 cases [460]. DCIS is an early stage, non-invasive type characterized by proliferation of malignant epithelial cells in the ducts [461]. It arises from atypical ductal hyperplasia and may progress to invasive ductal carcinoma (IDC) and metastatic cancer [461]. It is

¹⁰Part of this chapter has been published in Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2020;13 (8):673-686.

¹¹Keywords: cancer stem cells; mammosphere; DNA-seq; RNA-seq; differentiation; BXL0124; TP63

¹²Abbreviations: DCIS, ductal carcinoma in situ; IDC, invasive ductal carcinoma; DMR, differentially methylated region; IPA, Ingenuity Pathway Analysis

predicted that up to 50% of the DCIS cases will progress to IDC within 10 years of initial diagnosis [462]. Gene expression and microRNA analyses have been performed to elucidate the molecular characteristics of DCIS progression to IDC [463, 464]. However, the natural history of progression of DCIS to IDC is yet to be fully determined.

Cancer stem cells (CSCs) were first identified in breast cancer using the cell surface markers CD44⁺/CD24⁻ [46]. This population is characterized by a stem-cell gene expression signatures, drug-resistant phenotype and self-renewal capacity *in vitro* and *in vivo* [465]. Human DCIS lesions form spheroids and duct-like structures in *ex vivo* organoid culture and tumors in immunodeficient mice, suggestive of the presence of CSC-like cells in these early tumors [466]. MCF10DCIS.COM was derived from the non-tumorigenic MCF10A human breast cell line and exhibits basal-like subtype properties [467]. It is similar to human DCIS with bi-potentiality that can give rise to both myoepithelial and luminal cells and spontaneous progression to invasive breast cancer *in vivo* [468], and it is widely used as a model for IDC development from precursor lesions. MCF10DCIS.COM cultures and tumors contain high ALDH1⁺ and CD44⁺/CD49f⁺/CD24⁻ subpopulations with increased self-renewal and tumor development capabilities, similar to CSCs of fully invasive tumors [469].

Vitamin D signaling is known to be a potential target for breast cancer chemoprevention [470]. Our laboratory has shown that vitamin D compounds inhibit triple negative breast cancer tumorigenesis by reducing expression of cancer stem-cell associated genes, including OCT4 and CD44, and by inducing differentiation and up-regulating myoepithelial markers [339]. These compounds reduce *in vitro* mammosphere formation and *in vivo* tumorigenesis, although the molecular mechanisms of these effects are not

known. BXL0124 is an analog of calcitriol $(1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3)$ modified with an additional side chain at C21-methyl group, endowing it with more biological activity at lower concentrations without causing hypercalcemia, a limiting side effect of calcitriol [287]. BXL0124 also inhibits MCF10DCIS xenograft tumorigenesis more potently than $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$, apparently through the similar mechanism of suppressing cancer stem cells [297]. The goal of this chapter is to identify global profiles of changes in gene expression and CpG methylation in MCF10DCIS cells induced by vitamin D compounds, to gain an understanding of the pathways involved in their overall effects and the molecular basis of their activities, and to identify potential targets that could be exploited in the chemoprevention of breast cancer progression from DCIS to IDC. We analyzed the transcriptome of breast cancer stemness regulated by vitamin D in DCIS in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Reagents and cell culture

1α25(OH)₂D₃ and a Gemini vitamin D analog (BXL0124; 1α,25-dihydroxy-20R-21(3-hydroxy-3-deuteromethyl-4,4,4-trideuterobutyl)-23-yne-26,27-hexafluorocholecalciferol, >95% purity) were provided by BioXell, Inc. (Nutley, NJ) [287]. Vitamin D compounds were dissolved in DMSO. MCF10DCIS.com human breast cancer cells (MCF10DCIS, RRID: CVCL_5552) were provided by Dr. Fred Miller at the Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute (Detroit, MI). Cells were maintained in DMEM/F12 medium supplemented with 5% horse serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 1% HEPES solution at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. The cells were passaged every 3-4 days between passage number p30 and p50. Mycoplasma testing was done every three months using Mycoplasma PCR detection kit (Cat# MP0035, Sigma-Aldrich). Cell line authentication was done using Short Tandem Repeat profiling (Cat# 135-XV) at American Type Culture Collection (ATCC).

4.2.2 Mammosphere formation assay

MCF10DCIS cells were grown to 70-80% confluence and cells were detached with StemPro AccutaseTM (Life Technologies, NY) cell detachment solution. Cells were then grown in 6-well ultra-low attachment plates at a density of 10,000 cells/mL and maintained in MammoCultTM Human Medium added with MammoCultTM proliferation supplement, hydrocortisone solution and heparin solution (STEMCELL Technologies, MA). Spheres were treated with DMSO (0.01%), $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM), and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. After 5 days in culture, the culture plates were gently swirled to cluster the spheres in the middle of each well and photographed. Mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) is calculated by dividing the number of mammospheres ($\geq 100 \mu m$) formed by the number of single cells seeded in individual wells. Three independent experiments were repeated.

4.2.3 Nucleic acid isolation and next-generation sequencing

MCF10DCIS mammospheres were treated with DMSO (0.01%), $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM), and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days followed by extraction of RNA and DNA using AllPrep DNA/RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA). The concentrations and quality of the RNA and DNA were determined using NanoDrop spectrophotometer and Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer separately. We prepared three independent sets of cultures with MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with DMSO, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124, and extracted each separately to obtain 3 RNA samples and 3 DNA samples. We pooled those samples for the RNA-seq and Methyl-seq analyses, which was carried out at RUCDR Infinite Biologics, a Rutgers University affiliated institution which provides Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) services. RNAseq libraries were prepared using Illumina RNA Library Prep Kit v2 according to manufacturer's user guide with 400 ng of RNA as input. The libraries were then quantified using KAPA Library Quantification kit according to manufacturer's user guide and pooled with barcodes. The pooled libraries were sequenced on Illumina NextSeq 550 system, using NextSeq 500/550 Mid Output v2 kit. The sequencing parameters used were 150 bp, paired-end with around 20 million reads generated per sample. The DNA samples were further processed using an Agilent SureSelect Human Methyl-seq Target Enrichment System (Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA) and sequenced on an Illumina NextSeq 500 instrument with 76-bp single-end reads, generating 34–47 million reads per sample.

4.2.4 Sequencing data analysis

The RNA-seq reads were mapped to human reference genome with Hisat2 software. Cufflinks was used to assemble the transcript products and calculate the fragment abundance. Cuffdiff was used to quantify transcripts of genes differentially expressed among the three treatment conditions (DMSO, 1,25D3 and BXL0124). Methyl-seq was aligned using Bismark software (version 0.15.0), CpG sites were counted and clustered into Differentially Methylated Regions (DMRs) using DMRfinder (version 0.1)[471]. Genomic annotation was performed with ChIPseeker in R [472]. R was also used for downstream NGS data analysis and visualization as we have reported previously [473,

474]. The RNA-Seq and Methyl-Seq datasets described in this study have been deposited in the NCBI Gene Expression Omnibus with accession number GSE148548.

4.2.5 Ingenuity pathway analysis

Analysis of pathways and gene networks of the expression data was performed with IPA software from Qiagen (Version 49309495).

4.2.6 Quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Analysis

To validate RNA-sequencing data, we performed three independent sets of experiments with MCF10DCIS mammospheres treatment with DMSO, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124. After 5 days of treatment, RNA samples are collected, and qPCR analysis was performed. RNA was reverse transcribed to cDNA using High Capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems, CA), followed by amplification of the cDNA by using primers of genes of interest and TaqMan 2X Universal PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems, CA) and using the ViiATM 7 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, CA). Primers used are GAPDH (Hs02758991), GDF15 (Hs00171132), LCN2 (Hs01008571), S100A4 (Hs00243202), NGFR (Hs00609976), PPP1R1B (Hs00259967), AGR2 (Hs00356521), KRT6A (Hs04194231), EMP1 (Hs00608055), IGFBP5 (Hs00181213), CAPN6 (Hs00560073), CYP24A1 (Hs00167999), and KRT5 (Hs00361185). GAPDH was used as an internal control. Relative changes of gene expression were calculated using $\Delta\Delta$ CT Method.

4.2.7 Bisulfite pyrosequencing

The bisulfite-treated DNA was amplified by PCR using Platinum PCR Tag DNA polymerase (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Primers (5'-3'): forward (biotin-(GTGGTTTTGTTTGTTTGTTGTTAGAGAG), reverse AAAATTCCCTAAAATTAAAAACTTCT) and sequencing (TGTTTTGTTGTTAGAGAGA) are designed with PyroMark Assay Design SW 2.0 software and obtained from Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, Iowa). Specifically, the reverse primer was biotinylated at the 5' end. The biotinylated PCR product was captured using streptavidin-coated beads (GE Healthcare, Piscataway, NJ, USA). After annealing with the sequencing primer, the single-stranded PCR product was pyrosequenced on a PyroMark Q24 advanced instrument (Qiagen). Average Methylation Index (MI) is calculated by combining the percentage of each CpG peak and dividing with the total number of CpG peaks in the pyrogram as previously shown [475].

4.2.8 Western blot analysis

Whole cell lysates (20 µg/lane) were resolved in 10% SDS-PAGE from Bio-Rad (Hercules, CA). Blots were then probed with the indicated antibodies. Primary antibodies against TP63 Clone 10H7L17 (1:1000) was from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Cat# 703809 RRID: AB_2809251); α -SMA (1:1000) was from Abcam (Cat# ab5694, RRID: AB_2223021) and β -actin, Clone AC-15 (1:2000) was from Sigma-Aldrich (Cat# A1978, RRID:AB_476692). Secondary antibodies were from Cell Signaling Technology. Western blot images are quantified by using GeneGnome XRQ chemiluminescence imaging system and analyzed by GeneTools analysis software from Syngene (MD, USA).

4.2.9 Flow cytometry

The detailed procedure was reported previously [476]. MCF10DCIS cells isolated from mammospheres were stained with antibodies against CD44-APC, Clone G44-26 from BD Biosciences (Cat# 559942, RRID: AB_398683) and CD10-PE from Thermo Fisher Scientific (Cat# 12-0106-41, RRID: AB_10714985). The stained MCF10DCIS cells were analyzed by flow cytometry using an FC500 Analyzer (Beckman Coulter) to determine the percentage of 4 different CD44⁻/CD10⁺, CD44⁺/CD10⁺, CD44⁻/CD10⁻ and CD44⁺/CD10⁻ subpopulations.

4.2.10 Statistical analysis

The MFE data are presented as means \pm SD. Simple comparisons between two groups were analyzed using Student's t-test, and comparisons of multiple groups were analyzed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). *P* value <0.05 is considered statistically significant. Statistical analysis was carried out using R statistical software.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Vitamin D compounds inhibit MCF10DCIS mammosphere forming efficiency

To examine the effect of vitamin D compounds on cancer stem-like cells, the mammosphere forming assay was performed. MCF10DCIS cells were grown in mammosphere culture with proliferation supplements as described above for 5 days, as previously reported [300]. Based on our previous studies, we selected an equivalent effective dose for each compound, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ (100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM).

Treatment with $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 decreased the MFE from 1.18% in controls to 0.82% (p < 0.05) and 0.87% (p < 0.05) respectively (**Figures 4.1A and 4.1B**). While the vitamin D compounds reduced the number of spheres, the proportion of larger spheres 100-200 µm and >200 µm was increased in the treated cultures (**Figure 4.1C**) and the spheres in the vitamin D treated cultures were rounder in shape (**Figure 4.1A**).

4.3.2 Global gene expression profiling in cells treated with vitamin D compounds

The distribution of differential expression genes (DEGs) in $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ vs. control and BXL0124 vs. control treatment groups are shown respectively in volcano MA plots (Figure 4.2A). Of the genes upregulated, 52.8% (371 genes) were common to the two vitamin D compounds, while 49.3% (546 genes) were common in the downregulated group (Figure 4.2B). Comparing the gene expression changes of 15,331 genes being sequenced from $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ to control group, a list of 12,351 genes was obtained with q value less than 0.01. Of those, 439 genes had a more than four-fold positive $(\log_2 > 2)$ change and 703 genes had greater than four-fold negative ($\log_2 <-2$) change in normalized RNA expression in $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ versus control group. Similarly, when comparing the gene expression changes of BXL0124 treatment group relative to control group, a list of 12,738 genes was obtained at q value of less than 0.01. Of those, 634 genes were upregulated by more than positive four-fold $(\log_2 > 2)$ change and 948 genes were downregulated by more than negative four-fold $(\log_2 <-2)$ change in expression. The fragments per million (FPM) of differentially expressed genes in response to 1a25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 treatments were normalized by log_2 and shown in a heatmap compared with

control (Figure 4.3 A and B). The 25 most up-regulated and down-regulated genes for $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 cultures compared with controls are shown in Table 4.1.

To validate the findings from RNA-seq data using qPCR analysis, we selected 16 genes of potential interest, based on established relevance to cancer stemness, breast cancer progression and chemoresistance (Figure 4.4). We first evaluated CYP24A1, a gene that is well established to be involved in vitamin D metabolism and highly induced by vitamin D compounds [420, 477]. As expected, the level of CYP24A1 RNA increased with $1\alpha, 25(OH)_2D_3$ treatment (82,000-fold, p < 0.001) and BXL0124 treatment (177,564-fold, p < 0.01), respectively. Genes that are known to be associated with breast cancer basal-like phenotype (KRT6A and KRT5) and a negative regulator of breast tumorigenesis (EMP1) were also upregulated, in accord with the RNA-seq results. Cytokeratin 6A (KRT6A) gene expression was upregulated 6.2-fold with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p < 0.05) and 9.2-fold with BXL0124 (p < 0.05) treatment. Cytokeratin 5 (KRT5) expression level was increased 3.9fold and 5.9-fold with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p < 0.01) and BXL0124 (p < 0.001), respectively. EMP1 gene is increased 2.9-fold with 1α , 25(OH)₂D₃ (p < 0.05) and 6.1-fold with BXL0124 (p < 0.01), respectively. We validated genes that are involved in epithelial mesenchymal transition, invasion and metastasis (S100A4 and LCN2), chemo-resistance (NGFR, PPP1R1B, and AGR2), and basal breast cancer (NGFR). S100A4 gene expression was reduced by 29% with $1\alpha_2 25(OH)_2 D_3$ (p < 0.05) and by 35% with BXL0124 (p < 0.05). 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 decreased LCN2 gene expression by 97% (p < 0.001) and 97% (p < 0.01), respectively. NGFR gene expression was down regulated by 97% with $1\alpha_{25}(OH)_{2}D_{3}$ (p < 0.01) and by 99% with BXL0124 (p < 0.001). In our analysis, 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 decreased PPP1R1B gene expression by 81% (p < 0.01) and

97% (p < 0.001) respectively. AGR2 gene expression was also reduced by 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (by 91%, p < 0.05) and BXL0124 (by 85%, p < 0.01). GDF15 gene, implicated in the maintenance of breast cancer stem-like cells, was significantly inhibited with 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ by 94% (p < 0.01) and with BXL0124 by 95% (p < 0.01), respectively. Genes that are involved in cell migration and cytokinesis (CAPN6) and mammary gland involution and differentiation (IGFBP-5) were also analyzed. CAPN6 gene expression was decreased by 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (89%, p < 0.01) and with BXL0124 (97%, p < 0.001) in MCF10DCIS mammospheres. IGFBP5 gene expression was increased two folds with 1 α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p < 0.05) while reduced by 89% with BXL0124 (p < 0.05). Our qPCR analysis confirmed and validated the expression changes as observed in RNA-seq data (**Figure 4.4**).

4.3.3 Correlation and validation between DNA methylation and RNA expression changes in vitamin D treated mammospheres

To determine whether the gene expression changes were due to changes in gene methylation status and to investigate the global DNA methylation changes induced by vitamin D compounds, we performed single base-pair resolution DNA methylation sequencing with the mammospheres treated with DMSO, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 using Agilent SureSelect Human Methyl-seq library and Illumina NextSeq 500 platform. DNA methylation profiles were characterized using DMRfinder based on a total of 176,900 DMRs for $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and 162,581 DMRs for BXL0124 treatment groups which were annotated using ChIPseeker. Distribution of DMRs annotated by gene feature were shown in **Figure 4.5A**. With a cutoff criterion of p < 0.05 and methylation difference >10%, we

obtained 46 genes with their DMRs located in the promoter regions as shown in the heatmap (**Figure 4.5B**). In addition, we analyzed methyl-seq data of all loci assayed. We found 83 genes with p < 0.05 with a cutoff of methylation difference > 10%, and 145 genes with p < 0.05 without cutoff (**Figure 4.6**). Plotting methylation differences for all genes against each other for both $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ vs. DMSO and BXL0124 vs. DMSO showed a linear relationship between the two groups (**Figure 4.7**). Notably, MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 shared similar pattern in heatmap compared with control implying the methylation modification in these DMRs may be a regulatory mechanism for breast cancer chemoprevention.

We further performed correlation between DNA methylation profiles and RNA expression profiles in 1a25(OH)₂D₃ vs. control and BXL0124 vs. control. We identified a list of 105 DMRs with corresponding RNA expression data in the former group and a list of 165 DMRs with corresponding gene expression data in the latter group (log₂ two-fold for RNA expression difference and 10% for methylation difference were used as cutoffs). Starburst plots integrating DNA methylation and gene expression are shown in **Figure 4.8**. Each dot represents a DMR and the corresponding DMR locations are featured by different colors. From the analysis, DMRs can be classified into two major groups: one that has direct association between DNA methylation and RNA expression, and the other group that has inverse association between DNA methylation and RNA expression. The top 10 genes that have inverse relationship between transcript level and promoter DNA methylation are shown in **Table 4.2**. Since DNA hypermethylation at CpG island in promoter region is known to silence gene expression, we selected one of the most recognized vitamin D responsive target gene, CYP24A1, from the list of genes that showed

higher mRNA expression with lower CpG methylation, and then further validated its methylation status with pyrosequencing. Pyrosequencing analysis of the selected 6 CpG sites in the promoter region of CYP24A1 gene between 52789045 and 52789434 bps showed that CpG hypermethylation is decreased upon treatment with vitamin D compounds compared to control (average MIs DMSO = 75%, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3 = 62\%$, and BXL0124 = 55%) (Figure 4.9). This pyrosequencing finding in CYP24A1 promoter methylation correlates with significant up-regulation of RNA expression in mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds validating the DNA methyl-seq and RNA-seq results.

4.3.4 Analysis of upstream regulators of genes differentially regulated by vitamin D compounds and downstream targets of the vitamin D receptor

We performed Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) to identify upstream transcriptional regulators of the differentially regulated genes by vitamin D compounds (**Figure 4.10**). Using a cutoff absolute value for the z-score of >2.5, we found 30 genes regulated by $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and 27 genes regulated by BXL0124, among which TP63, VDR, CD24, CST5, and IFNB1 were regulated by both vitamin D compounds. We further identified direct upstream or downstream regulators of vitamin D receptor in human mammary gland and breast cancer cell lines in published databases that were also noted in our RNA-seq data (cutoff for *p* value overlap <0.01 and activation z-score > 2). **Figure 4.11** shows top candidate genes predicted to be regulated by VDR in the presence of $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ or BXL0124. Genes identified in this analysis that are regulated by both vitamin D compounds include TP63, CYP24A1, CD14, TRPV6, STAT4, and FABP6.
Analysis of Ingenuity Canonical Pathways regulated by $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ vs. control and BXL0124 vs. control is shown in **Tables 4.3** and **4.4**, respectively. Using criteria of p < 0.01 and absolute value z score > 2, 45 canonical pathways were regulated by $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and 8 canonical pathways were regulated by BXL0124. Among them, IL-6, NANOG, GP6 and LXR/RXR pathways were strongly affected.

4.3.5 Identification of TP63 as key pathway targeted by vitamin D compounds

One target gene of interest that emerged from our analyses is TP63, a member of tumor suppressor p53 family of transcription factors. TP63 is essential for development and maintenance of epithelial stem cells [478]. Loss of TP63 expression promotes malignant cells migration, invasion and distant metastasis in cancers [479]. Tp63 is associated with differentiated myoepithelium-specific genes in normal breast tissue and its perturbation is observed in MCF10DCIS cells which show significant decrease in Tp63⁺ population and impaired differentiation [480]. To further examine the effects of vitamin D compounds on TP63, we analyzed protein levels in mammospheres (Figure 4.12) and observed the upregulation of TP63 protein upon treatment with vitamin D compounds. Additionally, we analyzed the protein level of α -smooth muscle actin (SMA), a myoepithelial cell differentiation marker in DCIS progression in mammospheres [481]. α -SMA level was upregulated in mammosphere samples treated with 1a25(OH)₂D₃ and BXL0124 (Figure 4.12). The disruption of the continuity of myoepithelial basement membrane is a pre-requisite to stromal invasion of tumor cells in DCIS progression to IDC [482]. Loss of CD10, a myoepithelial surface peptidase, is associated with triple negative breast cancer and increased risk of DCIS [483, 484]. We, therefore, performed flow

cytometric analysis of CD10 in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds. We observed significant upregulation of CD10+ in the treated cells (**Figure 4.13**). Overall, our data suggest that vitamin D compounds prevent DCIS progression to IDC by reducing cancer stem-like cells (or their "stemness") in the population, and instead inducing myoepithelial differentiation (**Figure 4.14**).

4.4 Discussion

We initiated this study to gain insights into global changes in gene expression regulated by vitamin D compounds in MCF10DCIS. This was intended to provide clues as to the molecular mechanisms and pathways by which these compounds reduce DCIS progression to IDC. We observed that vitamin D compounds significantly decreased mammosphere formation, an indicator that they reduced the stem cell-like population of the cell's stemness. Among the genes that are commonly and differentially regulated by vitamin D compounds, BXL0124 regulated a higher number of genes compared to $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$, consistent with the fact that it is a more potent agonist of VDR signaling. From the RNA-seq analysis, we selected a list of 12 candidate genes with which to validate expression changes and for further study. GDF15, growth differentiation factor 15, is a member of the TGF- β superfamily [485]. GDF15 increases tumorsphere formation and increases stemness markers OCT4, SOX2, NANOG, phosphorylation of Smad2 and activation of ERK1/2 by autocrine/paracrine circuit leading to the maintenance of the breast cancer stem-like cell state [486]. Both vitamin D compounds decreased GDF15 expression in mammospheres, suggesting inhibitory effects of these compounds on stemness and epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT). LCN2 (lipocalin) is a secreted

glycoprotein that transport lipophilic ligands [487]. Overexpression of LCN2 promotes cancer cell invasion and motility, up-regulates slug, vimentin, fibronectin and down-regulates E-cadherin indicative of inducing EMT [488]. Both $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 reduced LCN2 at mRNA levels.

Chemoresistance is one of the hallmarks of cancer stemness [24]. Nerve growth factor receptor (NGFR), a cancer stem cell marker in melanoma, along with its downstream target FGF13 (a mediator of chemoresistance), is increased in chemotherapy sensitive melanoma cells but not in chemo-resistant cells [489]. Triple negative breast cancer cells secrete nerve growth factor (NGF) that upregulates NGFR expression and inhibits apoptosis induction by chemotherapeutic agents [490]. In our study, NGFR expression was decreased in mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds, suggesting the possible role of vitamin D compounds in reducing chemoresistance by targeting cancer stem cells. KRT5 and KRT6 are members of the keratin gene family coexpressed during differentiation of epithelial tissues [491]. In breast cancer, KRT5 and KRT6a are commonly used as immunohistochemical markers of the basal-like subtype [492]. Immunostaining of tissue microarrays using clinical DCIS samples revealed that cytokeratin 5 and 6 expression was inversely associated with invasion into surrounding normal breast tissue [493]. Therefore, increased expression of these markers upon treatment with vitamin D compounds suggests that vitamin D induces myoepithelial differentiation in DCIS, preventing its progression to IDC. CAPN6 (calpain-6), a family member of calcium dependent cysteine proteases, is down-regulated in simple ductal hyperplasia and atypical ductal hyperplasia but up-regulated in ductal carcinoma in situ breast cancer, suggestive of its function in breast cancer progression [494]. The expression

level of CAPN6 is significantly decreased with vitamin D treatment, indicating its inhibitory effect in breast cancer progression. To further validate the RNA sequencing data from MCF10DCIS mammosphere culture, we performed bioinformatic analysis of our data in relation to publicly available database with MCF10DCIS cells and confirmed a strong positive linear relationship (**Figure 4.15**). However, we observed the expression profiles of certain genes (including the ones that we have validated such as NGFR, GDF15, PPP1R1B, KRT5, KRT6A and LAMA3) in our MCF10DCIS mammospheres are different from those of MCF10DCIS monolayer cells. Treating the mammospheres with vitamin D compounds reversed the expression of these genes. Similarly, several genes highly regulated by vitamin D compounds listed in Table 1 (LACRT, CREB3L1, FCGBP, HMGCS2, BPIFA1, MUC5AC, CLDN10, BPIFB1, and SPINK8) showed different expression profiles in mammospheres compared to monolayer cells, suggesting that these genes might play a role in stem-like driven mammosphere growth.

Using single base-pair resolution Methyl-sequencing, we examined the DNA methylation status of the genes to determine whether their changes in expression was due to changes in promoter CpG island methylation induced by the vitamin D compounds. We found that treatment with $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 have shown similar patterns of changes in CpG methylation profiles. We have also identified that some of the DMRs showed direct relationship between DNA methylation and RNA expression, whereas some showed inverse relationship– while the methylation is increased, gene expression was down-regulated and vice versa. Since a large body of evidence shows that CpG island promoter methylation results in gene silencing, we selected a well-established vitamin D metabolizing gene, CYP24A1, that is strongly induced by the compounds to test this

hypothesis. We found that when DMRs are hypomethylated by vitamin D compounds, gene expression of CYP24A1 is up-regulated. Overall, these findings suggest epigenetic regulation as a potential mechanism of vitamin D compounds for breast cancer chemoprevention.

IPA analysis of transcriptomes revealed potential signaling pathways and downstream targets regulated by vitamin D compounds in DCIS. Among these, we selected the TP63 pathway for further analysis. Tp63, a member of tumor suppressor p53 family of transcription factors, is essential for development and maintenance of epithelial stem cells [479]. Six different isoforms of Tp63 have been identified, based on the presence of transactivating (TAp63) or dominant-negative (Δ Np63) domains [479]. Tp63 knockout mice showed impaired mammary, epithelial and craniofacial developments, indicating its role in regulating proliferation and differentiation of these cell types [495]. Immunohistochemistry studies in normal and diseased breast tissues show that Tp63 is immunoreactive in myoepithelial cells of normal and benign lesions but not in invasive breast carcinoma [496]. Recent analysis based on METABRIC cohort studies showed that the best overall survival is associated with myoepithelial mammary cell phenotype with Tp63 expression, similar to normal breast-like class [497]. In addition, Tp63 is found to be highly expressed in metaplastic carcinomas of the breast with spindle cell or squamous differentiation [498]. Loss of TP63 expression promotes malignant cells migration, invasion and distant metastasis in cancers [468, 499]. $\Delta Np63\alpha$ is found to mediate CXCL12-CXCR4 pathway that activates diverse oncogenic downstream signaling pathways including PI3K/AKT, MAPK, JAK/STAT and NF-kB. By activating CXCR4 as its transcriptional target, $\Delta Np63\alpha$ promotes pro-stem cell activity and chemotaxis of breast

cancer cells to metastasis sites [500]. In irradiated human epithelial cells, a high expression level of key stem cell factor OCT4, a downstream target of miR34a, activates p63 by cooperating with p63 isoform (TAp63 α) to promote oncogenic transformation [501]. Our data showed that in DCIS mammospheres treated with $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124, protein levels of TP63 increased, consistent with our hypothesis that the mechanism by which the vitamin D compounds inhibit progression of DCIS to IDC involves a reduction in the cancer stem cell-like population or the stemness of the cells. To explore the possibility that these effects are manifest in a more highly differentiated state of these treated populations, we examined markers of myoepithelial differentiation. We found that the vitamin D compounds increased levels of α -SMA and CD10, myoepithelial and basal progenitor cell surface markers, respectively.

4.5 Conclusions

In summary, we have identified epigenetic and gene expression changes regulated by vitamin D compounds in MCF10DCIS mammospheres using RNA-seq and Methyl-seq techniques. RNA-seq data provided a global view of genes differentially regulated by $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124. A list of potential genes affected included those involved in breast cancer stemness and progression. Methyl-seq data revealed epigenetic modification of gene expression in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds. This observation is further supported by validation of CYP24A1 gene using pyrosequencing technique. IPA analysis identified top upstream regulators and downstream targets of the vitamin D receptor including, notably, TP63. These findings identify potential key pathways that could play a significant role in DCIS progression to IDC and cancer stemness and offer targets that might be exploited for inhibition of this progression.



Figure 4.1 Inhibition of MCF10DCIS mammosphere forming efficiency by vitamin D compounds

(A) Representative pictures of MCF10DCIS mammospheres. MCF10DCIS cells were seeded 20,000 cells per well in 6-well ultra-low attachment plates and grown in Mammocult mammosphere media and treated with DMSO, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ (abbreviated as 1,25D3, 100 nM) or BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. (B) Mammosphere forming efficiency (MFE) of MCF10DCIS mammospheres is shown. MFE was calculated by dividing the number of mammospheres (>100 µm) formed by the number of cells seeded presenting this as a percentage. The data are represented as mean \pm SD. n = 3 indicates three independent experiments (p value *<0.05). (C) The size of tumorspheres was divided into three ranges (<100, 100–200 and >200 µm). Average number of tumorspheres in each size range is shown in the graph.



Figure 4.2 Differential expression analyses of transcripts in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with 1,25D3 and BXL0124

A. Volcano plots were generated using the DEGSeq package. Log₂ 2-fold was used as a cutoff point to analyze the differential expression. **B.** Venn diagram depicting overlapping genes between 1,25D3 and BXL0124 for up-regulated and down-regulated genes (cutoff Log₂ 2-fold).



Figure 4.3 Circular heatmap representation of differential gene expression in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with 1,25D3 (A) and BXL0124 (B)

The circular heatmaps were produced using pheatmap package with R software. Shades of green and grey representing increase and decrease in gene expression relative to control.



Figure 4.4 qPCR validation of selected genes differentially regulated in RNA sequencing data

qPCR analyses of selected genes differentially regulated in RNA sequencing data were performed. Three independent experiments were performed. Cycle numbers for genes related to CYP24A1, KRTA6A, KRTA5, EMP1, ATF6B, XBP1, ALDH1A3, S100A4, DICER1, IGFBP5, PPP1R1B, AGR2, CAPN6, GDF15, NGFR and LCN2 are 35, 30, 17, 22, 23, 22, 21, 23, 24, 34, 24, 23, 21, 23, 21 and 21 respectively. *p* values *<0.05, **<0.01, ***<0.001.



Figure 4.5 Correlation of gene expression and DNA methylation regulated by vitamin D compounds

A. Distribution of annotated differentially methylated regions (DMRs) by gene feature **B.** The clustered heatmap was produced by analyzing the top 46 genes differentially methylated in promoter regions using pheatmap package with R software (p < 0.05 with cutoff methylation difference >10%).



Figure 4.6. Differential DNA methylation regulated by vitamin D compounds

Methyl-seq data were analyzed with all loci (all the regions in genes) included using pheatmap package with R software. **A.** The clustered heatmap was produced by analysing 83 genes (p<0.05 with cutoff methylation difference > 10%). **B.** The clustered heatmap was produced by analysing 145 genes (p<0.05).



Figure 4.7 Correlation of methylation differences for all genes against each other for 1,25D3 (VD3) and BXL0124 (BXL) treatments in MCF10DCIS mammospheres Scatterplots with methylation difference value of 1,25D3-DMSO shown at x-axis versus BXL0124-DMSO shown at y-axis. Methylation difference of 0.1 and a *p*-value of 0.05 was applied to the first plot **(A)** and a *p*-value of 0.05 without cutoff for methylation difference was applied to the second plot **(B)**.



Figure 4.8 Starburst plot for the comparison of gene expression and DNA methylation regulated by 1,25D3 (A) and BXL0124 (B)

Starburst plot integrating alterations in DNA methylation and gene expression. The x-axis is the difference in DNA methylation levels (ΔM); the y-axis is the difference in gene expression (log₂ fold change).



Figure 4.9 Validation of CYP24A1 gene CpG methylation regulated by vitamin D compounds

Pyrosequencing analysis of CpG methylation sites in the promoter region of CYP24A1 gene in mammospheres regulated by vitamin D compounds. Promoter methylation status of CYP24A1 between 52789045 and 52789434 bp position is shown. Percent methylation of individual CpG site and average methylation indexes (MI) are indicated.



Figure 4.10 Analysis of upstream transcriptional regulators of differentially regulated genes by IPA

Upstream regulators of the differentially regulated genes in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with 1,25D3 and BXL0124 were identified using IPA. Cutoff absolute value for z-score >2.5.



Figure 4.11 Identification of direct upstream or downstream regulators of vitamin D receptor by IPA

Top candidate genes predicted to be regulated by vitamin D receptor (VDR) in human mammary gland and breast cancer cell lines in published databases were identified in RNA-seq data of MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with 1,25D3 and BXL0124 by using IPA at a cutoff for *p* value overlap <0.01 and activation z-score >2.



Figure 4.12 Assessment of myoepithelial differentiation markers regulated by vitamin D compounds

Western blot analysis of TP63 and α -SMA in mammospheres treated with DMSO,

1,25D3 (100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. β -actin was used as a loading control.



Figure 4.13 Identification of mesenchymal cell population distinguished by the expressions of CD44 and CD10

Flow cytometry analysis of progenitor marker CD44 and myoepithelial marker CD10 in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with DMSO, 1,25D3 (100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 5 days. A representative flow cytometry analysis is shown. CD10⁺/CD44⁺ and CD10⁻/CD44⁺ populations were depicted after three independent data are combined to calculate CD10⁺/CD44⁺ and CD10⁻/CD44⁺ populations. The data are represented as mean \pm SD. n = 3 indicates three independent experiments (p value *<0.05).



Figure 4.14 Schematic diagram of vitamin D compounds regulating the TP63 pathway in myoepithelial differentiation of DCIS



Figure 4.15 Bioinformatic analyses of RNA-Seq data of MCF10DCIS mammospheres in relation to external databases (MCF10DCIS cells)

RNA-Seq analyses of MCF10DCIS mammospheres (control) were plotted against MCF10DCIS cells from publicly available databases, MCF10DCIS_1_LD4601_S22 (A) and MCF10DCIS_1_LD4601_S23 (B), respectively (Ding, L., Su, Y., Fassl, A. *et al.* Perturbed myoepithelial cell differentiation in *BRCA* mutation carriers and in ductal carcinoma in situ. *Nat Commun* 10, 4182 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12125-5</u>) using Microsoft excel. (A) correlation coefficient 0.71 (B) correlation coefficient 0.72 to MCF10DCIS mammospheres control.

Upregulated	Cone Name	1,25	5D3	BXL0124		
Gene	Gene Ivanie	Log2 fold change	Z score	Log2 fold change	Z score	
CYP24A1	Cytochrome P450 family 24 subfamily A member 1	10.3	205.8	11.3	268.3	
IGFL3	IGF Like Family Member 3	8.5	13.8	10.4	23.7	
TRPV6	Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel Subfamily V Member 6	7.5	108.9	8.5	148.1	
CYTH4	Cytohesin 4	7.0	17.9	7.8	22.8	
GIMAP8	GTPase, IMAP Family Member 8	6.9	8.6	8.5	13.9	
OPCML	Opioid Binding Protein/Cell Adhesion Molecule Like	6.3	7.2	6.9	8.5	
RP1	Retinitis Pigmentosa 1	6.3	14.0	7.4	20.3	
ABCD2	ATP Binding Cassette Subfamily D Member 2	6.1	6.5	6.5	7.6	
GNRHR	Gonadotropin Releasing Hormone Receptor	6.1	6.5	6.2	6.8	
CNGB1	Cyclic Nucleotide Gated Channel Beta 1	6.0	6.4	7.2	9.3	
CSNK1E	Casein Kinase 1 Epsilon	5.9	8.6	4.5	5.2	
ZEB2	Zinc Finger E-Box Binding Homeobox 2	5.7	8.2	5.2	6.7	
ZNF699	Zinc Finger Protein 699	5.7	5.8	6.3	7.1	
IGFL1	IGF Like Family Member 1	5.7	5.7	6.1	6.6	
DCN	Decorin	5.6	11.0	6.1	13.1	
GTF2IP4	General Transcription Factor IIi Pseudogene 4	5.6	5.5	5.1	4.7	
MT4	Metallothionein 4	5.5	7.4	3.8	3.9	

 Table 4.1. Top 25 most up-regulated and down-regulated genes in comparison of 1,25D3 vs control and BXL0124 vs control

NPTN-IT1	NPTN Intronic Transcript 1	5.3	4.9	6.5	7.5
KRT24	Keratin 24	5.2	9.7	5.2	9.6
SHE	Src Homology 2 Domain Containing E	5.2	6.8	7.0	12.6
SLC7A8	Solute Carrier Family 7 Member 8	5.1	9.4	5.5	10.9
PGLYRP3	Peptidoglycan Recognition Protein 3	5.1	6.6	4.5	5.3
CYP2C18	Cytochrome P450 Family 2 Subfamily C Member 18	5.1	4.6	6.4	7.3
LINC00504	Long Intergenic Non-Protein Coding RNA 504	5.1	4.6	6.2	6.8
CT62	Cancer/Testis Antigen 62	5.1	6.5	4.5	5.2

Down-	Cono Nomo	1,25D	3	BXL0124		
Gene	Gene Ivanie	Log2 fold change	Z score	Log2 fold change	Z score	
LACRT	Lacritin	-9.9	-17.8	-9.9	-17.8	
CREB3L1	CAMP Responsive Element Binding Protein 3 Like 1	-9.8	-69.6	-9.5	-71.4	
FCGBP	Fc Fragment of IgG Binding Protein	-9.6	-99.3	-9.2	-102.4	
SLC44A4	Solute Carrier Family 44 Member 4	-9.3	-15.0	-6.3	-17.2	
HMGCS2	3-Hydroxy-3-Methylglutaryl-CoA Synthase 2	-9.0	-27.8	-8.0	-29.5	
BPIFA1	BPI Fold Containing Family A Member 1	-8.7	-12.6	-6.7	-13.8	
DCD	Dermcidin	-8.6	-24.6	-8.6	-24.7	
LEFTY1	Left-Right Determination Factor 1	-8.6	-12.2	-5.6	-13.4	
IQGAP2	IQ Motif Containing GTPase Activating Protein 2	-8.3	-11.4	-8.3	-11.4	
OBP2B	Odorant Binding Protein 2B	-8.2	-34.7	-9.5	-32.1	
PIGR	Polymeric Immunoglobulin Receptor	-8.1	-10.8	-8.2	-10.8	
CYP4Z2P	Cytochrome P450 Family 4 Subfamily Z Member 2, Pseudogene	-8.0	-10.3	-8.0	-10.3	
GJB1	Gap Junction Protein Beta 1	-8.0	-10.2	-6.0	-10.9	
THRSP	Thyroid Hormone Responsive	-7.9	-10.2	-5.0	-10.7	
CRYM	Crystallin Mu	-7.9	-14.1	-4.6	-14.5	
MUC5AC	Mucin 5AC, Oligomeric Mucus/Gel-Forming	-7.6	-53.6	-8.1	-52.5	
CHRM1	Cholinergic Receptor Muscarinic 1	-7.5	-8.8	-7.5	-8.8	

CLDN10	Claudin 10	-7.3	-35.1	-8.5	-33.4
MS4A7	Membrane Spanning 4-Domains A7	-7.2	-8.1	-7.2	-8.2
UGT2B11	UDP Glucuronosyltransferase Family 2 Member B11	-7.1	-7.8	-7.1	-7.8
RPRML	Reprimo Like	-6.9	-7.4	-6.9	-7.5
ATP2A3	ATPase Sarcoplasmic/Endoplasmic Reticulum Ca2+ Transporting 3	-6.6	-28.9	-10.8	-22.9
BPIFB1	BPI Fold Containing Family B Member 1	-6.6	-64.7	-8.2	-61.4
SPINK8	Serine Peptidase Inhibitor, Kazal Type 8	-6.6	-6.7	-6.6	-6.7
LOC101927822	RNA Gene	-6.6	-6.6	-6.6	-6.6

Genes are arranged in the order of log2 change. Gene names are taken from <u>www.genecards.org</u>. ND: Not Detected

Gene	Gene Name	Location	Feature	DNA Methylation change (Treatment vs. Control)	RNA Expression log₂ fold change (Treatment vs. Control)
1,25D3 (RNA expre	ssion increase, methylation decr	·ease)	1 1		
CYP24A1	Cytochrome P450 family 24 subfamily A member 1	chr20: 52789045- 52789434	Promoter	-12.2	11.2
TRPV6	Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel Subfamily V Member 6	chr7: 142584106- 142584444	Promoter	-18.3	7.8
IRS1	Insulin Receptor Substrate 1	chr2: 227660036- 227660323	Promoter	-11.7	4.6
PRRT2	Proline Rich Transmembrane Protein 2	chr16: 29823628- 29824005	Promoter	-13.3	4.6
CAMK4	Calcium/Calmodulin Dependent Protein Kinase IV	chr5: 110559299- 110559797	Promoter	-10.7	4.3
SYNC	Syncoilin, Intermediate Filament Protein	chr1: 33169068- 33169345	Promoter	-20	3.3
RGS17	Regulator of G Protein Signaling 17	chr6: 153450993- 153451251	Promoter	-18.4	3
BAIAP2L2	BAI1 Associated Protein 2 Like 2	chr22: 38508088- 38508248	Promoter	-15.7	2.8
EPAS1	Endothelial PAS Domain Protein 1	chr2: 46523790- 46524036	Promoter	-16.1	2.6
DNAH11	Dynein Axonemal Heavy Chain 11	chr7: 21582584- 21582913	Promoter	-17.7	2.4
1,25D3 (RNA expre	ssion decrease, methylation incr	·ease)			
OBP2B	Odorant Binding Protein 2B	chr9: 136084744- 136085168	Promoter	10.8	-8.3
MUC5AC	Mucin 5AC, Oligomeric Mucus/Gel-Forming	chr11: 1151319-1151453	Promoter	30	-7.4
FAM3D	Family with Sequence Similarity 3 Member D	chr3: 58653571- 58653767	Promoter	14	-5

Table 4.2. Selected DMRs with inverse DNA methylation change and RNA expression change

SLC26A9	Solute Carrier Family 26 Member 9	chr1: 205909935- 205910046	Promoter	11.6	-4.5
NEURL3	Neuralized E3 Ubiquitin Protein Ligase 3	chr2: 97174131- 97174505	Promoter	11.4	-4.3
ZBTB7C	Zinc Finger and BTB Domain Containing 7C	chr18: 45664078- 45664282	Promoter	10.9	-4.3
SMPD3	Sphingomyelin Phosphodiesterase 3	chr16: 68480865- 68480956	Promoter	17	-4.1
LFNG	LFNG O-Fucosylpeptide 3- Beta-N- Acetylglucosaminyltransferas e	chr7: 2551215-2551299	Promoter	17.4	-3.9
ANO1	Anoctamin 1	chr11: 69925157- 69925401	Promoter	12.9	-3.5
SYT12	Synaptotagmin 12	chr11: 66790610- 66790701	Promoter	37.4	-3.2
BXL0124 (RNA	expression increase, methylation d	ecrease)			
CYP24A1	Cytochrome P450 family 24 subfamily A member 1	chr20: 52788666- 52788927	Promoter	-20	12.5
TRPV6	Transient Receptor Potential Cation Channel Subfamily V Member 6	chr7: 142583185- 142583379	Promoter	-12.5	8.9
DCN	Decorin	chr12: 91572142- 91572303	Promoter	-11.9	6.4
IRS1	Insulin Receptor Substrate 1	chr2: 227664786- 227665021	Promoter	-17.4	5.2
CRISPLD1	Cysteine Rich Secretory Protein LCCL Domain Containing 1	chr8: 75896529- 75896590	Promoter	-13.5	4.3
KLK6	Kallikrein Related Peptidase	chr19: 51471818- 51472142	Promoter	-13.3	3.9
SYNC	Syncoilin, Intermediate Filament Protein	chr1: 33169068- 33169345	Promoter	-12.7	3.9
BGLAP	Bone Gamma- Carboxyglutamate Protein	chr1: 156211057- 156211193	Promoter	-50	3.8

GJA1	Gap Junction Protein Alpha 1	chr6: 121758702- 121759148	Promoter	-12.6	3.3
PLEC	Plectin	chr8: 145012511- 145012576	Promoter	-15.6	3.3
1,25D3 (RNA expres	ssion decrease, methylation incr	·ease)			
CREB3L1	CAMP Responsive Element Binding Protein 3 Like 1	chr11: 46259950- 46260255	Promoter	10.3	-9.6
OBP2B	Odorant Binding Protein 2B	chr9: 136084744- 136085168	Promoter	14.5	-9.4
BPIFB1	BPI Fold Containing Family B Member 1	chr20: 31871155- 31871382	Promoter	16.7	-8.4
SLC26A9	Solute Carrier Family 26 Member 9	chr1: 205912819- 205912892	Promoter	13	-7.7
FAM3D	Family with Sequence Similarity 3 Member D	chr3: 58652298- 58652634	Promoter	11.8	-7.1
RARRES3	Retinoic Acid Receptor Responder 3	chr11: 63304457- 63304769	Promoter	12.6	-6.4
CALML5	Calmodulin Like 5	chr10: 5538707-5538846	Promoter	17.1	-5.8
LFNG	LFNG O-Fucosylpeptide 3- Beta-N- Acetylglucosaminyltransferas e	chr7: 2551215-2551299	Promoter	23.8	-5.2
ANO1	Anoctamin 1	chr11: 69923479- 69923824	Promoter	13.5	-5.1
C9orf152	Chromosome 9 Open Reading Frame 152	chr9: 112970404- 112970590	Promoter	14.3	-4.9

Genes are arranged in the order of log2 change. Gene names are taken from www.genecards.org

Ingenuity Canonical	-log(p-	Z-	Molecules
Pathways	value)	score	
IL-6 Signaling	54	31	AKT3,ATM,CD14,CSNK2B,CXCL8,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IL1A,IL1B,IL1RAP,IL1RN,IL33,IL6ST,IRS1,JAK2
	5.1	5.1	,KRAS,MAP2K6,MAP4K4,MCL1,NFKBIE,NGFR,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1,TNFAIP6
Role of NANOG in			AKT3,APC,ATM,BMP2,BMP3,BMP4,BMP6,BMP7,BMP8B,FGFR1,GAB1,IL6ST,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,LIFR,
Mammalian Embryonic	5.3	3.1	PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,RIF1,SMAD9,SOS1,WNT4,WNT6,WNT7A,WNT9A
Stem Cell Pluripotency			
GP6 Signaling Pathway			AKT3,ATM,CALML5,CAMK4,COL12A1,COL16A1,COL17A1,COL4A5,COL4A6,COL6A2,COL9A3,FCER
	4.9	2.6	1G,FGB,FGFR1,FGG,GAB1,GRAP2,IRS1,ITPR1,KLF12,LAMA3,LAMB3,LAMC2,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK
			3R1
IGF-1 Signaling	4.0		AKT3.ATM.CCN1.CCN2.CCN3.CSNK2B.FGFR1.FOS.FOXO1.GAB1.JGFBP4.JGFBP5.JRS1.JAK2.KRAS
	4.3	2.3	NEDD4, PIK3C2A, PIK3CA, PIK3R1, PRKAR2A, SOCS2, SOS1
EGF Signaling		• •	AKT3.ATM.CSNK2B.EGFR.FGFR1.FOS.GAB1.IRS1.ITPR1.ITPR2.MAP3K1.PIK3C2A.PIK3CA.PIK3R1.
	3.7	2.8	SOSI
Estrogen-Dependent			AKT3.ATM.CREB3L4.EGFR.EP300.ESR1.FGFR1.FOS.GAB1.HSD17B1.HSD17B2.JRS1.KRAS.PIK3C2A
Breast Cancer Signaling	3.5	2.3	.PIK3CA.PIK3R1.STAT5A
Renal Cell Carcinoma			AKT3 ATM EP300 ETS1 EGER1 FOS GAB1 HIF1A IRS1 KRAS PDGEB PIK3C2A PIK3CA PIK3R1 SOS
Signaling	3.4	2.9	1.TGFB1.UBB
NF-KB Activation by			AKT3.ATM.EIF2AK2.ELP1.FGFR1.GAB1.IRS1.ITGA2.ITGA5.ITGB1.ITGB2.KRAS.MAP3K1.NFKBIE.PI
Viruses	3.1	2.7	K3C2A PIK3CA PIK3R1
Adrenomedullin			ADCY7 ADM AKT3 ATM BCL2 BRAF CALML5 CAMK4 FGFR1 FOS GAB1 HIF1A IL1A IL1B IL1RN IL
signaling pathway	3.1	3.2	33 IRS1 ITPR1 ITPR2 KRAS MAP2K6 MAPK6 NPR3 PIK3C2A PIK3CA PIK3R1 PRKAR2A SHF SOS1
Ovarian Cancer			AKT3 APC ARRRI ATM RCI 2 RRAF RRCA2 FGFR FGFRI GARI GIAI IRSI KRAS PIK3C2A PIK3CA
Signaling	2.9	2.7	PIK19,711 C,711KHD1,711W,DCE2,DKH1,DKCA2,DOTK,TOTKT,ODD1,OD71,ND1,KH10,F1K9C27,F1K9C7,
A cute Myeloid			AKT3 ATM RRAF CERPA CSE1R CSE3R EGER1 GAR1 IRS1 KITI G KRAS MAP2K6 PIK3C2A PIK3CA
Leukemia Signaling	2.8	2.2	PIK3R1 SOS1 STAT54
HGE Signaling			AKT3 ATM FLK3 FTS1 FGFR1 FOS GAR1 IRS1 ITG42 ITG45 ITGR1 KR4S MAP3K1 MAP3K12 M4P3
HOI Bighaning	2.7	3.2	K15 DIK2C7A DIK2CA DIK2R1 SOSI
Povillin Signaling			ACTC2 ATM EGEP1 CAP1 IPS1 ITCA2 ITCA5 ITCA7 ITCP1 ITCP2 ITCP8 KPAS DIK2C2A DIK2CA DI
	2.7	2.5	ACTO2,ATM,FOFRT,OADT,IRST,ITOA2,ITOA3,ITOA7,ITODT,ITOD2,ITOD0,RRAS,FIRJC2A,FIRJCA,FT
EDV/MADV Signaling			$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$
LKK/WAPK Signaling	2.6	2.6	$ A I W, D KAF, \bigcup L D J L^4, D \cup SF I, D \cup SF 2, D \cup SF 4, E L K J, E F J U J, E S K I, E I S I, F U F K I, F U S, U S F I, I K S I, I I G A 2, I T C A 5 I T C D I K D K S C A D I K 2 C A D I K 2 C A D I K 2 D I D D M I I D D K A D A D C E E 2 S C S I T I N 3 U D K 3 C A D I K 2 C$
CNTE Signaling	26	2.1	TI UAJ, TI UDI, KKAO, KOKI, EIKJUZA, EIKJUA, EIKJKI, EEMIL, EKKAKZA, KAEUE EJ, SUOI, TLN2, EKKZ
UNIF Signaling	2.0	3.1	$AIW, F \cup F \setminus I, \cup ADI, IL \cup SI, IKSI, JAK 2, KKAS, LIFK, FINSU2A, FINSUA, FINSKI, KFSONA2, SUSI$
1L-2 Signaling	2.0	2.5	TAKI S.ATM.USNKZB.FUFKI.FUS.UABI.IKSI.KKAS.PIK3UZA.PIK3UA.PIK5KI.SUSI.SIAI 3A

Table 4.3. Top regulated pathways with p < 0.01 and absolute value z score >2 in comparison of 1α25(OH)₂D₃ vs Control

Macropinocytosis Signaling	2.5	2.5	<i>ATM,CD14,CSF1R,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITGA5,ITGB1,ITGB2,ITGB8,KRAS,PDGFB,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PI</i> <i>K3R1</i>
CD28 Signaling in T Helper Cells	2.5	2.2	AKT3,ATM,CALML5,CAMK4,FCER1G,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,GRAP2,HLA- DMA,IRS1,ITPR1,ITPR2,MALT1,MAP3K1,NFATC4,NFKBIE,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1
JAK/Stat Signaling	2.4	2.3	AKT3,ATM,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOCS2,SOS1,STAT4,STAT5 A
IL-7 Signaling Pathway	2.4	2.3	<i>AKT3,ATM,BCL2,BCL6,FGFR1,FOXO1,FOXO6,GAB1,IRS1,MCL1,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1,ST</i> <i>AT5A</i>
Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Signaling	2.3	3.1	AKT3,ATM,CDK6,EGFR,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITPR1,ITPR2,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1
FLT3 Signaling in Hematopoietic Progenitor Cells	2.3	2.3	AKT3,ATM,CREB3L4,EP300,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,RPS6KA2,SOS1,STA T4,STAT5A
Mouse Embryonic Stem Cell Pluripotency	2.2	2.7	<i>AKT3,APC,ATM,BMP4,FGFR1,GAB1,ID2,IL6ST,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,LIFR,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SM</i> <i>AD9,SOS1</i>
Melanocyte Development and Pigmentation Signaling	2.2	3.0	ADCY7,ATM,BCL2,CREB3L4,EP300,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,KITLG,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,PRK AR2A,RPS6KA2,SOS1
eNOS Signaling	2.1	2.2	ADCY7,AKT3,AQP3,AQP5,ATM,BDKRB1,CALML5,CAMK4,CAV1,CHRNB4,ESR1,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,I TPR1,ITPR2,LPAR5,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,PRKAA2,PRKAB2,PRKAR2A
Thrombopoietin Signaling	2.1	2.3	ATM,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1,STAT5A
IL-3 Signaling	2.1	2.1	AKT3,ATM,FGFR1,FOS,FOXO1,GAB1,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1,STAT5A
Role of Pattern Recognition Receptors in Recognition of Bacteria and Viruses	2.0	2.7	ATM,CLEC7A,CXCL8,EIF2AK2,FGFR1,GAB1,IL17C,IL1A,IL1B,IRS1,NOD2,OAS1,OAS2,PIK3C2A,PIK 3CA,PIK3R1,TGFB1,TGFB3,TLR4
FGF Signaling	2.0	2.1	<i>AKT3,ATM,CREB3L4,EP300,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITPR1,MAP2K6,MAP3K1,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,S</i> <i>OS1</i>
TREM1 Signaling	1.9	2.3	AKT3,CXCL8,IL1B,ITGA5,ITGB1,JAK2,LAT2,NOD2,SIGIRR,STAT5A,TLR4,TREM1
UVA-Induced MAPK Signaling	1.9	2.3	<i>ATM,EGFR,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IRS1,KRAS,PARP10,PARP4,PARP8,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,RPS6KA 2,SMPD1,SMPD3</i>
PI3K/AKT Signaling	1.9	2.1	<i>AKT3,BCL2,FOXO1,GAB1,GDF15,INPP5J,ITGA2,ITGA5,ITGB1,JAK2,KRAS,MAPK8IP1,MCL1,NFKB1</i> <i>E,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,PPM1L,SOS1</i>
Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor Signaling	1.9	2.3	<i>AIP,ALDH3A1,ATM,ATR,CDK6,EP300,ESR1,FAS,FOS,GSTA2,GSTM4,IL1A,IL1B,NCOA2,NQO1,NRIP1</i> <i>,RBL1,TGFB1,TGFB3</i>

IL-17A Signaling in Airway Cells	1.8	2.5	AKT3,ATM,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,JAK2,MUC5AC,MUC5B,NFKBIE,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1
Melanoma Signaling	1.7	2.5	AKT3,ATM,BRAF,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1
PAK Signaling	1.7	2.7	ARHGAP10,ATM,EPHA3,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITGA2,ITGA5,ITGB1,KRAS,PDGFB,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PI K3R1,SOS1
Renin-Angiotensin Signaling	1.7	3.0	ADCY7,ATM,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IRS1,ITPR1,ITPR2,JAK2,KRAS,MAP3K1,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,P RKAR2A,SHF,SOS1
ERK5 Signaling	1.6	2.5	CREB3L4,EGFR,EP300,FOS,GAB1,GNA13,IL6ST,KRAS,RPS6KA2,SH2D2A,WNK1
Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma Signaling	1.6	2.9	AKT3,ATM,BCL2,BRCA2,E2F7,EGFR,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,JAK2,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,TGFB 1,TGFB3
LXR/RXR Activation	1.6	-2.3	APOC1,APOD,APOE,CD14,CLU,IL1A,IL1B,IL1RAP,IL1RN,IL33,LYZ,MYLIP,NGFR,SERPINF1,SERPIN F2,TLR4
Nitric Oxide Signaling in the Cardiovascular System	1.5	2.3	AKT3,ATM,ATP2A3,CALML5,CAMK4,CAV1,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITPR1,ITPR2,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3 R1,PRKAR2A
Lymphotoxin β Receptor Signaling	1.5	2.3	AKT3,ATM,ELP1,EP300,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1
Endometrial Cancer Signaling	1.4	2.5	AKT3,ATM,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,KRAS,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SOS1
Neuroinflammation Signaling Pathway	1.4	2.2	AKT3,ATM,BCL2,BIRC6,CREB3L4,CSF1R,CX3CL1,CXCL8,EP300,FAS,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,GLUL,IL1B, IRS1,JAK2,MAPK6,NCF2,NFATC4,PIK3C2A,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,PYCARD,S100B,SLC6A11,SNCA,TGFB1, TGFB3,TGFBR3,TLR4,TREM2, HLA-DMA
P2Y Purigenic Receptor Signaling Pathway	1.3	2.7	ADCY7,AKT3,ATM,CREB3L4,EP300,FGFR1,FOS,GAB1,IRS1,KRAS,P2RY1,P2RY2,P2RY6,PIK3C2A,PI K3CA,PIK3R1,PRKAR2A

Ingenuity Canonical Pathways	-log(p- value)	z-score	Molecules
GP6 Signaling Pathway	4.99	2.2	AKT3,ATM,CALML5,CAMK4,COL12A1,COL16A1,COL17A1,COL4A4,COL4A5,COL4A6,COL7A1,COL8A1,COL
			9A3,FCERIG,FGB,FGFRI,FGG,GABI,GRAP2,IRS1,I1PR1,LAMA3,LAMB3,LAMC2,PIK3CA,PIK3RI
LXR/RXR Activation	2.28	-2.183	ABCG1,AHSG,APOC1,APOD,CD14,CLU,IL1A,IL1B,IL1RAP,IL1RL1,IL1RN,IL33,LYZ,MYLIP,NGFR,SERPINF1, SERPINF2,TLR4
Interferon Signaling	2.28	-2.828	BCL2,IFI6,IFITM1,IFITM2,IFITM3,IRF1,ISG15,OAS1
EGF Signaling	2.27	2.309	AKT3,ATM,CSNK2B,EGFR,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,ITPR1,ITPR2,MTOR,PIK3CA,PIK3R1
Ceramide Signaling	2.06	-2.496	AKT3,ATM,BCL2,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,KSR1,MRAS,NGFR,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,S1PR2,SMPD1,SMPD3,SPHK1
NRF2-mediated	1.97	-2.714	ABCC4,ACTG2,ATM,DNAJC13,DNAJC4,DNAJC6,ENC1,EP300,EPHX1,FGFR1,FTL,GAB1,GPX2,GSTA2,GST
Oxidative Stress			M4,IRS1,JUND,MAFF,MAP2K6,MRAS,NQO1,PIK3CA,PIK3R1,SQSTM1,UBB
Response			
AMPK Signaling	1.8	2.236	ADRA1B,ADRA2B,ADRB2,AK8,AKT3,ATM,CAB39,CHRNB4,CREB3L4,EP300,FGFR1,FOXO1,FOXO6,GAB1,IR SI MRAS MTOR PEKP PIK3CA PIK3R1 PRK4A2 PRK4R2 PRK4R2A PRK4R2B RAB9R SMARCD3
IL-17A Signaling in Airway Cells	1.44	2.121	AKT3,ATM,CXCL3,FGFR1,GAB1,IRS1,MUC5AC,MUC5B,NFKBIE,PIK3CA,PIK3R1

 Table 4.4. Top regulated pathways with p < 0.01 and absolute value z score >2 in comparison of BXL0124 vs Control

Conclusions

Breast cancer is a heterogenous disease, characterized by genetic alterations, distinct histopathological and molecular profiles, and intra- and inter- tumoral diversity. It was previously known that accumulation of genetic mutations in normal somatic cells over time gives rise to selective advantage for increased cell proliferation, survival and inhibition of differentiation. The dedifferentiated transformed cells can efficiently form new tumors. The evolving concept of cancer stem cell theory has overridden the precedent model of sequentially acquired mutations and instead has led to a new hypothesis that tumor cells are organized in a cellular hierarchy maintained by a small subset of cells called CSCs. These cells can be identified by cell surface markers and are featured by their ability to self-renew, resistant to chemotherapy and radiation and initiate new tumors upon serial transplantation in xenograft studies.

Our work presented here sheds light on breast cancer stem cells are critical in the pathogenesis of breast cancer and the potential role of vitamin D compounds in inhibiting this subset of cells, specifically targeting the transcription factors and signal transduction pathways implicated in the maintenance and regulation of breast cancer stemness using triple negative breast cancer cells as a model. We identified OCT4, a major pluripotency transcription factor, as a key factor regulating cancer stem cells. As a proof of concept, overexpression of OCT4 in SUM159 cells showed a upregulated CD44 and increased CD44+/CD24- subpopulations compared to control cells. In contrast, studies in head and neck squamous carcinoma and gastric cancer demonstrated that OCT4 is one of the downstream regulators of CD44 maintaining the properties of CSCs. It can be hypothesized that there is a feedback regulatory mechanism between OCT4 and CD44.

In addition, we employed next-generation RNA and DNA sequencing techniques to perform global transcriptomic analysis of differentially expressed genes in MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds. This study has provided us with a genetic signature and TP63-VDR mediated signaling pathway as possible targets for chemoprevention of DCIS progression to IDC. Overall these results leverage our understanding of vitamin D mediated targeting of transcription factor as a potential therapy against breast cancer stem cells and progression.

Future directions

Our studies show that vitamin D inhibitory effects on breast cancer stemness could be mediated through OCT4 transcription factor, a master regulator of pluripotency. Our genetic study in SUM159 cells overexpressing OCT4 has demonstrated OCT4-mediated upregulation of BCSC markers and the CD44⁺/CD24⁻ subpopulation. From the results, we can hypothesize targeting OCT4 can inhibit breast cancer stem cells and tumorigenesis in vitro and in vivo. To study the mechanistic interaction of OCT4 targeting CD44, we will perform ChIP-binding assay to assess OCT4 binding of promoter region of CD44 in OCT4overexpressed cells. Since our preliminary in vivo study has limited number in sample size, we would utilize larger number of animals (10 mice in each group), injecting stable OCT4overexpressing cells and control cells (one million cells/injection) subcutaneously into the flanks of nu/nu mice to assess OCT4-induced tumorigenesis for 3-4 weeks. We will also perform serial tumor transplantation assay to assess self-renewal ability of OCT4overexpressed cells, using 100, 1000, 10000, 100000, 1000000 cell numbers injected subcutaneously into the flanks of nu/nu mice for 11-12 weeks. At the end of the experiment, we will harvest the tumors and perform histopathological analysis, immunohistochemistry, and RNA and protein studies to check the expression of OCT4, CD44 and CSC- and proliferation markers. This study will provide us with a clue of mechanistic aspect of OCT4 as a key transcription factor regulating stemness and tumorigenecity in breast cancer.

In our transcriptomic analysis of MCF10DCIS mammospheres treated with vitamin D compounds, we identified TP63-VDR signaling axis as a potential target of vitamin D-mediated inhibition of CSC population and DCIS progression to IDC. TP63 family is expressed in multiple isoforms which are linked to distinct clinical outcomes in cancer.
Two different isoforms of TP63, TAp63 and Δ Np63 undergoing alternative splicing can generate six variants, each showing different biological activities. The role of TP63 and its isoforms remains controversial in cancer. $\Delta Np63$ promotes stem cell activity in basal-like breast cancer via Wnt and Shh signaling pathways whereas TAp63 induces differentiation. $\Delta Np63$ directly regulates PI3K/CD44v6 pathway and increased level of $\Delta Np63$ is associated with BCSC resistance to chemotherapy [502]. Since our study exhibited TP63 upregulation upon treatment with vitamin D, we will assess differential expression of TP63 isoforms by (1) designing primers for all the variants (α , β , and γ) of both TAp63 and $\Delta Np63$ isoforms and assess the mRNA expressions by qPCR analysis and (2) western blot using antibodies that can detect different isoforms of TP63 to identify target of vitamin D compounds. Based on the isoforms we would identify, we will measure the expression of downstream target genes known to be directly regulated by each isoform (for example Bax, MDM2 and p21 for TAp63 isoforms, and STAT6, ZNRF2 and NOTCH2NL for Δ Np63 isoforms) [503, 504]. To further strengthen the significance of the specific isoform we would identify as the target of vitamin D, we will conduct inducible knock-down experiment to genetically perturb the expression of the TP63 isoform followed by treatment with vitamin D compounds. Based on this finding, we will perform xenograft studies to evaluate the effect on tumorigenicity and evaluate TP63 isoforms, differentiation and CSC markers in tumor samples. These studies will elucidate the mechanistic insights by which vitamin D compounds inhibit breast cancer progression and provide potential targets for chemoprevention.

Appendix 1: Epigenetic signature targeted by vitamin D in MCF10DCIS

A.1.1 Introduction

Epigenetic modulations are involved in every single stage of cancer progression, and emerging evidence regarding their role in hierarchically-organized cancer cells underscores the significance of epigenetic mechanisms in regulating cancer stem cell (CSC) formation, plasticity, and maintenance [226]. Accumulating research findings have demonstrated that miRNAs are implicated in the transition from ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive ductal carcinoma (**Figure A.1**) and dysregulation of microRNAs are identified in early breast cancer [505]. Targeting the differentially expressed miRNAs that control CSC populations in DCIS lesions may serve as potential therapeutic targets for the breast cancer prevention [506].

In particular, miR-200 family members are of interest for their critical roles in maintaining cancer stem cell (CSC) character, self-renewal signaling pathways, epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT), pluripotency, and reprogramming [507]. The expression of miR-200c and miR-200b is downregulated in BCSCs. Upregulation of miR-200c inhibits the formation of colonies *in vitro* and tumorigenesis *in vivo* by targeting BMI1 proto-oncogene, polycomb ring finger (*BMI1*), a regulator of stem cell self-renewal [508]. Meanwhile, expression of the miR200c/141 cluster is significantly increased in epithelial-like ALDH⁺ BCSCs, but downregulated in mesenchymal cells. Depletion of miR200c/141 decreased cell proliferation and invasion *in vitro* and increased tumor lung metastasis and induced EMT *in vivo* [509]. Notably, members of the miR-200 family inhibit Notch signaling by targeting components such as jagged canonical Notch ligand 1 (*JAG1*) and mastermind-like transcriptional coactivators (*MAML2* and *MAML3*), and through potentiating Notch activation by zinc finger E-box binding homeobox 1 (ZEB1). Notch and ZEB1 regulate one another's expression in a counter-feedback loop. In addition, increased expression of JAG1 and ZEB1 and decrease in miR-200 are observed in basal type breast cancer [510].

Other miRNAs are also involved in maintaining breast cancer stemness, including let-7, miR-146, miR-221/222, and miR-27. Let-7 targets HRas proto-oncogene, GTPase (HRAS) and high mobility group AT-hook 2 (HMGA2) to regulate self-renewal and tumorigenicity, and let-7 family miRNAs have reduced expression in mammospheres and BCSCs harvested from patients. Transfecting breast tumor-initiating cells with let-7 inhibited proliferation and mammosphere formation in vitro and tumorigenesis and metastasis in xenografts [511]. Long non-coding RNA H19 targets let-7 to increase expression of lin-28 homolog A (LIN28), a key pluripotency factor and downstream gene of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway; this promotes BCSC properties such as mammosphere forming ability, clonogenicity, and migration. LIN28 in turn blocks let-7 production and depresses let-7 target genes (RAS, MYC, and HMGA2). Together, these three factors form a negative feedback circuit to maintain breast cancer stemness [512]. Similarly, Bodal et al. found that miR-146 functions as a tumor suppressor and is associated with breast cancer susceptibility. It upregulates let-7 by inhibiting LIN28-mediated degradation, leading to the induction of asymmetric division by stem cells and inhibition of BCSC self-renewal [513, 514]. Meanwhile, miR-146a-5p represses tumor progression and mesenchymal markers and upregulates epithelial markers in TNBC cells. The effects are reversed upon overexpression of its downstream target SRY-box transcription factor 5 (SOX5), a transcription factor that induces EMT by transactivating *TWIST1* expression [515].

MicroRNAs are also known to play an oncogenic role in breast cancer by targeting tumor suppressor genes such as phosphatase and tensin homolog (*PTEN*) [516]. The miR-221/222 cluster is one such oncogene. In breast cancer, it inhibits PTEN, leading to phosphorylation of AKT and promotion of cancer growth and progression. Overexpression of miR-221/222 increased BCSC population and mammosphere formation through targeting the PTEN/Akt pathway, while blocking this cluster restored PTEN levels and reversed BCSC phenotypes [517]. In addition, miRNAs are involved in regulating the chemoresistance of breast cancer cells. miR-27b targets ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase 1 (ENPP1), a substrate of the 26S proteasome that is downregulated in CSCs; this has the effect of upregulating the transporter ATP binding cassette subfamily G member 2 (ABCG2), the ABC transporter family being known to contribute to multidrug resistance. Downregulation of ENPP1 is associated with breast cancer chemoresistance to docetaxel and the generation of BCSCs [518]. Since BCSCs exist widely within breast cancer, therapeutic targeting of those microRNAs that regulate BCSCs will effectively deter self-renewal, tumor progression, metastasis, and drug resistance. The purpose of our study here is to examine the regulation by vitamin D compounds of microRNA candidates identified in early pre-invasive breast cancer (using MCF10DCIS cells).

A.1.2 Materials and Methods

A.1.2.1 Cell culture and reagents

 $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and a Gemini vitamin D analog (BXL0124; $1\alpha, 25$ -dihydroxy-20R-21(3hydroxy-3-deuteromethyl-4,4,4-trideuterobutyl)-23-yne-26,27-hexafluoro-cholecalciferol, >95% purity) were provided by BioXell, Inc. (Nutley, NJ) [287]. Vitamin D compounds were dissolved in DMSO. MCF10DCIS.com human breast cancer cells (MCF10DCIS, RRID: CVCL_5552) were provided by Dr. Fred Miller at the Barbara Ann Karmanos Cancer Institute (Detroit, MI). Cells were maintained in DMEM/F12 medium supplemented with 5% horse serum, 1% penicillin/streptomycin, and 1% HEPES solution at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. The cells were passaged every 3-4 days between passage number p30 and p50. The cells were passaged every 3-4 days between passage number p30 and p50.

A.1.2.2 miRNA assays and quantitation by quantitative polymerase chain reaction analysis

RNA from MCF10DCIS monolayer cells treated with DMSO, $1\alpha 25(OH)_2D_3$ and BXL0124 were collected after 48 hours using miRNasy mini kit (Qiagen, CA). Real time PCR analysis was performed using the ViiATM 7 Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, CA) using 3µl of RT products in a reaction containing TaqMan miRNA assay and TaqMan Universal PCR Master Mix, following the manufacturer's instructions (Applied biosystems, CA). TaqMan assays used are hsa-miR-200a-3p (478490_mir), hsamiR-200b-3p (477963_mir), hsa-miR-200c-3p (478351_mir), hsa-let-7a-5p (478575_mir) and hsa-miR-146a-5p (478399_mir). Relative quantities of each miRNA were calculated using $\Delta\Delta$ CT Method using U6 (001973) as endogenous reference. Three independent experiments were repeated.

A.1.2.3 Statistical analysis

Statistical significance was evaluated using the Student's t-test.

A.1.3.1 Selected miRNAs were not regulated by vitamin D compounds in MCF10DCIS cells

To investigate the effect of vitamin D compounds on microRNAs implicated in BCSC self-renewal, maintenance and breast cancer progression, we analyzed a few selected miRNA candidates in MCF10DCIS cells in monolayer culture treated with vitamin D compounds for 48 hours (**Figure A2**). miR-200a was increased by 1.4-fold with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p>0.05) and 1.8-fold with BXL0124 (p>0.05). Levels of miR-200b was increased by 1.3-fold with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p>0.05) and decreased by 90% with BXL0124 (p>0.05). miR-200c was decreased by 80% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p>0.05) and increased by 1.1-fold with BXL0124 (p>0.05). The levels of let-7 miRNA was decreased by 98% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p>0.05) and 91% by BXL0124 (p>0.05). miR-146 expression was decreased by 78% with 1α ,25(OH)₂D₃ (p>0.05) and increased by 1.3-fold with BXL0124 (p>0.05).

A.1.4 Discussion

MicroRNAs contribute to the post-transcriptional regulation of genes involved in many biological functions. In general, microRNAs suppress gene expression by inducing mRNA decay or translational repression [519]. Aberrant expression of miRNAs has been implicated in diverse cellular pathways integral to breast cancer development, progression, metastasis, relapse, chemoresistance, and BCSC characteristics. In our experiment, we selected a few microRNA candidates that have been reported as involved in BCSC selfrenewal and breast cancer progression from early stage to invasive breast cancer (**Figure** **A1)**. Treatment of MCF10DCIS cells in monolayer culture with vitamin D compounds for 48 hours resulted in some alterations in the expression of the miRNA candidates we studied; however, these changes were neither dramatic nor statistically significant. It is possible that stemness-related miRNAs were not effectively targeted in monolayer culture by vitamin D. It is plausible to in the future perform the experiment in mammosphere culture, which enriches stemness in breast cancer cells.



Figure A.1. MicroRNA signature in breast cancer progression

Profile of potential microRNAs deregulated in the progression of DCIS to IDC is shown. Targeting key miRNA candidates in the invasive transition will effectively prevent breast cancer progression. Diagram is modified from Stefano Volinia et al. PNAS 2012; 109(8):3024-3029



Figure A.2. Effects of vitamin D compounds on microRNAs in MCF10DCIS

MCF10DCIS cells in monolayer were treated with 1 α ,25(OH)2D3 (1,25D3, 100 nM) and BXL0124 (10 nM) for 4 days. Cells were harvested for qPCR analysis. Average Ct values and *p* values are shown in parenthesis for miR-200a (26, *p*>0.05), miR-200b (25, *p*>0.05), miR-200c (23, *p*>0.05), let 7 (23, *p*>0.05) and miR-146 (25, *p*>0.05). Experiments were repeated three times.

References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2020. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2020;70(1):7-30. Epub 2020/01/09. doi: 10.3322/caac.21590. PubMed PMID: 31912902.

2. Momenimovahed Z, Salehiniya H. Epidemiological characteristics of and risk factors for breast cancer in the world. Breast cancer (Dove Medical Press). 2019;11:151-64. Epub 2019/05/02. doi: 10.2147/bctt.S176070. PubMed PMID: 31040712; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6462164.

3. Tong CWS, Wu M, Cho WCS, To KKW. Recent Advances in the Treatment of Breast Cancer. Frontiers in oncology. 2018;8:227. Epub 2018/07/03. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00227. PubMed PMID: 29963498; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6010518.

4. Turashvili G, Brogi E. Tumor Heterogeneity in Breast Cancer. Front Med (Lausanne). 2017;4:227. Epub 2017/12/26. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2017.00227. PubMed PMID: 29276709; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5727049.

5. Dunnwald LK, Rossing MA, Li CI. Hormone receptor status, tumor characteristics, and prognosis: a prospective cohort of breast cancer patients. Breast Cancer Res. 2007;9(1):R6. Epub 2007/01/24. doi: 10.1186/bcr1639. PubMed PMID: 17239243; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1851385.

6. Li Y, Yang D, Yin X, Zhang X, Huang J, Wu Y, et al. Clinicopathological Characteristics and Breast Cancer-Specific Survival of Patients With Single Hormone Receptor-Positive Breast Cancer. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;3(1):e1918160. Epub 2020/01/04. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.18160. PubMed PMID: 31899528; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6991239.

7. Ross JS, Slodkowska EA, Symmans WF, Pusztai L, Ravdin PM, Hortobagyi GN. The HER-2 receptor and breast cancer: ten years of targeted anti-HER-2 therapy and personalized medicine. Oncologist. 2009;14(4):320-68. Epub 2009/04/07. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2008-0230. PubMed PMID: 19346299.

8. Oh DY, Bang YJ. HER2-targeted therapies - a role beyond breast cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2020;17(1):33-48. Epub 2019/09/25. doi: 10.1038/s41571-019-0268-3. PubMed PMID: 31548601.

9. Yao H, He G, Yan S, Chen C, Song L, Rosol TJ, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer: is there a treatment on the horizon? Oncotarget. 2017;8(1):1913-24. Epub 2016/10/22. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.12284. PubMed PMID: 27765921; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5352107.

10. Lee E, Moon A. Identification of Biomarkers for Breast Cancer Using Databases. J Cancer Prev. 2016;21(4):235-42. Epub 2017/01/06. doi: 10.15430/jcp.2016.21.4.235. PubMed PMID: 28053957; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5207607.

11. Cejalvo JM, Martínez de Dueñas E, Galván P, García-Recio S, Burgués Gasión O, Paré L, et al. Intrinsic Subtypes and Gene Expression Profiles in Primary and Metastatic Breast Cancer. Cancer Res. 2017;77(9):2213-21. Epub 2017/03/03. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-16-2717. PubMed PMID: 28249905; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5822682.

12. Yersal O, Barutca S. Biological subtypes of breast cancer: Prognostic and therapeutic implications. World J Clin Oncol. 2014;5(3):412-24. Epub 2014/08/13. doi: 10.5306/wjco.v5.i3.412. PubMed PMID: 25114856; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4127612.

13. Poudel P, Nyamundanda G, Patil Y, Cheang MCU, Sadanandam A. Heterocellular gene signatures reveal luminal-A breast cancer heterogeneity and differential therapeutic responses. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2019;5:21. Epub 2019/08/10. doi: 10.1038/s41523-019-0116-8. PubMed PMID: 31396557; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6677833.

14. Fragomeni SM, Sciallis A, Jeruss JS. Molecular Subtypes and Local-Regional Control of Breast Cancer. Surg Oncol Clin N Am. 2018;27(1):95-120. Epub 2017/11/15. doi: 10.1016/j.soc.2017.08.005. PubMed PMID: 29132568; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5715810.

15. Prat A, Pascual T, Adamo B. Intrinsic molecular subtypes of HER2+ breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(43):73362-3. Epub 2017/11/02. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.20629. PubMed PMID: 29088709; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5650264.

 Kreike B, van Kouwenhove M, Horlings H, Weigelt B, Peterse H, Bartelink H, et al. Gene expression profiling and histopathological characterization of triplenegative/basal-like breast carcinomas. Breast Cancer Res. 2007;9(5):R65. Epub 2007/10/04. doi: 10.1186/bcr1771. PubMed PMID: 17910759; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2242660.

17. Yin L, Duan JJ, Bian XW, Yu SC. Triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtyping and treatment progress. Breast Cancer Res. 2020;22(1):61. Epub 2020/06/11. doi: 10.1186/s13058-020-01296-5. PubMed PMID: 32517735; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7285581.

18. Dai X, Li T, Bai Z, Yang Y, Liu X, Zhan J, et al. Breast cancer intrinsic subtype classification, clinical use and future trends. Am J Cancer Res. 2015;5(10):2929-43. Epub 2015/12/23. PubMed PMID: 26693050; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4656721.

19. Januškevičienė I, Petrikaitė V. Heterogeneity of breast cancer: The importance of interaction between different tumor cell populations. Life Sci. 2019;239:117009. Epub 2019/11/02. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2019.117009. PubMed PMID: 31669239.

20. Ellsworth RE, Blackburn HL, Shriver CD, Soon-Shiong P, Ellsworth DL. Molecular heterogeneity in breast cancer: State of the science and implications for patient care. Semin Cell Dev Biol. 2017;64:65-72. Epub 2016/08/30. doi:

10.1016/j.semcdb.2016.08.025. PubMed PMID: 27569190.

21. Karaayvaz M, Cristea S, Gillespie SM, Patel AP, Mylvaganam R, Luo CC, et al. Unravelling subclonal heterogeneity and aggressive disease states in TNBC through single-cell RNA-seq. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):3588. Epub 2018/09/06. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06052-0. PubMed PMID: 30181541; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6123496.

22. Byler S, Goldgar S, Heerboth S, Leary M, Housman G, Moulton K, et al. Genetic and epigenetic aspects of breast cancer progression and therapy. Anticancer Res. 2014;34(3):1071-7. Epub 2014/03/07. PubMed PMID: 24596345.

23. Comprehensive molecular portraits of human breast tumours. Nature.

2012;490(7418):61-70. Epub 2012/09/25. doi: 10.1038/nature11412. PubMed PMID: 23000897; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3465532.

24. Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med. 2017;23(10):1124-34. Epub 2017/10/07. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409. PubMed PMID: 28985214.

25. Shackleton M, Quintana E, Fearon ER, Morrison SJ. Heterogeneity in cancer: cancer stem cells versus clonal evolution. Cell. 2009;138(5):822-9. Epub 2009/09/10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.08.017. PubMed PMID: 19737509.

26. Prasetyanti PR, Medema JP. Intra-tumor heterogeneity from a cancer stem cell perspective. Mol Cancer. 2017;16(1):41. Epub 2017/02/18. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0600-4. PubMed PMID: 28209166; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5314464.

27. Bonnet D, Dick JE. Human acute myeloid leukemia is organized as a hierarchy that originates from a primitive hematopoietic cell. Nat Med. 1997;3(7):730-7. Epub 1997/07/01. doi: 10.1038/nm0797-730. PubMed PMID: 9212098.

28. Sun HR, Wang S, Yan SC, Zhang Y, Nelson PJ, Jia HL, et al. Therapeutic Strategies Targeting Cancer Stem Cells and Their Microenvironment. Front Oncol. 2019;9:1104. Epub 2019/11/12. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.01104. PubMed PMID: 31709180; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6821685.

29. Shiozawa Y, Nie B, Pienta KJ, Morgan TM, Taichman RS. Cancer stem cells and their role in metastasis. Pharmacol Ther. 2013;138(2):285-93. Epub 2013/02/07. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.01.014. PubMed PMID: 23384596; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3602306.

30. Yoo YD, Kwon YT. Molecular mechanisms controlling asymmetric and symmetric self-renewal of cancer stem cells. J Anal Sci Technol. 2015;6(1):28. Epub 2015/10/27. doi: 10.1186/s40543-015-0071-4. PubMed PMID: 26495157; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4607713.

Huilgol D, Venkataramani P, Nandi S, Bhattacharjee S. Transcription Factors That Govern Development and Disease: An Achilles Heel in Cancer. Genes (Basel).
2019;10(10). Epub 2019/10/17. doi: 10.3390/genes10100794. PubMed PMID: 31614829; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6826716.

32. Hepburn AC, Steele RE, Veeratterapillay R, Wilson L, Kounatidou EE, Barnard A, et al. The induction of core pluripotency master regulators in cancers defines poor clinical outcomes and treatment resistance. Oncogene. 2019;38(22):4412-24. Epub 2019/02/12. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0712-y. PubMed PMID: 30742096; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6546609.

33. Aponte PM, Caicedo A. Stemness in Cancer: Stem Cells, Cancer Stem Cells, and Their Microenvironment. Stem Cells Int. 2017;2017:5619472. Epub 2017/05/06. doi: 10.1155/2017/5619472. PubMed PMID: 28473858; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5394399.

34. Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell.
2014;14(3):275-91. Epub 2014/03/13. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2014.02.006. PubMed PMID: 24607403.

35. Friedmann-Morvinski D, Verma IM. Dedifferentiation and reprogramming: origins of cancer stem cells. EMBO Rep. 2014;15(3):244-53. Epub 2014/02/18. doi:

10.1002/embr.201338254. PubMed PMID: 24531722; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3989690.

36. Chen W, Dong J, Haiech J, Kilhoffer MC, Zeniou M. Cancer Stem Cell Quiescence and Plasticity as Major Challenges in Cancer Therapy. Stem Cells Int.

2016;2016:1740936. Epub 2016/07/16. doi: 10.1155/2016/1740936. PubMed PMID: 27418931; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4932171.

Zhang D, Tang DG, Rycaj K. Cancer stem cells: Regulation programs,
immunological properties and immunotherapy. Semin Cancer Biol. 2018;52(Pt 2):94106. Epub 2018/05/13. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.05.001. PubMed PMID:
29752993.

38. Morata-Tarifa C, Jiménez G, García MA, Entrena JM, Griñán-Lisón C, Aguilera M, et al. Low adherent cancer cell subpopulations are enriched in tumorigenic and metastatic epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-induced cancer stem-like cells. Sci Rep. 2016;6:18772. Epub 2016/01/12. doi: 10.1038/srep18772. PubMed PMID: 26752044; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4707518.

39. Yang L, Shi P, Zhao G, Xu J, Peng W, Zhang J, et al. Targeting cancer stem cell pathways for cancer therapy. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2020;5:8. Epub 2020/02/13. doi: 10.1038/s41392-020-0110-5. PubMed PMID: 32047658; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7005297.

40. Crabtree JS, Miele L. Breast Cancer Stem Cells. Biomedicines. 2018;6(3). Epub 2018/07/19. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines6030077. PubMed PMID: 30018256; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6163894.

41. Pham PV, Phan NL, Nguyen NT, Truong NH, Duong TT, Le DV, et al. Differentiation of breast cancer stem cells by knockdown of CD44: promising differentiation therapy. J Transl Med. 2011;9:209. Epub 2011/12/14. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-9-209. PubMed PMID: 22152097; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3251542.

42. Yan Y, Zuo X, Wei D. Concise Review: Emerging Role of CD44 in Cancer Stem Cells: A Promising Biomarker and Therapeutic Target. Stem Cells Transl Med. 2015;4(9):1033-43. Epub 2015/07/03. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0048. PubMed PMID: 26136504; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4542874.

43. Ortiz-Montero P, Liu-Bordes WY, Londoño-Vallejo A, Vernot JP. CD24 expression and stem-associated features define tumor cell heterogeneity and tumorigenic capacities in a model of carcinogenesis. Cancer Manag Res. 2018;10:5767-84. Epub 2018/12/05. doi: 10.2147/cmar.S176654. PubMed PMID: 30510447; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6248383.

44. Zhou L, Sheng D, Wang D, Ma W, Deng Q, Deng L, et al. Identification of cancertype specific expression patterns for active aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) isoforms in ALDEFLUOR assay. Cell Biol Toxicol. 2019;35(2):161-77. Epub 2018/09/17. doi: 10.1007/s10565-018-9444-y. PubMed PMID: 30220009; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6424948.

45. Li W, Ma H, Zhang J, Zhu L, Wang C, Yang Y. Unraveling the roles of CD44/CD24 and ALDH1 as cancer stem cell markers in tumorigenesis and metastasis. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):13856. Epub 2017/10/25. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-14364-2. PubMed PMID: 29062075; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5653849. 46. Al-Hajj M, Wicha MS, Benito-Hernandez A, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF. Prospective identification of tumorigenic breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.

2003;100(7):3983-8. Epub 2003/03/12. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0530291100. PubMed PMID: 12629218; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC153034.

47. Xu H, Tian Y, Yuan X, Wu H, Liu Q, Pestell RG, et al. The role of CD44 in epithelialmesenchymal transition and cancer development. Onco Targets Ther. 2015;8:3783-92. Epub 2016/01/01. doi: 10.2147/ott.S95470. PubMed PMID: 26719706; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4689260.

48. Nami B, Ghasemi-Dizgah A, Vaseghi A. Overexpression of molecular chaperons GRP78 and GRP94 in CD44(hi)/CD24(lo) breast cancer stem cells. Bioimpacts. 2016;6(2):105-10. Epub 2016/08/16. doi: 10.15171/bi.2016.16. PubMed PMID: 27525228; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4981248.

49. Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting Notch, Hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 2015;12(8):445-64. Epub 2015/04/09. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.61. PubMed PMID: 25850553; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4520755.

50. Wright MH, Calcagno AM, Salcido CD, Carlson MD, Ambudkar SV, Varticovski L. Brca1 breast tumors contain distinct CD44+/CD24- and CD133+ cells with cancer stem cell characteristics. Breast Cancer Res. 2008;10(1):R10. Epub 2008/02/05. doi: 10.1186/bcr1855. PubMed PMID: 18241344; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2374965.

51. Chekhun VF, Lukianova NY, Chekhun SV, Bezdieniezhnykh NO, Zadvorniy TV, Borikun TV, et al. Association of CD44(+)CD24(-/low) with markers of aggressiveness and plasticity of cell lines and tumors of patients with breast cancer. Exp Oncol. 2017;39(3):203-11. Epub 2017/10/03. PubMed PMID: 28967645.

52. Choi J, Yoon YN, Kim N, Park CS, Seol H, Park IC, et al. Predicting Radiation Resistance in Breast Cancer with Expression Status of Phosphorylated S6K1. Sci Rep. 2020;10(1):641. Epub 2020/01/22. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-57496-8. PubMed PMID: 31959810; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6971275.

53. Yang ZX, Sun YH, He JG, Cao H, Jiang GQ. Increased activity of CHK enhances the radioresistance of MCF-7 breast cancer stem cells. Oncol Lett. 2015;10(6):3443-9. Epub 2016/01/21. doi: 10.3892/ol.2015.3777. PubMed PMID: 26788148; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4665200.

54. Ginestier C, Hur MH, Charafe-Jauffret E, Monville F, Dutcher J, Brown M, et al. ALDH1 is a marker of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells and a predictor of poor clinical outcome. Cell Stem Cell. 2007;1(5):555-67. Epub 2008/03/29. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2007.08.014. PubMed PMID: 18371393; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2423808.

55. Croker AK, Allan AL. Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity reduces chemotherapy and radiation resistance of stem-like ALDHhiCD44⁺ human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;133(1):75-87. Epub 2011/08/06. doi: 10.1007/s10549-011-1692-y. PubMed PMID: 21818590.

56. Ciccone V, Terzuoli E, Donnini S, Giachetti A, Morbidelli L, Ziche M. Stemness marker ALDH1A1 promotes tumor angiogenesis via retinoic acid/HIF-1α/VEGF signalling in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2018;37(1):311. Epub 2018/12/14. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0975-0. PubMed PMID: 30541574; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6291966.

57. Jang GB, Kim JY, Cho SD, Park KS, Jung JY, Lee HY, et al. Blockade of Wnt/βcatenin signaling suppresses breast cancer metastasis by inhibiting CSC-like phenotype. Sci Rep. 2015;5:12465. Epub 2015/07/24. doi: 10.1038/srep12465. PubMed PMID: 26202299; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5378883.

58. Knudsen ES, Dervishaj O, Kleer CG, Pajak T, Schwartz GF, Witkiewicz AK. EZH2 and ALDH1 expression in ductal carcinoma in situ: complex association with recurrence and progression to invasive breast cancer. Cell Cycle. 2013;12(13):2042-50. Epub 2013/06/14. doi: 10.4161/cc.25065. PubMed PMID: 23759596; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3737307.

59. Chekhun SV, Zadvorny TV, Tymovska YO, Anikusko MF, Novak OE, Polishchuk LZ. CD44+/CD24- markers of cancer stem cells in patients with breast cancer of different molecular subtypes. Exp Oncol. 2015;37(1):58-63. Epub 2015/03/26. PubMed PMID: 25804234.

60. Liu S, Cong Y, Wang D, Sun Y, Deng L, Liu Y, et al. Breast cancer stem cells transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states reflective of their normal counterparts. Stem Cell Reports. 2014;2(1):78-91. Epub 2014/02/11. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.11.009. PubMed PMID: 24511467; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3916760.

61. Lombardo Y, de Giorgio A, Coombes CR, Stebbing J, Castellano L. Mammosphere formation assay from human breast cancer tissues and cell lines. J Vis Exp. 2015;(97). Epub 2015/04/14. doi: 10.3791/52671. PubMed PMID: 25867607; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4401367.

62. Bai X, Ni J, Beretov J, Graham P, Li Y. Cancer stem cell in breast cancer therapeutic resistance. Cancer Treat Rev. 2018;69:152-63. Epub 2018/07/22. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2018.07.004. PubMed PMID: 30029203.

63. Bray SJ. Notch signalling in context. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2016;17(11):722-35. Epub 2016/10/21. doi: 10.1038/nrm.2016.94. PubMed PMID: 27507209.

64. Ayaz F, Osborne BA. Non-canonical notch signaling in cancer and immunity. Front Oncol. 2014;4:345. Epub 2014/12/30. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00345. PubMed PMID: 25538890; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4255497.

65. Acar A, Simões BM, Clarke RB, Brennan K. A Role for Notch Signalling in Breast Cancer and Endocrine Resistance. Stem Cells Int. 2016;2016:2498764. Epub 2016/02/18. doi: 10.1155/2016/2498764. PubMed PMID: 26880941; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4736972.

66. D'Souza B, Miyamoto A, Weinmaster G. The many facets of Notch ligands. Oncogene. 2008;27(38):5148-67. Epub 2008/09/02. doi: 10.1038/onc.2008.229. PubMed PMID: 18758484; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2791526.

67. Raafat A, Lawson S, Bargo S, Klauzinska M, Strizzi L, Goldhar AS, et al. Rbpj conditional knockout reveals distinct functions of Notch4/Int3 in mammary gland development and tumorigenesis. Oncogene. 2009;28(2):219-30. Epub 2008/10/07. doi:

10.1038/onc.2008.379. PubMed PMID: 18836481; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2794555.

68. Jin S, Mutvei AP, Chivukula IV, Andersson ER, Ramsköld D, Sandberg R, et al. Non-canonical Notch signaling activates IL-6/JAK/STAT signaling in breast tumor cells and is controlled by p53 and IKKα/IKKβ. Oncogene. 2013;32(41):4892-902. Epub 2012/11/28. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.517. PubMed PMID: 23178494; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3795477.

69. Uyttendaele H, Soriano JV, Montesano R, Kitajewski J. Notch4 and Wnt-1 proteins function to regulate branching morphogenesis of mammary epithelial cells in an opposing fashion. Dev Biol. 1998;196(2):204-17. Epub 1998/05/13. doi: 10.1006/dbio.1998.8863. PubMed PMID: 9576833.

70. Hu C, Diévart A, Lupien M, Calvo E, Tremblay G, Jolicoeur P. Overexpression of activated murine Notch1 and Notch3 in transgenic mice blocks mammary gland development and induces mammary tumors. Am J Pathol. 2006;168(3):973-90. Epub 2006/03/02. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2006.050416. PubMed PMID: 16507912; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1606519.

71. Weijzen S, Rizzo P, Braid M, Vaishnav R, Jonkheer SM, Zlobin A, et al. Activation of Notch-1 signaling maintains the neoplastic phenotype in human Ras-transformed cells. Nat Med. 2002;8(9):979-86. Epub 2002/08/20. doi: 10.1038/nm754. PubMed PMID: 12185362.

72. Sales-Dias J, Silva G, Lamy M, Ferreira A, Barbas A. The Notch ligand DLL1 exerts carcinogenic features in human breast cancer cells. PLoS One. 2019;14(5):e0217002. Epub 2019/05/21. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217002. PubMed PMID: 31107884; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6527237 There are no patents, products in development or marketed products to declare. This does not alter the authors' adherence to all the PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

73. Zhao D, Mo Y, Li MT, Zou SW, Cheng ZL, Sun YP, et al. NOTCH-induced aldehyde dehydrogenase 1A1 deacetylation promotes breast cancer stem cells. J Clin Invest. 2014;124(12):5453-65. Epub 2014/11/11. doi: 10.1172/jci76611. PubMed PMID: 25384215; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4348941.

74. Zhang X, Zhao X, Shao S, Zuo X, Ning Q, Luo M, et al. Notch1 induces epithelialmesenchymal transition and the cancer stem cell phenotype in breast cancer cells and STAT3 plays a key role. Int J Oncol. 2015;46(3):1141-8. Epub 2014/12/30. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2809. PubMed PMID: 25544568.

75. Grudzien P, Lo S, Albain KS, Robinson P, Rajan P, Strack PR, et al. Inhibition of Notch signaling reduces the stem-like population of breast cancer cells and prevents mammosphere formation. Anticancer Res. 2010;30(10):3853-67. Epub 2010/11/03. PubMed PMID: 21036696.

Harrison H, Farnie G, Howell SJ, Rock RE, Stylianou S, Brennan KR, et al.
Regulation of breast cancer stem cell activity by signaling through the Notch4 receptor.
Cancer Res. 2010;70(2):709-18. Epub 2010/01/14. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-091681. PubMed PMID: 20068161; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3442245.

77. Chen JH, Kuo KT, Bamodu OA, Lin YC, Yang RB, Yeh CT, et al. Upregulated SCUBE2 expression in breast cancer stem cells enhances triple negative breast cancer aggression

through modulation of notch signaling and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Exp Cell Res. 2018;370(2):444-53. Epub 2018/07/08. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.07.008. PubMed PMID: 29981340.

78. Xing F, Okuda H, Watabe M, Kobayashi A, Pai SK, Liu W, et al. Hypoxia-induced Jagged2 promotes breast cancer metastasis and self-renewal of cancer stem-like cells. Oncogene. 2011;30(39):4075-86. Epub 2011/04/19. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.122. PubMed PMID: 21499308; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3145824.

79. Huang W, Martin EE, Burman B, Gonzalez ME, Kleer CG. The matricellular protein CCN6 (WISP3) decreases Notch1 and suppresses breast cancer initiating cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(18):25180-93. Epub 2016/03/05. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7734. PubMed PMID: 26933820; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5041896.

80. McGowan PM, Simedrea C, Ribot EJ, Foster PJ, Palmieri D, Steeg PS, et al. Notch1 inhibition alters the CD44hi/CD24lo population and reduces the formation of brain metastases from breast cancer. Mol Cancer Res. 2011;9(7):834-44. Epub 2011/06/15. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-10-0457. PubMed PMID: 21665937; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3140630.

81. Wang JW, Wei XL, Dou XW, Huang WH, Du CW, Zhang GJ. The association between Notch4 expression, and clinicopathological characteristics and clinical outcomes in patients with breast cancer. Oncol Lett. 2018;15(6):8749-55. Epub 2018/05/29. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.8442. PubMed PMID: 29805613; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5958688.

82. Zhou L, Wang D, Sheng D, Xu J, Chen W, Qin Y, et al. NOTCH4 maintains quiescent mesenchymal-like breast cancer stem cells via transcriptionally activating SLUG and GAS1 in triple-negative breast cancer. Theranostics. 2020;10(5):2405-21. Epub 2020/02/28. doi: 10.7150/thno.38875. PubMed PMID: 32104513; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7019177.

83. Pascual J, Turner NC. Targeting the PI3-kinase pathway in triple-negative breast cancer. Ann Oncol. 2019;30(7):1051-60. Epub 2019/05/06. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz133. PubMed PMID: 31050709.

84. Bhola NE, Jansen VM, Koch JP, Li H, Formisano L, Williams JA, et al. Treatment of Triple-Negative Breast Cancer with TORC1/2 Inhibitors Sustains a Drug-Resistant and Notch-Dependent Cancer Stem Cell Population. Cancer Res. 2016;76(2):440-52. Epub 2015/12/18. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-1640-t. PubMed PMID: 26676751; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4715956.

85. Simões BM, O'Brien CS, Eyre R, Silva A, Yu L, Sarmiento-Castro A, et al. Antiestrogen Resistance in Human Breast Tumors Is Driven by JAG1-NOTCH4-Dependent Cancer Stem Cell Activity. Cell Rep. 2015;12(12):1968-77. Epub 2015/09/22. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.08.050. PubMed PMID: 26387946; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4594158.

86. Wang J, Sinha T, Wynshaw-Boris A. Wnt signaling in mammalian development: lessons from mouse genetics. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2012;4(5). Epub 2012/05/03. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007963. PubMed PMID: 22550229; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3331704. 87. Eubelen M, Bostaille N, Cabochette P, Gauquier A, Tebabi P, Dumitru AC, et al. A molecular mechanism for Wnt ligand-specific signaling. Science. 2018;361(6403). Epub 2018/07/22. doi: 10.1126/science.aat1178. PubMed PMID: 30026314.

88. MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. Dev Cell. 2009;17(1):9-26. Epub 2009/07/22. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016. PubMed PMID: 19619488; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2861485.

89. Patel S, Alam A, Pant R, Chattopadhyay S. Wnt Signaling and Its Significance Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Novel Therapeutic Insights. Front Immunol. 2019;10:2872. Epub 2020/01/11. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02872. PubMed PMID: 31921137; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6927425.

90. Koval A, Katanaev VL. Dramatic dysbalancing of the Wnt pathway in breast cancers. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):7329. Epub 2018/05/11. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-25672-6. PubMed PMID: 29743726; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5943245.

91. Monteiro J, Gaspar C, Richer W, Franken PF, Sacchetti A, Joosten R, et al. Cancer stemness in Wnt-driven mammary tumorigenesis. Carcinogenesis. 2014;35(1):2-13. Epub 2013/08/21. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt279. PubMed PMID: 23955540.

92. López-Knowles E, Zardawi SJ, McNeil CM, Millar EK, Crea P, Musgrove EA, et al. Cytoplasmic localization of beta-catenin is a marker of poor outcome in breast cancer patients. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev. 2010;19(1):301-9. Epub 2010/01/09. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-09-0741. PubMed PMID: 20056651.

93. Zhao X, Jiang C, Xu R, Liu Q, Liu G, Zhang Y. TRIP6 enhances stemness property of breast cancer cells through activation of Wnt/β-catenin. Cancer Cell Int. 2020;20:51. Epub 2020/02/23. doi: 10.1186/s12935-020-1136-z. PubMed PMID: 32082081; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7023708.

94. Xu J, Prosperi JR, Choudhury N, Olopade OI, Goss KH. β-Catenin is required for the tumorigenic behavior of triple-negative breast cancer cells. PLoS One. 2015;10(2):e0117097. Epub 2015/02/07. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0117097. PubMed PMID: 25658419; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4319896.

95. Castagnoli L, Cancila V, Cordoba-Romero SL, Faraci S, Talarico G, Belmonte B, et al. WNT signaling modulates PD-L1 expression in the stem cell compartment of triplenegative breast cancer. Oncogene. 2019;38(21):4047-60. Epub 2019/02/02. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0700-2. PubMed PMID: 30705400; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6755989.

96. Tang T, Guo C, Xia T, Zhang R, Zen K, Pan Y, et al. LncCCAT1 Promotes Breast Cancer Stem Cell Function through Activating WNT/β-catenin Signaling. Theranostics. 2019;9(24):7384-402. Epub 2019/11/07. doi: 10.7150/thno.37892. PubMed PMID: 31695775; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6831302.

97. Briscoe J, Thérond PP. The mechanisms of Hedgehog signalling and its roles in development and disease. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. 2013;14(7):416-29. Epub 2013/05/31. doi: 10.1038/nrm3598. PubMed PMID: 23719536.

98. Sari IN, Phi LTH, Jun N, Wijaya YT, Lee S, Kwon HY. Hedgehog Signaling in Cancer: A Prospective Therapeutic Target for Eradicating Cancer Stem Cells. Cells. 2018;7(11). Epub 2018/11/15. doi: 10.3390/cells7110208. PubMed PMID: 30423843; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6262325.

99. Cochrane CR, Szczepny A, Watkins DN, Cain JE. Hedgehog Signaling in the Maintenance of Cancer Stem Cells. Cancers. 2015;7(3):1554-85. doi:

10.3390/cancers7030851. PubMed PMID: 26270676; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4586784.

100. Riaz SK, Khan JS, Shah STA, Wang F, Ye L, Jiang WG, et al. Involvement of hedgehog pathway in early onset, aggressive molecular subtypes and metastatic potential of breast cancer. Cell Commun Signal. 2018;16(1):3. Epub 2018/01/14. doi: 10.1186/s12964-017-0213-y. PubMed PMID: 29329585; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5795292.

101. Fiaschi M, Rozell B, Bergström A, Toftgård R. Development of mammary tumors by conditional expression of GLI1. Cancer Res. 2009;69(11):4810-7. Epub 2009/05/22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-08-3938. PubMed PMID: 19458072; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2689922.

102. Harris LG, Pannell LK, Singh S, Samant RS, Shevde LA. Increased vascularity and spontaneous metastasis of breast cancer by hedgehog signaling mediated upregulation of cyr61. Oncogene. 2012;31(28):3370-80. Epub 2011/11/08. doi:

10.1038/onc.2011.496. PubMed PMID: 22056874; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3276742.

103. Liu S, Dontu G, Mantle ID, Patel S, Ahn NS, Jackson KW, et al. Hedgehog signaling and Bmi-1 regulate self-renewal of normal and malignant human mammary stem cells. Cancer Res. 2006;66(12):6063-71. Epub 2006/06/17. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-06-0054. PubMed PMID: 16778178; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4386278.

104. He M, Fu Y, Yan Y, Xiao Q, Wu H, Yao W, et al. The Hedgehog signalling pathway mediates drug response of MCF-7 mammosphere cells in breast cancer patients. Clinical science (London, England : 1979). 2015;129(9):809-22. Epub 2015/07/23. doi: 10.1042/cs20140592. PubMed PMID: 26201092.

105. Han B, Qu Y, Jin Y, Yu Y, Deng N, Wawrowsky K, et al. FOXC1 Activates Smoothened-Independent Hedgehog Signaling in Basal-like Breast Cancer. Cell Rep. 2015;13(5):1046-58. Epub 2015/11/14. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2015.09.063. PubMed PMID: 26565916; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4806384.

106. Zhou M, Hou Y, Yang G, Zhang H, Tu G, Du YE, et al. LncRNA-Hh Strengthen Cancer Stem Cells Generation in Twist-Positive Breast Cancer via Activation of Hedgehog Signaling Pathway. Stem Cells. 2016;34(1):55-66. Epub 2015/09/30. doi: 10.1002/stem.2219. PubMed PMID: 26418365; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4832137.

107. Riobo-Del Galdo NA, Lara Montero Á, Wertheimer EV. Role of Hedgehog Signaling in Breast Cancer: Pathogenesis and Therapeutics. Cells. 2019;8(4). Epub 2019/04/28. doi: 10.3390/cells8040375. PubMed PMID: 31027259; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6523618.

108. Zarzynska JM. Two faces of TGF-beta1 in breast cancer. Mediators Inflamm.
2014;2014:141747. Epub 2014/06/04. doi: 10.1155/2014/141747. PubMed PMID:
24891760; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4033515.

109. Liu S, Chen S, Zeng J. TGF-β signaling: A complex role in tumorigenesis (Review). Mol Med Rep. 2018;17(1):699-704. Epub 2017/11/09. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.7970. PubMed PMID: 29115550.

110. Hachim MY, Hachim IY, Dai M, Ali S, Lebrun JJ. Differential expression of TGFβ isoforms in breast cancer highlights different roles during breast cancer progression. Tumour Biol. 2018;40(1):1010428317748254. Epub 2018/01/13. doi:

10.1177/1010428317748254. PubMed PMID: 29320969.

111. Boulanger CA, Smith GH. Reducing mammary cancer risk through premature stem cell senescence. Oncogene. 2001;20(18):2264-72. Epub 2001/06/13. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1204312. PubMed PMID: 11402321.

112. Tang B, Yoo N, Vu M, Mamura M, Nam JS, Ooshima A, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta can suppress tumorigenesis through effects on the putative cancer stem or early progenitor cell and committed progeny in a breast cancer xenograft model. Cancer Res. 2007;67(18):8643-52. Epub 2007/09/19. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-0982. PubMed PMID: 17875704; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2427144.

113. Gorska AE, Jensen RA, Shyr Y, Aakre ME, Bhowmick NA, Moses HL. Transgenic mice expressing a dominant-negative mutant type II transforming growth factor-beta receptor exhibit impaired mammary development and enhanced mammary tumor formation. Am J Pathol. 2003;163(4):1539-49. Epub 2003/09/26. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9440(10)63510-9. PubMed PMID: 14507660; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1868288.

114. Xie F, Ling L, van Dam H, Zhou F, Zhang L. TGF-β signaling in cancer metastasis. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai). 2018;50(1):121-32. Epub 2017/12/01. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmx123. PubMed PMID: 29190313.

115. Huang F, Shi Q, Li Y, Xu L, Xu C, Chen F, et al. HER2/EGFR-AKT Signaling Switches TGFβ from Inhibiting Cell Proliferation to Promoting Cell Migration in Breast Cancer. Cancer Res. 2018;78(21):6073-85. Epub 2018/09/02. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-18-0136. PubMed PMID: 30171053.

116. Pang MF, Georgoudaki AM, Lambut L, Johansson J, Tabor V, Hagikura K, et al. TGF-β1-induced EMT promotes targeted migration of breast cancer cells through the lymphatic system by the activation of CCR7/CCL21-mediated chemotaxis. Oncogene. 2016;35(6):748-60. Epub 2015/05/12. doi: 10.1038/onc.2015.133. PubMed PMID: 25961925; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4753256.

117. Mani SA, Guo W, Liao MJ, Eaton EN, Ayyanan A, Zhou AY, et al. The epithelialmesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells. Cell.

2008;133(4):704-15. Epub 2008/05/20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027. PubMed PMID: 18485877; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2728032.

118. Konge J, Leteurtre F, Goislard M, Biard D, Morel-Altmeyer S, Vaurijoux A, et al.
Breast cancer stem cell-like cells generated during TGFβ-induced EMT are radioresistant.
Oncotarget. 2018;9(34):23519-31. Epub 2018/05/29. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25240.
PubMed PMID: 29805752; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5955125.

119. Suriyamurthy S, Baker D, Ten Dijke P, Iyengar PV. Epigenetic Reprogramming of TGF-β Signaling in Breast Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(5). Epub 2019/05/30. doi:

10.3390/cancers11050726. PubMed PMID: 31137748; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6563130.

120. Chen Y, Huang S, Wu B, Fang J, Zhu M, Sun L, et al. Transforming growth factorβ1 promotes breast cancer metastasis by downregulating miR-196a-3p expression.
Oncotarget. 2017;8(30):49110-22. Epub 2017/04/19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16308.
PubMed PMID: 28418877; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5564753.

121. Yu Y, Luo W, Yang ZJ, Chi JR, Li YR, Ding Y, et al. miR-190 suppresses breast cancer metastasis by regulation of TGF-β-induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition. Mol Cancer. 2018;17(1):70. Epub 2018/03/08. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0818-9. PubMed PMID: 29510731; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5838994.

122. Richards EJ, Zhang G, Li ZP, Permuth-Wey J, Challa S, Li Y, et al. Long non-coding RNAs (LncRNA) regulated by transforming growth factor (TGF) β : LncRNA-hit-mediated TGF β -induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition in mammary epithelia. J Biol Chem. 2015;290(11):6857-67. Epub 2015/01/22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.610915. PubMed PMID: 25605728; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4358111.

123. Yu H, Lee H, Herrmann A, Buettner R, Jove R. Revisiting STAT3 signalling in cancer: new and unexpected biological functions. Nat Rev Cancer. 2014;14(11):736-46. Epub 2014/10/25. doi: 10.1038/nrc3818. PubMed PMID: 25342631.

124. Ma JH, Qin L, Li X. Role of STAT3 signaling pathway in breast cancer. Cell Commun Signal. 2020;18(1):33. Epub 2020/03/01. doi: 10.1186/s12964-020-0527-z. PubMed PMID: 32111215; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7048131.

125. Qin JJ, Yan L, Zhang J, Zhang WD. STAT3 as a potential therapeutic target in triple negative breast cancer: a systematic review. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2019;38(1):195. Epub 2019/05/16. doi: 10.1186/s13046-019-1206-z. PubMed PMID: 31088482; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6518732.

126. Banerjee K, Resat H. Constitutive activation of STAT3 in breast cancer cells: A review. Int J Cancer. 2016;138(11):2570-8. Epub 2015/11/13. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29923. PubMed PMID: 26559373; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4801660.

127. Soleymani Abyaneh H, Gupta N, Alshareef A, Gopal K, Lavasanifar A, Lai R. Hypoxia Induces the Acquisition of Cancer Stem-like Phenotype Via Upregulation and Activation of Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription-3 (STAT3) in MDA-MB-231, a Triple Negative Breast Cancer Cell Line. Cancer Microenviron. 2018;11(2-3):141-52. Epub 2018/09/27. doi: 10.1007/s12307-018-0218-0. PubMed PMID: 30255421; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6250616.

128. Tawara K, Scott H, Emathinger J, Wolf C, LaJoie D, Hedeen D, et al. HIGH expression of OSM and IL-6 are associated with decreased breast cancer survival: synergistic induction of IL-6 secretion by OSM and IL-1β. Oncotarget. 2019;10(21):2068-85. Epub 2019/04/23. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26699. PubMed PMID: 31007849; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6459341.

129. Hao S, Chen X, Wang F, Shao Q, Liu J, Zhao H, et al. Breast cancer cell-derived IL-35 promotes tumor progression via induction of IL-35-producing induced regulatory T cells. Carcinogenesis. 2018;39(12):1488-96. Epub 2018/10/16. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgy136. PubMed PMID: 30321288. 130. Liu T, Zhou L, Li D, Andl T, Zhang Y. Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts Build and Secure the Tumor Microenvironment. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2019;7:60. Epub 2019/05/21. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00060. PubMed PMID: 31106200; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6492564.

131. Li A, Chen P, Leng Y, Kang J. Histone deacetylase 6 regulates the immunosuppressive properties of cancer-associated fibroblasts in breast cancer through the STAT3-COX2-dependent pathway. Oncogene. 2018;37(45):5952-66. Epub 2018/07/08. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0379-9. PubMed PMID: 29980788.

132. Shi P, Chen C, Li X, Wei Z, Liu Z, Liu Y. MicroRNA-124 suppresses cell proliferation and invasion of triple negative breast cancer cells by targeting STAT3. Mol Med Rep. 2019;19(5):3667-75. Epub 2019/03/22. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2019.10044. PubMed PMID: 30896795; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6472193.

133. Zhang H, Cai K, Wang J, Wang X, Cheng K, Shi F, et al. MiR-7, inhibited indirectly by lincRNA HOTAIR, directly inhibits SETDB1 and reverses the EMT of breast cancer stem cells by downregulating the STAT3 pathway. Stem Cells. 2014;32(11):2858-68. Epub 2014/07/30. doi: 10.1002/stem.1795. PubMed PMID: 25070049.

134. Butti R, Das S, Gunasekaran VP, Yadav AS, Kumar D, Kundu GC. Receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) in breast cancer: signaling, therapeutic implications and challenges. Mol Cancer. 2018;17(1):34. Epub 2018/02/20. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0797-x. PubMed PMID: 29455658; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5817867.

135. Wang Z, Oron E, Nelson B, Razis S, Ivanova N. Distinct lineage specification roles for NANOG, OCT4, and SOX2 in human embryonic stem cells. Cell Stem Cell. 2012;10(4):440-54. Epub 2012/04/10. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2012.02.016. PubMed PMID: 22482508.

136. Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell. 2006;126(4):663-76. Epub 2006/08/15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024. PubMed PMID: 16904174.

137. Shi G, Jin Y. Role of Oct4 in maintaining and regaining stem cell pluripotency. Stem Cell Res Ther. 2010;1(5):39. Epub 2010/12/16. doi: 10.1186/scrt39. PubMed PMID: 21156086; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3025441.

138. Wang X, Dai J. Concise review: isoforms of OCT4 contribute to the confusing diversity in stem cell biology. Stem Cells. 2010;28(5):885-93. Epub 2010/03/25. doi: 10.1002/stem.419. PubMed PMID: 20333750; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2962909.

139. Herr W, Cleary MA. The POU domain: versatility in transcriptional regulation by a flexible two-in-one DNA-binding domain. Genes Dev. 1995;9(14):1679-93. Epub 1995/07/15. doi: 10.1101/gad.9.14.1679. PubMed PMID: 7622033.

140. Gwak JM, Kim M, Kim HJ, Jang MH, Park SY. Expression of embryonal stem cell transcription factors in breast cancer: Oct4 as an indicator for poor clinical outcome and tamoxifen resistance. Oncotarget. 2017;8(22):36305-18. Epub 2017/04/20. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16750. PubMed PMID: 28422735; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5482656.

141. Almozyan S, Colak D, Mansour F, Alaiya A, Al-Harazi O, Qattan A, et al. PD-L1 promotes OCT4 and Nanog expression in breast cancer stem cells by sustaining

PI3K/AKT pathway activation. Int J Cancer. 2017;141(7):1402-12. Epub 2017/06/15. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30834. PubMed PMID: 28614911; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5575465.

142. Cho Y, Kang HG, Kim SJ, Lee S, Jee S, Ahn SG, et al. Post-translational modification of OCT4 in breast cancer tumorigenesis. Cell Death Differ.
2018;25(10):1781-95. Epub 2018/03/08. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0079-6. PubMed PMID: 29511337; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6180041.

143. Shen L, Qin K, Wang D, Zhang Y, Bai N, Yang S, et al. Overexpression of Oct4 suppresses the metastatic potential of breast cancer cells via Rnd1 downregulation. Biochim Biophys Acta. 2014;1842(11):2087-95. Epub 2014/07/30. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2014.07.015. PubMed PMID: 25068817.

144. Hu J, Qin K, Zhang Y, Gong J, Li N, Lv D, et al. Downregulation of transcription factor Oct4 induces an epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition via enhancement of Ca2+ influx in breast cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2011;411(4):786-91. Epub 2011/07/30. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.07.025. PubMed PMID: 21798248.

145. Wuebben EL, Rizzino A. The dark side of SOX2: cancer - a comprehensive overview. Oncotarget. 2017;8(27):44917-43. Epub 2017/04/08. doi:

10.18632/oncotarget.16570. PubMed PMID: 28388544; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5546531.

146. Leis O, Eguiara A, Lopez-Arribillaga E, Alberdi MJ, Hernandez-Garcia S, Elorriaga K, et al. Sox2 expression in breast tumours and activation in breast cancer stem cells. Oncogene. 2012;31(11):1354-65. Epub 2011/08/09. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.338. PubMed PMID: 21822303.

147. Piva M, Domenici G, Iriondo O, Rábano M, Simões BM, Comaills V, et al. Sox2 promotes tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer cells. EMBO Mol Med. 2014;6(1):66-79. Epub 2013/11/02. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201303411. PubMed PMID: 24178749; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3936493.

148. Domenici G, Aurrekoetxea-Rodríguez I, Simões BM, Rábano M, Lee SY, Millán JS, et al. A Sox2-Sox9 signalling axis maintains human breast luminal progenitor and breast cancer stem cells. Oncogene. 2019;38(17):3151-69. Epub 2019/01/10. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0656-7. PubMed PMID: 30622340; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6756022.

149. Mukherjee P, Gupta A, Chattopadhyay D, Chatterji U. Modulation of SOX2 expression delineates an end-point for paclitaxel-effectiveness in breast cancer stem cells. Sci Rep. 2017;7(1):9170. Epub 2017/08/25. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08971-2. PubMed PMID: 28835684; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5569040.

150. Jeter CR, Yang T, Wang J, Chao HP, Tang DG. Concise Review: NANOG in Cancer Stem Cells and Tumor Development: An Update and Outstanding Questions. Stem Cells. 2015;33(8):2381-90. Epub 2015/03/31. doi: 10.1002/stem.2007. PubMed PMID: 25821200; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4509798.

151. Lu X, Mazur SJ, Lin T, Appella E, Xu Y. The pluripotency factor nanog promotes breast cancer tumorigenesis and metastasis. Oncogene. 2014;33(20):2655-64. Epub 2013/06/19. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.209. PubMed PMID: 23770853; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3925756.

152. Han J, Zhang F, Yu M, Zhao P, Ji W, Zhang H, et al. RNA interference-mediated silencing of NANOG reduces cell proliferation and induces G0/G1 cell cycle arrest in breast cancer cells. Cancer Lett. 2012;321(1):80-8. Epub 2012/03/03. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.02.021. PubMed PMID: 22381696.

153. Wang D, Lu P, Zhang H, Luo M, Zhang X, Wei X, et al. Oct-4 and Nanog promote the epithelial-mesenchymal transition of breast cancer stem cells and are associated with poor prognosis in breast cancer patients. Oncotarget. 2014;5(21):10803-15. Epub 2014/10/11. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2506. PubMed PMID: 25301732; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4279411.

154. Bourguignon LY, Peyrollier K, Xia W, Gilad E. Hyaluronan-CD44 interaction activates stem cell marker Nanog, Stat-3-mediated MDR1 gene expression, and ankyrin-regulated multidrug efflux in breast and ovarian tumor cells. J Biol Chem. 2008;283(25):17635-51. Epub 2008/04/29. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M800109200. PubMed

PMID: 18441325; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2427357.

155. Emadian Saravi O, Naghshvar F, Torabizadeh Z, Sheidaei S. Immunohistochemical Expression of Nanog and Its Relation with Clinicopathologic Characteristics in Breast Ductal Carcinoma. Iran Biomed J. 2019;23(3):184-9. Epub 2018/09/18. doi: 10.29252/.23.3.184. PubMed PMID: 30220190; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6462300.

156. Nagata T, Shimada Y, Sekine S, Hori R, Matsui K, Okumura T, et al. Prognostic significance of NANOG and KLF4 for breast cancer. Breast Cancer. 2014;21(1):96-101. Epub 2012/04/25. doi: 10.1007/s12282-012-0357-y. PubMed PMID: 22528804.

157. Zhang J, Li G, Feng L, Lu H, Wang X. Krüppel-like factors in breast cancer:
Function, regulation and clinical relevance. Biomed Pharmacother. 2020;123:109778.
Epub 2019/12/20. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109778. PubMed PMID: 31855735.
158. Song X, Xing YM, Wu W, Cheng GH, Xiao F, Jin G, et al. Expression of Krüppel-like factor 4 in breast cancer tissues and its effects on the proliferation of breast cancer
MDA-MB-231 cells. Exp Ther Med. 2017;13(5):2463-7. Epub 2017/06/02. doi: 10.3892/etm.2017.4262. PubMed PMID: 28565864; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5443194.

159. Akaogi K, Nakajima Y, Ito I, Kawasaki S, Oie SH, Murayama A, et al. KLF4 suppresses estrogen-dependent breast cancer growth by inhibiting the transcriptional activity of ERalpha. Oncogene. 2009;28(32):2894-902. Epub 2009/06/09. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.151. PubMed PMID: 19503094.

160. Ferralli J, Chiquet-Ehrismann R, Degen M. KLF4α stimulates breast cancer cell proliferation by acting as a KLF4 antagonist. Oncotarget. 2016;7(29):45608-21. Epub 2016/06/22. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10058. PubMed PMID: 27323810; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5216746.

161. Yu F, Li J, Chen H, Fu J, Ray S, Huang S, et al. Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4) is required for maintenance of breast cancer stem cells and for cell migration and invasion. Oncogene. 2011;30(18):2161-72. Epub 2011/01/19. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.591. PubMed PMID: 21242971; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3088782.

162. Mimoto R, Imawari Y, Hirooka S, Takeyama H, Yoshida K. Impairment of DYRK2 augments stem-like traits by promoting KLF4 expression in breast cancer. Oncogene. 2017;36(13):1862-72. Epub 2016/10/11. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.349. PubMed PMID: 27721402.

163. Fagnocchi L, Zippo A. Multiple Roles of MYC in Integrating Regulatory Networks of Pluripotent Stem Cells. Front Cell Dev Biol. 2017;5:7. Epub 2017/02/22. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2017.00007. PubMed PMID: 28217689; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5289991.

164. Xu J, Chen Y, Olopade OI. MYC and Breast Cancer. Genes Cancer. 2010;1(6):629-40. Epub 2011/07/23. doi: 10.1177/1947601910378691. PubMed PMID: 21779462; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3092228.

165. Chappell J, Dalton S. Roles for MYC in the establishment and maintenance of pluripotency. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2013;3(12):a014381. Epub 2013/12/04. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a014381. PubMed PMID: 24296349; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3839598.

166. Kim J, Woo AJ, Chu J, Snow JW, Fujiwara Y, Kim CG, et al. A Myc network accounts for similarities between embryonic stem and cancer cell transcription programs. Cell. 2010;143(2):313-24. Epub 2010/10/16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.09.010. PubMed PMID: 20946988; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3018841.

167. Sheiness D, Fanshier L, Bishop JM. Identification of nucleotide sequences which may encode the oncogenic capacity of avian retrovirus MC29. J Virol. 1978;28(2):600-10. Epub 1978/11/01. PubMed PMID: 214581; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC354308.

168. Felsher DW, Bishop JM. Transient excess of MYC activity can elicit genomic instability and tumorigenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 1999;96(7):3940-4. Epub 1999/03/31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.96.7.3940. PubMed PMID: 10097142; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC22399.

169. Fallah Y, Brundage J, Allegakoen P, Shajahan-Haq AN. MYC-Driven Pathways in Breast Cancer Subtypes. Biomolecules. 2017;7(3). Epub 2017/07/12. doi: 10.3390/biom7030053. PubMed PMID: 28696357; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5618234.

170. Yang A, Qin S, Schulte BA, Ethier SP, Tew KD, Wang GY. MYC Inhibition Depletes Cancer Stem-like Cells in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cancer Res. 2017;77(23):6641-50. Epub 2017/09/28. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-16-3452. PubMed PMID: 28951456; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5712265.

171. Lee KM, Giltnane JM, Balko JM, Schwarz LJ, Guerrero-Zotano AL, Hutchinson KE, et al. MYC and MCL1 Cooperatively Promote Chemotherapy-Resistant Breast Cancer Stem Cells via Regulation of Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation. Cell Metab. 2017;26(4):633-47.e7. Epub 2017/10/06. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.009. PubMed PMID: 28978427; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5650077.

172. Santoro A, Vlachou T, Luzi L, Melloni G, Mazzarella L, D'Elia E, et al. p53 Loss in Breast Cancer Leads to Myc Activation, Increased Cell Plasticity, and Expression of a Mitotic Signature with Prognostic Value. Cell Rep. 2019;26(3):624-38.e8. Epub 2019/01/17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.12.071. PubMed PMID: 30650356; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6334229. 173. Poli V, Fagnocchi L, Fasciani A, Cherubini A, Mazzoleni S, Ferrillo S, et al. MYCdriven epigenetic reprogramming favors the onset of tumorigenesis by inducing a stem cell-like state. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):1024. Epub 2018/03/11. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03264-2. PubMed PMID: 29523784; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5844884.

174. Petersen OW, Polyak K. Stem cells in the human breast. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2010;2(5):a003160. Epub 2010/05/11. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a003160. PubMed PMID: 20452965; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2857168.

175. Zhang Z, Christin JR, Wang C, Ge K, Oktay MH, Guo W. Mammary-Stem-Cell-Based Somatic Mouse Models Reveal Breast Cancer Drivers Causing Cell Fate Dysregulation. Cell Rep. 2016;16(12):3146-56. Epub 2016/09/23. doi:
10.1016/j.celrep.2016.08.048. PubMed PMID: 27653681; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5069998.

176. Inman JL, Robertson C, Mott JD, Bissell MJ. Mammary gland development: cell fate specification, stem cells and the microenvironment. Development.
2015;142(6):1028-42. Epub 2015/03/12. doi: 10.1242/dev.087643. PubMed PMID:

25758218.

177. Weitzenfeld P, Meshel T, Ben-Baruch A. Microenvironmental networks promote tumor heterogeneity and enrich for metastatic cancer stem-like cells in Luminal-A breast tumor cells. Oncotarget. 2016;7(49):81123-43. Epub 2016/11/12. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13213. PubMed PMUD: 27835603: PubMed Central PMCID:

10.18632/oncotarget.13213. PubMed PMID: 27835603; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5348381.

178. De Angelis ML, Francescangeli F, Zeuner A. Breast Cancer Stem Cells as Drivers of Tumor Chemoresistance, Dormancy and Relapse: New Challenges and Therapeutic Opportunities. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(10). Epub 2019/10/18. doi:

10.3390/cancers11101569. PubMed PMID: 31619007; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6826533.

179. Celià-Terrassa T. Mammary Stem Cells and Breast Cancer Stem Cells: Molecular Connections and Clinical Implications. Biomedicines. 2018;6(2). Epub 2018/05/08. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines6020050. PubMed PMID: 29734696; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6026898.

180. Braune EB, Seshire A, Lendahl U. Notch and Wnt Dysregulation and Its Relevance for Breast Cancer and Tumor Initiation. Biomedicines. 2018;6(4). Epub 2018/11/06. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines6040101. PubMed PMID: 30388742; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6315509.

181. Chen W, Qin Y, Liu S. Cytokines, breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) and chemoresistance. Clin Transl Med. 2018;7(1):27. Epub 2018/09/04. doi: 10.1186/s40169-018-0205-6. PubMed PMID: 30175384; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6119679.

182. Takebe N, Warren RQ, Ivy SP. Breast cancer growth and metastasis: interplay between cancer stem cells, embryonic signaling pathways and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Breast Cancer Res. 2011;13(3):211. Epub 2011/06/16. doi: 10.1186/bcr2876. PubMed PMID: 21672282; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3218933.

183. Gyamfi J, Lee YH, Eom M, Choi J. Interleukin-6/STAT3 signalling regulates adipocyte induced epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer cells. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):8859. Epub 2018/06/13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27184-9. PubMed PMID: 29891854; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5995871.

184. Kim SY, Kang JW, Song X, Kim BK, Yoo YD, Kwon YT, et al. Role of the IL-6-JAK1-STAT3-Oct-4 pathway in the conversion of non-stem cancer cells into cancer stem-like cells. Cell Signal. 2013;25(4):961-9. Epub 2013/01/22. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.01.007. PubMed PMID: 23333246; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3595341.

185. Charafe-Jauffret E, Ginestier C, Iovino F, Wicinski J, Cervera N, Finetti P, et al. Breast cancer cell lines contain functional cancer stem cells with metastatic capacity and a distinct molecular signature. Cancer Res. 2009;69(4):1302-13. Epub 2009/02/05. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-08-2741. PubMed PMID: 19190339; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2819227.

186. Dominguez C, McCampbell KK, David JM, Palena C. Neutralization of IL-8 decreases tumor PMN-MDSCs and reduces mesenchymalization of claudin-low triple-negative breast cancer. JCI Insight. 2017;2(21). Epub 2017/11/03. doi:

10.1172/jci.insight.94296. PubMed PMID: 29093275; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5752275.

187. Zhang S, Yang X, Wang L, Zhang C. Interplay between inflammatory tumor microenvironment and cancer stem cells. Oncol Lett. 2018;16(1):679-86. Epub 2018/07/03. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.8716. PubMed PMID: 29963133; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6019921.

188. Raggi C, Mousa HS, Correnti M, Sica A, Invernizzi P. Cancer stem cells and tumorassociated macrophages: a roadmap for multitargeting strategies. Oncogene. 2016;35(6):671-82. Epub 2015/05/12. doi: 10.1038/onc.2015.132. PubMed PMID: 25961921.

189. Bercovici N, Guérin MV, Trautmann A, Donnadieu E. The Remarkable Plasticity of Macrophages: A Chance to Fight Cancer. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1563. Epub 2019/07/30. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01563. PubMed PMID: 31354719; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6640155.

190. Guo L, Cheng X, Chen H, Chen C, Xie S, Zhao M, et al. Induction of breast cancer stem cells by M1 macrophages through Lin-28B-let-7-HMGA2 axis. Cancer Lett. 2019;452:213-25. Epub 2019/03/29. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.03.032. PubMed PMID: 30917918.

191. Valeta-Magara A, Gadi A, Volta V, Walters B, Arju R, Giashuddin S, et al.
Inflammatory Breast Cancer Promotes Development of M2 Tumor-Associated
Macrophages and Cancer Mesenchymal Cells through a Complex Chemokine Network.
Cancer Res. 2019;79(13):3360-71. Epub 2019/05/03. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-17-2158. PubMed PMID: 31043378; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7331114.

192. Lu H, Clauser KR, Tam WL, Fröse J, Ye X, Eaton EN, et al. A breast cancer stem cell niche supported by juxtacrine signalling from monocytes and macrophages. Nat Cell Biol. 2014;16(11):1105-17. Epub 2014/10/01. doi: 10.1038/ncb3041. PubMed PMID: 25266422; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4296514.

193. Kim H, Lin Q, Glazer PM, Yun Z. The hypoxic tumor microenvironment in vivo selects the cancer stem cell fate of breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):16. Epub 2018/03/08. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-0944-8. PubMed PMID: 29510720; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5840770.

194. Prager BC, Xie Q, Bao S, Rich JN. Cancer Stem Cells: The Architects of the Tumor Ecosystem. Cell Stem Cell. 2019;24(1):41-53. Epub 2019/01/05. doi:

10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.009. PubMed PMID: 30609398; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6350931.

195. Lan J, Lu H, Samanta D, Salman S, Lu Y, Semenza GL. Hypoxia-inducible factor 1dependent expression of adenosine receptor 2B promotes breast cancer stem cell enrichment. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2018;115(41):E9640-e8. Epub 2018/09/23. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1809695115. PubMed PMID: 30242135; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6187157.

196. Yan Y, Liu F, Han L, Zhao L, Chen J, Olopade OI, et al. HIF-2α promotes conversion to a stem cell phenotype and induces chemoresistance in breast cancer cells by activating Wnt and Notch pathways. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2018;37(1):256. Epub 2018/10/21. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0925-x. PubMed PMID: 30340507; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6194720.

197. Roche J. The Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition in Cancer. Cancers (Basel).
2018;10(2). Epub 2018/02/22. doi: 10.3390/cancers10020052. PubMed PMID:
29462906; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5836084.

198. Georgakopoulos-Soares I, Chartoumpekis DV, Kyriazopoulou V, Zaravinos A. EMT Factors and Metabolic Pathways in Cancer. Front Oncol. 2020;10:499. Epub 2020/04/23. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2020.00499. PubMed PMID: 32318352; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7154126.

199. Kröger C, Afeyan A, Mraz J, Eaton EN, Reinhardt F, Khodor YL, et al. Acquisition of a hybrid E/M state is essential for tumorigenicity of basal breast cancer cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019;116(15):7353-62. Epub 2019/03/27. doi:

10.1073/pnas.1812876116. PubMed PMID: 30910979; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6462070.

200. Ye X, Weinberg RA. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Plasticity: A Central Regulator of Cancer Progression. Trends Cell Biol. 2015;25(11):675-86. Epub 2015/10/07. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.07.012. PubMed PMID: 26437589; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4628843.

201. Kalluri R, Weinberg RA. The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition. J Clin Invest. 2009;119(6):1420-8. Epub 2009/06/03. doi: 10.1172/jci39104. PubMed PMID: 19487818; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2689101.

202. Banyard J, Bielenberg DR. The role of EMT and MET in cancer dissemination. Connect Tissue Res. 2015;56(5):403-13. Epub 2015/08/21. doi:

10.3109/03008207.2015.1060970. PubMed PMID: 26291767; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4780319.

203. Lourenco AR, Ban Y, Crowley MJ, Lee SB, Ramchandani D, Du W, et al. Differential Contributions of Pre- and Post-EMT Tumor Cells in Breast Cancer Metastasis.

Cancer Res. 2020;80(2):163-9. Epub 2019/11/11. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-19-1427. PubMed PMID: 31704888; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6980649.

204. Drápela S, Bouchal J, Jolly MK, Culig Z, Souček K. ZEB1: A Critical Regulator of Cell Plasticity, DNA Damage Response, and Therapy Resistance. Front Mol Biosci. 2020;7:36. Epub 2020/04/09. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2020.00036. PubMed PMID: 32266287; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC7096573.

205. Loh CY, Chai JY, Tang TF, Wong WF, Sethi G, Shanmugam MK, et al. The E-Cadherin and N-Cadherin Switch in Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition: Signaling, Therapeutic Implications, and Challenges. Cells. 2019;8(10). Epub 2019/09/25. doi: 10.3390/cells8101118. PubMed PMID: 31547193; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6830116.

206. Kuwada K, Kagawa S, Yoshida R, Sakamoto S, Ito A, Watanabe M, et al. The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition induced by tumor-associated macrophages confers chemoresistance in peritoneally disseminated pancreatic cancer. J Exp Clin Cancer Res. 2018;37(1):307. Epub 2018/12/13. doi: 10.1186/s13046-018-0981-2. PubMed PMID: 30537992; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6288926.

207. Hsu DS, Wang HJ, Tai SK, Chou CH, Hsieh CH, Chiu PH, et al. Acetylation of snail modulates the cytokinome of cancer cells to enhance the recruitment of macrophages. Cancer Cell. 2014;26(4):534-48. Epub 2014/10/15. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2014.09.002. PubMed PMID: 25314079.

208. Wang H, Wang Y, Du Q, Lu P, Fan H, Lu J, et al. Inflammasome-independent NLRP3 is required for epithelial-mesenchymal transition in colon cancer cells. Exp Cell Res. 2016;342(2):184-92. Epub 2016/03/13. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2016.03.009. PubMed PMID: 26968633.

209. Bouris P, Skandalis SS, Piperigkou Z, Afratis N, Karamanou K, Aletras AJ, et al. Estrogen receptor alpha mediates epithelial to mesenchymal transition, expression of specific matrix effectors and functional properties of breast cancer cells. Matrix Biol. 2015;43:42-60. Epub 2015/03/03. doi: 10.1016/j.matbio.2015.02.008. PubMed PMID: 25728938.

210. Xu Y, Lee DK, Feng Z, Xu Y, Bu W, Li Y, et al. Breast tumor cell-specific knockout of Twist1 inhibits cancer cell plasticity, dissemination, and lung metastasis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(43):11494-9. Epub 2017/10/27. doi:

10.1073/pnas.1618091114. PubMed PMID: 29073077; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5664488.

211. Scimeca M, Antonacci C, Colombo D, Bonfiglio R, Buonomo OC, Bonanno E. Emerging prognostic markers related to mesenchymal characteristics of poorly differentiated breast cancers. Tumour Biol. 2016;37(4):5427-35. Epub 2015/11/14. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-4361-7. PubMed PMID: 26563370.

212. Felipe Lima J, Nofech-Mozes S, Bayani J, Bartlett JM. EMT in Breast Carcinoma-A Review. J Clin Med. 2016;5(7). Epub 2016/07/20. doi: 10.3390/jcm5070065. PubMed PMID: 27429011; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4961996.

213. Lu W, Kang Y. Epithelial-Mesenchymal Plasticity in Cancer Progression and Metastasis. Dev Cell. 2019;49(3):361-74. Epub 2019/05/08. doi:

10.1016/j.devcel.2019.04.010. PubMed PMID: 31063755; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6506183.

214. Guo W, Keckesova Z, Donaher JL, Shibue T, Tischler V, Reinhardt F, et al. Slug and Sox9 cooperatively determine the mammary stem cell state. Cell. 2012;148(5):1015-28. Epub 2012/03/06. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.008. PubMed PMID: 22385965; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3305806.

215. Gupta PB, Onder TT, Jiang G, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, Weinberg RA, et al. Identification of selective inhibitors of cancer stem cells by high-throughput screening. Cell. 2009;138(4):645-59. Epub 2009/08/18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.06.034. PubMed PMID: 19682730; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4892125.

216. Goel HL, Gritsko T, Pursell B, Chang C, Shultz LD, Greiner DL, et al. Regulated splicing of the α 6 integrin cytoplasmic domain determines the fate of breast cancer stem cells. Cell Rep. 2014;7(3):747-61. Epub 2014/04/29. doi:

10.1016/j.celrep.2014.03.059. PubMed PMID: 24767994; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4038359.

217. Wellner U, Schubert J, Burk UC, Schmalhofer O, Zhu F, Sonntag A, et al. The EMTactivator ZEB1 promotes tumorigenicity by repressing stemness-inhibiting microRNAs. Nat Cell Biol. 2009;11(12):1487-95. Epub 2009/11/26. doi: 10.1038/ncb1998. PubMed PMID: 19935649.

218. Bierie B, Pierce SE, Kroeger C, Stover DG, Pattabiraman DR, Thiru P, et al. Integrin-β4 identifies cancer stem cell-enriched populations of partially mesenchymal carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2017;114(12):E2337-e46. Epub 2017/03/09. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1618298114. PubMed PMID: 28270621; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5373369.

219. Wu X, Li X, Fu Q, Cao Q, Chen X, Wang M, et al. AKR1B1 promotes basal-like breast cancer progression by a positive feedback loop that activates the EMT program. J Exp Med. 2017;214(4):1065-79. Epub 2017/03/09. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160903. PubMed PMID: 28270406; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5379972.

220. Hollier BG, Tinnirello AA, Werden SJ, Evans KW, Taube JH, Sarkar TR, et al. FOXC2 expression links epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell properties in breast cancer. Cancer Res. 2013;73(6):1981-92. Epub 2013/02/05. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-12-2962. PubMed PMID: 23378344; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3602160.

221. Cai J, Tian AX, Wang QS, Kong PZ, Du X, Li XQ, et al. FOXF2 suppresses the FOXC2mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition and multidrug resistance of basal-like breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2015;367(2):129-37. Epub 2015/07/27. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2015.07.001. PubMed PMID: 26210254.

222. Zhang J, Lin X, Wu L, Huang JJ, Jiang WQ, Kipps TJ, et al. Aurora B induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition by stabilizing Snail1 to promote basal-like breast cancer metastasis. Oncogene. 2020;39(12):2550-67. Epub 2020/01/31. doi: 10.1038/s41388-020-1165-z. PubMed PMID: 31996785.

223. Wu F, Ye X, Wang P, Jung K, Wu C, Douglas D, et al. Sox2 suppresses the invasiveness of breast cancer cells via a mechanism that is dependent on Twist1 and the status of Sox2 transcription activity. BMC Cancer. 2013;13:317. Epub 2013/07/03. doi:

10.1186/1471-2407-13-317. PubMed PMID: 23815808; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3707762.

224. Yori JL, Johnson E, Zhou G, Jain MK, Keri RA. Kruppel-like factor 4 inhibits epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition through regulation of E-cadherin gene expression. J Biol Chem. 2010;285(22):16854-63. Epub 2010/04/02. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110.114546. PubMed PMID: 20356845; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2878056.

225. Koopmansch B, Berx G, Foidart JM, Gilles C, Winkler R. Interplay between KLF4 and ZEB2/SIP1 in the regulation of E-cadherin expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2013;431(4):652-7. Epub 2013/02/05. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.01.070. PubMed PMID: 23376074.

226. Wainwright EN, Scaffidi P. Epigenetics and Cancer Stem Cells: Unleashing, Hijacking, and Restricting Cellular Plasticity. Trends Cancer. 2017;3(5):372-86. Epub 2017/07/19. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.04.004. PubMed PMID: 28718414; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5506260.

227. Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA methylation and its basic function. Neuropsychopharmacology. 2013;38(1):23-38. Epub 2012/07/12. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.112. PubMed PMID: 22781841; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3521964.

228. Holliday H, Baker LA, Junankar SR, Clark SJ, Swarbrick A. Epigenomics of mammary gland development. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):100. Epub 2018/09/05. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1031-x. PubMed PMID: 30176939; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6122685.

229. Bloushtain-Qimron N, Yao J, Snyder EL, Shipitsin M, Campbell LL, Mani SA, et al. Cell type-specific DNA methylation patterns in the human breast. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2008;105(37):14076-81. Epub 2008/09/11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805206105. PubMed PMID: 18780791; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2532972 consultant to Novartis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. K.P. also receives research support from Biogen-Idec and is a consultant to Aveo Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and GeneGo Inc. M.H., N.B.Q., and K.P. submitted a patent application on the MSDK method and findings described in this manuscript in accordance with the policies of DFCI. V.U., T.N., and Y.N. are employees of Genego Inc.

230. Rice JC, Massey-Brown KS, Futscher BW. Aberrant methylation of the BRCA1 CpG island promoter is associated with decreased BRCA1 mRNA in sporadic breast cancer cells. Oncogene. 1998;17(14):1807-12. Epub 1998/10/20. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202086. PubMed PMID: 9778046.

231. Zhang F, Cui Y. Dysregulation of DNA methylation patterns may identify patients with breast cancer resistant to endocrine therapy: A predictive classifier based on differentially methylated regions. Oncol Lett. 2019;18(2):1287-303. Epub 2019/08/20. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10405. PubMed PMID: 31423189; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6607238.

232. El Helou R, Wicinski J, Guille A, Adélaïde J, Finetti P, Bertucci F, et al. Brief reports: A distinct DNA methylation signature defines breast cancer stem cells and predicts cancer outcome. Stem Cells. 2014;32(11):3031-6. Epub 2014/07/30. doi: 10.1002/stem.1792. PubMed PMID: 25069843.

233. Shah M, Cardenas R, Wang B, Persson J, Mongan NP, Grabowska A, et al. HOXC8 regulates self-renewal, differentiation and transformation of breast cancer stem cells. Mol Cancer. 2017;16(1):38. Epub 2017/02/17. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0605-z. PubMed PMID: 28202042; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5312582.

234. Sultan M, Vidovic D, Paine AS, Huynh TT, Coyle KM, Thomas ML, et al. Epigenetic Silencing of TAP1 in Aldefluor(+) Breast Cancer Stem Cells Contributes to Their Enhanced Immune Evasion. Stem Cells. 2018;36(5):641-54. Epub 2018/01/18. doi: 10.1002/stem.2780. PubMed PMID: 29341428.

235. Pfeifer GP. Defining Driver DNA Methylation Changes in Human Cancer. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(4). Epub 2018/04/13. doi: 10.3390/ijms19041166. PubMed PMID: 29649096; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5979276.

236. Audia JE, Campbell RM. Histone Modifications and Cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. 2016;8(4):a019521. Epub 2016/04/03. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a019521. PubMed PMID: 27037415; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4817802.

237. Caslini C, Hong S, Ban YJ, Chen XS, Ince TA. HDAC7 regulates histone 3 lysine 27 acetylation and transcriptional activity at super-enhancer-associated genes in breast cancer stem cells. Oncogene. 2019;38(39):6599-614. Epub 2019/08/04. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0897-0. PubMed PMID: 31375747.

238. Ye Q, Holowatyj A, Wu J, Liu H, Zhang L, Suzuki T, et al. Genetic alterations of KDM4 subfamily and therapeutic effect of novel demethylase inhibitor in breast cancer. Am J Cancer Res. 2015;5(4):1519-30. Epub 2015/06/24. PubMed PMID: 26101715; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4473328.

239. Meng Z, Liu Y, Wang J, Fan H, Fang H, Li S, et al. Histone demethylase KDM7A is required for stem cell maintenance and apoptosis inhibition in breast cancer. J Cell Physiol. 2020;235(2):932-43. Epub 2019/06/27. doi: 10.1002/jcp.29008. PubMed PMID: 31236965.

240. Chiang K, Zielinska AE, Shaaban AM, Sanchez-Bailon MP, Jarrold J, Clarke TL, et al. PRMT5 Is a Critical Regulator of Breast Cancer Stem Cell Function via Histone Methylation and FOXP1 Expression. Cell Rep. 2017;21(12):3498-513. Epub 2017/12/21. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.11.096. PubMed PMID: 29262329; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5746596.

241. Alberti C, Cochella L. A framework for understanding the roles of miRNAs in animal development. Development. 2017;144(14):2548-59. Epub 2017/07/20. doi: 10.1242/dev.146613. PubMed PMID: 28720652.

242. Peng Y, Croce CM. The role of MicroRNAs in human cancer. Signal Transduct Target Ther. 2016;1:15004. Epub 2016/01/28. doi: 10.1038/sigtrans.2015.4. PubMed PMID: 29263891; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5661652.

243. Ji X, Lu Y, Tian H, Meng X, Wei M, Cho WC. Chemoresistance mechanisms of breast cancer and their countermeasures. Biomed Pharmacother. 2019;114:108800. Epub 2019/03/29. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.108800. PubMed PMID: 30921705.

244. Sicchieri RD, da Silveira WA, Mandarano LR, de Oliveira TM, Carrara HH, Muglia VF, et al. ABCG2 is a potential marker of tumor-initiating cells in breast cancer. Tumour Biol. 2015;36(12):9233-43. Epub 2015/06/21. doi: 10.1007/s13277-015-3647-0. PubMed PMID: 26091795.

245. Crawford RR, Potukuchi PK, Schuetz EG, Schuetz JD. Beyond Competitive Inhibition: Regulation of ABC Transporters by Kinases and Protein-Protein Interactions as Potential Mechanisms of Drug-Drug Interactions. Drug Metab Dispos. 2018;46(5):567-80. Epub 2018/03/09. doi: 10.1124/dmd.118.080663. PubMed PMID: 29514827; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5896366.

246. Weeden CE, Asselin-Labat ML. Mechanisms of DNA damage repair in adult stem cells and implications for cancer formation. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis. 2018;1864(1):89-101. Epub 2017/10/19. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.10.015. PubMed PMID: 29038050.

247. Phillips TM, McBride WH, Pajonk F. The response of CD24(-/low)/CD44+ breast cancer-initiating cells to radiation. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2006;98(24):1777-85. Epub 2006/12/21. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj495. PubMed PMID: 17179479.

248. Ryoo IG, Choi BH, Ku SK, Kwak MK. High CD44 expression mediates p62associated NFE2L2/NRF2 activation in breast cancer stem cell-like cells: Implications for cancer stem cell resistance. Redox Biol. 2018;17:246-58. Epub 2018/05/08. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2018.04.015. PubMed PMID: 29729523; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6006726.

249. Hu Y, Yagüe E, Zhao J, Wang L, Bai J, Yang Q, et al. Sabutoclax, pan-active BCL-2 protein family antagonist, overcomes drug resistance and eliminates cancer stem cells in breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 2018;423:47-59. Epub 2018/03/03. doi:

10.1016/j.canlet.2018.02.036. PubMed PMID: 29496539.

250. Gong C, Bauvy C, Tonelli G, Yue W, Deloménie C, Nicolas V, et al. Beclin 1 and autophagy are required for the tumorigenicity of breast cancer stem-like/progenitor cells. Oncogene. 2013;32(18):2261-72, 72e.1-11. Epub 2012/06/27. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.252. PubMed PMID: 22733132; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3679409.

251. Bousquet G, El Bouchtaoui M, Sophie T, Leboeuf C, de Bazelaire C, Ratajczak P, et al. Targeting autophagic cancer stem-cells to reverse chemoresistance in human triple negative breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2017;8(21):35205-21. Epub 2017/04/27. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.16925. PubMed PMID: 28445132; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5471047.

252. Shekhani MT, Jayanthy AS, Maddodi N, Setaluri V. Cancer stem cells and tumor transdifferentiation: implications for novel therapeutic strategies. Am J Stem Cells. 2013;2(1):52-61. Epub 2013/05/15. PubMed PMID: 23671816; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3636725.

253. Rossari F, Zucchinetti C, Buda G, Orciuolo E. Tumor dormancy as an alternative step in the development of chemoresistance and metastasis - clinical implications. Cell Oncol (Dordr). 2020;43(2):155-76. Epub 2019/08/09. doi: 10.1007/s13402-019-00467-7. PubMed PMID: 31392521.

254. La Belle Flynn A, Calhoun BC, Sharma A, Chang JC, Almasan A, Schiemann WP. Autophagy inhibition elicits emergence from metastatic dormancy by inducing and stabilizing Pfkfb3 expression. Nat Commun. 2019;10(1):3668. Epub 2019/08/16. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-11640-9. PubMed PMID: 31413316; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6694140. 255. Xu WP, Zhang X, Xie WF. Differentiation therapy for solid tumors. J Dig Dis. 2014;15(4):159-65. Epub 2014/01/01. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12122. PubMed PMID: 24373518.

256. de Thé H. Differentiation therapy revisited. Nat Rev Cancer. 2018;18(2):117-27. Epub 2017/12/02. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.103. PubMed PMID: 29192213.

257. Jin X, Jin X, Kim H. Cancer stem cells and differentiation therapy. Tumour Biol.
2017;39(10):1010428317729933. Epub 2017/10/27. doi: 10.1177/1010428317729933.
PubMed PMID: 29072131.

258. Campos B, Wan F, Farhadi M, Ernst A, Zeppernick F, Tagscherer KE, et al. Differentiation therapy exerts antitumor effects on stem-like glioma cells. Clin Cancer Res. 2010;16(10):2715-28. Epub 2010/05/06. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-09-1800. PubMed PMID: 20442299.

259. Yan Y, Li Z, Xu X, Chen C, Wei W, Fan M, et al. All-trans retinoic acids induce differentiation and sensitize a radioresistant breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2016;16:113. Epub 2016/04/03. doi: 10.1186/s12906-016-1088-y. PubMed PMID: 27036550; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4815257.

260. Merino VF, Nguyen N, Jin K, Sadik H, Cho S, Korangath P, et al. Combined Treatment with Epigenetic, Differentiating, and Chemotherapeutic Agents Cooperatively Targets Tumor-Initiating Cells in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cancer research. 2016;76(7):2013-24. Epub 2016/01/21. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-15-1619. PubMed PMID: 26787836; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4873448.

261. Liu Y, Zou T, Wang S, Chen H, Su D, Fu X, et al. Genistein-induced differentiation of breast cancer stem/progenitor cells through a paracrine mechanism. Int J Oncol. 2016;48(3):1063-72. Epub 2016/01/23. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2016.3351. PubMed PMID: 26794366.

262. Takehara M, Hoshino T, Namba T, Yamakawa N, Mizushima T. Acetaminopheninduced differentiation of human breast cancer stem cells and inhibition of tumor xenograft growth in mice. Biochem Pharmacol. 2011;81(9):1124-35. Epub 2011/03/05. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2011.02.012. PubMed PMID: 21371442.

263. Van Phuc P, Nhan PL, Nhung TH, Tam NT, Hoang NM, Tue VG, et al. Downregulation of CD44 reduces doxorubicin resistance of CD44CD24 breast cancer cells. Onco Targets Ther. 2011;4:71-8. Epub 2011/07/28. doi: 10.2147/ott.S21431. PubMed PMID: 21792314; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3143907.

264. Boland MJ, Nazor KL, Loring JF. Epigenetic regulation of pluripotency and differentiation. Circ Res. 2014;115(2):311-24. Epub 2014/07/06. doi:

10.1161/circresaha.115.301517. PubMed PMID: 24989490; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4229506.

265. Petrelli A, Carollo R, Cargnelutti M, Iovino F, Callari M, Cimino D, et al. By promoting cell differentiation, miR-100 sensitizes basal-like breast cancer stem cells to hormonal therapy. Oncotarget. 2015;6(4):2315-30. Epub 2014/12/30. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2962. PubMed PMID: 25537513; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4385854.

266. Damaskos C, Garmpis N, Valsami S, Kontos M, Spartalis E, Kalampokas T, et al. Histone Deacetylase Inhibitors: An Attractive Therapeutic Strategy Against Breast Cancer. Anticancer Res. 2017;37(1):35-46. Epub 2016/12/25. doi:

10.21873/anticanres.11286. PubMed PMID: 28011471.

267. Salvador MA, Wicinski J, Cabaud O, Toiron Y, Finetti P, Josselin E, et al. The histone deacetylase inhibitor abexinostat induces cancer stem cells differentiation in breast cancer with low Xist expression. Clin Cancer Res. 2013;19(23):6520-31. Epub 2013/10/22. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-13-0877. PubMed PMID: 24141629.

268. Bikle DD. Vitamin D and bone. Curr Osteoporos Rep. 2012;10(2):151-9. Epub 2012/05/01. doi: 10.1007/s11914-012-0098-z. PubMed PMID: 22544628; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3688475.

269. Bikle DD. Vitamin D metabolism, mechanism of action, and clinical applications. Chem Biol. 2014;21(3):319-29. Epub 2014/02/18. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2013.12.016. PubMed PMID: 24529992; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3968073.

270. Pike JW, Meyer MB, Lee SM, Onal M, Benkusky NA. The vitamin D receptor: contemporary genomic approaches reveal new basic and translational insights. J Clin Invest. 2017;127(4):1146-54. Epub 2017/02/28. doi: 10.1172/jci88887. PubMed PMID: 28240603; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5373853.

271. Miyamoto K, Kesterson RA, Yamamoto H, Taketani Y, Nishiwaki E, Tatsumi S, et al. Structural organization of the human vitamin D receptor chromosomal gene and its promoter. Mol Endocrinol. 1997;11(8):1165-79. Epub 1997/07/01. doi: 10.1210/mend.11.8.9951. PubMed PMID: 9212063.

272. Zinser GM, Welsh J. Accelerated mammary gland development during pregnancy and delayed postlactational involution in vitamin D3 receptor null mice. Mol Endocrinol. 2004;18(9):2208-23. Epub 2004/06/05. doi: 10.1210/me.2003-0469. PubMed PMID: 15178742.

273. Alco G, Igdem S, Dincer M, Ozmen V, Saglam S, Selamoglu D, et al. Vitamin D levels in patients with breast cancer: importance of dressing style. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2014;15(3):1357-62. Epub 2014/03/13. doi: 10.7314/apjcp.2014.15.3.1357. PubMed PMID: 24606465.

274. Shaukat N, Jaleel F, Moosa FA, Qureshi NA. Association between Vitamin D deficiency and Breast Cancer. Pak J Med Sci. 2017;33(3):645-9. Epub 2017/08/16. doi: 10.12669/pjms.333.11753. PubMed PMID: 28811787; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5510119.

275. Estébanez N, Gómez-Acebo I, Palazuelos C, Llorca J, Dierssen-Sotos T. Vitamin D exposure and Risk of Breast Cancer: a meta-analysis. Sci Rep. 2018;8(1):9039. Epub 2018/06/15. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27297-1. PubMed PMID: 29899554; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5997996.

276. Huss L, Butt ST, Borgquist S, Elebro K, Sandsveden M, Rosendahl A, et al. Vitamin D receptor expression in invasive breast tumors and breast cancer survival. Breast Cancer Res. 2019;21(1):84. Epub 2019/07/31. doi: 10.1186/s13058-019-1169-1. PubMed PMID: 31358030; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6664551.

277. Khan MI, Bielecka ZF, Najm MZ, Bartnik E, Czarnecki JS, Czarnecka AM, et al. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms in breast and renal cancer: current state and future approaches (review). Int J Oncol. 2014;44(2):349-63. Epub 2013/12/04. doi:

10.3892/ijo.2013.2204. PubMed PMID: 24297042; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3898813.

278. Guy M, Lowe LC, Bretherton-Watt D, Mansi JL, Peckitt C, Bliss J, et al. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and breast cancer risk. Clin Cancer Res.

2004;10(16):5472-81. Epub 2004/08/26. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-04-0206. PubMed PMID: 15328186.

279. Nemenqani DM, Karam RA, Amer MG, Abd El Rahman TM. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and steroid receptor status among Saudi women with breast cancer. Gene. 2015;558(2):215-9. Epub 2015/01/07. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2014.12.065. PubMed PMID: 25560187.

280. Zhou ZC, Wang J, Cai ZH, Zhang QH, Cai ZX, Wu JH. Association between vitamin D receptor gene Cdx2 polymorphism and breast cancer susceptibility. Tumour Biol. 2013;34(6):3437-41. Epub 2013/07/04. doi: 10.1007/s13277-013-0919-4. PubMed PMID: 23821301.

281. Lu D, Jing L, Zhang S. Vitamin D Receptor Polymorphism and Breast Cancer Risk: A Meta-Analysis. Medicine (Baltimore). 2016;95(18):e3535. Epub 2016/05/07. doi: 10.1097/md.0000000000003535. PubMed PMID: 27149457; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4863774.

282. Abbas S, Nieters A, Linseisen J, Slanger T, Kropp S, Mutschelknauss EJ, et al. Vitamin D receptor gene polymorphisms and haplotypes and postmenopausal breast cancer risk. Breast Cancer Res. 2008;10(2):R31. Epub 2008/04/19. doi: 10.1186/bcr1994. PubMed PMID: 18419802; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2397533.

283. Ali MM, Vaidya V. Vitamin D and cancer. J Cancer Res Ther. 2007;3(4):225-30. Epub 2008/02/14. doi: 10.4103/0973-1482.38998. PubMed PMID: 18270398.

284. Colston KW, Chander SK, Mackay AG, Coombes RC. Effects of synthetic vitamin D analogues on breast cancer cell proliferation in vivo and in vitro. Biochem Pharmacol. 1992;44(4):693-702. Epub 1992/08/18. doi: 10.1016/0006-2952(92)90405-8. PubMed PMID: 1324683.

285. Høyer-Hansen M, Bastholm L, Mathiasen IS, Elling F, Jäättelä M. Vitamin D analog EB1089 triggers dramatic lysosomal changes and Beclin 1-mediated autophagic cell death. Cell Death Differ. 2005;12(10):1297-309. Epub 2005/05/21. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4401651. PubMed PMID: 15905882.

286. Simboli-Campbell M, Narvaez CJ, Tenniswood M, Welsh J. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces morphological and biochemical markers of apoptosis in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 1996;58(4):367-76. Epub 1996/07/01. doi: 10.1016/0960-0760(96)00055-6. PubMed PMID: 8903420.

287. Belorusova AY, Suh N, Lee HJ, So JY, Maehr H, Rochel N. Structural analysis and biological activities of BXL0124, a gemini analog of vitamin D. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;173:69-74. Epub 2016/10/27. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.09.015. PubMed PMID: 27650654; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5357203.

288. Deeb KK, Trump DL, Johnson CS. Vitamin D signalling pathways in cancer: potential for anticancer therapeutics. Nat Rev Cancer. 2007;7(9):684-700. Epub 2007/08/28. doi: 10.1038/nrc2196. PubMed PMID: 17721433.
289. Lee HJ, Paul S, Atalla N, Thomas PE, Lin X, Yang I, et al. Gemini vitamin D analogues inhibit estrogen receptor-positive and estrogen receptor-negative mammary tumorigenesis without hypercalcemic toxicity. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2008;1(6):476-84. Epub 2009/01/14. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-08-0084. PubMed PMID: 19138995; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2753526.

290. Wilmanski T, Barnard A, Parikh MR, Kirshner J, Buhman K, Burgess J, et al. 1α , 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibits the Metastatic Capability of MCF10CA1a and MDA-MB-231 Cells in an In Vitro Model of Breast to Bone Metastasis. Nutr Cancer. 2016;68(7):1202-9. Epub 2016/08/24. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2016.1213868. PubMed PMID: 27552186; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5047026.

291. Wang Q, Lee D, Sysounthone V, Chandraratna RAS, Christakos S, Korah R, et al. 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 and retonic acid analogues induce differentiation in breast cancer cells with function- and cell-specific additive effects. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2001;67(2):157-68. Epub 2001/08/25. doi: 10.1023/a:1010643323268. PubMed PMID: 11519864.

292. Lopes N, Carvalho J, Durães C, Sousa B, Gomes M, Costa JL, et al. 1Alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D3 induces de novo E-cadherin expression in triple-negative breast cancer cells by CDH1-promoter demethylation. Anticancer Res. 2012;32(1):249-57. Epub 2012/01/04. PubMed PMID: 22213313.

293. Mantell DJ, Owens PE, Bundred NJ, Mawer EB, Canfield AE. 1 alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Circ Res. 2000;87(3):214-20. Epub 2000/08/06. doi: 10.1161/01.res.87.3.214. PubMed PMID: 10926872.

294. Karkeni E, Morin SO, Bou Tayeh B, Goubard A, Josselin E, Castellano R, et al. Vitamin D Controls Tumor Growth and CD8+ T Cell Infiltration in Breast Cancer. Front Immunol. 2019;10:1307. Epub 2019/06/28. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01307. PubMed PMID: 31244851; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6563618.

295. Jeong Y, Swami S, Krishnan AV, Williams JD, Martin S, Horst RL, et al. Inhibition of Mouse Breast Tumor-Initiating Cells by Calcitriol and Dietary Vitamin D. Mol Cancer Ther. 2015;14(8):1951-61. Epub 2015/05/03. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.Mct-15-0066. PubMed PMID: 25934710; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4549392.

296. Wahler J, So JY, Kim YC, Liu F, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, et al. Inhibition of the transition of ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive ductal carcinoma by a Gemini vitamin D analog. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2014;7(6):617-26. Epub 2014/04/03. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-13-0362. PubMed PMID: 24691501; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4047145.

297. So JY, Lee HJ, Smolarek AK, Paul S, Wang CX, Maehr H, et al. A novel Gemini vitamin D analog represses the expression of a stem cell marker CD44 in breast cancer. Mol Pharmacol. 2011;79(3):360-7. Epub 2010/12/01. doi: 10.1124/mol.110.068403. PubMed PMID: 21115634; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3061370.

298. So JY, Smolarek AK, Salerno DM, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, Liu F, et al. Targeting CD44-STAT3 signaling by Gemini vitamin D analog leads to inhibition of invasion in basallike breast cancer. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e54020. Epub 2013/01/18. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0054020. PubMed PMID: 23326564; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3543376.

299. So JY, Wahler JE, Yoon T, Smolarek AK, Lin Y, Shih WJ, et al. Oral administration of a gemini vitamin D analog, a synthetic triterpenoid and the combination prevents mammary tumorigenesis driven by ErbB2 overexpression. Cancer Prev Res (Phila). 2013;6(9):959-70. Epub 2013/07/17. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-13-0087. PubMed PMID: 23856074; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3767182.

300. Wahler J, So JY, Cheng LC, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, Suh N. Vitamin D compounds reduce mammosphere formation and decrease expression of putative stem cell markers in breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2015;148:148-55. Epub 2014/12/03. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.10.016. PubMed PMID: 25445919; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4361333.

301. Pervin S, Hewison M, Braga M, Tran L, Chun R, Karam A, et al. Down-regulation of vitamin D receptor in mammospheres: implications for vitamin D resistance in breast cancer and potential for combination therapy. PLoS One. 2013;8(1):e53287. Epub 2013/01/24. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053287. PubMed PMID: 23341935; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3544824.

302. Leccia F, Del Vecchio L, Mariotti E, Di Noto R, Morel AP, Puisieux A, et al. ABCG2, a novel antigen to sort luminal progenitors of BRCA1- breast cancer cells. Mol Cancer.
2014;13:213. Epub 2014/09/14. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-13-213. PubMed PMID: 25216750; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4176869.

303. Croker AK, Allan AL. Inhibition of aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) activity reduces chemotherapy and radiation resistance of stem-like ALDHhiCD44(+) human breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2012;133(1):75-87. Epub 2011/08/06. doi: 10.1007/s10549-011-1692-y. PubMed PMID: 21818590.

304. Balamurugan K, Mendoza-Villanueva D, Sharan S, Summers GH, Dobrolecki LE, Lewis MT, et al. C/EBPdelta links IL-6 and HIF-1 signaling to promote breast cancer stem cell-associated phenotypes. Oncogene. 2018. Epub 2018/09/29. doi: 10.1038/s41388-018-0516-5. PubMed PMID: 30262865.

Jiao X, Velasco-Velazquez MA, Wang M, Li Z, Rui H, Peck AR, et al. CCR5 Governs DNA Damage Repair and Breast Cancer Stem Cell Expansion. Cancer research.
2018;78(7):1657-71. Epub 2018/01/24. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-17-0915. PubMed PMID: 29358169.

306. Vassilopoulos A, Chisholm C, Lahusen T, Zheng H, Deng CX. A critical role of CD29 and CD49f in mediating metastasis for cancer-initiating cells isolated from a Brca1associated mouse model of breast cancer. Oncogene. 2014;33(47):5477-82. Epub 2013/12/10. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.516. PubMed PMID: 24317509.

307. Cho RW, Wang X, Diehn M, Shedden K, Chen GY, Sherlock G, et al. Isolation and molecular characterization of cancer stem cells in MMTV-Wnt-1 murine breast tumors. Stem Cells. 2008;26(2):364-71. Epub 2007/11/03. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2007-0440. PubMed PMID: 17975224.

308. Vaillant F, Asselin-Labat ML, Shackleton M, Forrest NC, Lindeman GJ, Visvader JE. The mammary progenitor marker CD61/beta3 integrin identifies cancer stem cells in

mouse models of mammary tumorigenesis. Cancer Res. 2008;68(19):7711-7. Epub 2008/10/03. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-08-1949. PubMed PMID: 18829523.

309. Fillmore CM, Kuperwasser C. Human breast cancer cell lines contain stem-like cells that self-renew, give rise to phenotypically diverse progeny and survive chemotherapy. Breast Cancer Res. 2008;10(2):R25. Epub 2008/03/28. doi: 10.1186/bcr1982. PubMed PMID: 18366788; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2397524.

310. Meyer MJ, Fleming JM, Lin AF, Hussnain SA, Ginsburg E, Vonderhaar BK. CD44posCD49fhiCD133/2hi defines xenograft-initiating cells in estrogen receptornegative breast cancer. Cancer research. 2010;70(11):4624-33. Epub 2010/05/21. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-09-3619. PubMed PMID: 20484027; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4129519.

311. Cheung SK, Chuang PK, Huang HW, Hwang-Verslues WW, Cho CH, Yang WB, et al. Stage-specific embryonic antigen-3 (SSEA-3) and β3GalT5 are cancer specific and significant markers for breast cancer stem cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.
2016;113(4):960-5. Epub 2015/12/19. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1522602113. PubMed PMID: 26677875; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4743801.

312. Pece S, Tosoni D, Confalonieri S, Mazzarol G, Vecchi M, Ronzoni S, et al. Biological and molecular heterogeneity of breast cancers correlates with their cancer stem cell content. Cell. 2010;140(1):62-73. Epub 2010/01/16. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.12.007. PubMed PMID: 20074520.

313. Lo PK, Kanojia D, Liu X, Singh UP, Berger FG, Wang Q, et al. CD49f and CD61 identify Her2/neu-induced mammary tumor-initiating cells that are potentially derived from luminal progenitors and maintained by the integrin-TGFβ signaling. Oncogene. 2012;31(21):2614-26. Epub 2011/10/15. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.439. PubMed PMID: 21996747; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3260386.

314. Desgrosellier JS, Lesperance J, Seguin L, Gozo M, Kato S, Franovic A, et al. Integrin alphavbeta3 drives slug activation and stemness in the pregnant and neoplastic mammary gland. Developmental cell. 2014;30(3):295-308. Epub 2014/08/15. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014.06.005. PubMed PMID: 25117682; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4147869.

315. Liu L, Yin B, Yi Z, Liu X, Hu Z, Gao W, et al. Breast cancer stem cells characterized by CD70 expression preferentially metastasize to the lungs. Breast Cancer.

2018;25(6):706-16. Epub 2018/06/28. doi: 10.1007/s12282-018-0880-6. PubMed PMID: 29948958.

316. Thiagarajan PS, Sinyuk M, Turaga SM, Mulkearns-Hubert EE, Hale JS, Rao V, et al. Cx26 drives self-renewal in triple-negative breast cancer via interaction with NANOG and focal adhesion kinase. Nature communications. 2018;9(1):578. Epub 2018/02/10. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-02938-1. PubMed PMID: 29422613; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5805730.

317. Wang Y, Tu L, Du C, Xie X, Liu Y, Wang J, et al. CXCR2 is a novel cancer stem-like cell marker for triple-negative breast cancer. OncoTargets and therapy. 2018;11:5559-67. Epub 2018/09/21. doi: 10.2147/ott.S174329. PubMed PMID: 30233217; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6134958.

318. Battula VL, Shi Y, Evans KW, Wang RY, Spaeth EL, Jacamo RO, et al. Ganglioside GD2 identifies breast cancer stem cells and promotes tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest. 2012;122(6):2066-78. Epub 2012/05/16. doi: 10.1172/jci59735. PubMed PMID: 22585577; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3591166.

319. Tamori S, Nozaki Y, Motomura H, Nakane H, Katayama R, Onaga C, et al. Glyoxalase 1 gene is highly expressed in basal-like human breast cancers and contributes to survival of ALDH1-positive breast cancer stem cells. Oncotarget. 2018;9(92):36515-29. Epub 2018/12/19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26369. PubMed PMID: 30559934; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6284866.

320. Yang L, Tang H, Kong Y, Xie X, Chen J, Song C, et al. LGR5 Promotes Breast Cancer Progression and Maintains Stem-Like Cells Through Activation of Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling. Stem Cells. 2015;33(10):2913-24. Epub 2015/06/19. doi: 10.1002/stem.2083. PubMed PMID: 26086949.

321. Wu L, Wang T, He D, Li X, Jiang Y. miR-1 inhibits the proliferation of breast cancer stem cells by targeting EVI-1. OncoTargets and therapy. 2018;11:8773-81. Epub 2018/12/26. doi: 10.2147/ott.S188836. PubMed PMID: 30584335; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6287527.

322. Roscigno G, Quintavalle C, Donnarumma E, Puoti I, Diaz-Lagares A, Iaboni M, et al. MiR-221 promotes stemness of breast cancer cells by targeting DNMT3b. Oncotarget. 2016;7(1):580-92. Epub 2015/11/12. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5979. PubMed PMID: 26556862; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4808019.

323. Engelmann K, Shen H, Finn OJ. MCF7 side population cells with characteristics of cancer stem/progenitor cells express the tumor antigen MUC1. Cancer Res.
2008;68(7):2419-26. Epub 2008/04/03. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-07-2249. PubMed PMID: 18381450.

324. Siddharth S, Goutam K, Das S, Nayak A, Nayak D, Sethy C, et al. Nectin-4 is a breast cancer stem cell marker that induces WNT/β-catenin signaling via Pi3k/Akt axis. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. 2017;89:85-94. Epub 2017/06/11. doi:

10.1016/j.biocel.2017.06.007. PubMed PMID: 28600142.

325. Hwang-Verslues WW, Kuo WH, Chang PH, Pan CC, Wang HH, Tsai ST, et al. Multiple lineages of human breast cancer stem/progenitor cells identified by profiling with stem cell markers. PloS one. 2009;4(12):e8377. Epub 2009/12/23. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008377. PubMed PMID: 20027313; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2793431.

326. Hong D, Fritz AJ, Finstad KH, Fitzgerald MP, Weinheimer A, Viens AL, et al. Suppression of Breast Cancer Stem Cells and Tumor Growth by the RUNX1 Transcription Factor. Molecular cancer research : MCR. 2018;16(12):1952-64. Epub 2018/08/08. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-18-0135. PubMed PMID: 30082484.

327. Grange C, Lanzardo S, Cavallo F, Camussi G, Bussolati B. Sca-1 identifies the tumor-initiating cells in mammary tumors of BALB-neuT transgenic mice. Neoplasia. 2008;10(12):1433-43. Epub 2008/12/03. doi: 10.1593/neo.08902. PubMed PMID: 19048122; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2586694.

328. Ibrahim SA, Gadalla R, El-Ghonaimy EA, Samir O, Mohamed HT, Hassan H, et al. Syndecan-1 is a novel molecular marker for triple negative inflammatory breast cancer and modulates the cancer stem cell phenotype via the IL-6/STAT3, Notch and EGFR signaling pathways. 2017;16(1):57. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0621-z.

329. Feng W, Li Y, Chu J, Li J, Zhang Y, Ding X, et al. Identification of tRNA-derived small noncoding RNAs as potential biomarkers for prediction of recurrence in triple-negative breast cancer. 2018;7(10):5130-44. doi: doi:10.1002/cam4.1761.

330. Afshar E, Hashemi-Arabi M, Salami S, Peirouvi T, Pouriran R. Screening of acetaminophen-induced alterations in epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-related expression of microRNAs in a model of stem-like triple-negative breast cancer cells: The possible functional impacts. Gene. 2019;702:46-55. Epub 2019/03/23. doi: 10.1016/j.gene.2019.02.106. PubMed PMID: 30898700.

331. Rhost S, Hughes É, Harrison H, Rafnsdottir S, Jacobsson H, Gregersson P, et al. Sortilin inhibition limits secretion-induced progranulin-dependent breast cancer progression and cancer stem cell expansion. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):137. Epub 2018/11/21. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1060-5. PubMed PMID: 30454027; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6245804.

332. Corradetti B, Vaiasicca S, Mantovani M, Virgili E, Bonucci M, Hammarberg Ferri I.
Bioactive Immunomodulatory Compounds: A Novel Combinatorial Strategy for
Integrated Medicine in Oncology? BAIC Exposure in Cancer Cells. Integr Cancer Ther.
2019;18:1534735419866908. Epub 2019/08/17. doi: 10.1177/1534735419866908.
PubMed PMID: 31416372; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6699000.

333. Wu MJ, Kim MR, Chen YS, Yang JY, Chang CJ. Retinoic acid directs breast cancer cell state changes through regulation of TET2-PKCζ pathway. Oncogene.

2017;36(22):3193-206. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.467. PubMed PMID: 28218902. 334. Yu B, Yuan B, Kiyomi A, Kikuchi H, Hayashi H, Hu X, et al. Differentiation induction of human breast cancer cells by arsenite in combination with tetrandrine. Am J Transl Res. 2019;11(12):7310-23. Epub 2020/01/15. PubMed PMID: 31934280; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6943472.

335. Koohestanimobarhan S, Salami S, Imeni V, Mohammadi Z, Bayat O. Lipophilic statins antagonistically alter the major epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition signaling pathways in breast cancer stem-like cells via inhibition of the mevalonate pathway. J Cell Biochem. 2018. Epub 2018/09/08. doi: 10.1002/jcb.27544. PubMed PMID: 30191610.

336. Kim DW, Cho JY. NQO1 is Required for β-Lapachone-Mediated Downregulation of Breast-Cancer Stem-Cell Activity. Int J Mol Sci. 2018;19(12). Epub 2018/12/06. doi: 10.3390/ijms19123813. PubMed PMID: 30513573; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6321092.

337. Clément F, Xu X, Donini CF, Clément A, Omarjee S, Delay E, et al. Long-term exposure to bisphenol A or benzo(a)pyrene alters the fate of human mammary epithelial stem cells in response to BMP2 and BMP4, by pre-activating BMP signaling. Cell Death Differ. 2017;24(1):155-66. Epub 2016/10/16. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2016.107. PubMed PMID: 27740625; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5260492.

338. Risom T, Langer EM, Chapman MP, Rantala J, Fields AJ, Boniface C, et al. Differentiation-state plasticity is a targetable resistance mechanism in basal-like breast cancer. Nat Commun. 2018;9(1):3815. Epub 2018/09/21. doi: 10.1038/s41467-01805729-w. PubMed PMID: 30232459; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6145927 Inc., a company that has licensed the VIPER algorithm used in this manuscript from Columbia University. Columbia University is also an equity holder in DarwinHealth Inc. Mariano J. Alvarez is an equity holder and consultant of DarwinHealth Inc.

339. Shan NL, Wahler J, Lee HJ, Bak MJ, Gupta SD, Maehr H, et al. Vitamin D compounds inhibit cancer stem-like cells and induce differentiation in triple negative breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2017;173:122-9. Epub 2016/12/08. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2016.12.001. PubMed PMID: 27923595; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5459680.

340. Manupati K, Dhoke NR, Debnath T, Yeeravalli R, Guguloth K, Saeidpour S, et al. Inhibiting epidermal growth factor receptor signalling potentiates mesenchymalepithelial transition of breast cancer stem cells and their responsiveness to anticancer drugs. Febs j. 2017;284(12):1830-54. Epub 2017/04/12. doi: 10.1111/febs.14084. PubMed PMID: 28398698.

341. Pattabiraman DR, Bierie B, Kober KI, Thiru P, Krall JA, Zill C, et al. Activation of PKA leads to mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition and loss of tumor-initiating ability. Science. 2016;351(6277):aad3680. Epub 2016/03/05. doi: 10.1126/science.aad3680. PubMed PMID: 26941323; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5131720.

342. Nigjeh SE, Yeap SK, Nordin N, Rahman H, Rosli R. In Vivo Anti-Tumor Effects of Citral on 4T1 Breast Cancer Cells via Induction of Apoptosis and Downregulation of Aldehyde Dehydrogenase Activity. Molecules. 2019;24(18). Epub 2019/09/08. doi: 10.3390/molecules24183241. PubMed PMID: 31492037; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6767168.

343. Hu C, Li M, Guo T, Wang S, Huang W, Yang K, et al. Anti-metastasis activity of curcumin against breast cancer via the inhibition of stem cell-like properties and EMT. Phytomedicine. 2019;58:152740. Epub 2019/04/22. doi:

10.1016/j.phymed.2018.11.001. PubMed PMID: 31005718.

344. Colacino JA, McDermott SP, Sartor MA, Wicha MS, Rozek LS. Transcriptomic profiling of curcumin-treated human breast stem cells identifies a role for stearoyl-coa desaturase in breast cancer prevention. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016;158(1):29-41. Epub 2016/06/17. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3854-4. PubMed PMID: 27306423; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5831404.

345. Benoit YD, Mitchell RR, Risueño RM, Orlando L, Tanasijevic B, Boyd AL, et al. Sam68 Allows Selective Targeting of Human Cancer Stem Cells. Cell Chem Biol. 2017;24(7):833-44.e9. Epub 2017/06/27. doi: 10.1016/j.chembiol.2017.05.026. PubMed PMID: 28648376.

346. Tian J, Raffa FA, Dai M, Moamer A, Khadang B, Hachim IY, et al. Dasatinib sensitises triple negative breast cancer cells to chemotherapy by targeting breast cancer stem cells. Br J Cancer. 2018;119(12):1495-507. Epub 2018/11/30. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0287-3. PubMed PMID: 30482914; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6288167.

347. Li X, Meng Y, Xie C, Zhu J, Wang X, Li Y, et al. Diallyl Trisulfide inhibits breast cancer stem cells via suppression of Wnt/β-catenin pathway. J Cell Biochem. 2018;119(5):4134-41. Epub 2017/12/16. doi: 10.1002/jcb.26613. PubMed PMID: 29243835.

348. Gkountela S, Castro-Giner F, Szczerba BM, Vetter M, Landin J, Scherrer R, et al. Circulating Tumor Cell Clustering Shapes DNA Methylation to Enable Metastasis Seeding. Cell. 2019;176(1-2):98-112.e14. Epub 2019/01/12. doi:

10.1016/j.cell.2018.11.046. PubMed PMID: 30633912; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6363966.

349. Kim YJ, Kim JY, Lee N, Oh E, Sung D, Cho TM, et al. Disulfiram suppresses cancer stem-like properties and STAT3 signaling in triple-negative breast cancer cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2017;486(4):1069-76. Epub 2017/04/05. doi:

10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.03.164. PubMed PMID: 28373070.

350. Tudoran O, Soritau O, Balacescu L, Visan S, Barbos O, Cojocneanu-Petric R, et al. Regulation of stem cells-related signaling pathways in response to doxorubicin treatment in Hs578T triple-negative breast cancer cells. Mol Cell Biochem. 2015;409(1-2):163-76. Epub 2015/07/19. doi: 10.1007/s11010-015-2522-z. PubMed PMID: 26187676.

351. Cuenca-López MD, Serrano-Heras G, Montero JC, Corrales-Sánchez V, Gomez-Juarez M, Gascón-Escribano MJ, et al. Antitumor activity of the novel multi-kinase inhibitor EC-70124 in triple negative breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2015;6(29):27923-37. Epub 2015/09/01. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.4736. PubMed PMID: 26314846; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4695035.

352. Ory V, Kietzman WB, Boeckelman J, Kallakury BV, Wellstein A, Furth PA, et al. The PPARy agonist efatutazone delays invasive progression and induces differentiation of ductal carcinoma in situ. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2018;169(1):47-57. Epub 2018/01/20. doi: 10.1007/s10549-017-4649-y. PubMed PMID: 29350308; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5884724.

353. Merino VF, Cho S, Nguyen N, Sadik H, Narayan A, Talbot C, Jr., et al. Induction of cell cycle arrest and inflammatory genes by combined treatment with epigenetic, differentiating, and chemotherapeutic agents in triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):145. Epub 2018/11/30. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-1068-x. PubMed PMID: 30486871; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6263070.

354. Hou ZJ, Luo X, Zhang W, Peng F, Cui B, Wu SJ, et al. Flubendazole, FDA-approved anthelmintic, targets breast cancer stem-like cells. Oncotarget. 2015;6(8):6326-40. Epub 2015/03/27. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3436. PubMed PMID: 25811972; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4467440.

355. Fiorillo M, Verre AF, Iliut M, Peiris-Pagés M, Ozsvari B, Gandara R, et al. Graphene oxide selectively targets cancer stem cells, across multiple tumor types: implications for non-toxic cancer treatment, via "differentiation-based nano-therapy". Oncotarget. 2015;6(6):3553-62. Epub 2015/02/25. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.3348. PubMed PMID: 25708684; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4414136.

356. Liu Y, Pandey PR, Sharma S, Xing F, Wu K, Chittiboyina A, et al. ID2 and GJB2 promote early-stage breast cancer progression by regulating cancer stemness. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2019;175(1):77-90. Epub 2019/02/07. doi: 10.1007/s10549-018-05126-3. PubMed PMID: 30725231; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6494690. 357. Jung SY, Yi JY, Kim MH, Song KH, Kang SM, Ahn J, et al. IM-412 inhibits the invasion of human breast carcinoma cells by blocking FGFR-mediated signaling. Oncol

Rep. 2015;34(5):2731-7. Epub 2015/09/10. doi: 10.3892/or.2015.4249. PubMed PMID: 26351897.

358. Dominguez-Gomez G, Chavez-Blanco A, Medina-Franco JL, Saldivar-Gonzalez F, Flores-Torrontegui Y, Juarez M, et al. Ivermectin as an inhibitor of cancer stem-like cells. Mol Med Rep. 2018;17(2):3397-403. Epub 2017/12/20. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.8231. PubMed PMID: 29257278.

359. Strietz J, Stepputtis SS, Preca BT, Vannier C, Kim MM, Castro DJ, et al. ERN1 and ALPK1 inhibit differentiation of bi-potential tumor-initiating cells in human breast cancer. Oncotarget. 2016;7(50):83278-93. Epub 2016/11/10. doi:

10.18632/oncotarget.13086. PubMed PMID: 27829216; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5347769.

360. Berardi DE, Raffo D, Todaro LB, Simian M. Laminin Modulates the Stem Cell Population in LM05-E Murine Breast Cancer Cells through the Activation of the MAPK/ERK Pathway. Cancer Res Treat. 2017;49(4):869-79. Epub 2017/01/06. doi: 10.4143/crt.2016.378. PubMed PMID: 28052658; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5654159.

361. Tan W, Tang H, Jiang X, Ye F, Huang L, Shi D, et al. Metformin mediates induction of miR-708 to inhibit self-renewal and chemoresistance of breast cancer stem cells through targeting CD47. J Cell Mol Med. 2019;23(9):5994-6004. Epub 2019/07/06. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14462. PubMed PMID: 31273952; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6714171.

362. Sp N, Kang DY, Kim DH, Park JH, Lee HG, Kim HJ, et al. Nobiletin Inhibits CD36-Dependent Tumor Angiogenesis, Migration, Invasion, and Sphere Formation Through the Cd36/Stat3/Nf-Kb Signaling Axis. Nutrients. 2018;10(6). Epub 2018/06/20. doi: 10.3390/nu10060772. PubMed PMID: 29914089; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6024609.

363. Yoldi G, Pellegrini P, Trinidad EM, Cordero A, Gomez-Miragaya J, Serra-Musach J, et al. RANK Signaling Blockade Reduces Breast Cancer Recurrence by Inducing Tumor Cell Differentiation. Cancer Res. 2016;76(19):5857-69. Epub 2016/08/03. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-15-2745. PubMed PMID: 27480274.

364. Kietzman WB, Graham GT, Ory V, Sharif GM, Kushner MH, Gallanis GT, et al. Short- and Long-Term Effects of CDK4/6 Inhibition on Early-Stage Breast Cancer. Mol Cancer Ther. 2019;18(12):2220-32. Epub 2019/08/28. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.Mct-19-0231. PubMed PMID: 31451564; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6891167.

365. Hachim IY, López-Ozuna VM, Hachim MY, Lebrun JJ, Ali S. Prolactin hormone exerts anti-tumorigenic effects in HER-2 overexpressing breast cancer cells through regulation of stemness. Stem Cell Res. 2019;40:101538. Epub 2019/08/27. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2019.101538. PubMed PMID: 31450192.

366. Bosukonda A, Carlson WD. Harnessing the BMP signaling pathway to control the formation of cancer stem cells by effects on epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition. Biochem Soc Trans. 2017;45(1):223-8. Epub 2017/02/17. doi: 10.1042/bst20160177. PubMed PMID: 28202676.

367. Li X, Zhou N, Wang J, Liu Z, Wang X, Zhang Q, et al. Quercetin suppresses breast cancer stem cells (CD44(+)/CD24(-)) by inhibiting the PI3K/Akt/mTOR-signaling pathway.

Life Sci. 2018;196:56-62. Epub 2018/01/23. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.01.014. PubMed PMID: 29355544.

368. Hii LW, Chung FF, Soo JS, Tan BS, Mai CW, Leong CO. Histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors and doxorubicin combinations target both breast cancer stem cells and non-stem breast cancer cells simultaneously. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2020;179(3):615-29. Epub 2019/12/01. doi: 10.1007/s10549-019-05504-5. PubMed PMID: 31784862.

369. Deus CM, Serafim TL, Magalhães-Novais S, Vilaça A, Moreira AC, Sardão VA, et al. Sirtuin 1-dependent resveratrol cytotoxicity and pro-differentiation activity on breast cancer cells. Arch Toxicol. 2017;91(3):1261-78. Epub 2016/07/01. doi: 10.1007/s00204-016-1784-x. PubMed PMID: 27358235.

370. Ishay-Ronen D, Diepenbruck M, Kalathur RKR, Sugiyama N, Tiede S, Ivanek R, et al. Gain Fat-Lose Metastasis: Converting Invasive Breast Cancer Cells into Adipocytes Inhibits Cancer Metastasis. Cancer Cell. 2019;35(1):17-32.e6. Epub 2019/01/16. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2018.12.002. PubMed PMID: 30645973.

371. Wang T, Narayanaswamy R, Ren H, Torchilin VP. Combination therapy targeting both cancer stem-like cells and bulk tumor cells for improved efficacy of breast cancer treatment. Cancer Biol Ther. 2016;17(6):698-707. Epub 2016/06/05. doi:

10.1080/15384047.2016.1190488. PubMed PMID: 27259361; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4990396.

372. McGrail DJ, Lin CC, Dai H, Mo W, Li Y, Stephan C, et al. Defective Replication Stress Response Is Inherently Linked to the Cancer Stem Cell Phenotype. Cell Rep. 2018;23(7):2095-106. Epub 2018/05/17. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2018.04.068. PubMed PMID: 29768207.

373. Thakkar A, Wang B, Picon-Ruiz M, Buchwald P, Ince TA. Vitamin D and androgen receptor-targeted therapy for triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2016;157(1):77-90. Epub 2016/04/28. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-3807-y. PubMed PMID: 27120467; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4869778.

374. Abdollahi P, Ebrahimi M, Motamed N, Samani FS. Silibinin affects tumor cell growth because of reduction of stemness properties and induction of apoptosis in 2D and 3D models of MDA-MB-468. Anticancer Drugs. 2015;26(5):487-97. Epub 2015/01/21. doi: 10.1097/cad.0000000000000205. PubMed PMID: 25603020.

375. Hsu EC, Kulp SK, Huang HL, Tu HJ, Salunke SB, Sullivan NJ, et al. Function of Integrin-Linked Kinase in Modulating the Stemness of IL-6-Abundant Breast Cancer Cells by Regulating γ-Secretase-Mediated Notch1 Activation in Caveolae. Neoplasia.

2015;17(6):497-508. Epub 2015/07/15. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2015.06.001. PubMed PMID: 26152358; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4719004.

376. Ketchart W, Yeh IJ, Zhou H, Thiagarajan PS, Lathia J, Reizes O, et al. Induction of HEXIM1 activities by HMBA derivative 4a1: Functional consequences and mechanism. Cancer Lett. 2016;379(1):60-9. Epub 2016/05/31. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.05.029. PubMed PMID: 27238569; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4988685.

377. Phan NL, Trinh NV, Pham PV. Low concentrations of 5-aza-2'-deoxycytidine induce breast cancer stem cell differentiation by triggering tumor suppressor gene expression. Onco Targets Ther. 2016;9:49-59. Epub 2016/01/06. doi:

10.2147/ott.S96291. PubMed PMID: 26730203; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4694670.

378. Foulkes WD, Stefansson IM, Chappuis PO, Begin LR, Goffin JR, Wong N, et al. Germline BRCA1 mutations and a basal epithelial phenotype in breast cancer. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2003;95(19):1482-5. Epub 2003/10/02. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djg050. PubMed PMID: 14519755.

379. Mayer IA, Abramson VG, Lehmann BD, Pietenpol JA. New strategies for triplenegative breast cancer--deciphering the heterogeneity. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2014;20(4):782-90. Epub 2014/02/19. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-13-0583. PubMed PMID: 24536073; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3962777.

380. Bauer KR, Brown M, Cress RD, Parise CA, Caggiano V. Descriptive analysis of estrogen receptor (ER)-negative, progesterone receptor (PR)-negative, and HER2negative invasive breast cancer, the so-called triple-negative phenotype: a populationbased study from the California cancer Registry. Cancer. 2007;109(9):1721-8. Epub 2007/03/28. doi: 10.1002/cncr.22618. PubMed PMID: 17387718.

381. Li X, Yang J, Peng L, Sahin AA, Huo L, Ward KC, et al. Triple-negative breast cancer has worse overall survival and cause-specific survival than non-triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res Treat. 2017;161(2):279-87. Epub 2016/11/27. doi: 10.1007/s10549-016-4059-6. PubMed PMID: 27888421.

382. Reddy GM, Suresh PK, Pai RR. Clinicopathological Features of Triple Negative Breast Carcinoma. J Clin Diagn Res. 2017;11(1):Ec05-ec8. Epub 2017/03/10. doi: 10.7860/jcdr/2017/21452.9187. PubMed PMID: 28273970; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5324415.

383. Dent R, Trudeau M, Pritchard KI, Hanna WM, Kahn HK, Sawka CA, et al. Triplenegative breast cancer: clinical features and patterns of recurrence. Clin Cancer Res. 2007;13(15 Pt 1):4429-34. Epub 2007/08/03. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-06-3045. PubMed PMID: 17671126.

384. Pal S, Luchtenborg M, Davies EA, Jack RH. The treatment and survival of patients with triple negative breast cancer in a London population. SpringerPlus. 2014;3:553. Epub 2014/10/18. doi: 10.1186/2193-1801-3-553. PubMed PMID: 25324980; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4188837.

Perou CM. Molecular stratification of triple-negative breast cancers. Oncologist.
2010;15 Suppl 5:39-48. Epub 2010/12/16. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2010-S5-39.
PubMed PMID: 21138954.

386. Holstege H, Horlings HM, Velds A, Langerød A, Børresen-Dale AL, van de Vijver MJ, et al. BRCA1-mutated and basal-like breast cancers have similar aCGH profiles and a high incidence of protein truncating TP53 mutations. BMC Cancer. 2010;10:654. Epub 2010/12/02. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-654. PubMed PMID: 21118481; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3002929.

387. Yam C, Mani SA, Moulder SL. Targeting the Molecular Subtypes of Triple Negative Breast Cancer: Understanding the Diversity to Progress the Field. Oncologist. 2017;22(9):1086-93. Epub 2017/06/01. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0095. PubMed PMID: 28559413; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5599192. 388. Badowska-Kozakiewicz AM, Budzik MP. Immunohistochemical characteristics of basal-like breast cancer. Contemporary Oncology. 2016;20(6):436-43. Epub 2017/02/28. doi: 10.5114/wo.2016.56938. PubMed PMID: 28239279; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5320452.

389. Fulford LG, Reis-Filho JS, Ryder K, Jones C, Gillett CE, Hanby A, et al. Basal-like grade III invasive ductal carcinoma of the breast: patterns of metastasis and long-term survival. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2007;9(1):R4. Epub 2007/01/16. doi: 10.1186/bcr1636. PubMed PMID: 17217540; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1851397.

390. Bareche Y, Venet D, Ignatiadis M, Aftimos P, Piccart M, Rothe F, et al. Unravelling triple-negative breast cancer molecular heterogeneity using an integrative multiomic analysis. Ann Oncol. 2018;29(4):895-902. Epub 2018/01/25. doi:

10.1093/annonc/mdy024. PubMed PMID: 29365031; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5913636.

391. Lehmann BD, Pietenpol JA. Identification and use of biomarkers in treatment strategies for triple-negative breast cancer subtypes. J Pathol. 2014;232(2):142-50. Epub 2013/10/12. doi: 10.1002/path.4280. PubMed PMID: 24114677; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4090031.

392. Lehmann BD, Bauer JA, Chen X, Sanders ME, Chakravarthy AB, Shyr Y, et al. Identification of human triple-negative breast cancer subtypes and preclinical models for selection of targeted therapies. The Journal of clinical investigation.

2011;121(7):2750-67. Epub 2011/06/03. doi: 10.1172/jci45014. PubMed PMID: 21633166; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3127435.

393. Masuda H, Baggerly KA, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Gonzalez-Angulo AM, Meric-Bernstam F, et al. Differential response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy among 7 triple-negative breast cancer molecular subtypes. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2013;19(19):5533-40. Epub 2013/08/21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-13-0799. PubMed PMID: 23948975; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3813597.

394. Bauer JA, Chakravarthy AB, Rosenbluth JM, Mi D, Seeley EH, De Matos Granja-Ingram N, et al. Identification of markers of taxane sensitivity using proteomic and genomic analyses of breast tumors from patients receiving neoadjuvant paclitaxel and radiation. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2010;16(2):681-90. Epub 2010/01/14. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-09-1091. PubMed PMID: 20068102; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2892225.

395. Harano K, Wang Y, Lim B, Seitz RS, Morris SW, Bailey DB, et al. Rates of immune cell infiltration in patients with triple-negative breast cancer by molecular subtype. PLoS One. 2018;13(10):e0204513. Epub 2018/10/13. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0204513. PubMed PMID: 30312311; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6193579 authors RSS, SWM, DBB, DRH, RLS, and BZR. This does not alter our adherence to PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

396. Prat A, Parker JS, Karginova O, Fan C, Livasy C, Herschkowitz JI, et al. Phenotypic and molecular characterization of the claudin-low intrinsic subtype of breast cancer.

Breast cancer research : BCR. 2010;12(5):R68. Epub 2010/09/04. doi: 10.1186/bcr2635. PubMed PMID: 20813035; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3096954.

397. Bertheau P, Lehmann-Che J, Varna M, Dumay A, Poirot B, Porcher R, et al. p53 in breast cancer subtypes and new insights into response to chemotherapy. Breast. 2013;22 Suppl 2:S27-9. Epub 2013/10/01. doi: 10.1016/j.breast.2013.07.005. PubMed PMID: 24074787.

398. Herschkowitz JI, He X, Fan C, Perou CM. The functional loss of the retinoblastoma tumour suppressor is a common event in basal-like and luminal B breast carcinomas. Breast cancer research : BCR. 2008;10(5):R75. Epub 2008/09/11. doi: 10.1186/bcr2142. PubMed PMID: 18782450; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2614508.

399. Turner NC, Reis-Filho JS. Basal-like breast cancer and the BRCA1 phenotype. Oncogene. 2006;25(43):5846-53. Epub 2006/09/26. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209876. PubMed PMID: 16998499.

400. Kumar P, Mukherjee M, Johnson JP, Patel M, Huey B, Albertson DG, et al. Cooperativity of Rb, Brca1, and p53 in malignant breast cancer evolution. PLoS Genetics. 2012;8(11):e1003027. Epub 2012/11/23. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1003027. PubMed PMID: 23173005; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3500050.

401. Cossu-Rocca P, Orru S, Muroni MR, Sanges F, Sotgiu G, Ena S, et al. Analysis of PIK3CA Mutations and Activation Pathways in Triple Negative Breast Cancer. PLoS One. 2015;10(11):e0141763. Epub 2015/11/06. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141763. PubMed PMID: 26540293; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4634768.

402. Chandriani S, Frengen E, Cowling VH, Pendergrass SA, Perou CM, Whitfield ML, et al. A core MYC gene expression signature is prominent in basal-like breast cancer but only partially overlaps the core serum response. PLoS One. 2009;4(8):e6693. Epub 2009/08/20. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006693. PubMed PMID: 19690609; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2723908.

403. Vaske CJ, Benz SC, Sanborn JZ, Earl D, Szeto C, Zhu J, et al. Inference of patientspecific pathway activities from multi-dimensional cancer genomics data using PARADIGM. Bioinformatics. 2010;26(12):i237-45. Epub 2010/06/10. doi:

10.1093/bioinformatics/btq182. PubMed PMID: 20529912; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2881367.

404. Shah SP, Roth A, Goya R, Oloumi A, Ha G, Zhao Y, et al. The clonal and mutational evolution spectrum of primary triple-negative breast cancers. Nature.

2012;486(7403):395-9. Epub 2012/04/13. doi: 10.1038/nature10933. PubMed PMID: 22495314; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3863681.

405. Gangopadhyay S, Nandy A, Hor P, Mukhopadhyay A. Breast cancer stem cells: a novel therapeutic target. Clinical breast cancer. 2013;13(1):7-15. Epub 2012/11/07. doi: 10.1016/j.clbc.2012.09.017. PubMed PMID: 23127340.

406. Wicha MS. Targeting self-renewal, an Achilles' heel of cancer stem cells. Nature medicine. 2014;20(1):14-5. Epub 2014/01/09. doi: 10.1038/nm.3434. PubMed PMID: 24398956.

407. Reya T, Morrison SJ, Clarke MF, Weissman IL. Stem cells, cancer, and cancer stem cells. Nature. 2001;414(6859):105-11. Epub 2001/11/02. doi: 10.1038/35102167. PubMed PMID: 11689955.

408. Li X, Lewis MT, Huang J, Gutierrez C, Osborne CK, Wu MF, et al. Intrinsic resistance of tumorigenic breast cancer cells to chemotherapy. Journal of the National Cancer Institute. 2008;100(9):672-9. Epub 2008/05/01. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn123. PubMed PMID: 18445819.

409. Park SY, Choi JH, Nam JS. Targeting Cancer Stem Cells in Triple-Negative Breast Cancer. Cancers (Basel). 2019;11(7). Epub 2019/07/22. doi: 10.3390/cancers11070965. PubMed PMID: 31324052; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6678244.

410. Maehr H, Lee HJ, Perry B, Suh N, Uskokovic MR. Calcitriol derivatives with two different side chains at C-20. V. Potent Inhibitors of Mammary Carcinogenesis and Inducers of Leukemia Differentiation. Journal of medicinal chemistry. 2009;52(17):5505-19. doi: 10.1021/jm900780q. PubMed PMID: 19685888; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2767326.

411. Lee HJ, Liu H, Goodman C, Ji Y, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, et al. Gene expression profiling changes induced by a novel Gemini Vitamin D derivative during the progression of breast cancer. Biochemical pharmacology. 2006;72(3):332-43. Epub 2006/06/02. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2006.04.030. PubMed PMID: 16737686.

412. Bozorgi A, Khazaei M, Khazaei MR. New Findings on Breast Cancer Stem Cells: A Review. Journal of breast cancer. 2015;18(4):303-12. Epub 2016/01/16. doi: 10.4048/jbc.2015.18.4.303. PubMed PMID: 26770236; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4705081.

413. Koch U, Lehal R, Radtke F. Stem cells living with a Notch. Development. 2013;140(4):689-704. doi: 10.1242/dev.080614. PubMed PMID: 23362343.

414. Dontu G, Abdallah WM, Foley JM, Jackson KW, Clarke MF, Kawamura MJ, et al. In vitro propagation and transcriptional profiling of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Genes & development. 2003;17(10):1253-70. Epub 2003/05/21. doi: 10.1101/gad.1061803. PubMed PMID: 12756227; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC196056.

415. Clarke RB, Spence K, Anderson E, Howell A, Okano H, Potten CS. A putative human breast stem cell population is enriched for steroid receptor-positive cells. Developmental Biology. 2005;277(2):443-56. doi:

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ydbio.2004.07.044.

416. D'Angelo RC, Ouzounova M, Davis A, Choi D, Tchuenkam SM, Kim G, et al. Notch reporter activity in breast cancer cell lines identifies a subset of cells with stem cell activity. Molecular cancer therapeutics. 2015;14(3):779-87. Epub 2015/02/13. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.mct-14-0228. PubMed PMID: 25673823; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4456218.

417. Ponti D, Costa A, Zaffaroni N, Pratesi G, Petrangolini G, Coradini D, et al. Isolation and in vitro propagation of tumorigenic breast cancer cells with stem/progenitor cell properties. Cancer Res. 2005;65(13):5506-11. Epub 2005/07/05. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-05-0626. PubMed PMID: 15994920.

418. Maund SL, Barclay WW, Hover LD, Axanova LS, Sui G, Hipp JD, et al. Interleukin-1alpha mediates the antiproliferative effects of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in prostate progenitor/stem cells. Cancer research. 2011;71(15):5276-86. Epub 2011/06/10. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-10-2160. PubMed PMID: 21653679; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3148300.

419. Lee HJ, So JY, DeCastro A, Smolarek A, Paul S, Maehr H, et al. Gemini vitamin D analog suppresses ErbB2-positive mammary tumor growth via inhibition of ErbB2/AKT/ERK signaling. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology. 2010;121(1-2):408-12. Epub 2010/03/23. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2010.03.053. PubMed PMID: 20304052; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2906695.

420. Feldman D, Krishnan AV, Swami S, Giovannucci E, Feldman BJ. The role of vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and progression. Nature reviews Cancer. 2014;14(5):342-57. Epub 2014/04/08. doi: 10.1038/nrc3691. PubMed PMID: 24705652.

421. So JY, Suh N. Targeting cancer stem cells in solid tumors by vitamin D. The Journal of steroid biochemistry and molecular biology. 2015;148:79-85. Epub 2014/12/03. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.10.007. PubMed PMID: 25460302; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4361233.

422. Gupta Piyush B, Fillmore Christine M, Jiang G, Shapira Sagi D, Tao K, Kuperwasser C, et al. Stochastic State Transitions Give Rise to Phenotypic Equilibrium in Populations of Cancer Cells. Cell. 2011;146(4):633-44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.07.026.

423. Daley GQ. Common themes of dedifferentiation in somatic cell reprogramming and cancer. Cold Spring Harbor symposia on quantitative biology. 2008;73:171-4. Epub 2009/01/20. doi: 10.1101/sqb.2008.73.041. PubMed PMID: 19150965.

424. Hochedlinger K, Yamada Y, Beard C, Jaenisch R. Ectopic expression of Oct-4 blocks progenitor-cell differentiation and causes dysplasia in epithelial tissues. Cell. 2005;121(3):465-77. Epub 2005/05/11. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.02.018. PubMed PMID: 15882627.

425. Schoenhals M, Kassambara A, De Vos J, Hose D, Moreaux J, Klein B. Embryonic stem cell markers expression in cancers. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2009;383(2):157-62. Epub 2009/03/10. doi:

10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.156. PubMed PMID: 19268426.

426. Kumar SM, Liu S, Lu H, Zhang H, Zhang PJ, Gimotty PA, et al. Acquired cancer stem cell phenotypes through Oct4-mediated dedifferentiation. Oncogene.

2012;31(47):4898-911. Epub 2012/01/31. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.656. PubMed PMID: 22286766; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3343184.

427. Sopel M. The myoepithelial cell: its role in normal mammary glands and breast cancer. Folia Morphol (Warsz). 2010;69(1):1-14. PubMed PMID: 20235044.

428. Gudjonsson T, Ronnov-Jessen L, Villadsen R, Rank F, Bissell MJ, Petersen OW. Normal and tumor-derived myoepithelial cells differ in their ability to interact with luminal breast epithelial cells for polarity and basement membrane deposition. Journal of cell science. 2002;115(Pt 1):39-50. Epub 2002/01/22. PubMed PMID: 11801722; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2933194.

429. Gusterson BA, Warburton MJ, Mitchell D, Ellison M, Neville AM, Rudland PS. Distribution of myoepithelial cells and basement membrane proteins in the normal breast and in benign and malignant breast diseases. Cancer research. 1982;42(11):4763-70. Epub 1982/11/01. PubMed PMID: 6290045. 430. Sternlicht MD, Kedeshian P, Shao ZM, Safarians S, Barsky SH. The human myoepithelial cell is a natural tumor suppressor. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 1997;3(11):1949-58. Epub 1998/11/17. PubMed PMID: 9815584.

431. Zöller M. CD44: can a cancer-initiating cell profit from an abundantly expressed molecule? Nat Rev Cancer. 2011;11(4):254-67. Epub 2011/03/11. doi: 10.1038/nrc3023. PubMed PMID: 21390059.

432. Laperle A, Hsiao C, Lampe M, Mortier J, Saha K, Palecek SP, et al. alpha-5 Laminin Synthesized by Human Pluripotent Stem Cells Promotes Self-Renewal. Stem cell reports. 2015;5(2):195-206. Epub 2015/08/04. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2015.06.009. PubMed PMID: 26235893; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4618661.

433. Boyle P. Triple-negative breast cancer: epidemiological considerations and recommendations. Ann Oncol. 2012;23 Suppl 6:vi7-12. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds187. PubMed PMID: 23012306.

434. Yamamoto M, Taguchi Y, Ito-Kureha T, Semba K, Yamaguchi N, Inoue J. NFkappaB non-cell-autonomously regulates cancer stem cell populations in the basal-like breast cancer subtype. Nature communications. 2013;4:2299. Epub 2013/08/13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms3299. PubMed PMID: 23934482.

435. Dontu G, Jackson KW, McNicholas E, Kawamura MJ, Abdallah WM, Wicha MS. Role of Notch signaling in cell-fate determination of human mammary stem/progenitor cells. Breast Cancer Res. 2004;6(6):R605-15. Epub 2004/11/13. doi: 10.1186/bcr920. PubMed PMID: 15535842; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1064073.

436. Shipitsin M, Polyak K. The cancer stem cell hypothesis: in search of definitions, markers, and relevance. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 2008;88(5):459-63. Epub 2008/04/02. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2008.14. PubMed PMID: 18379567; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3702270.

437. Boyer LA, Lee TI, Cole MF, Johnstone SE, Levine SS, Zucker JP, et al. Core transcriptional regulatory circuitry in human embryonic stem cells. Cell. 2005;122(6):947.56. Epub 2005(09/12, doi: 10.1016/i.coll.2005.08.020. PubMed PI

2005;122(6):947-56. Epub 2005/09/13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.020. PubMed PMID: 16153702; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3006442.

438. Wollenzien H, Voigt E, Kareta MS. Somatic Pluripotent Genes in Tissue Repair, Developmental Disease, and Cancer. SPG biomed. 2018;1(2). Epub 2018/01/01. doi: 10.32392/biomed.18. PubMed PMID: 31172135; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6548517.

439. Miyamoto T, Mizuno N, Kosaka M, Fujitani Y, Ohno E, Ohtsuka A. Conclusive Evidence for OCT4 Transcription in Human Cancer Cell Lines: Possible Role of a Small OCT4-Positive Cancer Cell Population. Stem Cells. 2018;36(9):1341-54. Epub 2018/05/18. doi: 10.1002/stem.2851. PubMed PMID: 29770522.

440. Soheili S, Asadi MH, Farsinejad A. Distinctive expression pattern of OCT4 variants in different types of breast cancer. Cancer Biomark. 2017;18(1):69-76. Epub 2016/11/05. doi: 10.3233/cbm-160675. PubMed PMID: 27814277.

441. Cheng CC, Shi LH, Wang XJ, Wang SX, Wan XQ, Liu SR, et al. Stat3/Oct-4/c-Myc signal circuit for regulating stemness-mediated doxorubicin resistance of triple-negative

breast cancer cells and inhibitory effects of WP1066. Int J Oncol. 2018;53(1):339-48. Epub 2018/05/12. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4399. PubMed PMID: 29750424.

442. Kim JY, Kim JC, Lee JY, Park MJ. Oct4 suppresses IR-induced premature senescence in breast cancer cells through STAT3- and NF-κB-mediated IL-24 production. Int J Oncol. 2018;53(1):47-58. Epub 2018/05/12. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4391. PubMed PMID: 29749438; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5958730.

443. Kim RJ, Nam JS. OCT4 Expression Enhances Features of Cancer Stem Cells in a Mouse Model of Breast Cancer. Lab Anim Res. 2011;27(2):147-52. Epub 2011/08/10. doi: 10.5625/lar.2011.27.2.147. PubMed PMID: 21826175; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3145994.

444. Vazquez-Santillan K, Melendez-Zajgla J, Jimenez-Hernandez LE, Gaytan-Cervantes J, Muñoz-Galindo L, Piña-Sanchez P, et al. NF-kappaB-inducing kinase regulates stem cell phenotype in breast cancer. Sci Rep. 2016;6:37340. Epub 2016/11/24. doi: 10.1038/srep37340. PubMed PMID: 27876836; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5120353.

445. Liu P, Tang H, Song C, Wang J, Chen B, Huang X, et al. SOX2 Promotes Cell Proliferation and Metastasis in Triple Negative Breast Cancer. Front Pharmacol. 2018;9:942. Epub 2018/09/07. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00942. PubMed PMID: 30186173; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6110877.

446. Chew JL, Loh YH, Zhang W, Chen X, Tam WL, Yeap LS, et al. Reciprocal transcriptional regulation of Pou5f1 and Sox2 via the Oct4/Sox2 complex in embryonic stem cells. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(14):6031-46. Epub 2005/07/01. doi:

10.1128/mcb.25.14.6031-6046.2005. PubMed PMID: 15988017; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1168830.

447. Idowu MO, Kmieciak M, Dumur C, Burton RS, Grimes MM, Powers CN, et al. CD44(+)/CD24(-/low) cancer stem/progenitor cells are more abundant in triple-negative invasive breast carcinoma phenotype and are associated with poor outcome. Hum Pathol. 2012;43(3):364-73. Epub 2011/08/13. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2011.05.005. PubMed PMID: 21835433.

448. Wang H, Wang L, Song Y, Wang S, Huang X, Xuan Q, et al. CD44(+)/CD24(-) phenotype predicts a poor prognosis in triple-negative breast cancer. Oncol Lett. 2017;14(5):5890-8. Epub 2017/11/09. doi: 10.3892/ol.2017.6959. PubMed PMID: 29113223; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5661458.

449. Mittal V. Epithelial Mesenchymal Transition in Tumor Metastasis. Annu Rev Pathol. 2018;13:395-412. Epub 2018/02/08. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathol-020117-043854. PubMed PMID: 29414248.

450. Dai X, Ge J, Wang X, Qian X, Zhang C, Li X. OCT4 regulates epithelialmesenchymal transition and its knockdown inhibits colorectal cancer cell migration and invasion. Oncol Rep. 2013;29(1):155-60. Epub 2012/10/19. doi: 10.3892/or.2012.2086. PubMed PMID: 23076549.

451. Liu S, Ginestier C, Ou SJ, Clouthier SG, Patel SH, Monville F, et al. Breast cancer stem cells are regulated by mesenchymal stem cells through cytokine networks. Cancer Res. 2011;71(2):614-24. Epub 2011/01/13. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.Can-10-0538. PubMed PMID: 21224357; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3100554.

452. Riggs JW, Barrilleaux BL, Varlakhanova N, Bush KM, Chan V, Knoepfler PS. Induced pluripotency and oncogenic transformation are related processes. Stem Cells Dev. 2013;22(1):37-50. Epub 2012/09/25. doi: 10.1089/scd.2012.0375. PubMed PMID: 22998387; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3528096.

453. Yousefnia S, Ghaedi K, Seyed Forootan F, Nasr Esfahani MH. Characterization of the stemness potency of mammospheres isolated from the breast cancer cell lines. Tumour Biol. 2019;41(8):1010428319869101. Epub 2019/08/20. doi:

10.1177/1010428319869101. PubMed PMID: 31423948.

454. Louderbough JM, Schroeder JA. Understanding the dual nature of CD44 in breast cancer progression. Mol Cancer Res. 2011;9(12):1573-86. Epub 2011/10/06. doi: 10.1158/1541-7786.Mcr-11-0156. PubMed PMID: 21970856.

455. Takase O, Yoshikawa M, Idei M, Hirahashi J, Fujita T, Takato T, et al. The role of NF-κB signaling in the maintenance of pluripotency of human induced pluripotent stem cells. PLoS One. 2013;8(2):e56399. Epub 2013/02/26. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0056399. PubMed PMID: 23437124; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3577895 Ltd. This does not alter the authors' adherence to all the PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

456. Smith SM, Lyu YL, Cai L. NF-κB affects proliferation and invasiveness of breast cancer cells by regulating CD44 expression. PLoS One. 2014;9(9):e106966. Epub 2014/09/04. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0106966. PubMed PMID: 25184276; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4153718.

457. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2019. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2019;69(1):7-34. Epub 2019/01/09. doi: 10.3322/caac.21551. PubMed PMID: 30620402.

458. Viale G. The current state of breast cancer classification. Ann Oncol. 2012;23 Suppl 10:x207-10. Epub 2012/09/26. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mds326. PubMed PMID: 22987963.

459. Cava C, Bertoli G, Castiglioni I. Integrating genetics and epigenetics in breast cancer: biological insights, experimental, computational methods and therapeutic potential. BMC Syst Biol. 2015;9:62. Epub 2015/09/24. doi: 10.1186/s12918-015-0211-x. PubMed PMID: 26391647; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4578257.

460. DeSantis CE, Ma J, Gaudet MM, Newman LA, Miller KD, Goding Sauer A, et al. Breast cancer statistics, 2019. CA: a cancer journal for clinicians. 2019;69(6):438-51. Epub 2019/10/03. doi: 10.3322/caac.21583. PubMed PMID: 31577379.

461. Gorringe KL, Fox SB. Ductal Carcinoma In Situ Biology, Biomarkers, and Diagnosis. Front Oncol. 2017;7:248. Epub 2017/11/08. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2017.00248. PubMed PMID: 29109942; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5660056.

462. Erbas B, Provenzano E, Armes J, Gertig D. The natural history of ductal carcinoma in situ of the breast: a review. Breast cancer research and treatment. 2006;97(2):135-44. Epub 2005/12/02. doi: 10.1007/s10549-005-9101-z. PubMed PMID: 16319971.

463. Kothari C, Ouellette G, Labrie Y, Jacob S, Diorio C, Durocher F. Identification of a gene signature for different stages of breast cancer development that could be used for early diagnosis and specific therapy. Oncotarget. 2018;9(100):37407-20. Epub

2019/01/17. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.26448. PubMed PMID: 30647841; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6324778.

464. Volinia S, Galasso M, Sana ME, Wise TF, Palatini J, Huebner K, et al. Breast cancer signatures for invasiveness and prognosis defined by deep sequencing of microRNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2012;109(8):3024-9. Epub 2012/02/09. doi:

10.1073/pnas.1200010109. PubMed PMID: 22315424; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3286983.

465. Phi LTH, Sari IN, Yang YG, Lee SH, Jun N, Kim KS, et al. Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) in Drug Resistance and their Therapeutic Implications in Cancer Treatment. Stem Cells Int. 2018;2018:5416923. Epub 2018/04/24. doi: 10.1155/2018/5416923. PubMed PMID: 29681949; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5850899.

466. Espina V, Mariani BD, Gallagher RI, Tran K, Banks S, Wiedemann J, et al. Malignant precursor cells pre-exist in human breast DCIS and require autophagy for survival. PLoS One. 2010;5(4):e10240. Epub 2010/04/28. doi:

10.1371/journal.pone.0010240. PubMed PMID: 20421921; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2857649.

467. Miller FR, Santner SJ, Tait L, Dawson PJ. MCF10DCIS.com xenograft model of human comedo ductal carcinoma in situ. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2000;92(14):1185-6. Epub 2000/07/25. doi: 10.1093/jnci/92.14.1185a. PubMed PMID: 10904098.

468. Hu M, Yao J, Carroll DK, Weremowicz S, Chen H, Carrasco D, et al. Regulation of in situ to invasive breast carcinoma transition. Cancer cell. 2008;13(5):394-406. Epub 2008/05/06. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2008.03.007. PubMed PMID: 18455123; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3705908.

469. Li Q, Eades G, Yao Y, Zhang Y, Zhou Q. Characterization of a stem-like subpopulation in basal-like ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS) lesions. The Journal of biological chemistry. 2014;289(3):1303-12. Epub 2013/12/04. doi:

10.1074/jbc.M113.502278. PubMed PMID: 24297178; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3894316.

470. Welsh J. Vitamin D and breast cancer: Past and present. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2018;177:15-20. Epub 2017/07/27. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2017.07.025. PubMed PMID: 28746837; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5780261.

471. Gaspar JM, Hart RP. DMRfinder: efficiently identifying differentially methylated regions from MethylC-seq data. BMC Bioinformatics. 2017;18(1):528. Epub 2017/12/01. doi: 10.1186/s12859-017-1909-0. PubMed PMID: 29187143; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5817627.

472. Yu G, Wang LG, He QY. ChIPseeker: an R/Bioconductor package for ChIP peak annotation, comparison and visualization. Bioinformatics. 2015;31(14):2382-3. Epub 2015/03/15. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv145. PubMed PMID: 25765347.

473. Yang Y, Wu R, Sargsyan D, Yin R, Kuo HC, Yang I, et al. UVB drives different stages of epigenome alterations during progression of skin cancer. Cancer letters. 2019;449:20-30. Epub 2019/02/17. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.02.010. PubMed PMID: 30771437; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6411449.

474. Guo Y, Wu R, Gaspar JM, Sargsyan D, Su ZY, Zhang C, et al. DNA methylome and transcriptome alterations and cancer prevention by curcumin in colitis-accelerated

colon cancer in mice. Carcinogenesis. 2018;39(5):669-80. Epub 2018/03/17. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgy043. PubMed PMID: 29547900; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6248359.

475. Cardoso LC, Tenorio Castaño JA, Pereira HS, Lima MA, Dos Santos AC, de Faria PS, et al. Constitutional and somatic methylation status of DMRH19 and KvDMR in Wilms tumor patients. Genet Mol Biol. 2012;35(4):714-24. Epub 2012/12/29. doi: 10.1590/s1415-47572012005000073. PubMed PMID: 23271929; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3526076.

476. So JY, Wahler J, Das Gupta S, Salerno DM, Maehr H, Uskokovic M, et al. HES1mediated inhibition of Notch1 signaling by a Gemini vitamin D analog leads to decreased CD44(+)/CD24(-/low) tumor-initiating subpopulation in basal-like breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. 2015;148:111-21. Epub 2014/12/30. doi:

10.1016/j.jsbmb.2014.12.013. PubMed PMID: 25541438; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4361253.

477. Jones G, Prosser DE, Kaufmann M. Cytochrome P450-mediated metabolism of vitamin D. Journal of lipid research. 2014;55(1):13-31. Epub 2013/04/09. doi: 10.1194/jlr.R031534. PubMed PMID: 23564710; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3927478.

478. Pignon J-C, Grisanzio C, Geng Y, Song J, Shivdasani RA, Signoretti S. p63expressing cells are the stem cells of developing prostate, bladder, and colorectal epithelia. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2013;110(20):8105-10. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1221216110.

479. Su X, Chakravarti D, Flores ER. p63 steps into the limelight: crucial roles in the suppression of tumorigenesis and metastasis. Nature reviews Cancer. 2013;13(2):136-43. Epub 2013/01/25. doi: 10.1038/nrc3446. PubMed PMID: 23344544; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4181578.

480. Ding L, Su Y, Fassl A, Hinohara K, Qiu X, Harper NW, et al. Perturbed
myoepithelial cell differentiation in BRCA mutation carriers and in ductal carcinoma in
situ. Nature communications. 2019;10(1):4182. Epub 2019/09/15. doi: 10.1038/s41467019-12125-5. PubMed PMID: 31519911; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6744561.
481. Russell TD, Jindal S, Agunbiade S, Gao D, Troxell M, Borges VF, et al.
Myoepithelial cell differentiation markers in ductal carcinoma in situ progression. The

Myoepithelial cell differentiation markers in ductal carcinoma in situ progression. The American journal of pathology. 2015;185(11):3076-89. Epub 2015/09/08. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.07.004. PubMed PMID: 26343330; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4630168.

482. Zubeldia-Plazaola A, Recalde-Percaz L, Moragas N, Alcaraz M, Chen X, Mancino M, et al. Glucocorticoids promote transition of ductal carcinoma in situ to invasive ductal carcinoma by inducing myoepithelial cell apoptosis. Breast Cancer Res. 2018;20(1):65. Epub 2018/07/06. doi: 10.1186/s13058-018-0977-z. PubMed PMID: 29973218; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6032539.

483. Aguiar FN, Cirqueira CS, Bacchi CE, Carvalho FM. Morphologic, molecular and microenvironment factors associated with stromal invasion in breast ductal carcinoma in situ: Role of myoepithelial cells. Breast disease. 2015;35(4):249-52. Epub 2015/09/24. doi: 10.3233/bd-150416. PubMed PMID: 26397772.

484. Toussaint J, Durbecq V, Altintas S, Doriath V, Rouas G, Paesmans M, et al. Low CD10 mRNA expression identifies high-risk ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS). PLoS One. 2010;5(8). Epub 2010/09/22. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0012100. PubMed PMID: 20856894; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2938371.

485. Olsen OE, Skjaervik A, Stordal BF, Sundan A, Holien T. TGF-beta contamination of purified recombinant GDF15. PLoS One. 2017;12(11):e0187349. Epub 2017/11/22. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0187349. PubMed PMID: 29161287; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5697882.

486. Sasahara A, Tominaga K, Nishimura T, Yano M, Kiyokawa E, Noguchi M, et al. An autocrine/paracrine circuit of growth differentiation factor (GDF) 15 has a role for maintenance of breast cancer stem-like cells. Oncotarget. 2017;8(15):24869-81. Epub 2017/02/17. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15276. PubMed PMID: 28206960; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5421895.

487. Hu C, Yang K, Li M, Huang W, Zhang F, Wang H. Lipocalin 2: a potential therapeutic target for breast cancer metastasis. OncoTargets and therapy.
2018;11:8099-106. Epub 2018/12/07. doi: 10.2147/ott.S181223. PubMed PMID: 30519052; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6239117.

488. Yang J, Bielenberg DR, Rodig SJ, Doiron R, Clifton MC, Kung AL, et al. Lipocalin 2 promotes breast cancer progression. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(10):3913-8. Epub 2009/02/25. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810617106. PubMed PMID: 19237579; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2656179.

489. Redmer T, Walz I, Klinger B, Khouja S, Welte Y, Schafer R, et al. The role of the cancer stem cell marker CD271 in DNA damage response and drug resistance of melanoma cells. Oncogenesis. 2017;6(1):e291. Epub 2017/01/24. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2016.88. PubMed PMID: 28112719; PubMed Central PMCID:

, PMCPMC5294251.

490. Chakravarthy R, Mnich K, Gorman AM. Nerve growth factor (NGF)-mediated regulation of p75(NTR) expression contributes to chemotherapeutic resistance in triple negative breast cancer cells. Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 2016;478(4):1541-7. Epub 2016/09/01. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2016.08.149. PubMed PMID: 27577679.

491. Reis-Filho JS, Simpson PT, Martins A, Preto A, Gartner F, Schmitt FC. Distribution of p63, cytokeratins 5/6 and cytokeratin 14 in 51 normal and 400 neoplastic human tissue samples using TARP-4 multi-tumor tissue microarray. Virchows Arch. 2003;443(2):122-32. Epub 2003/07/29. doi: 10.1007/s00428-003-0859-2. PubMed PMID: 12884041.

492. Zhao SG, Chen WS, Das R, Chang SL, Tomlins SA, Chou J, et al. Clinical and Genomic Implications of Luminal and Basal Subtypes Across Carcinomas. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2019;25(8):2450-7. Epub 2018/12/24. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-18-3121. PubMed PMID: 30573691.

493. Hilson JB, Schnitt SJ, Collins LC. Phenotypic alterations in ductal carcinoma in situ-associated myoepithelial cells: biologic and diagnostic implications. Am J Surg

Pathol. 2009;33(2):227-32. Epub 2008/10/22. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e318180431d. PubMed PMID: 18936688.

494. Emery LA, Tripathi A, King C, Kavanah M, Mendez J, Stone MD, et al. Early dysregulation of cell adhesion and extracellular matrix pathways in breast cancer progression. The American journal of pathology. 2009;175(3):1292-302. Epub 2009/08/25. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.090115. PubMed PMID: 19700746; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2731147.

495. Yang A, Schweitzer R, Sun D, Kaghad M, Walker N, Bronson RT, et al. p63 is essential for regenerative proliferation in limb, craniofacial and epithelial development. Nature. 1999;398(6729):714-8. doi: 10.1038/19539.

496. Barbareschi M, Pecciarini L, Cangi MG, Macri E, Rizzo A, Viale G, et al. p63, a p53 homologue, is a selective nuclear marker of myoepithelial cells of the human breast. The American journal of surgical pathology. 2001;25(8):1054-60. Epub 2001/07/28. PubMed PMID: 11474290.

497. Mathews JC, Nadeem S, Levine AJ, Pouryahya M, Deasy JO, Tannenbaum A. Robust and interpretable PAM50 reclassification exhibits survival advantage for myoepithelial and immune phenotypes. NPJ Breast Cancer. 2019;5:30. Epub 2019/09/19. doi: 10.1038/s41523-019-0124-8. PubMed PMID: 31531391; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6733897.

498. Koker MM, Kleer CG. p63 expression in breast cancer: a highly sensitive and specific marker of metaplastic carcinoma. The American journal of surgical pathology. 2004;28(11):1506-12. Epub 2004/10/19. doi: 10.1097/01.pas.0000138183.97366.fd. PubMed PMID: 15489655.

499. Su X, Chakravarti D, Cho MS, Liu L, Gi YJ, Lin YL, et al. TAp63 suppresses metastasis through coordinate regulation of Dicer and miRNAs. Nature. 2010;467(7318):986-90. Epub 2010/10/22. doi: 10.1038/nature09459. PubMed PMID: 20962848; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3055799.

500. Di Giacomo V, Tian TV, Mas A, Pecoraro M, Batlle-Morera L, Noya L, et al. DeltaNp63alpha promotes adhesion of metastatic prostate cancer cells to the bone through regulation of CD82. Oncogene. 2017;36(31):4381-92. Epub 2017/04/04. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.42. PubMed PMID: 28368419; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5543260.

501. Ng WL, Chen G, Wang M, Wang H, Story M, Shay JW, et al. OCT4 as a target of miR-34a stimulates p63 but inhibits p53 to promote human cell transformation. Cell death & disease. 2014;5(1):e1024. Epub 2014/01/25. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2013.563. PubMed PMID: 24457968; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4040665.

502. Di Franco S, Sala G, Todaro M. p63 role in breast cancer. Aging (Albany NY). 2016;8(10):2256-7. Epub 2016/10/27. doi: 10.18632/aging.101042. PubMed PMID: 27783565; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5115884.

503. Ying H, Chang DL, Zheng H, McKeon F, Xiao ZX. DNA-binding and transactivation activities are essential for TAp63 protein degradation. Mol Cell Biol. 2005;25(14):6154-64. Epub 2005/07/01. doi: 10.1128/mcb.25.14.6154-6164.2005. PubMed PMID: 15988026; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1168832.

504. Birkaya B, Ortt K, Sinha S. Novel in vivo targets of DeltaNp63 in keratinocytes identified by a modified chromatin immunoprecipitation approach. BMC Mol Biol. 2007;8:43. Epub 2007/05/25. doi: 10.1186/1471-2199-8-43. PubMed PMID: 17521434; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC1890296.

505. Wolfson B, Eades G, Zhou Q. Roles of microRNA-140 in stem cell-associated early stage breast cancer. World J Stem Cells. 2014;6(5):591-7. Epub 2014/11/27. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v6.i5.591. PubMed PMID: 25426255; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4178258.

506. Zhang Y, Xu B, Zhang XP. Effects of miRNAs on functions of breast cancer stem cells and treatment of breast cancer. Onco Targets Ther. 2018;11:4263-70. Epub 2018/08/14. doi: 10.2147/ott.S165156. PubMed PMID: 30100733; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6065473.

507. Ceppi P, Peter ME. MicroRNAs regulate both epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and cancer stem cells. Oncogene. 2014;33(3):269-78. Epub 2013/03/05. doi: 10.1038/onc.2013.55. PubMed PMID: 23455327.

508. Shimono Y, Zabala M, Cho RW, Lobo N, Dalerba P, Qian D, et al. Downregulation of miRNA-200c links breast cancer stem cells with normal stem cells. Cell.

2009;138(3):592-603. Epub 2009/08/12. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.07.011. PubMed PMID: 19665978; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC2731699.

509. Liu B, Du R, Zhou L, Xu J, Chen S, Chen J, et al. miR-200c/141 Regulates Breast Cancer Stem Cell Heterogeneity via Targeting HIPK1/β-Catenin Axis. Theranostics. 2018;8(21):5801-13. Epub 2019/01/08. doi: 10.7150/thno.29380. PubMed PMID: 30613263; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6299432.

510. Brabletz S, Bajdak K, Meidhof S, Burk U, Niedermann G, Firat E, et al. The ZEB1/miR-200 feedback loop controls Notch signalling in cancer cells. Embo j. 2011;30(4):770-82. Epub 2011/01/13. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2010.349. PubMed PMID: 21224848; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC3041948.

511. Yu F, Yao H, Zhu P, Zhang X, Pan Q, Gong C, et al. let-7 regulates self renewal and tumorigenicity of breast cancer cells. Cell. 2007;131(6):1109-23. Epub 2007/12/18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.10.054. PubMed PMID: 18083101.

512. Peng F, Li TT, Wang KL, Xiao GQ, Wang JH, Zhao HD, et al. H19/let-7/LIN28 reciprocal negative regulatory circuit promotes breast cancer stem cell maintenance. Cell Death Dis. 2017;8(1):e2569. Epub 2017/01/20. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2016.438. PubMed PMID: 28102845; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5386357.

513. Bodal VK, Sangwan S, Bal MS, Kaur M, Sharma S, Kaur B. Association between Microrna 146a and Microrna 196a2 Genes Polymorphism and Breast Cancer Risk in North Indian Women. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2017;18(9):2345-8. Epub 2017/09/28. doi: 10.22034/apjcp.2017.18.9.2345. PubMed PMID: 28950676; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5720634.

514. Liang R, Li Y, Wang M, Tang SC, Xiao G, Sun X, et al. MiR-146a promotes the asymmetric division and inhibits the self-renewal ability of breast cancer stem-like cells via indirect upregulation of Let-7. Cell Cycle. 2018;17(12):1445-56. Epub 2018/06/30. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2018.1489176. PubMed PMID: 29954239; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6986760.

515. Si C, Yu Q, Yao Y. Effect of miR-146a-5p on proliferation and metastasis of triplenegative breast cancer via regulation of SOX5. Exp Ther Med. 2018;15(5):4515-21. Epub 2018/05/08. doi: 10.3892/etm.2018.5945. PubMed PMID: 29731835; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC5920859.

516. Chai C, Wu H, Wang B, Eisenstat DD, Leng RP. MicroRNA-498 promotes proliferation and migration by targeting the tumor suppressor PTEN in breast cancer cells. Carcinogenesis. 2018;39(9):1185-96. Epub 2018/07/10. doi:

10.1093/carcin/bgy092. PubMed PMID: 29985991; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC6148990.

517. Li B, Lu Y, Wang H, Han X, Mao J, Li J, et al. miR-221/222 enhance the tumorigenicity of human breast cancer stem cells via modulation of PTEN/Akt pathway. Biomed Pharmacother. 2016;79:93-101. Epub 2016/04/06. doi:

10.1016/j.biopha.2016.01.045. PubMed PMID: 27044817.

518. Takahashi RU, Miyazaki H, Takeshita F, Yamamoto Y, Minoura K, Ono M, et al. Loss of microRNA-27b contributes to breast cancer stem cell generation by activating ENPP1. Nat Commun. 2015;6:7318. Epub 2015/06/13. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8318. PubMed PMID: 26065921; PubMed Central PMCID: PMCPMC4490376.

519. Iwakawa HO, Tomari Y. The Functions of MicroRNAs: mRNA Decay and Translational Repression. Trends Cell Biol. 2015;25(11):651-65. Epub 2015/10/07. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2015.07.011. PubMed PMID: 26437588.